
 

 

 
Notice of meeting and agenda 
 
 

Transport and Environment Committee 
 
10.00 am Thursday, 3rd November, 2022 

 
Dean of Guild Court Room - City Chambers 

 

This is a public meeting and members of the public are welcome to attend in the Dean 
of Guild Courtroom or watch the webcast live on the Council’s website. 

The law allows the Council to consider some issues in private. Any items under “Private 
Business” will not be published, although the decisions will be recorded in the minute. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contacts 

Email:  martin.scott@edinburgh.gov.uk / louise.p.williamson@edinburgh.gov.uk 

   

 

 

Public Document Pack



 

 

Transport and Environment Committee - 3 
November 2022 

Page 2 of 6 

 

 

 

1. Order of Business 
 
1.1   Including any notices of motion and any other items of business 

submitted as urgent for consideration at the meeting. 

 

 

2. Declaration of Interests 
 
2.1   Members should declare any financial and non-financial interests 

they have in the items of business for consideration, identifying 
the relevant agenda item and the nature of their interest. 

 

 

3. Deputations 
 
3.1   If any. 

 

 

4. Minutes 
 
4.1   None. 

 

 

5. Forward Planning 
 
5.1   Transport and Environment Committee Work Programme 

 

7 - 14 

 
5.2   Transport and Environment Committee Rolling Actions Log 

 

15 - 62 

6. Business Bulletin 
 
6.1   Transport and Environment Business Bulletin 63 - 72 

 



 

 

Transport and Environment Committee - 3 
November 2022 

Page 3 of 6 

 

 

7. Executive Decisions 
 
7.1   George Street and First New Town - RIBA Stage 3 Design and 

Operational Plan update – Report by the Executive Director of 
Place 

73 - 240 

 
7.2   Picardy Place Island, Public Realm Improvement Project – Report 

by the Executive Director of Place 
241 - 284 

 
7.3   Bus Partnership Fund - Quick Wins Programme – Report by the 

Executive Director of Place 
285 - 312 

 
7.4   Cammo Road - Trial Road Closure Update – Report by the 

Executive Director of Place 
313 - 318 

8. Routine Decisions 
 
8.1   Motion by Councillor Burgess - Sciennes Primary playground on 

Sciennes Road 

(Note: Councillor Burgess has been called for this item) 

 

319 - 322 

 
8.2   Response to motion by Councillor Macinnes - Workplace Parking 

Levy 

(Note: Councillor Macinnes has been called for this item) 

 

323 - 332 

 
8.3   Response to motion by Councillor McVey – North Bridge 

(Note: Councillor McVey has been called for this item) 

 

333 - 342 

9. Motions 
 
9.1   Motion by Councillor Arthur - Dynamic Pricing on EV Charging 

  
“Committee: 
  

1.    Welcomes the recent progress the Council has made in 

 



 

 

Transport and Environment Committee - 3 
November 2022 

Page 4 of 6 

 

 

expanding its EV charging network.  
  

2.    Notes that whilst the administration aims to reduce car use 
by 30%, it also wants as many of the remaining journeys 
as possible to be zero-emission and public EV charging is 
a key part of this. 
  

3.    Notes that electricity costs are becoming increasingly 
volatile, and the established price setting process used by 
the Council does not allow it to respond quickly to 
changes.  
  

4.    Agrees that no later than the spring 2023 EV Action Plan 
Update a proposal should be presented for approval to the 
Transport & Environment Committee which allows the 
charging structure to be rapidly adjusted on an ongoing 
basis to reflect market pressures.  
  

5.    Agrees that the charging structure should ensure that the 
operation of this service does not draw on Council 
resources.” 

   
9.2   Motion by Councillor Dijkstra-Downie - Free Bus Travel Pass - 

Young People aged 5-21 

“Committee 

1) notes that around 1 in 4 eligible young people aged 5-21 in 
Edinburgh have not applied for their free bus travel pass. 

2) is concerned that many young people are not able to take 
advantage of the scheme because of its complicated 
application process. 

3) notes that Inverclyde Council achieved the highest uptake in 
Scotland of over 85% by pro-actively registering school-aged 
pupils and sending parent consent forms home from school. 

4) requests a report within one cycle on what measures 
Edinburgh Council can take to increase uptake of the scheme.” 

 

 



 

 

Transport and Environment Committee - 3 
November 2022 

Page 5 of 6 

 

 

Nick Smith 
Service Director, Legal and Assurance 

 

Committee Members 

Councillor Scott Arthur (Convener), Councillor Danny Aston, Councillor Jule Bandel, 
Councillor Christopher Cowdy, Councillor Sanne Dijkstra-Downie, Councillor Margaret 
Arma Graham, Councillor Kevin Lang, Councillor Finlay McFarlane, Councillor Claire 
Miller, Councillor Marie-Clair Munro and Councillor Norman Work 

Information about the Transport and Environment Committee 

The Transport and Environment Committee consists of 11 Councillors and is appointed 
by the City of Edinburgh Council.  

This meeting of the Transport and Environment Committee is being held in the Dean of 
Guild Court Room, City Chambers and virtually by Microsoft Teams. 

Further information 

If you have any questions about the agenda or meeting arrangements, please contact 
Martin Scott, Committee Services, City of Edinburgh Council, Business Centre 2.1, 
Waverley Court, 4 East Market Street, Edinburgh EH8 8BG, email 
martin.scott@edinburgh.gov.uk / louise.p.williamson@edinburgh.gov.uk. 

The agenda, minutes and public reports for this meeting and all the main Council 
committees can be viewed online by going to https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/   

Webcasting of Council meetings 

Please note this meeting may be filmed for live and subsequent broadcast via the 
Council’s internet site – at the start of the meeting the Convener will confirm if all or part 
of the meeting is being filmed. 

The Council is a Data Controller under current Data Protection legislation.  We 
broadcast Council meetings to fulfil our public task obligation to enable members of the 
public to observe the democratic process.  Data collected during this webcast will be 
retained in accordance with the Council’s published policy including, but not limited to, 
for the purpose of keeping historical records and making those records available via the 
Council’s internet site. 

Any information presented by individuals to the Council at a meeting, in a deputation or 
otherwise, in addition to forming part of a webcast that will be held as a historical 

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/


 

 

Transport and Environment Committee - 3 
November 2022 

Page 6 of 6 

 

 

record, will also be held and used by the Council in connection with the relevant matter 
until that matter is decided or otherwise resolved (including any potential appeals and 
other connected processes).  Thereafter, that information will continue to be held as 
part of the historical record in accordance with the paragraphs above. 

If you have any queries regarding this, and, in particular, if you believe that use and/or 
storage of any particular information would cause, or be likely to cause, substantial 
damage or distress to any individual, please contact Committee Services 
(committee.services@edinburgh.gov.uk). 



Transport and Environment Committee – 3 November 2022 

Work Programme            
 

 

Transport and Environment Committee 
3 November 2022 

 

8 December 2022 

 Title / description Purpose/Reason Executive/ 

Routine 

Lead Officer Directorate Expected Date 

 Circulation Plan  Follow up from report in October 

2022 

Executive Daisy Narayanan Place December 2022 

 Response to motions on Supported 

Bus Services 

This provides an update on the 

following motions: 

• Motion by Councillor Booth 

– Bus Lane Hours 

• Motion by Councillor Whyte 

– Restoring a Bus Service 

for Willowbrae/Lady Nairne 

• Motion by Councillor Mowat 

– Bus for Dumbiedykes 

• Motion by Councillor 

Macinnes– Withdrawal of 

Contract Extensions for 

Supported Bus Services 

20,63 and 68 

Executive Daisy Narayanan Place December 2022 

P
age 7

A
genda Item

 5.1

mailto:john.bury@edinburgh.gov.uk


Transport and Environment Committee – 3 November 2022 

 Road Safety Action Plan to 2030 Draft action plan for approval for 

consultation 

Executive Daisy Narayanan Place December 2022 

 Air Quality Action Plan Draft action plan for approval for 

consultation 

Executive Daisy Narayanan Place December 2022 

 School Travel Plan Review Progress Update (incorporating 

updates on Petitions on Station 

Road Ratho and 60 Spylaw 

Road) 

Executive Daisy Narayanan Place December 2022 

 Medium Term Improvements at 

Portobello High Street 

As requested by Committee on 

18 August 2022, report on the 

medium term improvements  

Executive Daisy Narayanan Place December 2022 

 Dalmahoy Junction Update As requested by Committee on 

18 August 2022, report on the 

costs for a fully signalised 

junction 

Executive Daisy Narayanan Place December 2022 

 Review of Parking Policy  Action agreed by Committee on 

18 August 2022 as part of the 

Strategic Review of Parking 

Executive Gavin Brown Place December 2022 

 Strategic Review of Parking – 

Stadiums Review 

Update on the Stadiums Review Executive Gavin Brown Place December 2022 

 Response to motion by Councillor 

Neil Ross – Electric Vehicle 

Charging Points 

Response to motion approved 

by the Council on 22 September 

2022 

Executive Gavin Brown Place December 2022 

 Business Plan Update – Transport 

for Edinburgh Group 

Annual report Routine Daisy Narayanan 

Hannah Ross 

Place December 2022 

 Brunstane Road Experimental Traffic This reports on the operation of 

the Experimental Traffic 

Routine Cliff Hutt Place December 2022 

P
age 8



Transport and Environment Committee – 3 November 2022 

Regulation Order Regulation Order 

 Maintenance of Cycle and Foot 

Paths 

Update on the Council’s 

approach to maintenance of 

cycle and foot paths 

Routine Andy Williams Place December 2022 

 Public Utility Company Performance 

and Road Work Co-ordination 

Annual Report Routine Gavin Brown 

 

Place December 2022 

 Place Directorate – Financial 

Monitoring 

Quarterly report Routine Susan Hamilton 

 

Place December 2022 

 Response to Traffic Order Phase 1A 

of Leith Connections project 

Setting out the responses to the 

advertisement of this traffic 

order 

Routine Daisy Narayanan Place December 2022 

 Roseburn to Union Canal Active 

Travel Route and Greenspace 

Improvements  

 

Update on Compulsory 

Purchase of Third Party Land 

Routine Daisy Narayanan Place December 2022 

 Motion by Councillor Lang – Parking 

on Pavements and at Dropped 

Kerbs 

 

Response to Motion approved 

by the Council on 25 August 

2022 on priority areas for 

enforcement as requested in the 

Green Group Addendum 

  Business                       

Bulletin 

Gavin Brown Place December 2022 

 Response to motion by Councillor 

Campbell – Portobello Transport 

Capacity 

Response to Motion approved 

by the Council on 25 August 

2022 on actions that can be 

taken forward through the 

twenty minute neighbourhood 

work already ongoing for 

Portobello. 

Business 

Bulletin 

Daisy Narayanan 

Gavin Brown 

Place December 2022 

P
age 9



Transport and Environment Committee – 3 November 2022 

 

2 March 2023 

 Communal Bin Review – Zero Waste 

Scotland Funding 

Action from 6 October 2022 to 

report back on funding 

application.  If application not 

successful a report will follow. 

Business 

Bulletin  

Karen Reeves Place December 2022 

 Special Uplifts Action from 6 October 2022 on 

means testing for special uplifts 

Business 

Bulletin 

Andy Williams Place December 2022 

 Vision for Water Management Update on the Vision for Water 

Management 

Business 

Bulletin 

Cliff Hutt Place December 2022 

 Title / description Purpose/Reason Executive/ 

Routine 

Lead Officer Directorate Expected Date 

 Public Transport Priority Action Plan Draft action plan for approval for 

consultation.   

Executive Daisy Narayanan Place 2 March 2023 

 Active Travel Action Plan Draft action plan for approval for 

consultation 

Executive Daisy Narayanan Place 2 March 2023 

 Edinburgh Cycle Hire Scheme Update on the options for 

Edinburgh Cycle Hire Scheme 

Executive Daisy Narayanan Place 2 March 2023 

 Major Junctions Review Update on the Major Junctions 

Review 

Executive Daisy Narayanan Place 2 March 2023 

 Response to motion by Councillor 

Macinnes – Accessibility 

Commission 

Update for Committee on the 

creation of an Accessibility 

Commission 

Executive Daisy Narayanan Place 2 March 2023 

 Motion by Councillor Lang – Parking 

on Pavements and at Dropped 

Kerbs 

Response to Motion approved 

by the Council on 25 August 

2022 

Executive Gavin Brown Place 2 March 2023 

P
age 10



Transport and Environment Committee – 3 November 2022 

 Response to motion by Councillor 

Neil Ross – Electric Vehicle 

Charging Points 

Report on the action taken in 

response to this motion 

Executive Gavin Brown Place 2 March 2023 

 Neighbourhood Environment 

Programme 

Update on the Council’s 

Neighbourhood Environment 

Programme (NEPs) 

Executive David Wilson Place 2 March 2023 

 Rainbow Bridge/Lindsay Road 

Bridge 

Action to report back in three 

cycles from Committee on 6 

October 2022 

Executive Stephen Knox Place 2 March 2023 

 Transport Asset Management Plan 

Update 

Update on Transport Asset 

Management Plan 

Executive Sean Gilchrist Place 2 March 2023 

 Transport Infrastructure Investment 

– Capital Delivery Priorities 

Annual Report Executive Cliff Hutt  

 

Place 2 March 2023 

 Petition to Pedestrianise Elm Row Action from Committee on 17 

June 2021 

Routine Gavin Brown Place 2 March 2023 

 Place Directorate – Financial 

Monitoring 

Quarterly report Routine Susan Hamilton 

 

Place 2 March 2023 

 On-Street Secure Cycle Parking – 

Potential Changes 

Update report Routine Daisy Narayanan Place 2 March 2023 

 Motion by Councillor Arthur – 

Burnside Bridge 

Update confirming the 

ownership of the bridge and 

what avenues are available to 

reopen this important pedestrian 

route. 

Business 

Bulletin 

Stephen Knox Place 2 March 2023 

 Motion by Councillor Aston – Electric 

Scooters 

Action requested by Committee 

on 6 October 2022 

Business 

Bulletin 

Daisy Narayanan Place 2 March 2023 

P
age 11



Transport and Environment Committee – 3 November 2022 

 

 

18 May 2023 

 Update on Gilmore Place Parking 

Overhanging Footway 

Action from Committee on 5 

December 2019 and 31 March 

2022. 

Update Gavin Brown Place 2 March 2023 

 Title / description Purpose/Reason Executive/ 

Routine 

Lead Officer Directorate Expected Date 

 Edinburgh Workplace Parking Levy 

– Revenue Options Paper 

Update following the report in 

November 2022 

Executive Gareth Dixon Place 18 May 2023 

 Electric Vehicle Charging Strategy Business Case outlining the 

Council’s approach to 

expanding charging 

infrastructure 

Executive Gavin Brown Place 18 May 2023 

 Parking Action Plan Update from October 2022 

report 

Executive  Gavin Brown Place 18 May 2023 

 Health Care Workers Parking Permit Update on the permit scheme Executive Gavin Brown Place 18 May 2023 

 Motion by Councillor Staniforth – 

Updating the Taxicard Service 

Motion approved by the Council 

on 17 March 2022 

Executive Gavin Brown Place 18 May 2023 

 Vision for Water Management Follow up to report in January 

2022 

Routine Stephen Knox Place 18 May 2023 

 Redetermination Order – West 

Edinburgh Link 

Consideration of response to 

advertised redetermination 

order 

Routine Daisy Narayanan Place 18 May 2023 

 Waste and Cleansing Policies Update for Committee on the 

regular review of the Council’s 

Routine Karen Reeves Place 18 May 2023 

P
age 12



Transport and Environment Committee – 3 November 2022 

 

Early Summer 2023 

 

 

Update Waste and Cleansing Policies 

 Communal Bin Enhancement 

Update 

Six-monthly report and follow up 

on action from Committee on 6 

October 2022 

Routine Andy Williams 

 

Place 18 May 2023 

 Street Cleansing Performance 

Report 

Bi-annual report Routine Andy Williams Place 18 May 2023 

 Update on the Asset Transfer of Ex-

City Development Assets 

Action to report back in three 

cycles from Committee on 6 

October 2022 

Update Sean Gilchrist Place 18 May 2023 

 Title / description Purpose/Reason Executive/ 

Routine 

Lead Officer Directorate Expected Date 

 Kirkliston and Queensferry Traffic 

and Active Travel Study Update  

Project update and update on 

the Kirkliston Junction signalling 

Business 

Bulletin 

Daisy Narayanan 

Gavin Brown  

 

Place Early Summer 

2023 

 Strategic Review of Parking Next update  Executive Gavin Brown Place Early Summer 

2023 

 Redetermination Order – Meadows 

to George Street 

Consideration of response to 

advertised redetermination 

order 

Routine Daisy Narayanan Place Early Summer 

2023 

 Place Directorate – Financial 

Monitoring 

Quarterly report Routine Susan Hamilton 

 

Place Early Summer 

2022 

P
age 13



Transport and Environment Committee – 3 November 2022 

 

 

 

Post Summer Recess 2023 

  

 Title / description Purpose/Reason Executive/ 

Routine 

Lead Officer Directorate Expected Date 

 Pedestrian Crossing Prioritisation Programme Update Executive Daisy Narayanan Place Post Summer 

Recess 2023 

 Circulation Plan Framework Programme Update Executive Daisy Narayanan Place Post Summer 

Recess 2023 

 City Mobility Plan   First Major Review Executive Daisy Narayanan Place Post Summer 

Recess 2023 

 Active Travel Measures – Travelling 

Safely Update 

Conclusion of the ETRO 

consultation 

Executive Daisy Narayanan Place Post Summer 

Recess 2023 

 Call for Action on Zebra Markings for 

Side Streets – Motion by Councillor 

Neil Ross 

Research update Executive Daisy Narayanan Place Post Summer 

Recess 2023 

 Place Directorate – Financial 

Monitoring and Annual Report 

Quarterly and annual report Routine Susan Hamilton 

 

Place Post Summer 

Recess 2023 

 Cleaning Up Edinburgh Bi-annual update Routine Andy Williams Place Post Summer 

Recess 2023 

P
age 14



 

Rolling Actions Log 

Transport and Environment Committee 

3 November 2022 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

1 09-08-18 Public Transport 

Priority Action 

Plan 

To approve the 

recommendation of a 

desired spacing of 400 

metres between bus stops 

and that existing corridors 

were reviewed to determine 

how this spacing could be 

achieved, whilst recognising 

equalities issues raised by 

this and that a full public 

consultation would be 

carried out on any proposed 

changes, with a 

consultation report returning 

to the Committee to seek 

approval for changes to bus 

stop locations. 

 

Executive Director of 

Place 

Lead Officer: Daisy 

Narayanan  

daisy.narayanan@edinbur

gh.gov.uk 

2 March 

2023 

 A draft public 

transport action 

plan is planned 

to be presented 

to Committee in 

early 2023. 

P
age 15

A
genda Item

 5.2

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Transport%20and%20Environment%20Committee/20180809/Agenda/item_72_-_public_transport_priority_action_plan.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Transport%20and%20Environment%20Committee/20180809/Agenda/item_72_-_public_transport_priority_action_plan.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Transport%20and%20Environment%20Committee/20180809/Agenda/item_72_-_public_transport_priority_action_plan.pdf
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 2 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

2 04-10-18 Proposed 

Increase in 

Scale of Rollout 

and Amendment 

to Contract for 

On-Street 

Secure Cycle 

Parking 

Agrees to receive an 

update report once the 

scheme is established, and 

in no later than 12 months’ 

time, which will examine 

potential changes to the 

scheme including the 

potential to price the 

scheme at less than the 

cost of a residents parking 

permit 

Executive Director of 

Place 

Lead Officer: Daisy 

Narayanan  

daisy.narayanan@edinbur

gh.gov.uk 

2 March 

2023 

 A Business 

Bulletin update 

is included in the 

papers for 

Committee on 3 

November 2022  

3 06-12-18 Transport and 

Environment 

Committee 

Rolling Actions 

Log 

To agree to circulate to 

members a brief update on 

the outcome of the liaison 

between the Head of Place 

Management and 

colleagues in Planning and 

Licensing with regards to 

ensuring regulations for 

flyposting are enforced 

Chief Executive 

Lead Officer: Gareth 

Barwell  

Gareth.barwell@edinburgh

.gov.uk 

December 

2022 

 An update for 

members is 

currently being 

prepared. 

Background 

information – 

report to 

Planning 

Committee in 

May 2006. 

4 06-12-18 Transport Asset 

Management 

To agree that a description 

of a supplementary 

document on ensuring 

Executive Director of 

Place 

Lead Officer:  Andy 

8 December 

2022 

 An update was 

included in the 

Business 

P
age 16

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Transport%20and%20Environment%20Committee/20181004/Agenda/item_73_-_proposed_increase_in_scale_of_rollout_and_amendment_to_contract_for_on-street_secure_cycle_parking.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Transport%20and%20Environment%20Committee/20181004/Agenda/item_73_-_proposed_increase_in_scale_of_rollout_and_amendment_to_contract_for_on-street_secure_cycle_parking.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Transport%20and%20Environment%20Committee/20181004/Agenda/item_73_-_proposed_increase_in_scale_of_rollout_and_amendment_to_contract_for_on-street_secure_cycle_parking.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Transport%20and%20Environment%20Committee/20181004/Agenda/item_73_-_proposed_increase_in_scale_of_rollout_and_amendment_to_contract_for_on-street_secure_cycle_parking.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Transport%20and%20Environment%20Committee/20181004/Agenda/item_73_-_proposed_increase_in_scale_of_rollout_and_amendment_to_contract_for_on-street_secure_cycle_parking.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Transport%20and%20Environment%20Committee/20181004/Agenda/item_73_-_proposed_increase_in_scale_of_rollout_and_amendment_to_contract_for_on-street_secure_cycle_parking.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Transport%20and%20Environment%20Committee/20181004/Agenda/item_73_-_proposed_increase_in_scale_of_rollout_and_amendment_to_contract_for_on-street_secure_cycle_parking.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Transport%20and%20Environment%20Committee/20181004/Agenda/item_73_-_proposed_increase_in_scale_of_rollout_and_amendment_to_contract_for_on-street_secure_cycle_parking.pdf
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Transport%20and%20Environment%20Committee/20181206/Agenda/item_52_-_rolling_actions_log.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Transport%20and%20Environment%20Committee/20181206/Agenda/item_52_-_rolling_actions_log.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Transport%20and%20Environment%20Committee/20181206/Agenda/item_52_-_rolling_actions_log.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Transport%20and%20Environment%20Committee/20181206/Agenda/item_52_-_rolling_actions_log.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Transport%20and%20Environment%20Committee/20181206/Agenda/item_52_-_rolling_actions_log.pdf
mailto:Gareth.barwell@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:Gareth.barwell@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Planning%20Committee/20060518/Agenda/proposal_to_address_fly-posting.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Planning%20Committee/20060518/Agenda/proposal_to_address_fly-posting.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Planning%20Committee/20060518/Agenda/proposal_to_address_fly-posting.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Transport%20and%20Environment%20Committee/20181206/Agenda/item_71_-_transport_asset_management_plan_tamp.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Transport%20and%20Environment%20Committee/20181206/Agenda/item_71_-_transport_asset_management_plan_tamp.pdf


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 3 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

Plan (TAMP) regular maintenance of 

these issues be included in 

the Business Bulletin 

update. 

Williams 

andy.williams@edinburgh.

gov.uk  

Bulletin for 

Committee on 

27 January 

2022. 

5 06-12-18 Annual Air 

Quality Update 

To agree that a revised 

NO2 Air Quality Action 

Plan should be presented 

to committee in August 

2019 

Executive Director of 

Place 

Lead Officer: Daisy 

Narayanan  

daisy.narayanan@edinbur

gh.gov.uk 

8 December 

2022 

 This action plan 

is currently being 

updated and a 

draft is due to be 

presented in 

December 2022.  

The annual 2021 

Air Quality 

Annual Progress 

Report was 

reported to 

Committee on 

27 January 2022 

and an update 

on the LEZ was 

included in the 

papers for 

Committee on 

31 March 2022.   

6 18-03-19 Neighbourhood 

Environment 

To agree that the Executive 

Director of Place would re-

Executive Director of 

Place 

2 March   

P
age 17

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Transport%20and%20Environment%20Committee/20181206/Agenda/item_71_-_transport_asset_management_plan_tamp.pdf
mailto:andy.williams@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:andy.williams@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41895/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin_January%202022.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41895/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin_January%202022.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Transport%20and%20Environment%20Committee/20181206/Agenda/item_77_-_annual_air_quality_update.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Transport%20and%20Environment%20Committee/20181206/Agenda/item_77_-_annual_air_quality_update.pdf
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41884/7.3%20-%202021%20Air%20Quality%20APR.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s45932/7.2%20-%20Low%20Emission%20Zone%20-%20Objections%20Report%20and%20Final%20Submission.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/South%20East%20Locality%20Committee/20180423/Agenda/$item_74_-_neighbourhood_environment_programme_and_community_grants_fundpdf.xls.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/South%20East%20Locality%20Committee/20180423/Agenda/$item_74_-_neighbourhood_environment_programme_and_community_grants_fundpdf.xls.pdf


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 4 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

Programme and 

Community 

Grants Fund 

(referral from the 

South East 

Locality 

Committee) 

visit the methodology used 

to allocate funding for each 

Locality from the 

carriageway and footpath 

capital budget for 

improvements to local 

roads and footpaths, 

consult with each political 

group, and report back to 

Committee with 

recommendations. 

Lead Officer: David Wilson  

david.wilson@edinburgh.g

ov.uk 

2023 

7 28-03-19 Motion by 

Councillor Jim 

Campbell – 

Strategic 

Transport 

Analysis North 

West Locality  

(referral from 

the North West 

Locality 

Committee) 

To report back to the North 

West Locality Committee in 

one cycle setting out a 

strategic transport analysis 

of the North West Locality 

area. 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead Officer:  Daisy 

Narayanan  

daisy.narayanan@edinbur

gh.gov.uk 

Autumn 

2023 

 It is proposed 

that this forms 

part of the 

development of 

a Circulation 

Plan Framework. 

8 20-06-19 Public Transport 

Priority Action 

Agrees that the 

development of a 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead Officer:  Daisy 

2 March 

2023 

 Methodology will 

be included in 

P
age 18

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/South%20East%20Locality%20Committee/20180423/Agenda/$item_74_-_neighbourhood_environment_programme_and_community_grants_fundpdf.xls.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/South%20East%20Locality%20Committee/20180423/Agenda/$item_74_-_neighbourhood_environment_programme_and_community_grants_fundpdf.xls.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/South%20East%20Locality%20Committee/20180423/Agenda/$item_74_-_neighbourhood_environment_programme_and_community_grants_fundpdf.xls.pdf
mailto:david.wilson@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:david.wilson@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/North%20West%20Locality%20Committee/20181114/Agenda/item_41_-_minute_of_11_september_2018.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/North%20West%20Locality%20Committee/20181114/Agenda/item_41_-_minute_of_11_september_2018.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/North%20West%20Locality%20Committee/20181114/Agenda/item_41_-_minute_of_11_september_2018.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/North%20West%20Locality%20Committee/20181114/Agenda/item_41_-_minute_of_11_september_2018.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/North%20West%20Locality%20Committee/20181114/Agenda/item_41_-_minute_of_11_september_2018.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/North%20West%20Locality%20Committee/20181114/Agenda/item_41_-_minute_of_11_september_2018.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/North%20West%20Locality%20Committee/20181114/Agenda/item_41_-_minute_of_11_september_2018.pdf
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Transport%20and%20Environment%20Committee/20190620/Agenda/item_76_-_public_transport_priority_action_plan_update.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Transport%20and%20Environment%20Committee/20190620/Agenda/item_76_-_public_transport_priority_action_plan_update.pdf


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 5 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

Plan Update methodology for a bus stop 

rationalisation process, as 

described in the report. This 

will include consultation 

with both the City of 

Edinburgh Council 

Equalities Champion and 

appropriate external 

organisations including the 

access panel Edinburgh 

Access Panel and will be 

brought back to Committee 

for approval 

Narayanan  

daisy.narayanan@edinbur

gh.gov.uk 

draft the Public 

Transport 

Priority Action 

plan. 

9 12-09-19 Strategic 

Review of 

Parking – 

Review Results 

for Areas 4 and 

5 and Proposed 

Implementation 

Strategy 

Agrees that, in parallel with 

the programme set out in 

this report and to complete 

the strategic overview, 

further analysis should be 

commissioned of factors 

affecting the underlying 

demand for the volume and 

location of parking and how 

key plans such as the City 

Mobility Plan and City Plan 

2030 impact on that. 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead Officer:  Daisy 

Narayanan  

daisy.narayanan@edinbur

gh.gov.uk 

2 March 

2023 

 This action links 

to City Mobility 

Plan and City 

Plan 2030. 

P
age 19

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Transport%20and%20Environment%20Committee/20190620/Agenda/item_76_-_public_transport_priority_action_plan_update.pdf
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://edinburghintranet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s6066/Item%207.7%20-%20Strategic%20Review%20of%20Parking%20-%20Review%20Results%20for%20Areas%204%205%20and%20Proposed%20Implementation%20.pdf
https://edinburghintranet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s6066/Item%207.7%20-%20Strategic%20Review%20of%20Parking%20-%20Review%20Results%20for%20Areas%204%205%20and%20Proposed%20Implementation%20.pdf
https://edinburghintranet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s6066/Item%207.7%20-%20Strategic%20Review%20of%20Parking%20-%20Review%20Results%20for%20Areas%204%205%20and%20Proposed%20Implementation%20.pdf
https://edinburghintranet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s6066/Item%207.7%20-%20Strategic%20Review%20of%20Parking%20-%20Review%20Results%20for%20Areas%204%205%20and%20Proposed%20Implementation%20.pdf
https://edinburghintranet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s6066/Item%207.7%20-%20Strategic%20Review%20of%20Parking%20-%20Review%20Results%20for%20Areas%204%205%20and%20Proposed%20Implementation%20.pdf
https://edinburghintranet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s6066/Item%207.7%20-%20Strategic%20Review%20of%20Parking%20-%20Review%20Results%20for%20Areas%204%205%20and%20Proposed%20Implementation%20.pdf
https://edinburghintranet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s6066/Item%207.7%20-%20Strategic%20Review%20of%20Parking%20-%20Review%20Results%20for%20Areas%204%205%20and%20Proposed%20Implementation%20.pdf
https://edinburghintranet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s6066/Item%207.7%20-%20Strategic%20Review%20of%20Parking%20-%20Review%20Results%20for%20Areas%204%205%20and%20Proposed%20Implementation%20.pdf
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 6 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

10 05-12-19 Transport and 

Environment 

Committee 

Business 

Bulletin 

To agree to engage with 

the strategic context 

around the solutions for 

dealing with wider parking 

pressures and to bring 

back an update on this in 

the Business Bulletin. 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead Officer:  Daisy 

Narayanan  

daisy.narayanan@edinbur

gh.gov.uk 

2 March 

2023 

 This links to City 

Mobility Plan 

and will be 

considered as 

part of this work. 

11 05-12-19 Progress 

Update on 

Edinburgh St 

James’ GAM 

Works 

Agrees that a report be 

brought back to Committee 

providing the results of the 

consultation exercise and 

seeking approval to 

proceed with a preferred 

option for the Central 

Island. 

Executive Director of 

Place 

Lead Officer: Daisy 

Narayanan 

Daisy.narayanan@edinbur

gh.gov.uk  

3 November 

2022 

 Recommended 

for closure 

This report is 

included on the 

agenda for 

Committee in 

November 2022. 

Previous 

Updates  

6 October 2022 

22 April 2021. 

12 05-12-19 Kirkliston and 

Queensferry 

Traffic and 

To agree to a Business 

Bulletin update in six 

months on the progress of 

Executive Director of 

Place 

Lead Officer: Dave Sinclair  

Early 

Summer 

2023 

 An update was 

included in the 

Business 

P
age 20

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s11613/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s11613/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s11613/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s11613/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s11613/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin.pdf
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s11605/7.2%20-%20Progress%20Update%20on%20Edinburgh%20St%20James%20GAM%20works.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s11605/7.2%20-%20Progress%20Update%20on%20Edinburgh%20St%20James%20GAM%20works.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s11605/7.2%20-%20Progress%20Update%20on%20Edinburgh%20St%20James%20GAM%20works.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s11605/7.2%20-%20Progress%20Update%20on%20Edinburgh%20St%20James%20GAM%20works.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s11605/7.2%20-%20Progress%20Update%20on%20Edinburgh%20St%20James%20GAM%20works.pdf
mailto:Daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:Daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49879/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin%206%20October%202022.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s33322/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin_April%202021.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s11592/7.4%20-%20Kirkliston%20and%20Queensferry%20Traffic%20Active%20travel%20study%20with%20apps.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s11592/7.4%20-%20Kirkliston%20and%20Queensferry%20Traffic%20Active%20travel%20study%20with%20apps.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s11592/7.4%20-%20Kirkliston%20and%20Queensferry%20Traffic%20Active%20travel%20study%20with%20apps.pdf


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 7 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

Active Travel 

Study 

the actions as agreed in 

the report. 

david.sinclair@edinburgh.

gov.uk 

Bulletin on 31 

March 2022. 

Previous update 

14 October 

2021.   

13 05-12-19 Gilmore Place 

Driveway 

Parking 

Overhanging 

Footway – 

Response to 

Motion 

Agrees an update report 

within the next 12 months, 

on the impact of activities 

outlined in the report, any 

further measures to 

address the issue, and 

implications for other 

streets facing similar 

pressures. 

Executive Director of 

Place 

Lead Officer: Gavin Brown 

gavin.brown@edinburgh.g

ov.uk 

2 March 

2023 

 An update was 

included in the 

Business 

Bulletin for 

Committee on 

31 March 2022.  

Committee 

agreed to keep 

this action open 

for a further 

update to be 

provided. 

14 27-02-20 Edinburgh Low 

Emission Zone - 

regulations and 

guidance 

consultation 

response and 

programme 

To agree that the Action 

Plan on air quality would be 

updated and to agree that 

details of the contents of 

the report would be 

embedded in the update. 

Executive Director of 

Place 

Lead Officer: Daisy 

Narayanan  

daisy.narayanan@edinbur

gh.gov.uk 

8 December 

2022 

 The draft Air 

Quality Action 

Plan will be 

considered at 

Committee in 

December.  An 

update on LEZ 

P
age 21

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s11592/7.4%20-%20Kirkliston%20and%20Queensferry%20Traffic%20Active%20travel%20study%20with%20apps.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s11592/7.4%20-%20Kirkliston%20and%20Queensferry%20Traffic%20Active%20travel%20study%20with%20apps.pdf
mailto:david.sinclair@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:david.sinclair@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s45926/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s45926/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s39337/6.1%20-%20Business%20bulletin%20141021_Final.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s39337/6.1%20-%20Business%20bulletin%20141021_Final.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s11594/7.5%20-%20Gilmore_Place_Dec%202019.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s11594/7.5%20-%20Gilmore_Place_Dec%202019.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s11594/7.5%20-%20Gilmore_Place_Dec%202019.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s11594/7.5%20-%20Gilmore_Place_Dec%202019.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s11594/7.5%20-%20Gilmore_Place_Dec%202019.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s11594/7.5%20-%20Gilmore_Place_Dec%202019.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s11594/7.5%20-%20Gilmore_Place_Dec%202019.pdf
mailto:gavin.brown@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:gavin.brown@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:gavin.brown@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s45926/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s14504/Item%207.1%20-%20Edinburgh%20Low%20Emmission%20Zones.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s14504/Item%207.1%20-%20Edinburgh%20Low%20Emmission%20Zones.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s14504/Item%207.1%20-%20Edinburgh%20Low%20Emmission%20Zones.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s14504/Item%207.1%20-%20Edinburgh%20Low%20Emmission%20Zones.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s14504/Item%207.1%20-%20Edinburgh%20Low%20Emmission%20Zones.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s14504/Item%207.1%20-%20Edinburgh%20Low%20Emmission%20Zones.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s14504/Item%207.1%20-%20Edinburgh%20Low%20Emmission%20Zones.pdf
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 8 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

update was included in 

the Business 

Bulletin on 18 

August 2022.  

15 12-11-20 Motion by 

Councillor Miller 

Cyclist Fatality 

(See Agenda) 

Asks officers to review the 

provision of safe routes for 

people travelling by bike 

through this junction. 

Executive Director of 

Place 

Lead Officer: Daisy 

Narayanan  

daisy.narayanan@edinbur

gh.gov.uk 

18 May 

2023 

 An update on 

the medium term 

actions will be 

presented to 

Committee in 

December 2022, 

with a report on 

the Major 

Junctions 

Review due in 

Spring 2023. 

Previous 

updates: 

6 October 2022 

18 August 2022 

31 March 2022  

27 January 2022 

P
age 22

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s14504/Item%207.1%20-%20Edinburgh%20Low%20Emmission%20Zones.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s47965/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s47965/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=5660&Ver=4
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49879/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin%206%20October%202022.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s47965/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s45926/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41895/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin_January%202022.pdf


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 9 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

22 April 2021  

14 October 2021  

16 28-01-21 Strategic 

Review of 

Parking – 

Results Phase 1 

Consultation 

and General 

Update 

Agrees to introduce garage 

permits as set out in para 

4.30, with monitoring and 

feedback from businesses 

and residents in these 

locations reported back to 

committee in 18 months of 

implementation within any 

update report on the 

strategic review of parking.  

Executive Director of 

Place 

Lead Officer: Gavin Brown 

gavin.brown@edinburgh.g

ov.uk 

Early 

Summer 

2023 

  

17 19-02-21 City Mobility 

Plan 

Calls for officers to reflect 

development of national 

transport strategy and 

priorities at the first major 

review of the City Mobility 

Plan 

Executive Director of 

Place 

Lead Officer: Daisy 

Narayanan  

daisy.narayanan@edinbur

gh.gov.uk 

Autumn 

2023 

 Update was 

provided to 

Committee in 

October 2021.  

Review cycle 

has review 

scheduled for 

Autumn 2023 

18 22-04-21 Business 

Bulletin – 

Climate Risk 

To agree to provide a 

briefing note how on well 

the Council are to 

Executive Director of 

Place 

Lead Officer: Gareth 

Early 2023  Climate risk 

assessment is 

underway and is 

P
age 23

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s33414/7.2%20-%20Delivery%20of%20the%20Road%20Safety%20Improvements%20Programme%20with%20apps%20and%20wards.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s39332/7.4%20-%20Short%20Term%20Improvements%20PHSITSHLRJ.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s30769/Item%207.2%20-%20Strategic%20Review%20of%20Parking%20-%20Results%20of%20Phase%201%20Consultation%20and%20General%20Update.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s30769/Item%207.2%20-%20Strategic%20Review%20of%20Parking%20-%20Results%20of%20Phase%201%20Consultation%20and%20General%20Update.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s30769/Item%207.2%20-%20Strategic%20Review%20of%20Parking%20-%20Results%20of%20Phase%201%20Consultation%20and%20General%20Update.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s30769/Item%207.2%20-%20Strategic%20Review%20of%20Parking%20-%20Results%20of%20Phase%201%20Consultation%20and%20General%20Update.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s30769/Item%207.2%20-%20Strategic%20Review%20of%20Parking%20-%20Results%20of%20Phase%201%20Consultation%20and%20General%20Update.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s30769/Item%207.2%20-%20Strategic%20Review%20of%20Parking%20-%20Results%20of%20Phase%201%20Consultation%20and%20General%20Update.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s30769/Item%207.2%20-%20Strategic%20Review%20of%20Parking%20-%20Results%20of%20Phase%201%20Consultation%20and%20General%20Update.pdf
mailto:gavin.brown@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:gavin.brown@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s31421/City%20Mobility%20Plan%20-%20Combined%20v2.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s31421/City%20Mobility%20Plan%20-%20Combined%20v2.pdf
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s33322/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin_April%202021.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s33322/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin_April%202021.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s33322/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin_April%202021.pdf


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 10 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

Assessment undertake the climate risk 

assessment. 

Barwell 

gareth.barwell@edinburgh

.gov.uk 

expected to be 

reported to 

Policy and 

Sustainability 

Committee early 

in the new year. 

19 22-04-21 Delivery of the 

Road Safety 

Improvements 

Programme 

Agrees that a status update 

on the speed reduction 

measures delivered under 

4.11 should be provided by 

way of a members’ briefing 

within the next six months. 

Executive Director of 

Place 

Lead Officer: Daisy 

Narayanan  

daisy.narayanan@edinbur

gh.gov.uk 

8 December 

2022 

 A report on the 

Road Safety 

Action Plan is 

planned for 

December 2022. 

20 22-04-21 Wardie Bay and 

Beach - 

Response to 

Motion 

Agrees that officers should 

engage with the 

community, local ward 

Councillors, and 

landowners to set up a 

management agreement, 

lease, or similar agreement 

enabling the Council to take 

on responsibility for the 

management and 

development required to 

support the bathing 

designation of Wardie Bay. 

Executive Director of 

Place 

Lead Officer: Steven 

Cuthill 

steven.cuthill@edinburgh.

gov.uk 

Spring 2023  A Business 

Bulletin update 

is included in the 

papers for 

Committee on 3 

November 2022 

Previous 

updates 

31 March 2022 

11 November 

2021 

P
age 24

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s33322/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin_April%202021.pdf
mailto:gareth.barwell@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:gareth.barwell@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s33414/7.2%20-%20Delivery%20of%20the%20Road%20Safety%20Improvements%20Programme%20with%20apps%20and%20wards.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s33414/7.2%20-%20Delivery%20of%20the%20Road%20Safety%20Improvements%20Programme%20with%20apps%20and%20wards.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s33414/7.2%20-%20Delivery%20of%20the%20Road%20Safety%20Improvements%20Programme%20with%20apps%20and%20wards.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s33414/7.2%20-%20Delivery%20of%20the%20Road%20Safety%20Improvements%20Programme%20with%20apps%20and%20wards.pdf
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s33317/7.6%20-%20Wardie_Bay_Beach_Report_v6.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s33317/7.6%20-%20Wardie_Bay_Beach_Report_v6.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s33317/7.6%20-%20Wardie_Bay_Beach_Report_v6.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s33317/7.6%20-%20Wardie_Bay_Beach_Report_v6.pdf
mailto:steven.cuthill@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:steven.cuthill@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s45926/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s40129/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s40129/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin.pdf


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 11 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

The outcome of these 

discussions should be 

reported back to Committee 

within three cycles 

21 17-06-21 Petition for 

consideration - 

Pedestrianise 

Elm Row 

To agree that a report on 

the issues raised by the 

petitioner and by the 

Committee would be 

brought back to Committee. 

Executive Director of 

Place 

Lead Officer: Gavin Brown 

gavin.brown@edinburgh.g

ov.uk 

2 March 

2023 

 An update was 

included in the 

Business 

Bulletin on 31 

March 2022. 

22 17-06-21 City Centre 

West to East 

Cycle Link and 

Street 

Improvements 

Project - 

Proposed 

design changes 

and Statutory 

Orders Update 

Notes the progress to date 

on the Walker Street to 

Rutland Square spur, and 

instructs officers to 

progress towards 

implementation as a 

standalone scheme as part 

of the review of the Active 

Travel Programme 

Executive Director of 

Place 

Lead Officer: Daisy 

Narayanan  

daisy.narayanan@edinbur

gh.gov.uk 

2 March 

2023 

 It is proposed to 

report back to 

Committee on 

this project as 

part of a review 

of active travel 

investment. 

23 17-06-21 Cammo Road – 

Trial Vehicle 

Prohibition 

(Road Closure)  

Agree that outline designs 

are developed and 

promoted as an 

Experimental Traffic 

Regulation Order (ETRO) 

Executive Director of 

Place 

Lead Officer: Dave Sinclair 

dave.sinclair@edinburgh.g

ov.uk 

18 May 

2023 

 A report on this 

is included on 

the agenda for 

Committee on 3 

November 2022. 

P
age 25

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s34944/7.3%20-%20Petitions%20Report%20-%20Pedestrianise%20Elm%20Row%20v2.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s34944/7.3%20-%20Petitions%20Report%20-%20Pedestrianise%20Elm%20Row%20v2.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s34944/7.3%20-%20Petitions%20Report%20-%20Pedestrianise%20Elm%20Row%20v2.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s34944/7.3%20-%20Petitions%20Report%20-%20Pedestrianise%20Elm%20Row%20v2.pdf
mailto:gavin.brown@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:gavin.brown@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s45926/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s45926/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s34889/7.8%20-%20CCWEL%20and%20Street%20Improvements%20Project%20-%20Prop%20Design%20Changes%20and%20Stat%20Orders%20Update%20v1.9.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s34889/7.8%20-%20CCWEL%20and%20Street%20Improvements%20Project%20-%20Prop%20Design%20Changes%20and%20Stat%20Orders%20Update%20v1.9.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s34889/7.8%20-%20CCWEL%20and%20Street%20Improvements%20Project%20-%20Prop%20Design%20Changes%20and%20Stat%20Orders%20Update%20v1.9.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s34889/7.8%20-%20CCWEL%20and%20Street%20Improvements%20Project%20-%20Prop%20Design%20Changes%20and%20Stat%20Orders%20Update%20v1.9.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s34889/7.8%20-%20CCWEL%20and%20Street%20Improvements%20Project%20-%20Prop%20Design%20Changes%20and%20Stat%20Orders%20Update%20v1.9.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s34889/7.8%20-%20CCWEL%20and%20Street%20Improvements%20Project%20-%20Prop%20Design%20Changes%20and%20Stat%20Orders%20Update%20v1.9.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s34889/7.8%20-%20CCWEL%20and%20Street%20Improvements%20Project%20-%20Prop%20Design%20Changes%20and%20Stat%20Orders%20Update%20v1.9.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s34889/7.8%20-%20CCWEL%20and%20Street%20Improvements%20Project%20-%20Prop%20Design%20Changes%20and%20Stat%20Orders%20Update%20v1.9.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s34889/7.8%20-%20CCWEL%20and%20Street%20Improvements%20Project%20-%20Prop%20Design%20Changes%20and%20Stat%20Orders%20Update%20v1.9.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s34889/7.8%20-%20CCWEL%20and%20Street%20Improvements%20Project%20-%20Prop%20Design%20Changes%20and%20Stat%20Orders%20Update%20v1.9.pdf
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s34891/7.10%20-%20Cammo%20Road%20-%20Trial%20Vehicle%20Prohibition%20-v5.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s34891/7.10%20-%20Cammo%20Road%20-%20Trial%20Vehicle%20Prohibition%20-v5.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s34891/7.10%20-%20Cammo%20Road%20-%20Trial%20Vehicle%20Prohibition%20-v5.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s34891/7.10%20-%20Cammo%20Road%20-%20Trial%20Vehicle%20Prohibition%20-v5.pdf
mailto:dave.sinclair@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:dave.sinclair@edinburgh.gov.uk


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 12 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

for the trial vehicle 

prohibition on Cammo 

Road with a view to 

commencement by the end 

of 2021. 

24 17-06-21 Funding Third 

Sector Delivery 

Partner: 

Changeworks 

Resources for 

Life 

To agree that a Business 

Bulletin item would be 

brought back on a pilot to 

support reusing items 

rather than throwing them 

out. 

Executive Director of 

Place 

Lead Officer: Andy 

Williams 

andy.williams@edinburgh.

gov.uk 

December 

2022 

 Officers are 

continuing to 

investigate 

options for 

reusing items.  

Over the course 

of 2022, re-use 

containers will 

be reintroduced 

at HWRCs for 

donations.  

Options to reuse 

items which 

have been 

collected as 

bulky uplifts are 

also being 

investigated. 

25 17-06-21 Motion by 
Notes the decision agreed 

Executive Director of 8 December  The Road Safety 

P
age 26

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s34887/7.11%20-%20Funding%20third%20Sector%20Delivery%20Partner%20Changeworks%20with%20app.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s34887/7.11%20-%20Funding%20third%20Sector%20Delivery%20Partner%20Changeworks%20with%20app.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s34887/7.11%20-%20Funding%20third%20Sector%20Delivery%20Partner%20Changeworks%20with%20app.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s34887/7.11%20-%20Funding%20third%20Sector%20Delivery%20Partner%20Changeworks%20with%20app.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s34887/7.11%20-%20Funding%20third%20Sector%20Delivery%20Partner%20Changeworks%20with%20app.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s34887/7.11%20-%20Funding%20third%20Sector%20Delivery%20Partner%20Changeworks%20with%20app.pdf
mailto:andy.williams@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:andy.williams@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s26225/Item%204.1%20-%20Minute%20of%2025%20August%202020.pdf


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 13 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

Councillor Miller 

Vision Zero  

(See Agenda) 

unanimously at a meeting 

of full council on 25 August 

2020 to request that all 

reasonable action is taken 

to continue to improve road 

safety for cyclists including 

that a new Edinburgh 

'Vision Zero' Road Safety 

Plan - which aims that 'all 

users are safe from the risk 

of being killed or seriously 

injured' on the City's roads - 

is developed to replace the 

existing plan and is 

reported to the Transport & 

Environment Committee. 

 

Recognises that there 

should be a two-step 

process to creating a new 

Vision Zero Road Safety 

Plan for Edinburgh and 

requests that officers return 

to the November Transport 

and Environment 

Committee with an updated 

Place 

Lead Officer: Daisy 

Narayanan  

daisy.narayanan@edinbur

gh.gov.uk 

2022 Action Plan is 

currently being 

developed and 

will be reported 

to Committee in 

December 2022. 

Previous 

updates 

27 January 

2022. 

11 November 

2021 

P
age 27

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=5663&Ver=4
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s26225/Item%204.1%20-%20Minute%20of%2025%20August%202020.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s26225/Item%204.1%20-%20Minute%20of%2025%20August%202020.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s26225/Item%204.1%20-%20Minute%20of%2025%20August%202020.pdf
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41895/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin_January%202022.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41895/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin_January%202022.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s40129/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s40129/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin.pdf


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 14 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

draft plan or overview 

following partnership 

working with stakeholders 

and elected members. This 

to be followed by the 

finalised Road Safety Plan 

in spring 2022.  

26 19-08-21 Active Travel 

Measures - 

Travelling Safely 

(Formerly 

Spaces for 

People) 

To ask for a briefing to 

Transport spokespersons 

and Councillor Cameron on 

actions being taken in 

regard to cycle training. 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead Officer:  Daisy 

Narayanan 

daisy.narayanan@edinbur

gh.gov.uk   

Autumn 

2022 

3 November 

2022 

Recommended 

for closure 

Information on 

the actions being 

taken in regard 

to cycle training 

is included in the 

Business 

Bulletin on 3 

November 2022. 

27 14-10-21 

Council 

Minutes 

15.10.20 

Rolling Actions 

Log – 

Maintenance of 

Cycle and 

Footpaths 

To include the actions from 

the Green Amendment in 

the Rolling Actions Log that 

was referred from Council 

to Transport and 

Environment Committee on 

maintenance of cycle and 

Executive Director of 

Place 

Lead Officer: Andy 

Williams 

Andy.williams@edinburgh.

gov.uk  

8 December 

2022 

 An update was 

included in the 

Business 

Bulletin for 

Committee on 

27 January 

2022. 

P
age 28

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s36349/Item%207.1%20-%20Active%20travel%20measures%20travelling%20safely%20with%20apps.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s36349/Item%207.1%20-%20Active%20travel%20measures%20travelling%20safely%20with%20apps.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s36349/Item%207.1%20-%20Active%20travel%20measures%20travelling%20safely%20with%20apps.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s36349/Item%207.1%20-%20Active%20travel%20measures%20travelling%20safely%20with%20apps.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s36349/Item%207.1%20-%20Active%20travel%20measures%20travelling%20safely%20with%20apps.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s36349/Item%207.1%20-%20Active%20travel%20measures%20travelling%20safely%20with%20apps.pdf
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s29007/Item%204.1%20-%20Minute%20of%2015%20October%202020.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s29007/Item%204.1%20-%20Minute%20of%2015%20October%202020.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s29007/Item%204.1%20-%20Minute%20of%2015%20October%202020.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s39340/5.2%20-%20Rolling%20Actions%20Log%20-%2014%20October%202021_Final.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s39340/5.2%20-%20Rolling%20Actions%20Log%20-%2014%20October%202021_Final.pdf
mailto:Andy.williams@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:Andy.williams@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41895/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin_January%202022.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41895/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin_January%202022.pdf


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 15 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

foot paths (see hyperlink, 

motion by Cllr Webber 

approved with Green 

Amendment at Council on 

15 October 2020). 

28 28-10-21 

(Council) 

Motion by 

Councillor Neil 

Ross – Engine 

Idling 

(See agenda) 

Engage with NSL to discuss 

the potential for vehicle 

emission enforcement by 

parking attendants, in 

particular: 

• The issue of 

appropriately worded 

leaflets to remind 

drivers whose engines 

are idling of their legal 

obligation to switch off 

the engine when 

parked; 

• Where a driver refuses 

to co-operate, the issue 

a Fixed Penalty Notice 

of £20; and 

To report on the result of 

Executive Director of 

Place 

Lead Officer: Gavin Brown 

Gavin.brown@edinburgh.g

ov.uk  

November 

2022 

3 November 

2022 

Recommended 

for closure 

A Business 

Bulletin update 

is included in the 

reports for 

Committee on 3 

November 2022 

 

Previous Update 

 31 March 2022. 

P
age 29

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/g6007/Agenda%20frontsheet%2028th-Oct-2021%2010.00%20City%20of%20Edinburgh%20Council.pdf?T=0
mailto:Gavin.brown@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:Gavin.brown@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s45913/5.1%20-%20Work%20Programme.pdf


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 16 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

the discussions within two 

cycles to the Transport and 

Environment Committee 

29 11-11-21 Active Travel 

Measures – 

Travelling Safely 

Updates 

To request a particular 

focus from officers to 

monitor the impact of the 

proposed changes to the 

active travel and public 

transport environment 

across the area that 

includes Braid Road and 

Comiston Road and to 

report back to the Transport 

and Environment 

Committee within one year. 

Executive Director of 

Place 

Lead Officer: Daisy 

Narayanan 

Daisy.narayanan@edinbur

gh.gov.uk  

Post 

Summer 

Recess 

2023 

 This will form 

part of the 

monitoring 

strategy for the 

Travelling Safely 

measures. 

30 11-11-21 Rolling Actions 

Log – Use of 

Camera Footage 

To explore opportunities to 

keep dialogue open 

between safety partners on 

the use of camera footage. 

Executive Director of 

Place 

Lead Officer: Daisy 

Narayanan  

daisy.narayanan@edinbur

gh.gov.uk 

8 December 

2023 

 Ongoing 

dialogue with 

partners. To be 

reported on as 

part of the Road 

Safety Action 

Plan 

31 11-11-21 Edinburgh Cycle 

Hire Scheme – 

To agree to the 

establishment of a project 

Executive Director of 

Place 

2 March 

2023 

 It is proposed to 

report back to 

P
age 30

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s40135/7.1%20-%20Active%20Travel%20Measures%20-%20Travelling%20Safely%20Update.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s40135/7.1%20-%20Active%20Travel%20Measures%20-%20Travelling%20Safely%20Update.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s40135/7.1%20-%20Active%20Travel%20Measures%20-%20Travelling%20Safely%20Update.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s40135/7.1%20-%20Active%20Travel%20Measures%20-%20Travelling%20Safely%20Update.pdf
mailto:Daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:Daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s40140/5.2%20-%20Rolling%20Actions%20Log%20-%2011%20November%202021.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s40140/5.2%20-%20Rolling%20Actions%20Log%20-%2011%20November%202021.pdf
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s40133/7.5%20-%20Edinburgh%20Cycle%20Hire%20Scheme.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s40133/7.5%20-%20Edinburgh%20Cycle%20Hire%20Scheme.pdf


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 17 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

Future Delivery 

and Interim 

Community 

Initiatives  

team to take forward a 

detailed assessment of 

proposed objectives for a 

new scheme in the medium 

to long term, with the 

outcome being reported to 

Committee as early as 

possible. 

To approve funding to 

support the short-term 

mitigating measures, as 

detailed in paragraph 4.14 

of the report.  

Lead Officer:  Daisy 

Narayanan  

daisy.narayanan@edinbur

gh.gov.uk 

 

Committee on 

this in early 

2023.  

32 27-01-22 Petition for 

Consideration: 

Improve the 

original/current 

traffic calming 

measures at 60 

Spylaw Road, 

Edinburgh, to 

make them fit 

for purpose for 

this 20mph 

school and 

To request a further report 

from the Executive Director 

of Place on the matter. 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead Officer:  Daisy 

Narayanan  

daisy.narayanan@edinbur

gh.gov.uk  

8 December 

2022 

 This will be 

incorporated into 

the School 

Travel Plan 

Review. 

P
age 31

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s40133/7.5%20-%20Edinburgh%20Cycle%20Hire%20Scheme.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s40133/7.5%20-%20Edinburgh%20Cycle%20Hire%20Scheme.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s40133/7.5%20-%20Edinburgh%20Cycle%20Hire%20Scheme.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s40133/7.5%20-%20Edinburgh%20Cycle%20Hire%20Scheme.pdf
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41879/7.1%20-%20Petitions%20Report%20-%20Improve%20the%20original%20or%20current%20traffic%20calming%20measures%20at%2060%20Spylaw%20Road%20.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41879/7.1%20-%20Petitions%20Report%20-%20Improve%20the%20original%20or%20current%20traffic%20calming%20measures%20at%2060%20Spylaw%20Road%20.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41879/7.1%20-%20Petitions%20Report%20-%20Improve%20the%20original%20or%20current%20traffic%20calming%20measures%20at%2060%20Spylaw%20Road%20.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41879/7.1%20-%20Petitions%20Report%20-%20Improve%20the%20original%20or%20current%20traffic%20calming%20measures%20at%2060%20Spylaw%20Road%20.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41879/7.1%20-%20Petitions%20Report%20-%20Improve%20the%20original%20or%20current%20traffic%20calming%20measures%20at%2060%20Spylaw%20Road%20.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41879/7.1%20-%20Petitions%20Report%20-%20Improve%20the%20original%20or%20current%20traffic%20calming%20measures%20at%2060%20Spylaw%20Road%20.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41879/7.1%20-%20Petitions%20Report%20-%20Improve%20the%20original%20or%20current%20traffic%20calming%20measures%20at%2060%20Spylaw%20Road%20.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41879/7.1%20-%20Petitions%20Report%20-%20Improve%20the%20original%20or%20current%20traffic%20calming%20measures%20at%2060%20Spylaw%20Road%20.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41879/7.1%20-%20Petitions%20Report%20-%20Improve%20the%20original%20or%20current%20traffic%20calming%20measures%20at%2060%20Spylaw%20Road%20.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41879/7.1%20-%20Petitions%20Report%20-%20Improve%20the%20original%20or%20current%20traffic%20calming%20measures%20at%2060%20Spylaw%20Road%20.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41879/7.1%20-%20Petitions%20Report%20-%20Improve%20the%20original%20or%20current%20traffic%20calming%20measures%20at%2060%20Spylaw%20Road%20.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41879/7.1%20-%20Petitions%20Report%20-%20Improve%20the%20original%20or%20current%20traffic%20calming%20measures%20at%2060%20Spylaw%20Road%20.pdf
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 18 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

kindergarten 

zone  

33 27-01-22 Kirkliston 

Junction 

Reconfiguration  

To note the intention to 

undertake journey time 

assessments before and 

after the implementation of 

the improvements works 

and agrees this comparison 

data should be made 

available to the Committee 

by way of a business 

bulletin update once 

available. 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead Officer: Gavin Brown 

Gavin.brown@edinburgh.g

ov.uk 

Early 

Summer 

2023 

 Detailed designs 

for the new 

signal system 

are still to be 

submitted for 

approval and 

therefore 

installation is 

currently 

expected early 

2023. 

Monitoring will 

be undertaken 

once installation 

is complete. 

34 27-01-22 Progress Report 

on the ‘Vision 

for Water 

Management’ 

and Operational 

Management of 

Roads Drainage 

Open actions only: 

1. To ask the Executive 

Director of Place to 

prepare a gully recovery 

programme that 

identified the 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead Officer: Cliff Hutt 

Cliff.hutt@edinburgh.gov.u

k  

18 May 

2023 

 A Business 

Bulletin update 

will be prepared 

for Committee in 

December, with 

a report to 

Committee in 

P
age 32

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41879/7.1%20-%20Petitions%20Report%20-%20Improve%20the%20original%20or%20current%20traffic%20calming%20measures%20at%2060%20Spylaw%20Road%20.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41879/7.1%20-%20Petitions%20Report%20-%20Improve%20the%20original%20or%20current%20traffic%20calming%20measures%20at%2060%20Spylaw%20Road%20.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41881/7.6%20-%20Kirkliston%20Junction%20Reconfiguration.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41881/7.6%20-%20Kirkliston%20Junction%20Reconfiguration.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41881/7.6%20-%20Kirkliston%20Junction%20Reconfiguration.pdf
mailto:Gavin.brown@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:Gavin.brown@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41886/8.1%20-%20Vision%20for%20Water%20Management.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41886/8.1%20-%20Vision%20for%20Water%20Management.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41886/8.1%20-%20Vision%20for%20Water%20Management.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41886/8.1%20-%20Vision%20for%20Water%20Management.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41886/8.1%20-%20Vision%20for%20Water%20Management.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41886/8.1%20-%20Vision%20for%20Water%20Management.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41886/8.1%20-%20Vision%20for%20Water%20Management.pdf
mailto:Cliff.hutt@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:Cliff.hutt@edinburgh.gov.uk


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 19 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

Infrastructure  organisation and 

resources required to 

deliver an efficient 

proactive and reactive 

maintenance regime to 

minimise flooding risks 

due to any gully issues 

within the control of this 

Council. 

2. To agree that officers 

would provide an 

update on the outcome 

of discussions with 

heritage and planning 

colleagues on planning 

permission required for 

conservation area and 

heritage properties to 

make them watertight. 

3. To agree that officers 

would look at improving 

communications to 

residents. 

4. For clarity, expects the 

May 2023. 

P
age 33

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41886/8.1%20-%20Vision%20for%20Water%20Management.pdf


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 20 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

dedicated multi-

disciplinary in-house 

approach to include 

provision for regular 

road / gutter clearing, to 

minimise the build-up of 

any detritus that might 

restrict the efficiency / 

effectiveness of the 

drainage networks that 

support our pavements, 

paths or roads. 

5. Expects that costed 

options to achieve the 

above would be 

available to inform the 

2022/23 budget debate. 

6. To require a follow-up 

report, less this 

important topic be lost, 

to this Committee (or 

any successor 

Committee) following 

the formation of a new 

Council after the 

P
age 34



Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 21 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

forthcoming local 

elections and in light of 

any new budget 

provisions. 

35 Council 

17-03-22 

 

Motion by 

Councillor 

Staniforth – 

Updating the 

Taxicard 

Scheme 

(See agenda) 

Extract of the motion: 

Notes the engagement and 

consultation with 

stakeholders already 

planned as part of the 

review of the Taxicard 

service and that 

recommendations relating 

to this review will be 

reported to Transport and 

Environment Committee in 

Spring 2023. 

Agrees that briefings will be 

provided by officers to 

parties as part of the next 

budget process on options 

for consideration. 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead Officer: Gavin Brown 

Gavin.brown@edinburgh.g

ov.uk  

18 May 

2023 

 

 

 

 

 

 

By 31 

December 

2022 

  

36 Council Motion by 

Councillor 

Extract of the motion:  

Calls for the next report 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead officer: Gavin Brown 

8 December 

2022 

  

P
age 35

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/g6106/Agenda%20frontsheet%2017th-Mar-2022%2010.00%20City%20of%20Edinburgh%20Council.pdf?T=0
mailto:Gavin.brown@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:Gavin.brown@edinburgh.gov.uk


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 22 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

17-03-22 

 

Douglas – 

Review of 

Stadium Parking 

(See agenda) 

from officers on the 

Strategic Review of Parking 

to include comment on how 

stadiums and Council could 

work in partnership to 

increase the number of 

people choosing 

sustainable transport to 

events, in advance of 

implementation of changes 

to car parking. 

Gavin.brown@edinburgh.g

ov.uk  

37 31-03-22 Petition by 

James 

Gillespie’s High 

School Eco 

Group – Motion 

by Councillor 

Miller  

(see agenda) 

Extract of the motion: 

Calls for officers to review 

the terms of the petition, 

meet with the Eco Group, 

and evaluation 

incorporation of their aims 

into the current work to 

review all School Travel 

Plans and the creation of 

the Road Safety Action 

Plan. 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead Officer:  Daisy 

Narayanan  

daisy.narayanan@edinbur

gh.gov.uk 

8 December 

2022 

 This will be 

included in an 

update on the 

School Travel 

Plan Review. 

38 31.03.22 Motion by 

Councillor Neil 

To therefore, approve 

proceeding with a study to 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead Officer:  Daisy 

Autumn 

2023 

 An update was 

included in the 

P
age 36

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/g6106/Agenda%20frontsheet%2017th-Mar-2022%2010.00%20City%20of%20Edinburgh%20Council.pdf?T=0
mailto:Gavin.brown@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:Gavin.brown@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/g6158/Agenda%20frontsheet%2031st-Mar-2022%2010.00%20Transport%20and%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=0
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 23 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

Ross - Call for 

Action on Zebra 

Markings for 

Side Streets 

 

monitor the operation of 

existing low cost zebra 

crossings in Edinburgh, at 

locations that were not on 

the public road network. 

To agree that an update 

report be provided to 

Committee in six months on 

the outcomes of the study. 

Narayanan  

daisy.narayanan@edinbur

gh.gov.uk 

Business 

Bulletin on 6 

October 2022 

39 Council 

30-06-22 

 

Motion By 

Councillor 

Whyte - 

Cleaning Up 

Edinburgh 

(See agenda) 

Extract of the motion: 

To agree to openly and 

transparently scrutinise the 

delivery of these services 

as part of biannual reports 

to the Transport and 

Environment Committee.  

Executive Director of Place 

Lead Officer: Andy 

Williams 

andy.williams@edinburgh.

gov.uk 

18 May 

2023 

  

40 Council 

30-06-22 

 

Motions By 

Councillor 

Whyte and 

Councillor 

Mowat – 

Restoring a Bus 

Service for 

Extract of the motion: 

Council therefore agrees 

that officers should provide 

a report to the Transport 

Committee within two 

cycles detailing the subsidy 

required to restore a bus 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead Officer:  Daisy 

Narayanan  

daisy.narayanan@edinbur

gh.gov.uk 

8 December 

2022 

  

P
age 37

mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49879/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin%206%20October%202022.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49879/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin%206%20October%202022.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/g6416/Agenda%20frontsheet%2030th-Jun-2022%2010.00%20City%20of%20Edinburgh%20Council.pdf?T=0
mailto:andy.williams@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:andy.williams@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 24 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

Willowbrae/Lady 

Nairn and Bus 

for 

Dumbiedykes 

(See agenda) 

service to the 

Willowbrae/Lady Nairne 

area in order that budget 

approval for such a service 

could be sought. 

Report on the short term 

options for improving 

access for the 

Dumbiedykes community to 

their essential services 

recognising their calls over 

many years for improved 

regular scheduled bus 

access. 

Report to the Transport and 

Environment Committee in 

two cycles as per the 

decisions of committee on 

27 February 2020, and 

contextualising this within a 

wider review of community 

requirements for supported 

bus services across 

Edinburgh, considering 

alternative models of 

P
age 38

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/g6416/Agenda%20frontsheet%2030th-Jun-2022%2010.00%20City%20of%20Edinburgh%20Council.pdf?T=0


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 25 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

provision including demand 

responsive transport and 

community transport noting 

recent schemes in the 

SEStran area, and 

providing financial 

information on provision of 

supported bus services or 

alternative models which 

will allow groups to bring 

forward budget proposals. 

41 Council 

30-06-22 

 

Motion by 

Councillor 

Macinnes - 

Accessibility 

Commission 

(See agenda) 

Extract of the motion: 

To agree that a report be 

presented to the Transport 

and Environment 

Committee within two 

cycles, setting out how the 

Council’s engagement with 

the Edinburgh Access 

Panel could be 

strengthened and how the 

panel’s role in shaping 

Council decisions could be 

improved 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead officer: Daisy 

Narayanan 

daisy.narayanan@edinbur

gh.gov.uk   

2 March 

2023 

  

P
age 39

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/g6416/Agenda%20frontsheet%2030th-Jun-2022%2010.00%20City%20of%20Edinburgh%20Council.pdf?T=0
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 26 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

To agree that officers 

should, ahead of the 

committee’s consideration 

of this report, facilitate a 

round table meeting so all 

members of the new 

Transport and Environment 

Committee could meet with 

representatives of the 

Edinburgh Access Panel to 

better understand priorities 

and the improvements 

which could be delivered in 

the short term to improve 

accessibility across the city. 

To agree that, as part of the 

Transport and Environment 

Committee work plan, there 

should be an annual 

accessibility report, 

detailing the steps taken by 

the Council over the 

preceding 12 months to 

address accessibility issues 

and setting out the key 

P
age 40



Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 27 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

priorities and additional 

actions to be taken for the 

year to come. 

42 Council 

30-06-22 

 

Motion by 

Councillor 

Macinnes – 

Workplace 

Parking Levy 

(See agenda) 

Extract of the motion: 

To request that an update 

report on the work to date 

on an Edinburgh Workplace 

Parking Levy should be 

brought to the Transport 

and Environment 

Committee for detailed 

scrutiny within two cycles; 

and that this report should 

include an updated position 

on: the Scottish 

Government legislation 

progress, appropriate 

options on which 

workplaces should be 

considered, what 

appropriate exemptions 

might be necessary, how 

we could encourage 

employers and workers to 

shift to sustainable means 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead officer: Gareth Dixon 

Gareth.dixon@edinburgh.g

ov.uk  

November 

2022 

3 November 

2022 

Recommended 

for closure 

A report has 

been prepared 

for Committee 

on 3 November 

2022 

P
age 41

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/g6416/Agenda%20frontsheet%2030th-Jun-2022%2010.00%20City%20of%20Edinburgh%20Council.pdf?T=0
mailto:Gareth.dixon@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:Gareth.dixon@edinburgh.gov.uk


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 28 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

of travel and how revenues 

raised could be reserved to 

directly invest in continued 

improvements to the 

transport network.” 

43 Council 

30-06-22 

 

Motion by 

Councillor 

Booth – Bus 

Lane Hours 

(See agenda) 

Extract of the motion: 

To agree that a report on 

7/7/7 bus lane operation 

should be provided to the 

October 2022 Transport 

and Environment 

Committee for a decision. 

This should propose a clear 

timeline for universal 7/7/7 

operation.  

To agree that Transport and 

Environment Committee 

members should meet with 

representatives of Lothian 

Buses (and other providers) 

and Edinburgh Bus Users 

Group to discuss any 

concerns they may have 

with respect to bus lane 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead Officer:  Daisy 

Narayanan  

daisy.narayanan@edinbur

gh.gov.uk 

8 December 

2022 

  

P
age 42

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/g6416/Agenda%20frontsheet%2030th-Jun-2022%2010.00%20City%20of%20Edinburgh%20Council.pdf?T=0
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 29 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

management, protection 

and enforcement, and 

share details of 

opportunities for expanding 

the bus lane network.  

To agree that this workshop 

should inform the 

development of the Public 

Transport Action Plan which 

should come to the 

Transport and Environment 

Committee at the turn of the 

year. 

44 18.08.22 Business 

Bulletin – 

Petition on 

Station Road, 

Ratho Station   

(See Agenda) 

To engage with Ward 

Members regarding the 

Petition on Station, Ratho 

Station.   

Executive Director of Place 

Lead officer: Stacey 

Monteith-Skelton 

stacey.monteith-

skelton@edinburgh.gov.uk  

8 December 

2022 

  

45 18.08.22 Business 

Bulletin – 

Smarter 

Choices, 

To circulate breakdown of 

spending for the Smarter 

Choices, Smarter Places 

programme to members.  

Executive Director of Place 

Lead Officer:  Daisy 

Narayanan  

daisy.narayanan@edinbur

October 

2022 

3 November 

2022 

Recommended 

for closure 

An update is 

included in the 

P
age 43

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s47965/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin.pdf
mailto:stacey.monteith-skelton@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:stacey.monteith-skelton@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 30 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

Smarter Places  

(See Agenda) 

gh.gov.uk Business 

Bulletin for 

Committee on 3 

November 2022. 

46 18.08.22 Business 

Bulletin 

(See Agenda) 

Update report on the 

medium and long term 

improvements to 

Committee in two cycles, to 

allow early scrutiny of the 

proposed plans to ensure 

that delivery of these 

improvements is on time 

and prioritised as much as 

council resources will allow. 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead Officer:  Daisy 

Narayanan  

daisy.narayanan@edinbur

gh.gov.uk 

18 May 

2023 

 An update on 

the medium term 

plans will be 

submitted to 

Committee in 

December 2022 

47 18.08.22 Updated 

Pedestrian 

Crossing 

Prioritisation 

2022/23 

1)  Agrees that the relevant 

officers will meet with Living 

Streets Edinburgh and the 

Edinburgh Access Panel to 

discuss introducing GPA 

signal types in Edinburgh. 

Agrees that if 

implementation is feasible, 

all future new, upgraded 

and replacement crossing 

should be considered for 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead Officer:  Daisy 

Narayanan  

daisy.narayanan@edinbur

gh.gov.uk 

August 

2023 

  

P
age 44

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s47965/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin.pdf
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s47965/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin.pdf
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s47956/7.1%20-%20Updated%20Pedestrian%20Crossing%20Prioritisation.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s47956/7.1%20-%20Updated%20Pedestrian%20Crossing%20Prioritisation.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s47956/7.1%20-%20Updated%20Pedestrian%20Crossing%20Prioritisation.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s47956/7.1%20-%20Updated%20Pedestrian%20Crossing%20Prioritisation.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s47956/7.1%20-%20Updated%20Pedestrian%20Crossing%20Prioritisation.pdf
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 31 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

GPA status. To include this 

into the Pedestrian 

Crossing Prioritisation 

report and bring the report 

to Committee in the next 12 

months. 

   2) Report back to 

committee in one two 

cycles with up-to-date costs 

for a fully signalised 

Dalmahoy junction with a 

view to implement as such. 

 8 December 

2022 

  

   3)  Outcome of funding 

application to Road Safety 

Improvement Fund and 

impact on the delivery of 

the prioritisation plan to be 

reported in a future 

Business Bulletin update. 

 8 December 

2022 

  

48 18.08.22 Transport 

Infrastructure 

Investment – 

Capital Delivery 

Priorities for 

Prepare a members’ 

briefing on what additional 

funding would be required 

to a) maintain and b) 

improve the overall 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead Officer:  Sean 

Gilchrist 

sean.gilchrist@edinburgh.

gov.uk 

November 

2022 

  

P
age 45

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s48556/7.3%20-%20Transport%20Infrastructure%20Investment%20Capital%20Delivery%20Priorities%20for%202022_23%20v3.4%20v2.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s48556/7.3%20-%20Transport%20Infrastructure%20Investment%20Capital%20Delivery%20Priorities%20for%202022_23%20v3.4%20v2.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s48556/7.3%20-%20Transport%20Infrastructure%20Investment%20Capital%20Delivery%20Priorities%20for%202022_23%20v3.4%20v2.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s48556/7.3%20-%20Transport%20Infrastructure%20Investment%20Capital%20Delivery%20Priorities%20for%202022_23%20v3.4%20v2.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s48556/7.3%20-%20Transport%20Infrastructure%20Investment%20Capital%20Delivery%20Priorities%20for%202022_23%20v3.4%20v2.pdf
mailto:sean.gilchrist@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:sean.gilchrist@edinburgh.gov.uk


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 32 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

2022/23  condition of the 

carriageway network during 

this Council Term.  

49 18.08.22 Strategic 

Review of 

Parking – 

Results of 

Phase 1 Traffic 

Order 

1)  a Review of Parking 

Policy is to be presented for 

consideration within two 

cycles. 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead officer: Gavin Brown 

Gavin.brown@edinburgh.g

ov.uk  

8 December 

2022 

  

   2) Convener to write to the 

Scottish Government 

Minister for Transport to 

ask that she acts on the 

2021 ‘Penalty Charge 

Notices for Parking 

Enforcement Consultation 

results and sets a higher 

Penalty Charge Notice or 

allows the Council to do so. 

Convener of Transport and 

Environment 

Lead officer: Vicki Baillie 

vicki.baillie@edinburgh.go

v.uk  

October 

2022 

16 

September 

2022 

Recommended 

for closure 

Letter sent on 16 

September 2022 

   3) To agree that the 

process of monitoring and 

review within the Abbeyhill 

colonies should involve 

public consultation not later 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead officer: Gavin Brown 

Gavin.brown@edinburgh.g

ov.uk 

March 2024   

P
age 46

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s48556/7.3%20-%20Transport%20Infrastructure%20Investment%20Capital%20Delivery%20Priorities%20for%202022_23%20v3.4%20v2.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s47964/7.5%20-%20Strategic%20Review%20of%20Parking.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s47964/7.5%20-%20Strategic%20Review%20of%20Parking.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s47964/7.5%20-%20Strategic%20Review%20of%20Parking.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s47964/7.5%20-%20Strategic%20Review%20of%20Parking.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s47964/7.5%20-%20Strategic%20Review%20of%20Parking.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s47964/7.5%20-%20Strategic%20Review%20of%20Parking.pdf
mailto:Gavin.brown@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:Gavin.brown@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:vicki.baillie@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:vicki.baillie@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:Gavin.brown@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:Gavin.brown@edinburgh.gov.uk


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 33 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

than twelve months after 

the implementation of the 

new controlled parking 

restrictions; with a 

subsequent Committee 

report on the consultation 

results and a 

recommendation on 

whether to retain this area 

within the N6.  

50 18.08.22 Active Travel 

Measures – 

Travelling Safely 

Update  

1) To note the points made 

by Lothian Buses at 4.1.4 

of the report and asks that 

each is considered in the 

Travelling Safely Update 

Report and that solutions 

are proposed where 

possible. This should also 

consider Waverley Bridge 

and Comiston Road.   

Executive Director of Place 

Lead Officer:  Daisy 

Narayanan  

daisy.narayanan@edinbur

gh.gov.uk 

18 May 

2023 

  

   2) Programme for 

progressing the Braid Road 

proposals to be circulated 

to Ward Councillors and 

Transport and Environment 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead Officer:  Daisy 

Narayanan  

daisy.narayanan@edinbur

October 

2022 

 Recommended 

for closure 

This information 

was provided by 

P
age 47

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s47966/7.7%20-%20Travelling%20Safely%20Update.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s47966/7.7%20-%20Travelling%20Safely%20Update.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s47966/7.7%20-%20Travelling%20Safely%20Update.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s47966/7.7%20-%20Travelling%20Safely%20Update.pdf
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 34 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

Committee members within 

2 weeks 

gh.gov.uk email on 3 

October 2022. 

51 18.08.22 Evaluation of 

the 20mph 

Speed Limit Roll 

Out – Three 

Years Pose 

Implementation  

 

1) To agree that Officers 

would examine how 

existing research on driver 

Behavioral Trends to 

understand why driver’s do 

not adhere to the 20mph 

speed.  

Executive Director of Place 

Lead Officer:  Daisy 

Narayanan  

daisy.narayanan@edinbur

gh.gov.uk 

Early 2023   

   2) To agree that Officers 

would check if Ferry Road 

West of Arboretum Road 

was a 20mph speed limit 

and if it would be changed 

to a 30mph speed limit in 

the future.  

 Summer 

2023 

 This is being 

progressed as 

part of the 

20mph 

consultation. 

52 18.08.22 Motion by 

Councillor 

Macinnes – 

Withdrawal of 

Contract 

Extensions for 

Supported Bus 

1) Requests that the 

Transport Convener meets 

and discusses the issue of 

industry wide driver 

shortage with the CPT and 

Officers provide a detailed 

report to the next Transport 

Convener of Transport and 

Environment Committee 

Lead Officer:  Daisy 

Narayanan  

daisy.narayanan@edinbur

gh.gov.uk 

November 

2022 

  

P
age 48

mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s47961/8.1%20-%20Evaluation%20of%20the%2020mph%20Speed%20Limit%20Roll%20Out.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s47961/8.1%20-%20Evaluation%20of%20the%2020mph%20Speed%20Limit%20Roll%20Out.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s47961/8.1%20-%20Evaluation%20of%20the%2020mph%20Speed%20Limit%20Roll%20Out.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s47961/8.1%20-%20Evaluation%20of%20the%2020mph%20Speed%20Limit%20Roll%20Out.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s47961/8.1%20-%20Evaluation%20of%20the%2020mph%20Speed%20Limit%20Roll%20Out.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s47961/8.1%20-%20Evaluation%20of%20the%2020mph%20Speed%20Limit%20Roll%20Out.pdf
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 35 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

Services 20, 63 

and 68 

(See Agenda) 

and Environment 

Committee 

   2) Recognises the 

importance of targeted 

traffic calming measures in 

terms of controlling vehicle 

speeds in 20mph areas, 

and agrees the Road 

Safety Action Plan before 

Committee in October 2022 

should set out a clear 

prioritization plan for the 

delivery of physical 

interventions to help 

address excessive 

speeding.  

Executive Director of Place 

Lead Officer:  Daisy 

Narayanan  

daisy.narayanan@edinbur

gh.gov.uk 

2 March 

2023 

 This will be 

incorporated into 

the Road Safety 

Action Plan in 

early 2023 

53 18.08.22 Motion by 

Councillor 

Macinnes – 

Severe Climate 

Change Impact 

(See Agenda) 

Officers to consider 

introducing a new standing 

section to all future 

committee reports stating 

the linkage to the Climate 

Strategy. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Services 

Lead Officer: Gavin King 

gavin.king@edinburgh.gov

.uk  

December 

2022 

  

P
age 49

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s47965/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin.pdf
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/g6159/Agenda%20frontsheet%2018th-Aug-2022%2010.00%20Transport%20and%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=0
mailto:gavin.king@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:gavin.king@edinburgh.gov.uk


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 36 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

54 22.09.22 

(Council) 

Motion by 

Councillor 

Thornley – Bus 

Service Single 

Fares 

(See Agenda) 

Transport & Environment 

Convener to write to 

Lothian Buses and McGill’s 

to ask them to consider a 

similar ‘one hour’ scheme 

and for the response to be 

provided to all Councillors 

 

Convener of Transport and 

Environment Committee 

Lead officer: Daisy 

Narayanan 

Daisy.narayanan@edinbur

gh.gov.uk  

November 

2022 

  

55 22.09.22 

(Council) 

Motion by 

Councillor Neil 

Ross – Electric 

Vehicle 

Charging Points 

(See Agenda) 

Extract of the motion: 

1) Officers should consider 

following the example of 

the Cycle hoop scheme, 

where residents are able to 

suggest new locations, and 

report to the Transport & 

Environment Committee 

within two cycles. 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead officer: Gavin Brown 

Gavin.brown@edinburgh.g

ov.uk  

8 December 

2022 

  

   2) Officers to engage with 

heritage bodies and 

investigate sensitive 

solutions ahead of any 

future Electric Vehicle 

Charging Point rollouts in 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead officer: Gavin Brown 

Gavin.brown@edinburgh.g

ov.uk 

2 March 

2023 

  

P
age 50

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=150&MId=6468&Ver=4
mailto:Daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:Daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=150&MId=6468&Ver=4
mailto:Gavin.brown@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:Gavin.brown@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:Gavin.brown@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:Gavin.brown@edinburgh.gov.uk


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 37 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

the Old or New Town 

   3) Report to be produced 

detailing potential options 

for future implementations 

to be presented to the 

Transport and Environment 

Committee in three cycles 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead officer: Gavin Brown 

Gavin.brown@edinburgh.g

ov.uk 

2 March 

2023 

  

56 06-10-22 Rolling Actions 

Log – Action 25 – 

Cammo Road – 

Trial Vehicle 

Prohibition – 

Road Closure 

To agree for a full report to 

be presented to the 

November 2022 meeting of 

the committee so a decision 

can be taken with regard to 

Action 25 – Cammo Road – 

Trial Vehicle Prohibition 

(Road Closure  

 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead officer: Dave Sinclair 

David.sinclair@edinburgh.

gov.uk 

3 November 

2022 

3 November 

2022 

Recommended 

for closure 

This report is 

presented for 

Committee on 3 

November 2022 

57 06-10-22 Our Future 

Streets 

Circulation Plan 

Agrees to further develop 

the draft Framework, in line 

with the sustainable 

transport hierarchy, 

integrate this with relevant 

action plans, and note that 

proposals for joint 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead officer: Daisy 

Narayanan 

Daisy.narayanan@edinbur

gh.gov.uk 

2 March 

2023 

 

 

 

  

P
age 51

mailto:Gavin.brown@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:Gavin.brown@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49878/5.2%20-%202%20-%20Rolling%20Actions%20Log%2006.10.22%20v2.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49878/5.2%20-%202%20-%20Rolling%20Actions%20Log%2006.10.22%20v2.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49878/5.2%20-%202%20-%20Rolling%20Actions%20Log%2006.10.22%20v2.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49878/5.2%20-%202%20-%20Rolling%20Actions%20Log%2006.10.22%20v2.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49878/5.2%20-%202%20-%20Rolling%20Actions%20Log%2006.10.22%20v2.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49878/5.2%20-%202%20-%20Rolling%20Actions%20Log%2006.10.22%20v2.pdf
mailto:David.sinclair@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:David.sinclair@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/mgimages/logo-pdf-1.gif
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/mgimages/logo-pdf-1.gif
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/mgimages/logo-pdf-1.gif
mailto:Daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:Daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 38 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

consultation with the Active 

Travel Action Plan and the 

Public Transport Action 

Plan will be reported to 

Committee in December 

2022 

 

 

  
 

Agrees that the December 

Circulation Plan report 

should contain details of the 

initial discussions outlined 

in 5.1.2. This should include 

initial feedback on the 

principles detailed in 

Appendix 2 from groups 

representing people with 

disabilities, pedestrians, 

cyclists, public transport 

operators and businesses. 

 8 December 

2023 

  

58  
Response to 
Motion by 
Councillor Booth - 
Rainbow 
Bridge/Lindsay 
Road Bridge  
 

 

Agrees that officers will 

liaise with organisations or 

individuals with relevant 

expertise, and will bring an 

updated report to 

committee within three 

cycles outlining costed 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead Officer: Stephen 

Knox 

stephen.knox@edinburgh.

gov.uk   

 

2 March 

2023 

  

P
age 52

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49881/7.2%20-%20Response%20to%20Motion%20by%20Councillor%20Booth%20Rainbow%20Bridge_Lindsay%20Road%20Bridge.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49881/7.2%20-%20Response%20to%20Motion%20by%20Councillor%20Booth%20Rainbow%20Bridge_Lindsay%20Road%20Bridge.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49881/7.2%20-%20Response%20to%20Motion%20by%20Councillor%20Booth%20Rainbow%20Bridge_Lindsay%20Road%20Bridge.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49881/7.2%20-%20Response%20to%20Motion%20by%20Councillor%20Booth%20Rainbow%20Bridge_Lindsay%20Road%20Bridge.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49881/7.2%20-%20Response%20to%20Motion%20by%20Councillor%20Booth%20Rainbow%20Bridge_Lindsay%20Road%20Bridge.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49881/7.2%20-%20Response%20to%20Motion%20by%20Councillor%20Booth%20Rainbow%20Bridge_Lindsay%20Road%20Bridge.pdf
mailto:stephen.knox@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:stephen.knox@edinburgh.gov.uk


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 39 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

options for retention of all 

three spans of the existing 

bridge, using infill in spans 

1 and 2, and infill with a 

metal culvert for span 3, 

and/or any other suitable 

solution which retains the 

structure, to allow 

committee to make a fully 

informed decision on the 

structure’s future. 

59 06-10-22 Response to 

Motion by 

Councillor McVey 

– North Bridge  

 

Notes the action point from 

the Transport and 

Environment Committee 

Agenda Planning Meeting 

(APM) on 21 September 

2022, after discussing the 

draft report and clarification 

of the action required of 

officers: 

“To include information on 

how the North Bridge 

project will link in to the 

Circulation Plan and 

signpost within the report 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead Officer: Stephen 

Knox 

stephen.knox@edinburgh.

gov.uk   

3 November 

2022 

3 November 

2022 

Recommended 

for closure 

A report on 

North Bridge is 

included on the 

agenda for 

Committee on 3 

November 2022. 

P
age 53

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49882/7.3%20-%20Response%20to%20Motion%20by%20Councillor%20McVey%20-%20North%20Bridge.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49882/7.3%20-%20Response%20to%20Motion%20by%20Councillor%20McVey%20-%20North%20Bridge.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49882/7.3%20-%20Response%20to%20Motion%20by%20Councillor%20McVey%20-%20North%20Bridge.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49882/7.3%20-%20Response%20to%20Motion%20by%20Councillor%20McVey%20-%20North%20Bridge.pdf
mailto:stephen.knox@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:stephen.knox@edinburgh.gov.uk


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 40 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

that future reporting will 

include information on 

layout, design, costs and 

implications of the project.”  

and 

Calls for officers to provide 

this analysis, as agreed by 

full council on 25 August 

2022 and clarified through 

discussion at APM, in the 

second part of this report to 

enable consideration of 

change either to the North 

Bridge refurbishment 

project or after the bridge 

has been restored back to 2 

pavements and 4 running 

lanes, with reference to the 

implications such as costs, 

risks, and benefits of these 

alternative options. 

60 06-10-22 Response to 

Motion by 

Councillor Whyte 

Requests a short report for 

approval within 3 cycles 

that outlines a mechanism 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead Officer:  Andy 

Williams  

18 May 

2022 

  

P
age 54

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49884/7.5%20-%20Response%20to%20Motion%20by%20Councillor%20Whyte%20-%20Communal%20Bin%20Review.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49884/7.5%20-%20Response%20to%20Motion%20by%20Councillor%20Whyte%20-%20Communal%20Bin%20Review.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49884/7.5%20-%20Response%20to%20Motion%20by%20Councillor%20Whyte%20-%20Communal%20Bin%20Review.pdf


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 41 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

– Cleaning Up 

Edinburgh 

(Communal Bin 

Review Update) 

to resolve outstanding local 

conflict on bin hub 

positioning, including ward 

members in attempting to 

identify suitable alternatives 

and allowing these to be 

progressed. 

Agree that the report also 

include data on 

effectiveness of the roll out 

of Phase 1 (as set out in 

Councillor Whyte’s Motion 

agreed by Council in June 

2022) to include an 

assessment of dumping 

and fly-tipping beside bin 

hubs. 

andy.williams@edinburgh.

gov.uk 

61 06-10-22 Cleaning Up 

Edinburgh – 

Motion by 

Councillor Whyte 

1) Recognises that a 

significant amount of the 

litter generated in the City 

Centre and our Town 

Centres relates to single-

use coffee cups. Therefore 

asks that Officers engage 

with Keep Scotland 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead Officer: Andy 

Williams  

andy.williams@edinburgh.

gov.uk  

18 May 

2023 

  

P
age 55

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49884/7.5%20-%20Response%20to%20Motion%20by%20Councillor%20Whyte%20-%20Communal%20Bin%20Review.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49884/7.5%20-%20Response%20to%20Motion%20by%20Councillor%20Whyte%20-%20Communal%20Bin%20Review.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49884/7.5%20-%20Response%20to%20Motion%20by%20Councillor%20Whyte%20-%20Communal%20Bin%20Review.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49884/7.5%20-%20Response%20to%20Motion%20by%20Councillor%20Whyte%20-%20Communal%20Bin%20Review.pdf
mailto:andy.williams@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:andy.williams@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49885/7.6%20-%20Response%20to%20Motion%20-%20Cleaning%20Up%20Edinburgh%20v2.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49885/7.6%20-%20Response%20to%20Motion%20-%20Cleaning%20Up%20Edinburgh%20v2.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49885/7.6%20-%20Response%20to%20Motion%20-%20Cleaning%20Up%20Edinburgh%20v2.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49885/7.6%20-%20Response%20to%20Motion%20-%20Cleaning%20Up%20Edinburgh%20v2.pdf


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 42 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

Beautiful to understand 

what lessons can be learnt 

from their “Cup Movement” 

campaign which was run in 

partnership with Glasgow 

City Council. An update on 

this should be provided as 

part of the next street 

cleansing report, including 

previous initiatives to 

reduce coffee cup usage. 

   2) Agrees that officers 

should return to committee 

before the end of January 

with a business bulletin 

update on whether existing 

systems would be able to 

deliver a means testing of 

free special uplifts to those 

in receipt of council tax 

reduction, as described in 

paragraph 4.61.2. 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead Officer: Andy 

Williams  

andy.williams@edinburgh.

gov.uk  

8 December 

2022 

  

   3) Recognises the potential 

added benefits of 

increasing the numbers of 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead Officer: Andy 

Williams  

By 31 

December 

  

P
age 56

mailto:andy.williams@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:andy.williams@edinburgh.gov.uk


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 43 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

public litter bins and 

therefore seeks a follow up 

briefing note on the costs 

associated with such 

improvements so this can 

also be considered as part 

of the 2023/24 budget 

process. 

andy.williams@edinburgh.

gov.uk  

2023 

   4) Requests a report from 

officers in three cycles 

exploring measures and 

initiatives to support and 

advance the zero waste 

hierarchy in Edinburgh, 

including but not limited to 

share and reuse networks, 

reuse and repair hubs, 

upcycling facilities, and refill 

shops 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead Officer: Andy 

Williams  

andy.williams@edinburgh.

gov.uk 

18 May 

2022 

  

   5) Includes in the report on 

possible improvement 

through additional resource 

for budget consideration the 

costs of improved 

enforcement resource 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead Officer: Andy 

Williams  

andy.williams@edinburgh.

gov.uk 

18 May 

2023 

  

P
age 57

mailto:andy.williams@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:andy.williams@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:andy.williams@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:andy.williams@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:andy.williams@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:andy.williams@edinburgh.gov.uk


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 44 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

around littering, fly-tipping 

and dumping. This to be in 

addition to Street Litter 

Control Notices as 

businesses are not the sole 

source of these issues. 

Enforcement options should 

also be outlined to allow for 

the enforcement of park 

rules, seeking a reduction 

of littering, dumping and 

inappropriate barbecue use 

in parks 

62 06.10.22 Concessionary 

Travel on 

Edinburgh Trams 

for Young People 

(Under 22) 

1) Asks officers to provide 

all political groups with 

information detailing the 

costs of the scheme and 

how it could potentially be 

funded by the 2023/24 

council budget, without any 

gap in concessionary 

service provision to young 

people. 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead Officer: Hannah Ross 

Hannah.ross@edinburgh.g

ov.uk  

By 31 

December 

2022 

  

2) Asks that the Transport & 

Environment Committee 

Convener November   

P
age 58

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49886/7.7%20Concessionary%20Travel%20on%20Edinburgh%20Trams%20for%20Young%20People%202.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49886/7.7%20Concessionary%20Travel%20on%20Edinburgh%20Trams%20for%20Young%20People%202.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49886/7.7%20Concessionary%20Travel%20on%20Edinburgh%20Trams%20for%20Young%20People%202.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49886/7.7%20Concessionary%20Travel%20on%20Edinburgh%20Trams%20for%20Young%20People%202.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49886/7.7%20Concessionary%20Travel%20on%20Edinburgh%20Trams%20for%20Young%20People%202.pdf
mailto:Hannah.ross@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:Hannah.ross@edinburgh.gov.uk


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 45 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

Convener writes to the 

Scottish Government 

asking that U22 tram travel 

in Edinburgh is funded as 

part of the “Young Persons' 

Free Bus Travel Scheme.” 

Lead Officer: Hannah Ross 

Hannah.ross@edinburgh.g

ov.uk 

2022 

63 06.10.22 Asset transfer – 

Ex-City 

Development 

Assets 

To request an update on 

the adoption or transfer of 

assets in 3 cycles. 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead Officer: Sean 

Gilchrist  

sean.gilchrist@edinburgh.

gov.uk  

18 May 

2023 

  

64 06.10.22 Risk Based 

Approach to 

Road Safety 

Inspections - 

Update 

To request a briefing within 

3 cycles on how to tighten 

up the operational guidance 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead Officer: Sean 

Gilchrist  

sean.gilchrist@edinburgh.

gov.uk 

18 May 

2023 

  

65 06.10.22 Motion by 

Councillor Arthur 

– Burnside Bridge 

(See Agenda) 

 

To request that Officers 

report via business bulletin 

to the Transport and 

Environment Committee 

within two cycles confirming 

the ownership of the bridge 

and what avenues are 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead Officer: Stephen 

Knox 

Stephen.knox@edinburgh.

gov.uk  

2 March 

2023 

 

 

 

  

P
age 59

mailto:Hannah.ross@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:Hannah.ross@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49887/7.8%20-%20Asset%20Transfer%20-%20Ex-City%20Development%20Assets.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49887/7.8%20-%20Asset%20Transfer%20-%20Ex-City%20Development%20Assets.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49887/7.8%20-%20Asset%20Transfer%20-%20Ex-City%20Development%20Assets.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49887/7.8%20-%20Asset%20Transfer%20-%20Ex-City%20Development%20Assets.pdf
mailto:sean.gilchrist@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:sean.gilchrist@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49888/8.1%20-%20Risk%20Based%20Approach%20to%20Road%20Safety%20Inspections.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49888/8.1%20-%20Risk%20Based%20Approach%20to%20Road%20Safety%20Inspections.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49888/8.1%20-%20Risk%20Based%20Approach%20to%20Road%20Safety%20Inspections.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49888/8.1%20-%20Risk%20Based%20Approach%20to%20Road%20Safety%20Inspections.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49888/8.1%20-%20Risk%20Based%20Approach%20to%20Road%20Safety%20Inspections.pdf
mailto:sean.gilchrist@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:sean.gilchrist@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/g6428/Agenda%20frontsheet%2006th-Oct-2022%2010.00%20Transport%20and%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=0
mailto:Stephen.knox@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:Stephen.knox@edinburgh.gov.uk


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 46 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

available to reopen this 

important pedestrian route. 
 

   Structures & Flood 

Prevention to investigate 

conducting a safety 

inspection of the bridge 

within one cycle, with a 

view to reopening the 

bridge, if safe to do so, 

while investigations into 

ownership of the bridge 

continue 

 8 December 

2022 

  

66 06-10-22 Motion by 

Councillor Aston 

– McGill’s 

takeover of First 

East Coast’s 20, 

63 and 68 

services 

(See Agenda) 

 

Requests a briefing note to 

all elected members within 

three cycles detailing 

discussions between 

officers and the new 

operator and outlining what 

assurances have been 

given by McGill’s as to the 

continuation of the 20, 63 

and 68 in the longer term 

and also on McGill’s plans 

to improve the sustainability 

and decarbonisation of their 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead Officer: Daisy 

Narayanan 

Daisy.narayanan@edinbur

gh.gov.uk  

18 May 

2023 

  

P
age 60

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/g6428/Agenda%20frontsheet%2006th-Oct-2022%2010.00%20Transport%20and%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=0
mailto:Daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:Daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk


Transport and Environment Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 3 November 2022                                                                                    Page 47 of 47 

No Date Report Title Action Action Owner Expected 

completion 

date 

Actual 

completion 

date 

Comments 

fleet. 

67 06-10-22 Motion by 

Councillor Aston 

– Electric 

Scooters 

(See Agenda) 

 

Requests that Officers 

contact Transport Scotland 

and the DfT policy team 

asking for an update on the 

potential for legalisation or 

regulatory change which 

the Council may have to 

prepare for, and provide a 

timeline for doing so. This 

should be reported in the 

January 2023 business 

bulletin 

Executive Director of Place 

Lead Officer: Daisy 

Narayanan 

Daisy.narayanan@edinbur

gh.gov.uk 

2 March 

2023 

  

 

P
age 61

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/g6428/Agenda%20frontsheet%2006th-Oct-2022%2010.00%20Transport%20and%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=0


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Business Bulletin 

Transport and Environment Committee 

10.00am, Thursday, 3 November 2022 

Dean of Guild Court Room - City Chambers 

Page 63

Agenda Item 6.1



Transport and Environment Committee 

 

Convener: Members: Contact: 

Councillor Scott 

Arthur (Convener) 

 

 

 

Councillor Aston 

Councillor Bandel 

Councillor Cowdy 

Councillor Dijkstra-Downie 

Councillor Graham 

Councillor Lang 

Councillor McFarlane 

Councillor Miller 

Councillor Munro  

Councillor Work 

Alison Coburn 
Operations Manager 
 
Martin Scott 

Committee Services 

 

Louise Williamson 

Committee Services 

 

 

Recent news Background 

Trams to Newhaven Update 
 
The Trams to Newhaven project remains on schedule to 
be operational in Spring 2023 and remains within the 
£207.3m budget approved by Council in March 2019. All 
major construction, including the full electrification of the 
line, is scheduled to be completed by the end of 2022 -
ahead of a period of testing and commissioning which will 
start in January 2023. Some final landscaping works will be 
completed early 2023. 
 
Two-way traffic is scheduled to be back on Leith Walk and 
Constitution Street before the end of the year. 
 
There will be a requirement to undertake localised works at 
times on carriage and footways to resolve defects and to 
install equipment to support the new tram line, including for 
example tram communication systems, tram stop fit outs, 
the installation of overheard line equipment, street lighting 
and traffic signalling. 
 
There remain industry wide issues with the availability of 
materials and skilled labour which the project continues to 
mitigate against. 
 

For further information, 

contact: 

Chris Wilson 

 

Wards Affected:  

11 – City Centre 

12 – Leith Walk 

13 – Leith 

 

Page 64

mailto:alison.coburn@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:martin.scott@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:martin.scott@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:louise.p.williamson@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:chris.wilson@edinburgh.gov.uk


Following the largest concrete pour of the project in 

October, there is now tram track laid from Picardy Place to 

Newhaven.  

The project continues to administer the Support for 
Business package, which includes over 30,000 ‘itison’ 
vouchers having been issued for use in participating 
businesses on the route 

Engine Idling 

On 28 October 2021, the Council approved a motion by 

Councillor Neil Ross asking officers to engage with NSL to 

discuss the potential for vehicle emission enforcement by 

Parking Attendants. 

On 31 March 2022, a Business Bulletin update was 

presented to Committee on progress with the actions 

agreed. 

Engine Idling is currently enforced by the Council’s Street 

and Environmental Enforcement Team. Street 

Enforcement Officers have powers to issue Fixed Penalty 

Notices (FPNs) to any drivers who refuse to switch off their 

engines whilst their vehicle is stationary. Historically, 

drivers have always complied with Street Enforcement 

Officers’ requests and no FPNs have been issued.  

Detailed discussions have taken place with NSL regarding 

the potential for Parking Attendants to support to the 

Council’s Street and Environmental Enforcement Team by 

issuing FPNs for environmental offences, as well as 

Penalty Charge Notices relating to parking contraventions.  

NSL have advised that they would seek to employ 

additional resources in order to fully enforce engine idling 

offences. This approach is strongly recommended as the 

effectiveness of parking enforcement, providing a safe 

network for all road users, has been shown to reduce when 

it is combined with other enforcement duties. Effective 

enforcement at schools, on arterial routes at peak times 

and ensuring that parking places are utilised efficiently are 

all key to delivering a safe and well managed network. 

In addition, there are currently over 20,000 residents’ 

parking permits in use in the city as well as several 

thousand Business, Trades and other permit users, and 

dedicated enforcement is required to deliver best value for 

these customers.  

For further information 

contact:  

Gavin Brown 

Wards Affected: 

All 

 

Page 65

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s45926/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin.pdf
mailto:gavin.brown@edinburgh.gov.uk


The proposed additonal resources comprise of a team of 

four enforcement officers and a team leader which would 

have an annual operational cost of c. £130,000. The cost 

of training NSL recruits in the issuing of FPNs and the 

potential costs of updating the current parking enforcement 

software to incorporate FPNs are also likely to be 

significant. 

The overall cost of providing this service through NSL is 

likely to be considerably greater than any income that may 

be received, thereby adding additional costs to the current 

contract with NSL and further pressures to the Place 

revenue budget.  

Parking Attendants already advise motorists to switch off 

their engines if they encounter any stationary vehicles 

which have their engine running whilst undertaking their 

parking enforcement duties. NSL are happy to continue 

with this approach at no additional charge to the Council. 

In addition, officers will develop a campaign to educate 

drivers and encourage appropriate behaviour relating to 

engine idling. It is likely that this will be driven by social 

media and a selective and sustainable poster campaign 

reminding drivers of their legal obligation to switch off the 

engine when parked. Unfortunately, on street leafleting has 

not always proven successful and subsequent additional 

littering, as leaflets are discarded, can attract negative 

attention and add to Waste and Cleansing workloads. 

Pavements Clear of Signs 

Further to the report approved by Committee on 31 March 

2022, officers are continuing to gather evidence of issues 

being experienced on the network as a result of 

inappropriate use of temporary traffic management 

measures. Up to date statements and photographs, of both 

good and bad examples of how temporary traffic 

management can be deployed, have been prepared.  

Specially convened meetings have been set up for 

November and December 2022 to present to all Public 

Utility companies (PUs) and their Traffic Management 

Contractors (TMC) and Council services and their 

contractors, where appropriate.  

A  meeting between Council officers and all PUs and TMCs 

is planned to take place in early in 2023.  This will focus on 

delivery and faciltating of key projects. 

For further information 

contact:  

Gavin Brown 

Wards Affected: 

All 

 

Page 66

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s45917/7.5%20-%20Pavements%20Clear%20of%20Signs%20-%20Motion%20by%20Councillor%20Webber.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s45917/7.5%20-%20Pavements%20Clear%20of%20Signs%20-%20Motion%20by%20Councillor%20Webber.pdf
mailto:gavin.brown@edinburgh.gov.uk


PUs and TMCs are aware that the Council expects greater 

compliance and improvement to temporary traffic 

management used in the city. This is being reiterated 

whenever officers meet with relevant parties on site and is 

raised at monthly coordination meetings. 

Street clutter removal forms part of the Edinburgh Street 

Design Guidance (ESDG) with teams identifying items to 

be removed and working with PUs to remove their 

redundant apparatus. When new signage is being 

introduced, where possible, exisiting infrastructure is being 

utilised. Likewise whenever new hardware is introduced on 

the network, exisiting infrastructure/power supplies are 

always the first option for utilisation to avoid adding 

additional street clutter. 

As part of a street clutter removal programme, officers 

worked with Living Streets to identify 25 streets that would 

be assessed for street clutter removal and the following 

were successfully removed from the network: 

• 18 large car park signs; 

• 226 bollards; 

• 139 signs and poles; 

• 64m of Vehicle Restraint System; and  

• 300m of guardrails. 

Work continues on the delivery of the Pedestrian 

Experience Improvement Programme and liaison is on-

going with groups like Living Streets, Spokes, Edinburgh 

Access Panel and Guide Dogs for Scotland to identify 

issues relating to street clutter and to develop a plan of 

action for removal. 

Monthly Street Design Review Group meetings have been 

programmed to ensure all teams have input into the 

development and improvement of the ESDG. This also 

ensures that the removal of street clutter is a guiding 

principle of the ESDG and that its implementation, when 

designing projects and delivering works, ensures a network 

as free of clutter as possible. 

Rather than approach Transport Scotland directly, issues 

relating to signs on pavements are being raised at National 

level at the regular Roads Authority and Utility Committee 

Scotland (RAUCS) meetings. This is considered the most 

appropriate meeting to submit and discuss proposed 

updates to Legislation including the Safety at Street Works 

and Road Works Code of Practice.  Any changes in the 

Page 67



codes of practice will need to be progressed by RAUCS, 

through Scottish Ministers and raised with UK Government 

due to the fact that the New Roads and Street Works Act 

1991 does not solely cover Scotland. 

Wardie Bay and Beach Update 

Engagement with three landowners has continued to 

progress a suitable management agreement, lease or 

similar agreement. This would enable the Council to take 

on responsibility for the management and development of 

Wardie Bay and Beach and support an application for 

bathing designation.  

The draft agreement is being developed alongside an 

assessment of the maintenance requirements (e.g. water 

quality testing and monitoring, signage and infrastructure, 

and beach cleaning) to understand the ongoing revenue 

implications of managing the Bay. Engagement with the 

community and interest groups will also form part of the 

process.  

A Committee report to allow consideration of the 

management, financial costs, and public engagement was 

planned before applying for bathing water status. However, 

this would likely lead to a delay in being able to apply for 

bathing water designation for summer 2023, which would 

be contrary to the direction given by Elected Members to 

date. In order to minimise any impact on the timescales, 

officers will discuss with SEPA and Scottish Ministers how 

we can meet the application timescales, whilst also 

minimising the costs to the Council where possible.  

To help provide information for beach and bay users in the 

meantime, an agreement in principle has been reached 

with one of the land owners for a sign board to be installed 

on the approach to the beach. Several companies have 

been approached to provide design concepts and outline 

costings for this. 

For further information 

contact: 

Steven Cuthill 

Wards Affected: 

4 – Forth 

Update on Portobello High Street/Inchview Terrace/Sir 

Harry Lauder Road Junction 

On 14 October 2021, Committee approved the 

implementation of short term improvements to safety for 

vulnerable road users, while noting work had commenced 

on developing more substantive, medium term 

improvements and that longer term improvements will be 

For further information 

contact: 

Daisy Narayanan 

Wards Affected: 

14 - Craigentinny/ 

Duddingston 

Page 68

mailto:steven.cuthill@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s39332/7.4%20-%20Short%20Term%20Improvements%20PHSITSHLRJ.pdf
mailto:Daisy.Narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk


considered as part of the citywide review of vulnerable 

road user safety at major junctions. 

An update on the short term measures was reported to 

Committee on 6 October 2022.  At this Committee it was 

confirmed that a report on the medium term improvements 

would be presented to Committee in December 2022, with 

a report on the Major Junctions Review due in early Spring 

2023. 

Committee requested that officers ensure that ward 

Councillors from Craigentinny/Duddingston be included in 

all future meetings and updates. 

17 - Portobello/ 

Craigmillar 

Motion by Councillor Lang - Parking on Pavements 

and at Dropped Kerbs 

At its meeting on 25 August 2022, the Council approved a 

motion by Councillor Lang, with an addendum by the 

Green group, on parking on pavements and at dropped 

kerbs. 

The Council agreed that a report should be submitted to 

the first Transport and Environment Committee following 

the Scottish Parliament approval of the remaining 

regulations, with a timetable and resource plan to ensure 

that the band can be implemented across Edinburgh from 

the permitted commencement date in December 2023. 

In addition, the agreed motion requested that the Council 

begin using social media to raise awareness around the 

dangers of pavement parking and that a e on priority areas 

for enforcement which were identified.   

The Council’s Network and Enforcement and 

Communications teams are currently working on plans for 

a social media campaign as requested in the motion. 

In addition, a full survey of every street in the city has been 

carried out to identify the issues with footway parking.  This 

data is currently being analysed to develop the case for 

prohibiting footway parking throughout the city. Once the 

data from the survey is analysed, discussions will also take 

place with the Edinburgh Access Panel.  

In the meantime, regular monthly meetings take place with 

Spokes and Living Streets on these, and other, issues 

across the city.   

A further update on this motion is expected to be presented 

to Committee in early 2023. 

For further information 

contact:  

Gavin Brown 

Wards Affected: 

All 

 

Page 69

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49879/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin%206%20October%202022.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49107/Item%204.1%20-%20Minute%20of%2025%20August%202022.pdf
mailto:gavin.brown@edinburgh.gov.uk


On-Street Secure Cycle Parking 

108 units have now been installed and are very well used.   

Installation of the remaining 72 will be in two tranches, 

currently expected in Autumn 2023 (subject to completion 

of necessary Traffic Regulation Orders (TROs)).  The 

installation of these units has aligned to integrate the 

necessary legal orders with the Strategic Review of 

Parking.   

Uptake 

The scheme is very popular, with long waiting lists.  There 

are currently 1,715 people on Cyclehoop system waiting 

list, while the city’s total bike capacity is currently 648.  

Over 99% of existing spaces are occupied.   

Requests 

Requests for additional sites have been received from 

around 1,110 people, with approximately 360 valid new 

sites being considered. 

Further Roll-outs, and Pricing 

Subject to a funding bid to Sustrans, installation of a further 

tranche of 200 is planned to be taken forward during 2023 

and 2024. It is proposed to bring a report detailing 

proposals for this roll-out early in 2023. This report will also 

address the outstanding actions from Committee on 4 

October 2018.  

For further information 

contact:  

Daisy Narayanan 

Wards Affected:  All 

 

Summary of Cycling Training 

Following a request from Committee on 19 August 2021, 

please find below a summary of the actions being taken in 

respect of cycle training. 

Cycling Scotland 

Cycling Scotland have a wealth of information online 

regarding types of tuition they offer, including:  

• Bikeability Scotland (for children); 

• Essential Cycling Skills (for anyone who wants to 

boost their confidence on a bike and gain the skills 

required to ride on the road); and 

• Play on Pedals (for teaching pre-school children 

often using balance bikes, which are pedal-less). 

Mountainbike technical skills tuition and cycle-

awareness training for fleet and learner drivers is also 

For further information 

contact:  

Daisy Narayanan 

Wards Affected:  All 

 

 

Page 70

mailto:Daisy.Narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://www.cycling.scot/what-we-do/training
mailto:Daisy.Narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk


available.  There are also courses designed to help 

encourage more participation in cycling, to become a 

cycle ride leader and to build capacity to achieve 

behavioural change through the “Making Cycling 

Mainstream” course. 

Cycle tuition in schools 

Bikeability Scotland tuition is offered to all schools and is 

run by the Active Schools/ Sport & Outdoor Learning team 

in Education and Children’s Services with support from the 

Road Safety and Active Travel team. 

Other Resources available for adults 

Way to Work Scotland is a fantastic resource, bringing 

information from active travel delivery partners into a 

central place for easy access, designed to be used by 

people in workplaces where colleague travel is within their 

remit, and also for individuals to learn about courses, 

training, support on offer relating to travel to work.  A range 

of training courses are available, where typically cycling 

related courses are delivered by Cycling Scotland.  

Essential Cycling Skills is the course most beneficial for adults 

seeking to have a refresher.  Individuals can book online, 

or alternatively download the Essential Cycling Skills app, 

or view resources available on YouTube. 

Additional outreach is available as part of Smarter Choices, 

Smarter Places delivery, with provision of bicycles where 

needed e.g.: 

• In Wester Hailes – specifically reaching women and 

their families, with a focus on encouraging participation 

with people of black and ethnic minority backgrounds; 

and   

• In South East – youth bike clubs in Moredun and 

Canongate; health/wellbeing focused cycling group 

across the area. 

 

For Council Staff 

Internally preparatory work is beginning to offer cycle 

training as a pilot, along with a range of preparatory work 

to provide access to bicycles (including e-bikes and cargo-

bikes for Council business).   

Exploratory work with utilising contractual Community 

Benefits requirements  

Page 71

https://www.waytoworkscot.org/
https://www.waytoworkscot.org/training/
https://www.cycling.scot/what-we-do/training/essential-cycling-skills
https://www.pathsforall.org.uk/local-authority-fund
https://www.pathsforall.org.uk/local-authority-fund


Some exploratory discussions are beginning, to be able to 

utilise the contractual community benefits within major 

construction contracts, whereby the Council can guide 

these in a way which supports overall active travel 

behavioural change.  For example, asking that the 

community benefit involves activities which are helpful and 

supportive to encourage more people to walk, wheel, scoot 

and cycle – litter picks, cycle-awareness training for drivers 

etc 

Smarter Choices Smarter Places 

The Smarter Choices Smarter Places (SCSP) programme 

is organised into four work packages.  Following a request 

from Committee, please find below a summary of the 

expected expenditure in Financial Year 2022/23: 

Work package Anticipated 
Expenditure 

(£k) 

Events  92.5 

Community outreach including active 

travel route promotion 

222.5 

School engagement 67.5 

Research & Policy 72.5 

Total grant award  455 
 

For further information 

contact:  

Daisy Narayanan 

Wards Affected:  All 

 

   

Page 72

mailto:Daisy.Narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk


 

 

 
Transport and Environment Committee 
 

10.00am, Thursday, 3 November 2022 

George Street and First New Town – RIBA Stage 3 

Design and Operational Plan update 

Executive Executive 
Wards 11 – City Centre 
Council Commitments  

 

1. Recommendations 

1.1 Transport and Environment Committee is asked to:  

1.1.1 Approve a set of final Royal Institute of British Architects (RIBA) Stage 3 

fundamental design and reporting elements (Appendix 1) and agree to 

progress the project to RIBA Stage 4 – Technical Design;  

1.1.2 Note the updated principles of the proposed Operational Plan (Appendix 2), 

which are key to preparing the statutory road orders required to construct 

final project;  

1.1.3 Note that a procurement exercise has been undertaken to secure multi-

disciplinary consultancy support to progress the next stage (RIBA Stage 4 – 

Technical Design), subject to approval of recommendation 1.1.1 and 

Sustrans assessment of the Stage 3 deliverables; and  

1.1.4 Note that the total project costs are now estimated to have increased from 

£32m to £36m, as a direct result of current inflationary and market conditions 

within the construction industry.  

 

 

Paul Lawrence 

Executive Director of Place 

Contact: Daisy Narayanan Head of Placemaking and Mobility  

E-mail: daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk  

 

Page 73

Agenda Item 7.1

mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk


 

2 

 
Report 
 

George Street and First New Town – RIBA Stage 3 

Design and Operational Plan Update 

2. Executive Summary 

2.1 George Street and the First New Town (GNT) is a public realm project that forms a 

key component of the Edinburgh City Centre Transformation (ECCT) strategy and 

delivery plan.  It seeks to deliver an exceptional street environment that is 

welcoming and accessible for all users.  Final design and operational plans for GNT 

follow several years of development, consultation and engagement to refine design 

objectives with residents, businesses and stakeholders (including the local 

Community Council and heritage, business, walking, cycling and accessibility 

groups).   

 

2.2 The core elements of the proposed final developed design are presented in this 

report for approval, alongside a set of principles for the future operation of the First 

New Town streets. The proposals reflect alignment to strategic priorities (including 

the City Mobility Plan (CMP)) and form an integral relationship with other key city 

centre active travel projects including Meadows to George Street (MGS) and the 

City Centre West to East Link (CCWEL). 

3. Background 

3.1 Edinburgh’s ‘First New Town’ is of significant, and unique, value within the 

UNESCO World Heritage Site.  George Street, which forms its core, is arguably the 

city’s premier shopping street, and carries a strong appeal as a civic space and 

unique shopping, hospitality and visitor experience. 

3.2 GNT is a major public realm project that aims to reconfigure the use of space in 

George Street and intersecting streets and squares to create an exceptionally high-

quality place making environment.  In keeping with the ECCT vision, the plans for 

GNT will make it attractive for people to visit, shop, rest, and make active and 

sustainable travel choices. The project will also support the Council’s commitment 

to become a net-zero carbon city by 2030 

Design Principles and Concept Design Proposals 

3.3 Building on several years of continuous engagement and consultation, a final set of 

design principles and concept design proposals were approved by the Transport 

and Environment Committee on 19 August 2021.  The final approved Concept 

Page 74

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s36440/Item%207.3%20-%20George%20Street%20and%20First%20New%20Town.pdf


 

3 

Design enabled the project to progress to the next stage in design, Royal Institute of 

British Architects (RIBA) Stage 3 - developed design.  

3.4 A number of operational changes will be required to support the delivery of the GNT 

project to ensure that design outputs are maximised.  Building on previous work, an 

exemplar, innovative and creative Operational Plan is critical in supporting the final 

design proposal.  The Operational Plan is a crucial component of the project, as it 

proposes (in detail) the future arrangements for loading, servicing and vehicle 

access in the area.  Initial fundamental principles of an Operational Plan (delivering 

pedestrian priority, through set periods of the day where the streets operate without 

non-essential vehicle access) were included in the report on 19 August 2021. 

Strategic Priorities 

3.5 At a strategic level, GNT forms a key part of the approved ECCT and CMP 

strategies.  For example, the ECCT strategy identifies key quiet zones where 

people will have priority, with vehicles given access treated as ‘guests’. George 

Street is identified as one of these areas, where significant public realm 

improvements and pedestrian priority will be delivered.   

3.6 GNT is one of the earlier programmed projects within the ECCT delivery plan, and 

once implemented, will make a significant contribution towards realising the vision 

of transforming the city centre as a revitalised, more vibrant and people focused 

place. 

3.7 Ensuring people have had the opportunity to influence and shape the future of the 

city centre is essential to achieving a robust and sustainable design for the GNT 

area.  In addition to observing relevant strategic consultation exercises, distinct 

consultation and engagement approaches for the GNT project have ensured 

appropriate, continuous and wide input at key stages: 

3.7.1 Design Principles Setting stage (2016 - 2017); 

3.7.2 Design Objectives and Initial Concept Evaluation stage (2018 - 2019); 

3.7.3 Concept Design and Operational Plan Development stage (2019 - 2020);  

3.7.4 Final Concept Design stage (October 2020 - March 2021); and 

3.7.5 Stage 3 Developed Design and Operational Plan (Oct 2021 – August 2022) 

RIBA Stage 4 Procurement 

3.8 The Finance and Resources Committee on 8 September 2022, approved 

procurement of RIBA Stage 4 technical design consultancy services. Faithful + 

Gould, appointed to deliver the Stage 3 design process, were reappointed (subject 

to the approval of recommendation 1.1.1 of this report and Sustrans assessment of 

the Stage 3 designs and deliverables).  

4. Main report 

4.1 Delivery of high-quality public realm improvements within the GNT area is essential 

to supporting a safe walking and cycling environment, business recovery and 

growth and with a focus on delivering inclusive access for all. 

Page 75

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s48664/8.12%20-%20Appointment%20of%20Professional%20Services%20George%20Street%20and%20the%20First%20New%20Town%20from%20RIBA%20Stage%20.pdf


 

4 

Stage 3 – Developed Design  

4.2 The project has reached another critical stage in its delivery programme with the 

completion of the Stage 3 Developed Design stage.  

4.3 The Stage 3 process commenced in September 2021 and has developed the 

previously approved Concept Design principles to produce a set of technical and 

operational deliverables essential for progress towards commencement and 

completion of works on site.  

4.4 Continued extensive consultation and engagement has been undertaken in 

preparing final Stage 3 design and operational proposals, especially with key 

stakeholders. 

4.5 In addition, draft technical designs and considerations were presented to the 

Council’s Urban Design Panel to seek final advice and support before finalising. 

The Panel were broadly supportive of the design proposals recognising, in 

particular, the continued positive collaborative approach, the women’s safety audit 

and the surface water management strategy. Final comments from the Panel 

informed final Stage 3 outputs and will be incorporated into final detailed design and 

operational plans.  

Core Elements of GNT Stage 3 Developed Design  

4.6 The Stage 3 Developed Design has built on the previously approved Concept 

Design principles which aim to reallocate and reprioritise space within the public 

realm to improve accessibility and active travel, make the spaces and streets more 

welcoming, whilst celebrating the unique heritage and architectural environment of 

the area.   

4.7 This latest design stage consultation and engagement has been reinforced by a 

broad range of studies and assessments including: refreshed heritage impact 

assessment; economic impact assessment; women’s safety audit; Threat, 

Vulnerability and Risk assessment; business/resident operations survey; and 

integrated impact assessment update.   

4.8 The following core elements of the design process, which combine to underpin and 

reflect the previously approved concept design proposals include: 

4.8.1 Wider pavements (circa four metres) on both sides of George Street along 

the entire street length, will increase circulation space and accessibility for 

pedestrians.  This is primarily achieved by a reduction in the road width, by 

removing of parking bays, which results in pedestrian crossing in all 

directions being more convenient, direct, safer and easier at all junctions.  A 

designated space limit for café seating areas ensures that the pavement 

width remains consistent and ample; 

4.8.2 Landscaping will be confined to planters and low hedges, within sensitively 

balanced landscaped seating areas both on the north and south side of the 

street.  This provides designated areas where people can relax or rest in 

comfort and safety, within a unique street environment.  The greening of 

George Street will also compliment the Council’s Green Blue network 

Page 76

https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/greenbluenetwork


 

5 

strategy, whereby the landscaped areas will also act as “rainwater 

gardens”;   

4.8.3 The proposed removal of buses, and all other non-essential traffic, presents 

a unique opportunity to create a “European” styled cycling street within the 

central carriageway of the new street.  The creation of a cycling street will 

provide a high quality approach to cycling in the First New Town area, 

interfacing with both CCWEL and MGS, to create a network of strategic 

cycling routes to the west from Charlotte Square, to the east through St 

Andrew Square and south via George IV Bridge.  To accommodate the new 

cycleway, the junctions of George Street have been redesigned to provide 

cycling and pedestrian priority while also improving the visual setting around 

the central statues, helping slow down any remaining vehicle movements 

and reducing potential for cycle/pedestrian /vehicle conflict;  

4.8.4 An integrated Sustainable Urban Drainage System (SUDS) has been 

incorporated within the design proposals.  This introduction, which will be 

formed within the designated landscaped areas and main carriageway, will 

allow surface water to drain naturally via the creation of rainwater gardens, 

replenishing ground water and having zero impact on the capacity of 

existing drains and sewers.  The varied landscape planting will also slow 

the rate of surface water as plants filter, reuse and reduce flood risks. The 

SUDS strategy has been developed in line with the Council’s wider Green 

Blue network strategy;   

4.8.5 The proposals include repositioning the James Clerk Maxwell (JCM) statue 

at the gateway into George Street; adjacent to the western entrance to St 

Andrew Square gardens.  This location will create a more sympathetic and 

prominent position, with a commanding view of George Street where the 

statute can be enjoyed.  Final relocation plans will be undertaken in close 

dialogue with the Royal Society of Edinburgh (owner) and Sandy Stoddart 

(sculptor) and will be subject to securing all necessary statutory approvals; 

4.8.6 Proposed material finishes of natural stone products to the spaces, 

pavements and carriageway design, have been developed in close 

partnership with key stakeholders Edinburgh World Heritage (EWH), 

Historic Environment Scotland (HES) and the Cockburn Association); 

4.8.7 Community safety, especially for more vulnerable groups, has been key in 

developing designs given the importance of the night time economy to the 

area. A women’s safety audit has been developed to create a safer first and 

last mile journey for women. The audit identified six areas of placemaking 

which should be addressed in designing safe spaces for women. As part of 

the audit process, a day and evening walkabout with key stakeholders, 

including Police Scotland, and local elected members took place and a 

workshop with several key stakeholders was undertaken. A copy of the 

findings are included in Appendix 3.  

Page 77

https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/greenbluenetwork
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/greenbluenetwork
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/greenbluenetwork


 

6 

4.8.8 In addition to the Women’s safety audit, a Threat, Vulnerability and Risk 

assessment has been completed. This is necessary due to the volume of 

pedestrians, wheelers and cyclists who visit George Street with the threat 

significantly increased during the Summer and Winter festivals. A final 

safety strategy, including Hostile Vehicle Mitigation measures, will be 

developed in line with the Council’s wider community safety plans for the 

City Centre.  

Principles for a First New Town ‘operational plan’  

4.9 Several operational changes will be required to support the transformation of the 

First New Town.  The updated interim operational plan (Appendix 2), when 

complete, will form the basis of the development of the statutory notice process. 

Construction of the public realm improvements scheme requires publication of 

statutory notices which will begin during the next stage of the project.  

4.10 Given the significant operational changes proposed, further engagement and 

analysis will be undertaken during the Stage 4 process. In addition, a 

comprehensive monitoring and evaluation framework will be established to assess 

the impact of any operational changes (once in place) over a 12-month period. At 

the conclusion of the 12-month evaluation period, operational changes will be fully 

assessed to determine what, if any, adjustments and/or amendments are necessary 

to support both the design and operational principles of the project. 

4.11 The updated principles of the Operational Plan, aligned to the ECCT Strategy, 

include: 

4.11.1 Delivering pedestrian and cycling priority, where George Street operates 

without non-essential vehicle access during set periods of the day but 

permitting blue badge access at all times.  Proposed access windows will 

be between 7.00pm – 10.00am Monday to Saturday and 7.00pm to 

12.00pm on Sundays. Criteria to be applied for access for essential 

services outwith servicing and loading windows and to enforce vehicle 

restrictions will be finalised during Stage 4; 

4.11.2 Preserving the use of cycling infrastructure all year-round; 

4.11.3 Maintaining local bus passenger services within the GNT area, including 

direct crossing points with George Street (but not along George Street).  

Final proposals will be determined by the outcome of a wider city bus 

network review;  

4.11.4 Prioritising blue-badge parking, including George Street and essential 

resident parking within the wider area (but not on George Street), to support 

access for this group of key users; 

4.11.5 Licensed taxis will continue to be permitted access throughout the GNT, 

however restrictions will be applied to George Street whereby access will 

only be permitted during servicing and loading windows.  Taxi rank spaces 

will be retained on George Street and in the wider First New Town. This 

recognises how critical taxis are to supporting operations in the GNT area, 

Page 78



 

7 

especially the evening/night-time economy and the key role they play in 

public safety.  During the Stage 4 process further consideration will be given 

to addressing the challenge of taxi access to George Street “out with” 

service access windows for disabled users.  At this stage in the design 

process, it is proposed Private Hire Cars (PHC’s) will still be able to fully 

access the First New Town however, in line with the adjacent Meadows to 

George Street project where PHC restrictions are proposed under current 

proposals, PHC’s will be restricted from directly accessing George Street 

during and out with service access windows.   However, during the Stage 

4n process further analysis will be undertaken to secure additional data 

relating to PHC operations within the wider city centre area and feedback 

from the PHC industry before recommending a final decision; 

4.11.6 During the Stage 3 process, an assessment of enforcement methods 

currently applied to promote “pedestrian and cycling zone” spaces within 

Edinburgh, Scotland and elsewhere in the UK was progressed.  The key 

outcome was the need to address current challenges associated with 

traditional enforcement methods, which rely on signage and lining 

restrictions to enforce traffic violations.  At this stage, a similar enforcement 

method to that in place for the High Street and Grassmarket is proposed 

(whereby an automated bollard system will effectively control access).  In 

addition, technology-based enforcement methods, e.g., Automated Number 

Plate Recognition (ANPR), will continue to be explored to assess their 

effectiveness to monitor any non-compliant vehicles;   

4.11.7 The proposed introduction of a bollard-based enforcement system will also 

align with the need to create a safe and secure environment for all users. A 

final Hostile Vehicle Mitigation strategy will be developed, in partnership 

with Police Scotland, to align with wider City Centre Community Safety and 

Hostile Vehicle Mitigation measures; and 

4.11.8 In developing a final operational plan for George Street particular 

consideration will be given to the location and needs of hotels and places of 

worship (including the Intercontinental George Hotel and St Andrew’s and 

George’s West Church).  Further analysis and research will be undertaken 

during the Stage 4 process to determine an operational system which not 

only sustains the viability of such premises but also ensures that active 

travel operational and design principles are prioritised. 

5. Next Steps 

5.1 If Committee approve the recommendations in this report, the next stage is to 

progress and subsequently complete the development of the Stage 4 Technical 

Design which aligns with the RIBA Plan of Work, which sets out key processes 

required to deliver projects.   

5.2 The commencement of Stage 4 is a significant milestone as it will include the 

promotion of all necessary statutory processes; critically are Traffic Regulation and 

Redetermination Orders which provide the powers to enable the construction of the 

Page 79



 

8 

project, earmarked for 2024.  It is expected that promotion of these Orders will 

commence early 2023. 

5.3 During the Stage 4 process, the project team, in liaison with Procurement Services, 

will consider options to secure the construction expertise to deliver the project. Early 

contractor engagement will assist in preparing final programme and projected 

constructions costs ensuring the project is deliverable.  

5.4 The Stage 4 process will also deliver the final Operational Plan.  

6. Financial impact 

6.1 As reported previously to Committee, total estimated projects costs totalled £32m. A 

revised costs plan was produced as part of the Stage 3 process and has estimated 

that, based on current design proposals and market conditions, construction costs 

are likely to be in the region of £30-32m with total project costs totalling £36m. This 

cost estimate is reflective of increases across the construction industry which has 

been impacted by Covid-19 and inflationary increases especially with regards to 

labour and material costs.  

6.2 As part of the revised five year Active Travel Investment Programme, approved in 

October 2021, GNT has been allocated multi-year funding up to £15.07m, funded 

through Sustrans Scotland Places for Everyone programme and the Council’s 

capital programme. During the Stage 4 process, additional grant funding from 

Sustrans will be sought to support the final estimated project costs prior to 

formalising any final construction start date. 

6.3 Multi-disciplinary consultancy fees for Stage 4 will be 100% funded by Sustrans, 

subject to final approval of the end of the Stage 3 process.   

6.4 The project management team will also be 100% funded from the Sustrans (agreed 

in principle and to be confirmed through the terms of the final Legal Agreement 

currently being developed). 

6.5 At this stage in the process, a further capital budget allocation from the Council will 

be required to deliver the project in full.  This could be in the region of up to £10m.  

Given the ongoing pressures on budgets caused by inflationary increases and 

supplier chain issues, it is proposed that the Active Travel Investment Programme 

will be reviewed to reflect these changes. This will require a prioritisation of the 

existing programme, which will be presented early in the new year.  

7. Stakeholder/Community Impact 

7.1 The input of stakeholders, including local residents, key stakeholder groups, 

businesses, interest groups, people with protected characteristics and the general 

public, has been critical in delivering design and operational proposals to date.   

7.2 In arriving at a final Stage 3 design, further detailed “in depth” engagement was 

undertaken with key stakeholders, both during formal group stakeholder sessions 

organised between Autumn 2021 and Summer 2022 and, where necessary, on a 

one to one basis.  A further local business and resident engagement exercise was 

Page 80

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s39331/7.3%20-%20Active%20Travel%20Investment%20Programme%20Update.pdf


 

9 

launched in Spring 2022 and publicised on the Council’s Consultation Hub and via 

local newsletter to garner further detailed feedback on draft operational plan 

proposals.  

7.3 Wider public engagement will continue via the dedicated project website. 

7.4 A revised Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) has been undertaken as part of the 

Stage 3 process and will be maintained throughout the design process. This 

identifies many positive impacts for people with protected characteristics, and notes 

where some potential negative impacts require further development. 

7.5 During the Stage 3 process, Rettie and Co were commissioned to undertake an 

Economic Impact Assessment (EIA) to determine the potential economic impact of 

the project on the local economy.  The report (Appendix 4), using UK Treasury 

Green Book guidelines, concludes that “in this economic impact assessment the 

‘full investment’ option is judged to make a major contribution towards delivering the 

benefits associated with the strategic objectives, to deliver significant net economic 

impacts and to achieve a relatively strong benefit-cost ratio”. Over a 20-year period 

the estimated cost-benefit analysis indicates a potential positive benefit-cost ratio of 

2.2.  This means that for every £1 spent on the project will produce economic 

benefits up to the value of £2.20, generating a potential net Gross Value Added 

(GVA) benefit to the economy of £95m. Positive economic and non-economic 

impacts include local job creation and sustainability, increased property values, 

increased visitor spend and a healthier, safer and more relaxed urban environment.  

7.6 The project will create a significant number of construction jobs from 2024 onwards 

and, in turn, create opportunities for local suppliers and businesses.  As with all 

major Council construction contracts, community benefit clauses will be included in 

any contracts aiming to secure benefits such as local apprenticeships and training 

opportunities. 

8. Background reading/external references 

8.1 George Street Experimental Traffic Regulation Order, Concluding Report and 

Design Principles -  Transport and Environment Committee 7 June 2016  

8.2 George Street and First New Town Design Project Update - Transport and 

Environment Committee 5 October 2017  

8.3 George Street and First New Town – Consultation and Design Development Update 

- Transport and Environment Committee 16 May 2019  

8.4 George Street and First New Town Project Business Bulletin Update Transport and 

Environment Committee 12 September 2019  

8.5 George Street and First New Town Project Business Bulletin Update – Transport 

and Environment Committee 11 October 2019  

8.6 George Street and First New Town Project Update – Leadership Advisory Panel 31 

March 2020  

Page 81

https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/directory-record/1208377/george-street-and-first-new-town-public-realm-design
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/54988/item_76_-_george_street_and_first_new_town_design_project_update
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/54988/item_76_-_george_street_and_first_new_town_design_project_update
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Transport%20and%20Environment%20Committee/20190516/Agenda/item_74_-_george_st_and_first_new_town_-_consultation_and_design_development.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s6053/Item%206.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s9507/Item%206.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin%2011%20Oct%202019.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s6053/Item%206.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s6053/Item%206.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin.pdf


 

10 

8.7 Edinburgh City Centre Transformation (ECCT) Business Bulletin Update – 

Transport and Environment Committee 12 November 2020  

8.8 George Street and First New Town Public Realm Project Business Bulletin Update 

– Transport and Environment Committee 28 January 2021  

8.9 George Street and First New Town (GNT) Public Realm Project – Transport and 

Environmental Committee 22 April 2021  

8.10 George Street and First New Town (GNT) Public Realm Project – Transport and 

Environmental Committee 17 June 2021  

8.11 George Street and First New Town (GNT) Public Realm Project – Concept Design 

and Operational Plant -  Transport and Environment Committee August 2021  

8.12 George Street and First New Town (GNT) Public Realm Project – Business Bulletin  

- Transport and Environmental Committee 6 October 2022  

9. Appendices 

9.1 Appendix 1 – Final Stage 3 Developed Design Plans  

9.2 Appendix 2 – Updated GNT Operational Plan 

9.3 Appendix 3 – Women’s Safety Audit 

9.4 Appendix 4 – Economic Impact Assessment 

Page 82

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s28757/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin%2012%20November_Final.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s30808/Item%206.1%20-%20Draft%20TEC%20business%20bulletin%20-%20JAN%202021_Late%20Changes.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s33322/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin_April%202021.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s34875/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s36440/Item%207.3%20-%20George%20Street%20and%20First%20New%20Town.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49879/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin%206%20October%202022.pdf


1 
 

Appendix 1 – GEORGE STREET AND FIRST NEW TOWN FINAL STAGE 3 DEVELOPED DESIGN PLANS 

 

 

 

P
age 83



2 
 

MASTERPLAN 

The design proposal for George Street itself has a symmetrical pattern which is repeated along the street to reflect the original 

James Craig masterplan for the First New Town. Staying true to these intentions will maintain the unique heritage value of the GNT 

project area. The pattern of each section is illustrated by the figure 1.1 below. As can be seen the design proposals for each of the 

four blocks on George Street have similar layouts and comprise of the same key elements. The wide carriageway and footway 

reflect the dimensions in the masterplan which allowed for open views of key buildings along the street. In addition, a block plan for 

one of the blocks is shown in more detail in figure 1.2 

 

Figure 1.1 

P
age 84



3 
 

 

Figure 1.2 – Block Plan  

1. cycle street 2. Loading area / taxi rank 3. disabled parking area 4. pedestrian movement corridor 5. raised planter 6. Rain garden 

7. seating 8. cycle parking area 9. Central square 10. flex-zone 11. spill-out zone 12. bollards 13. indicative threshold line 14. 

feature banding 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 85



4 
 

TYPICAL CROSS SECTION – GEORGE STEET (Figure 1.3) 

 

 

P
age 86



5 
 

FOOTWAYS 

The widths of the footways on George Street will not be less than 4 m in the proposed developed design. They do vary along the 

length between the two squares depending on the surrounding functions and due to the building line shifting significantly along 

George Street. However, the defining feature of the footways is the 4 m wide clutter-free pedestrian movement corridor which will 

be retained in a straight line in the full length of the street. Figure 1.4 below shows the zones that make up the footways including 

the pedestrian movement corridor in the context of the Steet. Cafes and restaurants can use the area between the pedestrian 

movement corridor and the buildings as a spill-out zone. Typically, this will be approximately 2.5 m wide. The dimensions will 

depend on the specific context and the building line. 

 

Figure 1.4 

 

 

 

P
age 87



6 
 

JUNCTIONS 

The junction design proposals (figure 1.5) have been developed to reflect the anticipated usage of each junction as well as the 

project aspirations and key heritage requirement to retain symmetry and consistency in the layout. To help reduce the use of 

George Street as a vehicle thoroughfare and to simplify the junction layouts, right turning by vehicles will be banned at Castle St., 

Frederick St., and Hanover St. junctions. The proposals described below have been subject to extensive engagement with key 

CEC teams and other key stakeholders. Initial tracking checks have also been undertaken to confirm that buses and large vehicles 

such as HGVs can manoeuvre through the streets, but these will be further validated as part of the refinements in the Stage 4 

design. It should be noted that road markings, tactile paving, traffic signs and traffic signalling design will require further 

development and will be defined during Stage 4. Any of these that are shown in the drawings or diagrams associated with this 

package should be treated as indicative. 

 

Figure 1.5 

Note - There has been limited development of the junction at Charlotte Sq. as this will be better developed as part of the forthcoming Charlotte Sq. project 

which will define how the CCWEL route will pass through the square. However, it is anticipated that the design for this junction will broadly mirror the 

proposals presented for the junction at St. Andrew Square 

 

 

P
age 88



7 
 

JUNCTION OF CASTLE STREET AND GEORGE STREET 

Traffic levels on and around Castle St. are currently low and are expected to be even lower by the time GNT is implemented. There 

is also limited scope for north-south motorised traffic movements due to there being no access to or from Princes St. at the south 

end of Castle St. The east-west cycle movement is a key feature through GNT as it in effect forms a section of CCWEL. As such, 

the proposed layout has been developed considering the east-west vehicle/cycle movement on George St. as the priority. 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 89



8 
 

JUNCTION OF FREDERICK STREET AND GEORGE STREET 

Frederick St. is expected to remain a north-south bus route which has been a key consideration in the design. The east-west cycle 

movement remains key and given the access constraints on general traffic in the surrounding streets (e.g. Princes St.), it is 

anticipated that levels will be lower than they are now when GNT is implemented. The proposed layout has prioritised the east-west 

vehicle/ cycle movement on George St. whilst also including allowances to facilitate the passage of buses moving north-south. 

 

 

 

 

P
age 90



9 
 

JUNCTION OF HANOVER AND GEORGE STREETS  

Hanover Street will remain a vital north-south route for buses and will become an arterial north-south cycle route following 

completion of the MGS scheme. It is also expected to retain some north-south access for general traffic subject to the TRO for 

MGS. As with the other junctions, the east-west cycle movement remains key. Given the anticipated high volume of bus traffic, the 

proposed layout has prioritised the north-south vehicle/cycle movement on Hanover Street whilst also including measures to ensure 

that east-west traffic is not unduly impeded. The junction is signalised on all arms with raised pedestrian crossings on the George 

Street arms to indicate priority of the north-south cycle/vehicle movement over the east-west cycle/vehicle movement. 

 

P
age 91



10 
 

JUNCTION OF ST ANDREW SQUARE AND GEORGE STREET 

St David Street on St Andrew Square will remain an important north-south route for buses and North St. David Street will become 

an arterial north-south cycle route following completion of the CCWEL scheme. It is also expected to retain general traffic travelling 

north-south and into/out of George Street The design proposal has given each of the three arms equal priority to facilitate these 

movements. The design proposes to move the James Clerk-Maxwell statue to a position on the footway outside the west entrance 

to the square. Placing the statue here, rather than its current location, will simplify the operation and layout of the junction. Moving 

the statue has been discussed with the sculptor and the Royal Society of Edinburgh (RSE). It will also be subject to receiving 

planning consent. 

 

 

 

P
age 92



11 
 

CYCLE STREET 

The area of George Street which facilitates east-west movement of vehicles and cycles is defined as a “cycle street” (figure 1.6) in 

the design proposals. In line with the project objectives and principles, it has been designed as a cycle priority space where 

motorised vehicles are only permitted under certain circumstances. The principle of the cycle street is that motor vehicles are 

guests on the street and should drive at the speed of cycle traffic, but the overrun areas allow motor vehicles to pass cycles if the 

opposite lane is clear and ensure that two vehicles can pass each other even if the street looks and feels narrower than a typical 

street. 

 

P
age 93



12 
 

CENTRAL SQUARES / CLUTTER FREE SPACES 

The central squares are large, clutter free areas (figure 1.7) in the mid sections of each block. They have been designed to 

correspond to the prominent buildings in the middle of each block, such as The Dome, The Assembly Rooms and St Andrew’s and 

St George’s West church. Their primary purpose is to slow down traffic, allow for informal street crossing points mid-block and 

provide spaces where temporary events can be hosted. They also provide an additional operational benefit of being able to 

accommodate large vehicles such as HGVs stopping and unloading on the rare occasions that they are required to enter the street. 

 

P
age 94



13 
 

LANDSCAPED SEATING AREAS 

The landscaped seating areas (figure 1.8) are spaces in each block of George Street which are designed to provide users with an 

opportunity to pause and enjoy the street. These areas integrate a small amount of appropriate planting to soften the streetscape 

without compromising the heritage aspirations. The inclusion of this planting also allows the landscaped seating areas to function 

as rain gardens and contribute to the sustainable urban drainage system (SUDS) that is incorporated into the design. 

 

P
age 95



14 
 

DRAINAGE 

As with other aspects of the design, the drainage design proposals for GNT have been developed with a focus on George Street 

The four key considerations when developing this were: 1) Integration with the unique heritage value of the GNT project area, 2) 

Adapting to climate change and implementing a system that reflects CEC’s aspirations to respond to the climate emergency. 3) 

Maintainability of the system and ensuring that it would work within CEC’s maintenance regime, 4) The known and unknown 

physical constraints of retrofitting a drainage system in a mature streetscape environment. Considering the above, an innovative 

solution has been developed  where the storage volume is provided by a high void ratio aggregate fill below the cycle street and 

rainwater is transported to this by a combination of kerbs, channels and rain gardens. The proposed solution is shown 

diagrammatically below in figure 1.9. 

 

 

 

 

P
age 96



15 
 

MATERIALS 

The proposed materials palette for GNT has been developed from the concept design via extensive engagement with key 

stakeholders including heritage groups and CEC. The focussed engagement with these groups reflected the focus on remaining 

true to the heritage of GNT and also using materials that were maintainable for CEC. The materials palette and soft landscape 

specifications will continue to be developed through stage 4. The material selection for the cycle street is critical to the visual effect 

in George Street. that maintains and reflects its heritage value. The stage 3 design proposes that GNT uses flat topped granite 

setts for the cycle street. A laying pattern (figure 1.10) which uses varied unit lengths has also been specified. As with the cycle 

street, the material choice for the footways is very important on George Street. In line with EWH and CEC guidance for a street of 

this character, the Stage 3 design proposes that the footways on George Street are paved using Scoutmoor Yorkstone flags. The 

proposed laying pattern has also been developed and uses varied widths (figure 1.11). The surface material for the central squares 

is proposed by the design to be granite setts. However, to help emphasise that these spaces are distinct from the cycle street, the 

laying pattern and colour of the granite will be different. The reasons for the choice of this material are similar to those described for 

the cycle street. The colour will be a lighter shade of granite which will soften the contrast with the Scoutmoor Yorkstone of the 

pedestrian spaces. The setts are intended to be laid in a diagonal pattern, the detail of this will be developed in stage 4. 

Figure 1.10  

P
age 97



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
George Street and First New Town Design Project - GNT 

 

RIBA Stage 3 – Draft Operational Plan 
 

The City of Edinburgh Council  

October 2022 
 

 

 

 

 

P
age 98



 
 

 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx Page 2 of 68 
 

Notice 

This document and its contents have been prepared and are intended solely as information for The City of 
Edinburgh Council and use in relation to the George Street and First New Town Design Project. 

Atkins Limited assumes no responsibility to any other party in respect of or arising out of or in connection 
with this document and/or its contents. 

 

Document history 
Document title: RIBA Stage 3 – Draft Operational Plan 

Document reference: Draft 

Revision 
Purpose 

description 
Originated Checked Reviewed Authorised Date 

0.1 Draft  AC KF KF JC July 2022 

1.0 Draft Issue AC KF KF JC Aug 2022 

1.1 Revised Draft AC KF AM, KF JC Aug 2022 

1.2 Final Version AC KF KF JC Oct 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

P
age 99



 
 

 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx Page 3 of 68 
 

 
Contents 

Chapter Page 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 5 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 6 

INTRODUCTION 7 

1. Project Background 8 

1.1. Study Area 8 

2. Scope 8 

2.1. CCT and Other Interdependent Proposals 8 

POLICY & STRATEGIC CONTEXT 10 

3. Key Policy Governance 11 

3.1. Introduction 11 

3.2. Local Level Policy 11 

3.3. National Level Policy 12 

3.4. UK-Wide Policy and Guidance 14 

4. Design Development, Objectives and Principles 15 

4.1. Introduction 15 

4.2. Design Objectives / Principles 15 

4.3. Design Development and RIBA Stage 3 Design Overview 15 

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT 18 

5. Operational Plan Engagement 19 

5.1. Introduction 19 

5.2. Business and Residents (External Stakeholder) Engagement 19 

5.3. CEC Officer (Internal Stakeholder) Engagement 19 

6. Operational Planning Considerations 20 

6.1. Problems, Issues, Opportunities and Constraints 20 

6.2. Project Benchmarks 21 

GNT OPERATIONAL PLAN 22 

GNT OPERATIONAL PLAN – TECHNICAL SUMMARY 27 

7. Proposed Junction Design and Operation 28 

7.1. Introduction 28 

7.2. Castle Street / North Castle Street – George Street Junction 28 

7.3. Frederick Street – George Street Junction 30 

7.4. Hanover Street – George Street Junction 32 

7.5. St Andrew Square – George Street Junction 34 

8. Walking, Wheeling, and Non-motorised Users 36 

8.1. Introduction & CCT Context 36 

8.2. Current Pedestrian Environment and Accessibility 36 

8.3. Public Realm Improvements 36 

8.4. Improving accessibility and inclusion 37 

8.5. Pedestrian Comfort, Seating and Street Furniture Design 38 

9. Cycling 42 

9.1. Introduction 42 

9.2. Context 42 

9.3. Cycle Street 42 

10. Public Transport 46 

10.1. Introduction 46 

10.2. Proposed Service Provision and CCT Considerations 46 

11. Vehicle Access 50 

11.1. Introduction 50 

11.2. Environmental considerations 50 

11.3. Current Traffic Operation 50 

11.4. Proposed Restrictions and Operation 51 

11.5. Parking 52 

11.6. Taxis 52 

11.7. Emergency Response and Access 54 

12. Deliveries, Servicing and Waste Management 59 

12.1. Current Operation 59 

12.2. Proposed Operation 59 

12.3. Waste Collection 61 

12.4. Good Practice Guide and promoting safety 61 

13. Safety and Security 62 

13.1. ‘Get Home Safely’ - Women’s Safety Assessment 62 

13.2. Physical Security - Threat, Vulnerability and Risk Assessment 62 

13.3. Operational Considerations 62 

14. Enforcement and Management 63 

14.1. Current Traffic enforcement 63 

14.2. GNT Enforcement Strategy 63 

14.3. Signage and Road Marking Strategy 64 

14.4. Management of Events 64 

15. Access Requirements and Exemptions 65 

15.1. Introduction 65 

15.2. Existing permitting methods in Edinburgh City Centre 65 

15.3. GNT Management Strategy 65 

15.4. Access Exemptions 66 

16. Summary, Recommendations and Next Steps 67 

16.1. Summary 67 

16.2. Recommendations and Next Steps 67 

 

 

P
age 100



 
 

 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx Page 4 of 68 
 

Figures 
Figure 2-1 - GNT Project Study Area and connections to CCT Projects 9 

Figure 3-1 - CAFS 2 Integrated Policy Approach 13 

Figure 4-1 - RIBA Stage 3 GNT Design Masterplan 16 

Figure 4-2 - George Street Cross Section View 1 - Illustrative View with Landscaped Seating Areas 17 

Figure 4-3 - George Street Cross Section View 2 - Illustrative View with Flexible Zones 17 

Figure 7-1 – Castle Street / North Castle Street - George Street Stage 3 Junction Layout 28 

Figure 7-2 – Castle Street / North Castle Street - George Street Junction Layout – 3D Visual 29 

Figure 7-3 - Frederick Street - George Street Stage 3 Junction Layout 30 

Figure 7-4 - Frederick Street - George Street Junction Layout – 3D Visual 31 

Figure 7-5 - Hanover Street - George Street Stage 3 Junction Layout 32 

Figure 7-6 - Hanover Street - George Street Junction Layout – 3D Visual 33 

Figure 7-7 - Hanover Street – George Street Junction Signal Phases 33 

Figure 7-8 – St Andrew Square - George Street Stage 3 Junction Layout 34 

Figure 7-9 – St Andrew Square - George Street Junction Layout – 3D Visual 35 

Figure 7-10 – St Andrew Square– George Street Junction Signal Phases 35 

Figure 8-2 - Indicative GNT Street Furniture Designs 39 

Figure 8-3 – Proposed GNT Design – Landscaped seating areas 40 

Figure 8-4 – Proposed GNT Design – Flexible use of seating areas 41 

Figure 8-5 - Proposed GNT Design – Indicative seating design 41 

Figure 9-1 - Visstraat (implemented 2009) Dordrecht, Netherlands 42 

Figure 9-2 - Sint-Antoniesbreestraat (implemented 2008) Amsterdam, Netherlands 43 

Figure 9-3 - Proposed GNT Cycle Street Design - Central Zones 44 

Figure 9-4 - Proposed GNT Cycle Street Design 44 

Figure 9-5 - Edinburgh CCT Cycle Network 45 

Figure 10-1 - GNT Study Area Bus Stop Locations 48 

Figure 10 -2 - Example of a Floating Bus Stop design, Cambridge 49 

Figure 10 -3 - Floating Bus Stop design (Edinburgh Street Design Guidance, Part C) 49 

Figure 11-1 - George Street Traffic Movements - All vehicle Types (per 15mins) 50 

Figure 11-2 - George Street Traffic Movements – LGVs and HGVs (per 15 mins) 50 

Figure 11-3 – Existing Traffic Restrictions to be maintained 55 

Figure 11-4 - Proposed GNT Vehicle Restrictions 56 

Figure 11-5 – Proposed vehicle access 57 

Figure 11-6 - Proposed GNT Parking Types and Zones 58 

Figure 12-1 - Proposed GNT Loading Zones 60 

Tables 
Table 3-1 - Edinburgh City Centre Transformation – Proposed Transport Interventions 12 

Table 6-1 - Operational Benchmarks 21 

Table 14-1 - GNT Enforcement Options 63 

 

P
age 101

file:///C:/Users/COMB3402/OneDrive/Desktop/GNT%20Stage%203%20Operational%20Plan%20V1.10.docx%23_Toc111534682


 
 

 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx Page 5 of 68 
 

 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 
The following are a series of terms used throughout proceeding chapters of the report. For clarity 

these are defined below: 

Project Terminology 

• Edinburgh City Centre Transformation (CCT), Edinburgh City Centre Transformation 

Strategy (ECCT) – City of Edinburgh Council’s current sustainable design framework. 

Currently estimated to deliver over £420m of benefits over a 10-year period through 

investment in improved public spaces, inclusive access and prioritisation of travel on foot, by 

bicycle and on public transport. Three key projects already underway; City Centre west to east 

link (CCWEL), Meadows to George Street (MGS) and George Street and First New Town 

Design Project (GNT). City Centre Transformation – The City of Edinburgh Council. 

• Edinburgh City Mobility Plan (CMP) – City of Edinburgh Council’s current sustainable 

transport strategy. It sets out the strategy for significant tram, bus network and active travel 

interventions from 2020-2030 and links closely with the Edinburgh City Centre Transformation 

Strategy. City Mobility Plan – The City of Edinburgh Council. 

• Edinburgh Low Emission Zone (LEZ) – The recently approved proposal to limit vehicles and 

tighten vehicle emission standards in the heart of the city centre. Low Emission Zone – The 

City of Edinburgh Council 

 

 

 

 

Figure A - ‘Block’ Plan of George Street 

 

 

Design Terminology 

The cross section below presents the standard elements and terminology used to describe the 

proposed Stage 3 GNT design. These include: 

1. Cycle Street – 6m wide central carriageway with physical and visual traffic calming (14).  

2. Loading Area - bays allocated for servicing and deliveries during permitted hours. 
3. Disabled Parking Area – bays allocated for blue badge parking. 
4. Pedestrian Movement Corridor – Core area of footway used for pedestrian movement 
5. Raised planter – High quality planting areas which a 
6. Rain garden –Planting areas also designed to collect rainwater and surface runoff. 
7. Landscaped Seating Areas – Public seating and amenity areas connected to planters.  
8. Cycle Parking Area – dedicated areas for cycle parking.  
9. Central Zone – An open and clutter-free central space within each ‘block’ of George Street 

which has a raised surface and provides enhanced views of the key buildings on the street. 
10. Flex-zone - A flexible space between footways and loading/parking bays which can take several 

functions including additional spill-out areas for businesses. Where necessary street furniture 
such as cycle parking, bins etc. can be installed. 

11. Spill-out Zone – Footway zones adjacent to building frontages design for slower moving 
pedestrian traffic e.g. ‘window shopping’ and additionally an area in which cafes and restaurants 
can use for outdoor seating. On average, this is approximately 2.5m wide.  

12. Bollards – Used to define central zones and prevent nuisance parking.  
13. Indicative threshold line – Areas of footway detailing designed to highlight building edges. 
14. Feature banding – visual traffic calming which narrows lanes of the cycle street carriageway 

using bands of visually contrasting materials.   

P
age 102

https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/roads-travel-parking/city-centre-transformation
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/citymobilityplan
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/lowemissionzone
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/lowemissionzone


 
 

 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

 
Page 6 of 68 

 

 

 

 

    
 

   
  

 
 

  

  
 

       
 

  
 

   
  

 
 

  
 

 

  
  

 
 

 
 

  
  

 

 

 
    

    

 

This report also highlights a number of subsequent Council and potential GNT Stage 4 work 
packages which will be crucial to the future development of the project and implementation of the 
Edinburgh City Centre Transformation Strategy going forward, this includes:  

• CCT Bus Network Review 

• CCT Coach Strategy  

• CCT Events Management Plan 

• CCT Operational Plan 

• GNT/CCT – Hostile Vehicle Mitigation & Enforcement Strategy  

• GNT - Construction Management Plan 

• GNT / CCT Smart Permitting/Parking Management System  

 
Figure B – William Pitt The Younger, George Street 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The City of Edinburgh Council are  committed to implementing  their City Mobility Plan (CMP) and 
City Centre Transformation Strategy (CCT) policies. These set out a basis for transport and active 
travel interventions to improve mobility and tackle existing barriers / challenges within the city 
centre,  key to ensuring Edinburgh achieves its commitment to become a net zero City by 2030.  The
George Street and First New Town Project (GNT) forms a key part of CCT and is one of the earliest
projects programmed within the 10-year delivery plan. When implemented, the proposed design
and subsequent transport and environmental changes would make a significant contribution
towards realising the long-term vision of transforming the city centre.  The  project  also  has an 
integral relationship with the two other current city centre active travel projects; Meadows to George
Street (MGS) and the City Centre West to East Link (CCWEL).

The GNT  project  aims  to reconfigure the available space  within the First New Town  to create a 
more accessible, high-quality environment  that  prioritise the movement of people over other travel 
modes. Currently  at the developed  design stage (RIBA Stage 3), the  design proposes  a  variety  of 
physical  interventions and  improvements  including.

•  Removal of non-essential parking on George Street, reallocating and reducing carriageway
  spaces.

•  Prioritising  pedestrian movements, creating widened, more accessible footways.

•  Creating  landscape seating areas, providing  space  in which people can now comfortably and
  safely dwell.

•  Redesigning  George Street  junctions  with Castle Street, Frederick Street,  Hanover Street  and
  St David’s Street  reflecting each street’s unique function.

•  Realigning pedestrian crossings, reducing required crossing distances, timings  and removing
  street clutter.

•  Introducing new and enhanced  cycle  infrastructure and  facilities,  including  the  development of  a
  ‘cycle street’ design  for George Street, similar to  other European cities.

•  Providing cycling connections to adjacent cycling schemes including the Meadows to George
  Street and City Centre West to East Link Projects.

To support and facilitate the Stage 3 Design, the  Operational Plan  proposes  a package of 
operational and management measures which would improve accessibility, promote  active travel,
prioritise essential public transport and manage traffic access to the First New Town, this includes.

•  The removal of all bus services from George Street, retaining services on Frederick Street,
  Hanover Street and  St David Street while  repositioning current bus stops to decrease required
  onward walking distances to city centre destinations  for bus users. Route diversions are being
  considered as part of City of Edinburgh Council’s ‘City Centre Bus Network Review’ Study.

•  Banning right turns on all approaches of George Street’s junctions with Castle Street, Frederick
  Street and Hanover Street.

•  Removing general traffic access to George Street.  Essential vehicle access to the street, such
  as daily deliveries and servicing is  to be managed with a daily ‘access window’ from 10:00am  –
  7:00pm Monday to Saturday and 12:00pm  –  7:00pm on Sundays. Outwith these times cyclists
  (and other exempt users such as blue badge holders) would have priority use of the street. Taxi
  access to George Street is proposed to be retained during the daily ‘access window’, with two
  taxi ranks proposed in-line with current provision.

•  At this stage,  vehicle access to George Street outwith daily ‘access window’  times is proposed
  to  be  controlled  using  physical restrictions such as  automated bollards.  The design and
  feasibility of these measures  is to be explored  further  during the Stage 4 Design process.

P
age 103



 
 

 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx Page 7 of 68 
 

 

INTRODUCTION 

Project Background & Scope  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

P
age 104



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx Page 8 of 68 
 

1. Project Background 

The City of Edinburgh Council are committed to implementing their City Mobility Plan (CMP), City 
Centre Transformation Plan (CCT), net zero City 2030 and 2050 City Vision. These aim to improve 
the accessibility and quality of Edinburgh City Centre environment through a programme of 
transport and urban realm design measures.  

The incremental transformation of the city centre in the coming years will include many 
improvements for pedestrians and wheelers including urban realm measures such as public 
seating, enhanced wayfinding and crossing provision, footway widening, lighting upgrades and 
other safety improvements For cyclists  the introduction of priority cycle lanes, segregated and off-
road infrastructure, improvements at junctions and notable road safety hotspots to prioritise people 
on foot and bicycle and increase cycle parking in key locations. Major new initiatives to reduce 
traffic congestion and emissions, prioritise public transport along key corridors and generally 
improve the appearance and enjoyment of public spaces and streets throughout Edinburgh’s 
historic First New Town and Old Town. 

The George Street and First New Town (GNT) Project, Meadows to George Street (MGS) Project 
and City Centre West to East Link (CCWEL) form the first suite of CCT / CMP Projects. Collectively 
these projects will tackle city centre legacy issues such as the reliance on vehicle travel, 
congestion, poor active travel infrastructure and pressing current issues including damaging city 
centre air pollution and the continued risks of climate change. MGS and CCWEL connect to and 
travel through George Street to provide one interconnected inner-city network of pedestrian and 
cycle-priority routes. The GNT Study area and connections to adjacent projects are shown below in 
Figure 2-1.  

1.1. Study Area 
Edinburgh’s First New Town in which the GNT project sits consists of a wide range of business 
types and land uses, including office spaces to restaurants, bars/nightclubs, conference/cultural 
spaces, hotels and places of worship. A sizable percentage of properties in the area are also 
residential, including traditional townhouse-style dwellings and luxury apartments. As a result these 
require a variety of right of access for daily deliveries, servicing and other maintenance and utilities 
works. Located within a UNESCO World Heritage Site, the area is also known for its high-quality 
shopping and Georgian Architecture.  

2. Scope 

This report concludes the draft Operational Plan previously prepared during the Stage 2 Concept 

Design process to support the effective management and function of the latest RIBA Stage 3 GNT 

public realm design proposals. This document and the Stage 3 (Developed) Design act together to 

put forward a package of measures which would reallocate and reprioritise spaces within the public 

realm to improve accessibility, promoting active travel, manage traffic access to the First New Town 

and prioritise essential public transport.  

The plan also discusses the future methods of access and operation of all travel modes within the 
First New Town study area, and how people will come to interact with and navigate the city centre 
following the implementation of the design proposals. Where relevant this also presents 
considerations and feedback which influenced the development of the plan and areas where further 
design development is required. 

2.1. CCT and Other Interdependent Proposals  

The wider objectives of the Edinburgh CMP and CCT will be delivered through a long-term 
programme of design projects, transport interventions, and other forms of management. The 
proposals which have influenced and will influence the GNT proposal going forward are: 

Edinburgh Low Emission Zone (LEZ) – From 1st June 2024 the Edinburgh Low Emission Zone 
will come into effect. This aims to reduce the dangerous levels of air pollution currently produced in 
Edinburgh City Centre and attempts to mitigate the resulting impacts to public health. The LEZ will 
enforce strict emission standards for vehicles entering the cordon, this includes an area 
encompassing The First New Town, West End, Old Town, Royal Mile and The Meadows. The LEZ 
will result in a change of vehicle types (an increased proportion will likely become hybrid or fully 
electric in future), size and will likely impact travel patterns around the City Centre. The system is 
anticipated to be enforced by a system of ANPR (automatic number plate recognition) cameras 
which would detect vehicles as they enter the zone.  

CCT Bus Network Review - A comprehensive review of public transport provision and service 
routes through Edinburgh City Centre is proposed as part of CCT. This will investigate the impact of 
rerouting services which currently travel along George Street and consider the potential to 
reconfigure or combine services. Any realignment of routes and/or bus stops would result in 
changes to bus journey times through and around the First New Town. 

CCT Operational Plan – A long term plan which aims to optimise loading, servicing and waste 
management functions throughout the wider City Centre area. Still in its inception stages, this would 
also look to develop local ‘freight hubs’ which would enable micromanagement of deliveries. 
Complementary to the LEZ this aims to reduce the frequency of on-demand servicing and the 
volume/size of servicing vehicles entering the area. This would alleviate delays and provide greater 
priority for public transport, likely increasing reliability and decreasing journey times along key 
routes. Importantly for the properties of the GNT study area, this plan would address the servicing 
operation, access and attempt to reduce demand on adjoining streets and lanes such as Rose 
Street, Hill Street and Thistle Street.  

CCT Events Management Plan – Building on the ‘One Edinburgh’ and other cultural strategies for 
the city, an Events Management Plan is also proposed under CCT. This will set out the ‘principles’ 
(e.g. required vehicle access routes/timings, facilities available, methods to access utilities etc.) 
involved in coordinating events and methods to consolidate the permissions required to host events 
in key City Centre areas such as The First New Town (including George Street) and Old Town 
(including the Royal Mile, Bristo Square and George Square). Practically, this plan aims to reduce 
the disruption caused by the set-up and vehicles associated with events, while maximising the 
potential benefits for local residents, business and visitors. 

CCT Coach Strategy – Similar to the proposed Bus Network Review, this long-term strategy aims 
to manage the access permissions and locations in which privately operated bus services and 
coaches can alight in Edinburgh City Centre. This may come to effect ability for coaches to enter 
the city centre, the routes of tour bus services and the locations of coach parking surrounding the 
GNT study area.  

 

  

P
age 105



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx Page 9 of 68 
 

 

Figure 2-1 - GNT Project Study Area and connections to CCT Projects 

P
age 106



 
 

 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 10 of 68 

 

 

POLICY & STRATEGIC CONTEXT 

Key Governing Policy, GNT Design Principles 
 

 

 

  

P
age 107



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 11 of 68 

 

3. Key Policy Governance 

3.1. Introduction 

Policy is changing at all levels throughout Scotland and the UK to reflect the climate emergency and 
the serious impacts that it poses if nothing is done to tackle it head on. This chapter sets out the 
local, national and UK-wide transport and environmental policy context in which the GNT Project 
sits.  

UK-wide, National and Local Transport Policy and Guidance  

When preparing the Operational Plan, the following policy documents have been taken into 
consideration and their defining principles carried forward to develop an Operational Plan for the 
GNT Study Area: 

• City of Edinburgh Council – City Mobility Plan 2021-2030, 2020 

• City of Edinburgh Council – City Centre Transformation Strategy, 2019 

• The Scottish Government’s Climate Change Plan (2018-2032), 2020 

• The Bute House Agreement Publication, 2021 

• The Scottish Government’s Active Travel Framework, 2021 

• The Scottish Government’s National Walking Strategy, 2016 

• The Scottish Government’s Cleaner Air for Scotland 2: Towards a Better Place for Everyone, 
2021 

• Transport Scotland’s National Transport Strategy 2 (NTS2), 2020 

• Transport Scotland’s Emerging Strategic Transport Projects Review 2 (STPR2), 2022  

• Better Delivery – The Challenge for Freight, (NIC), (April 2019) 

• Decarbonising Transport – Setting the Challenge, Department for Transport (DfT), (2020) 

These documents are summarised in turn below. 

3.2. Local Level Policy 

3.2.1. CEC City Mobility Plan 2021-2030 & Implementation Plan, 2020 

City of Edinburgh Council’s City Mobility Plan (CMP) outlines The Council’s plan to achieve 
sustainability, reduce carbon emissions and provide enhanced mobility across the city. Acting as a 
successor to Edinburgh’s Local Transport Strategy it sets out The Council’s commitment to become 
net-zero by 2030 and acknowledges transport (including how people, goods and services are 
moved around) is the largest producer of carbon emissions across all of Scotland. 

“The plan is central to a clean, connected and net zero carbon future. This sits along with other 
innovative schemes we’re progressing, from City Centre Transformation (CCT) to a Low Emission 
Zone, Trams to Newhaven and a range of exciting active travel projects connecting communities It 
will help people make sustainable choices about how they move around the city, through improving 
walking, cycling and wheeling options and creating better links to public transport.” 

 

 

 
Taking influence from National level policy such as the Scottish Climate Change Plan, the CMP 
develops a series of objective which focus on encouraging a shift to more sustainable travel modes 
and active travel, tackle vehicle dominance, reduce emissions and improve accessibility and 
wellbeing for all people travelling in the city.  

3.2.2. CEC City Centre Transformation Strategy & Delivery Plan, 2019 

City of Edinburgh Council’s City Centre Transformation Strategy (CCT) sets out The Council’s 
sustainable design and spatial framework (movement hierarchy and reprioritisation of movement 
corridors) within the City Centre. It focuses on enhancing and facilitating the movement of people of 
all abilities and providing world class urban spaces within the historic context of Edinburgh. The 
strategy identifies the First New Town, in which George Street and the GNT study area is located, 
as one of several growth areas in which urban realm and transport interventions will be prioritised 
going forward.  

Building on the aims and objectives defined within CEC’s 2030/2050 Vision document, CCT 
introduces a series of six key ‘principles for change’ which will be used to guide the development of 
projects such as GNT. These were used as a basis for the design objectives for the GNT Project 
initial defined at RIBA Stage 2 (Concept Design) in 2017/2018, these include. 

• People First - Priority will be given to people travelling on foot, by bicycle and by public 
transport, providing enhanced connectivity and permeability, whilst minimising negative impacts 
of traffic displacement. 

• Unique Character & Identity - The unique character of Edinburgh’s built, and natural 
environment will be celebrated and enhanced. 

• Inclusive & Accessible - Inclusive design and management of our streets and places will be 
embedded across all actions affecting our city centre. 

• Enhanced Open Spaces - Green areas, open spaces and street networks will be linked to 
make the most of these spaces for communities. 

• Liveable - A better environment will be created for city centre residents by enhancing local 
centres and reducing traffic within the city centre, improving air quality. 

• Integrated Policies & Projects - Policy objectives and project delivery will be integrated, 
creating a consistent and coordinated approach to city centre planning and management. 

In developing the spatial framework the document also describes five preferred packages of 
interventions which can be used to improve accessibility for walking, wheeling, cycling and public 
transport users, facilitate a reduction in private and commercial vehicle movements and improve 
public realm spaces and sense of place within the City Centre. These are shown in Table 3-1. 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 108



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 12 of 68 

 

Table 3-1 - Edinburgh City Centre Transformation – Proposed Transport Interventions 

Types of Intervention Design Measures 

Allocation of street 
space 

Street Closures, reallocation of traffic lanes, junction improvements, 
introduction of safe cycle routes and traffic management.  

Public Transport  
Enhancing bus priority, rerouting of existing bus services, providing 
additional and enhanced services and review of taxi ranks.  

Parking Reduction and 
Space Reprioritisation 

Phased reduction of on-street parking, revisions to parking zones / 
residents permit parking and off-street parking, revisions to parking 
charges and introducing electric vehicle charging points. 

City Operations and 
Management 

Introduce an operational / management plan for the City Centre, 
improve transport integration and provide real-time service updates, 
introduce a coach management strategy, expand shared mobility and 
car sharing schemes and develop ‘last-mile’ logistics provision. 

Place 

Improved physical and digital wayfinding, provide new vertical 
connections to key locations, improve accessibility and permeability 
of Princes Street Gardens, maximise the potential of public spaces 
and enable temporary or time-restricted closures of roads to allow for 
community-based activities and events. 

 

3.3. National Level Policy 

3.3.1. Scotland’s Climate Change Plan – Scottish Government, 2020 

In response to the global climate emergency, Scotland’s Climate Change Plan update in 2020 set 
out a world-leading commitment to reduce car kilometres by 20% by 2030. Transport accounts for a 
quarter of Scotland’s greenhouse gas emissions, with cars making up almost 40% of transport 
emissions. Carbon-reduction modelling has concluded that it will not be possible to reach net-zero 
emissions through technological solutions alone. Reducing car use is essential in order for the 
transport system to be decarbonised at a pace that meets the statutory emissions targets set by the 
Scottish Parliament. 

The route map, co-developed by Transport Scotland and the Convention of Scottish Local 
Authorities (COSLA), sets out the suite of transport and non-transport policies that will be 
implemented to support car-use reduction in order to deliver a healthier, fairer and more prosperous 
Scotland for communities, businesses and visitors. 

It is recognised that less frequent car use may be more challenging for people in certain 
geographical locations and for those who have certain travel needs such as specific disabilities. 
However, the aim of route map is to promote a range of inclusive travel options that people can 
freely adopt for as many journeys as possible. 

 

 

3.3.2. Bute House Agreement Publication, 2021 

The Bute House Agreement is an agreement between the Scottish Government and the Scottish 
Green Party Parliamentary Group to work together over the next five years to build a green 
economic recovery from COVID, respond to the climate emergency and create a fairer country. 

The agreement delivers bold policy action on pressing issues including taking big steps to 
accelerate our transition to net zero – and more support for active travel. It also includes 
commitments to increase investment in active travel and public transport, including a Fair Fares 
review to provide a realistic and affordable alternative to car use. 

3.3.3. Active Travel Framework – Scottish Government, 2021 

The Active Travel Framework brings together the key policy approaches to improving the uptake of 
walking and cycling in Scotland for travel. It has been produced collaboratively by Transport 
Scotland and key delivery partners, with input from Regional Transport Partnerships (RTPs) and 
local authorities. 

Drawing on the long-term shared vision and strategic objectives for active travel developed and set 
out in partnership in 2014, at its heart is an ambition that by 2030, Scotland’s communities are 
shaped around people and place, enabling walking and cycling to be the most popular mode of 
travel for short, everyday journeys. This is particularly important in more remote areas where 
accessibility by road outweighs that by more sustainable modes. Where this is the case, targeted 
measures, such as active travel corridors, will better connect rural communities and ensure that the 
promotion of walking and cycling for all user groups is maximised. 

3.3.4. Let’s Get Scotland Walking: The National Walking Strategy – Scottish Government 
2016-2026 

The vision that the Scottish Government has is a Nation where everyone benefits from walking as 
part of their everyday journeys and where urban spaces are well designed to encourage walking. 

The 3 Strategic Aims of the National Walking Strategy are: 

• Create a culture of walking where everyone walks more often as part of their everyday travel 
and for recreation and wellbeing. 

• Better quality walking environments with attractive, well designed and managed built and natural 
spaces for everyone; and 

• Enable easy, convenient and safe independent mobility for everyone. 

 

  

P
age 109



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 13 of 68 

 

3.3.5. Cleaner Air for Scotland 2: Towards a Better Place for Everyone – Scottish 
Government, 2021 

Cleaner Air for Scotland 2 (CAFS 2) is a strategy setting out how the Scottish Government will 
continue to deliver air quality improvements over the next five years (to 2026). Shaped around 10 
general themes the strategy aims to achieve a vision for Scotland to have the best air quality in 
Europe. 

The strategy recognises that there is significant overlap between the measures needed to address 
climate change and improve air quality in areas such as transport, agriculture and industrial 
emissions and effort to address these issues in a more coordinated way offers additional likely co-
benefits. CAFS 2 therefore takes an integrated policy approach to deliver policy in tandem with 
other key Scottish Government strategies to achieve the vision for Scotland to have the best air 
quality in Europe. Clear synergies exist between these strategies, which include those set out in 
Figure 3-1 below. 

 

Figure 3-1 - CAFS 2 Integrated Policy Approach 

Improving air quality makes an important contribution to the United Nations Sustainable 
Development Goals and the Scottish Government’s National Outcomes. In a wider context, further 
progress in embedding placemaking principles across all policy areas will deliver benefits for both 
physical and mental health through creating better urban spaces that are more attractive to spend 
time and easier to move around in. 

 

 

3.3.6. National Transport Strategy 2 – Transport Scotland, 2020 

The National Transport Strategy 2 (NTS2) forefronts sustainable transport, identifying active travel 
as a key mechanism to realise its ambitious vision for Scotland’s transport network for the next 20 
years. Encouraging people to travel more actively and sustainably is at the heart of the Scottish 
Government’s NTS2 vision and priorities and will contribute to the equality, health and carbon 
reduction targets that the strategy supports. 

“It is a Strategy for the whole transport system (people and freight), and it considers why we travel 
and how those trips are made, by including walking, cycling, and travelling by bus, train, ferry, car, 
lorry and aeroplane. It is a Strategy for all users: those travelling to, from and within Scotland.” 

NTS2 emphasises that walking, wheeling, and cycling are the prioritised methods of travel, 
recognising the significant influence they hold in bringing the Strategy’s vision and priorities to 
fruition. It recognises that high-quality walking and cycling infrastructure can attract a wider range of 
people to take up active travel to meet these wider policy aims. 

There are four priorities to support that vision: 

• Reduces inequalities. 

• Takes climate action. 

• Helps deliver inclusive economic growth; and 

• Improves our health and wellbeing. 

The NTS2 will enable people to make healthy travel choices: active modes will be a preferred 
method of travel and have a significant positive effect on individual health and wellbeing, both by 
making people more active and by improving air quality. 

3.3.7. Emerging Strategic Transport Projects Review 2 (STPR2) – Transport Scotland, 
2022  

The emerging Strategic Transport Projects Review 2 (STPR2) reviews the strategic transport 
network’s performance and will inform transport investment in Scotland for the next 20 years (2022-
2042). 

STPR2 provides an overview of transport investment, mainly infrastructure and other behaviour 
change recommendations, that are required to deliver the NTS2 priorities and objectives. In many 
cases the recommendations build on the individual investment and policy decisions taken in recent 
years, but the overall balance of the recommendations reflects the vision, priorities and outcomes of 
the NTS2 and commitments in its Delivery Plan. 

The objectives of STPR2 align with Scottish Government policy and cover topics such as climate 
action; inequalities and accessibility; health and wellbeing; sustainable and inclusive economic 
growth; and improving safety and reliability of the transport networks. A key aspect of STPR2 is the 
consideration of the transport needs of Scotland’s people and communities, with a clear priority in 
favour of active travel (walking, wheeling, cycling).  

P
age 110



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 14 of 68 

 

3.4. UK-Wide Policy and Guidance 

3.4.1. Better Delivery - The Challenge for Freight, National Infrastructure Commission 
(NIC), 2019 

The National Infrastructure Commission (NIC) sets out in ‘The challenge for freight’ the 
environmental and technological drivers for change within the freight and logistics sector and how 
these can be better integrated into the land use and planning process. Aligning itself with UK 
targets, NIC prioritises the decarbonisation of freight by 2050 and highlights that innovation and 
further management optimisations are required to tackle environmental challenges.  

The document also notes the key factors which will affect the freight and logistics industry going 
forward, these include. 

Growth in internet shopping - The existing centralised approach to freight may need to adapt to 
incorporate more regional and local level storage to meet customer demands. Such a move in both 
retail and business markets could have a significant impact on the size and operation of systems 
and vehicle miles driven.  

Zero / Low emission vehicles - Transition towards alternative fuels or electric vehicles could see 
short and medium-term changes in the way the logistics industry operates, however alternative 
fuelling/charging infrastructure is required to facilitate this.  

The NIC also discusses a transition to zero emission servicing vehicles, with the recommendation 
that the UK Government should commit to decarbonising road freight by 2050 and further plan to 
ban the sale of new diesel-powered HGVs no later than 2040. Considering smaller vehicles like 
LGVs and vans, the market for zero and low emission market is more developed, NIC suggests that 
it is essential that local charging infrastructure be further developed as not to become a barrier to 
change.  

Considering recent innovations in operation across the UK, NIC note the use of micro-distribution 
centres (working towards the last-mile delivery model) and use of e-cargo bikes have both 
produced positive results where prevailing conditions are right. In the short-term logistics operators 
will likely only adopt sustainable practices that reduce emissions and congestion impacts if this 
does not put them at a disadvantage to their competition. NIC note temporary legislation or 
subsidies could help operators looking to trial new techniques in partnership with local authorities.  

NIC speculate that the best way to introduce further innovation in the industry is to support the 
establishment of consolidation/micro-distribution centres. Continuing to say local authorities should 
use their planning systems to make land in suitable locations available and consider the case for 
subsidising more sustainable operations in the short term, where competition law permits. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.4.2. Decarbonising Transport – Setting the Challenge, Department for Transport (DFT), 
2020 

DFT describe this document as “the first step to developing the policy proposals and a coordinated 
plan for decarbonising transport. Delivering the emissions reduction needed from transport is a 
significant and sustained challenge and net zero demands a fresh approach. We have a duty to act 
and continue our global leadership in this area.”  

In the report DFT set out their strategic priorities from 2020-2040 and a ‘Transport Decarbonisation 
Plan’, which will guide the country towards a net-zero transport system. Business operations and 
logistics are considered under the heading ‘Decarbonising how we get our goods’ as one of the key 
principles of the document. There is also emphasis on last-mile deliveries, developing an integrated 
supply chain and optimise efficiency of existing networks. 

The document goes on to detail an e-cargo bike trial in London via e-Cargobikes.com. The scheme 
worked closely with supermarket chain Sainsbury’s to trial the use of electric cargo bikes to deliver 
groceries, using funding from a DFT innovation grant. Using five bikes, delivering around 100 
orders a day from the Streatham Common store, the study found. 

• “c.96.7% of orders could be fulfilled in a single e-cargo bike journey”. 

• Due to the ability of e-cargo bikes to make use of cycle and bus lanes, this resulted in 
shorter delivery routes, decreased journey times and average speeds greater than typical 
delivery vans. 

  

P
age 111



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

   
Page 15 of 68 

 

4. Design Development, Objectives and 
Principles 

4.1. Introduction  

This chapter outlines the progression of the GNT Design at RIBA Stage 3 and presents the 
overarching objectives / principles which have been used to guide the development of the project.  

4.2. Design Objectives / Principles  

Prior to undertaking design work at this stage, the project team undertook a due diligence review of 
the Stage 2 design, draft Operational Plan, and objectives/principles. The following project 
objectives were inherited from Stage 2 and further developed upon at this stage: 

• Create a world class place that respects and enhances the world heritage site. 

• Enlarge and enhance public and pedestrian space creating a safe, vibrant space for all. 

• Prioritise active travel and access for people with a disability or impairment, with public parking 
in George St seen as lowest priority. 

• Develop an adaptable street design, in particular enabling use for appropriate events. 

• Enhance the First New Town as a place where businesses can thrive. 

• Provide a solution which gives priority to pedestrian movement; with set periods of the day 
without non-essential vehicle access; bus services or blue badge access where appropriate. 

• Preserving the use of cycling infrastructure year-round. 

• Maintain the current local bus passenger services within the area, with limited bus stop and 
route realignment. 

• Prioritise blue-badge parking by reallocating some bays from George Street to other streets 
within the First New Town where possible. 

• Reduce vehicle traffic movements at the junction of George and Hanover Street to support 
essential access requirements through the First New Town. 

 
4.3. Design Development and RIBA Stage 3 Design Overview   

4.3.1. RIBA Stage 2 Design 

 The RIBA Stage 2 (Concept) Design (finalised August 2021) recognised that several outstanding 
design and operational challenges would need to be addressed during the Stage 3 (developed) 
design process including drainage, hostile vehicle and anti-terrorism measures, junction detailing 
and outstanding operational decisions. A detailed assessment of the Concept Design was 
undertaken, and several key priorities identified which would help shape final Stage 3 design and 
operational outputs including: 

• Revising the ‘roundabout-style’ intersections with George Street and Castle Street, Frederick 
Street and Hanover Street to become more traditional 4-armed priority / signalised priority 
junctions.  

• Prioritising the north-south movement of vehicles at junctions and optimising remaining 
space for pedestrians. This aims to promote north-south flows of vehicles and deter through 
traffic from entering George Street. 

• Banning of right turns at the three main junctions of George Street with Castle Street, 
Frederick Street and Hanover Street. Analysis of vehicle paths taken to navigate the 
junctions indicated significant areas of overrun would be required to perform this manoeuvre, 
severely impacting pedestrian accessibility.  

• Simplifying the operation of the George Street - Hanover Street junction’s signal operation to 
minimise delays and optimise journey times, removing unnecessary signal phases and 
reducing this to three phases: a north-south vehicle green, an east-west vehicle green phase 
and an all-approach pedestrian green phase.  

• Understanding the functions of Castle Street/North Castle Street and Frederick Street are 
different to those of George Street and Hanover Street and their resulting traffic demand is 
far lower, these junctions have been redesigned to provide additional priority for pedestrians.  

4.3.2. RIBA Stage 3 Design Overview 

Building on the concept design principles developed throughout 2018-2021, the RIBA Stage 3 
(Developed) Design has been developed by drawing on the expertise of a number of disciplines 
across the Project Team including civil engineering, drainage, heritage, landscape and urban 
design, roads and transport planning. A full review of the Stage 3 Design is provided in the RIBA 
Stage 3 Design Report. 

The design proposal for George Street in particular provides a symmetrical pattern which is 
repeated along each ‘block’ of the street. This reflects closely with the original James Craig 
masterplan for the First New Town from 1766. Each of the ‘blocks’ have similar layouts and are 
comprised of the same key elements such as enhanced footways, public realm improvements, 
removal of non-essential parking and reduction in carriageway widths. The Stage 3 masterplan is 
shown below in Figure 4-1. Illustrative cross-section views of the proposed George Street design 
are also shown Figure 4-2 and Figure 4-3. Both are discussed further in proceeding chapters. 

 

P
age 112



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

   
Page 16 of 68 

 

Figure 4-1 - RIBA Stage 3 GNT Design Masterplan  

 

Masterplan Key Elements  
1. Junctions 
2. Loading areas / disabled parking 
3. Landscaped seating areas 
4. Central Squares 

  

P
age 113



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

   
Page 17 of 68 

 

Figure 4-2 - George Street Cross Section View 1 - Illustrative View with Landscaped Seating Areas 

 

 

Figure 4-3 - George Street Cross Section View 2 - Illustrative View with Flexible Zones  

 

 

P
age 114



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 18 of 68 

 

 

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT  

Internal and External Engagement and Findings 

P
age 115



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 19 of 68 

 

5. Operational Plan Engagement 

5.1. Introduction 

The proposal set out in proceeding chapters has been collaboratively developed with CEC, 
Sustrans and city stakeholders, residents, businesses and the general public. This chapter sets out 
a concise summary of the engagement undertaken at this stage regarding the GNT Operational 
Plan. Additional information on engagement undertaken at this stage on the GNT Design can be 
found within the GNT Stage 3 Engagement Report. 

5.2. Business and Residents (External Stakeholder) Engagement  

Throughout March - July of 2022, the team undertook a rigorous schedule of online and 1-2-1 style 
engagement with local businesses and residents of the GNT study area to gather information on 
day-to-day transport operation and attain feedback on the preferred way forward on operational 
aspects of the proposed design. 

The online elements were conducted using Microsoft Forms online questionnaires hosted on the 
CEC Consultation Hub from March-April. Questions focussed on gaining feedback from 
respondents on every-day access requirements and opinions on proposed operational measures 
such as restricting vehicle access and imposing daily loading windows. The questionnaires were 
promoted via flyer drop to all addresses within the study area, informational emails and through 
Council social media channels. 

In parallel to the online survey and throughout the remainder of RIBA Stage 3 a number of 1-2-1 
meetings were also undertaken by the team. These included businesses, residents and local 
organisations in the area. These were organised by directly contacting by phone, email or in 
person. Engagement feedback from residents has shown support for measures which would reduce 
traffic within the city centre and rationalise unnecessary sources of parking. There also is a strong 
public awareness of the potential damage high levels of airborne pollution could have on the 
population of Edinburgh.  

5.3. CEC Officer (Internal Stakeholder) Engagement 
Throughout this stage, from March-July, the Project Team also undertook a series of technical 
meetings with City of Edinburgh Council Officers regarding elements of the Operational Plan.  A 
total of 22 officers were met to understand the potential impact on their specific areas of 
responsibility, this included: 

• Active Travel 

• City Centre Transformation (including City Centre Operational Plan) 

• City Centre West to East Link (CCWEL) 

• Low Emission Zone 

• Meadows to George Street (MGS) 

• Parking/TRO/Taxi/Licensing 

• Planning 

• Public safety and events 

• Public Transport 

• Sustainable Development/Climate Change 

• Transport Networks 

• Waste Services 

Key Feedback attained at this stage 

Vehicle 

Access 

• Access for the mobility impaired / older people / blue badge holders is 

essential. 

• Opportunities for pick-up and drop-off need to be explored, including many 

requests for taxi access to be retained in future. 

• Trades Access and other ad-hoc access needs to be carefully managed. 

• Maintaining residents parking and access is important. Potential impact on 

capacity in surrounding streets needs to be considered.  

• Many requests for access exemptions e.g. trades, construction, 

weddings/funerals, utility works, other statutory work. 

• Facilitating access to hotels will require further consideration. 

• Enforcement is also a major issue, many suggest ANPR, or similar methods 

are required. 

• Concerns about managing access and business during events. Many are 

unsure about the potential size and scale of events in future. 

Transport 
Network 

• Concerns about the impact on the wider transport network, potentially causing 

congestion on other arterial routes like Lothian Road, Queen Street, Leith 

Street and George IV Bridge. 

• Concerns about alternative routing of vehicles around First New Town and 

Edinburgh Old Town, effects of the proposed Meadows to George Street bus 

gate. 

Servicing 
and Loading 

• Consensus points to a morning and evening access window being required. 

• Most businesses are well aligned to a morning window ending at 10:00 - 

10:30am, the peak for deliveries in the area is currently 8:00am-11:00am. 

• Extended access may be required on Sundays to facilitate St Andrew’s and St 

George’s Church. 

• Residents highlight waste and recycling from local bars is often collected 

between 2-4am, often excessive noise and disruption. They query if this could 

be managed using windows. 

Public safety 
and security 

 

• Very positive response to building-in night-time safety and security into the 

design and operation of the area.  

• Many have suggested other night-time safety measures such as Taxi wardens 

are also required. 

• Many businesses, particularly food & beverage, have existing relationships 

with taxi groups and private hire groups e.g. Uber. These businesses use taxi 

travel to ensure the safety of their staff in the early hours of the morning, they 

feel this needs to be accommodated within the proposal 

Sustainability 

• Many businesses are already working towards NetZero and have strategies in 

place. 

• A lack of electric vehicle charging points and other sustainable infrastructure 

was highlighted. 

• Most of those who met with the team had limited knowledge or no knowledge 

of the wider ambitions of CCT  

Construction 
• Concerns about the impact of construction and potential loss of earnings. 

• Phasing and construction timeline (when contractors are involved) need to be 

communicated early and often with those who may be affected. 

P
age 116



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 20 of 68 

 

6. Operational Planning Considerations 

6.1. Problems, Issues, Opportunities and Constraints 
A number of actual and perceived operational/transport-related problems, issues, opportunities, and 
constraints have been identified within the study area and Edinburgh City Centre. These are based 
on historical evidence, research and engagement undertaken to date. These provide a baseline for 
the development of operational measures discussed in proceeding chapters.  

Problems 

The perceived and actual problems identified within the study area include but are not limited to: 

• The legacy of the current layout of George Street and car-centric streetscape of the area acts a 
barrier to accessibility and deters active travel users. 

• Perceived misuse of trades permits and other parking permits, high numbers of daily parking 
penalty notices and nuisance parking occurs within the City Centre. 

• Lack of adoption of active travel and awareness of the existing active travel routes and 
opportunities locally. 

• Perceived night-time safety concerns particularly for women and other vulnerable groups. 

• Road safety and crossing safety concerns at junctions. High Collision rates for incidents 
involving pedestrians and cyclists in the study area, greater than 60% of all collisions involve 
these users (33/50 STATS19 casualties, 2016-2020). 

• Staged pedestrian crossings and islands on Hanover Street poorly accommodate existing 
traffic, pedestrian demand and desire lines. Accessibility measures for the mobility / sensory 
impaired people are not always provided at crossing locations. 

• Wayfinding information and signage to guide pedestrians is limited within the First New Town, 
especially links to nearby destinations such as Waverley Rail Station. 

Issues 

The issues identified within the study area which impact the proposal include but are not limited to: 

• Variety of business types and functions present in the area. 

• Size and scale of deliveries i.e. typical goods and services required in the area. 

• The lack of coherence of delivery times and number of third-party service providers in the area. 

• Urgent need to reduce vehicle demand, carbon emissions and shift servicing patterns in a more 
sustainable direction. 

• One of George Street’s core functions is for events, particularly during the Edinburgh Fringe. 
Maintaining access to existing venues and facilitating the street’s ability to host a variety of 
event types will be pivotal to its economic longevity.  

• Limited availability of kerbside space to provide dedicated locations for loading and servicing 

• Limited availability of kerbside space to be allocated for resident and permitted parking. 

• Lack of sustainable technologies in Edinburgh City Centre e.g. Electric vehicle infrastructure 

• High existing parking demand within the City Centre and potential pressure which will occur in 
parking zones adjacent to the GNT Project if rationalisation of parking is not properly managed.  

• Scotland’s temperate climate makes providing year-round cycling facilities difficult. 

• Lack of alignment and coherence of vehicle access windows within the City Centre may 
increase congestion pressures on the area. 

• Street furniture currently clutters footways in the area and limits accessibility. 

• There is potential that some older/impaired people who do not have a blue badge and struggle 

to use public transport may find it more difficult to access George Street.  

Opportunities  

Opportunities which will have a bearing on operations and travel in the study area include but are 
not limited to: 

• Enhancing the pedestrian experience of the area and incorporate the needs of users of all 
levels of mobility and ability.  

• Reducing levels of background traffic within the City Centre and reducing the dependence on 
vehicle travel modes. 

• Manage and reduce the presence of larger vehicles within the City Centre.  

• To combat public health challenges such as obesity and promote wellbeing through 
encouraging walking and cycling.  

• Combating the environmental crisis through reducing vehicle emissions and challenging 
existing servicing behaviours/modes and positively contribute to the net-zero 2030 movement.  

• Reducing pedestrian crossing distances and increasing safety and coherence at junctions.  

• Support economic recovery and long-term growth of the City Centre ensuring George Street 
retains its status as a premier UK/European shopping street 

• Provide a high-quality cycling route which can serve the evolving travel needs of the city. 

• Promote local public transport and encourage more sustainable travel behaviour. 

• Improve the liveability of the City Centre and encourage further residential ownership. 

• To communicate the objectives of Edinburgh City Mobility Plan and City Centre Transformation 
delivery plan. 

Constraints 

Constraints which limit the effectiveness of the proposal include but are not limited to 

• The quantity of businesses in the area often limits the effectiveness of engagement and the 
representativeness of operational measures proposed.  

• Pedestrian accessibility is impacted by the topography of the area.  

• Due to the length of George Street itself extended distances required to access key buildings 
and venues at the centre of each ‘block’ e.g. The Dome and Assembly Rooms. 

• Route choice for vehicles entering or exiting the GNT study area is largely governed by 
adjacent projects which are still in development (e.g. Meadows to George Street, St Andrew 
Square) and existing restrictions.  

• Increased dependence on taxi and private hire car travel in the area especially after 6pm. 

• Complexity of operation on George Street between Hanover Street and St Andrew Square 

• Unrestricted access for blue badge parking or the relocation of this parking to adjacent streets 
will likely have knock-on impacts on residential parking. 

• The lack of control a majority of businesses have on third party logistics and waste service 
providers. 

• Enforceability of the proposals are limited by current Scottish Government Policy and City of 
Edinburgh’s legislative powers.  

• Blue badges are registered to a specific person not a vehicle, this complicates potential access 
control and enforcement. 

  

P
age 117



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 21 of 68 

 

6.2. Project Benchmarks 
The proposed traffic restrictions and operational measures of the GNT Design and Operational Plan 
detailed in subsequent chapters have also been benchmarked against other development 
proposals and servicing/vehicle management schemes introduced across Edinburgh, Scotland and 
the UK, a summary of these are given in Table 6-1 below. 

Table 6-1 - Operational Benchmarks 

 

 

 

Location Urban Context 
Restrictions / 
Operational Times  

Enforcement Measures 

Edinburgh 

Castle Street  Pedestrianised street 
8pm – 10:30am, 
Mon – Sun  

No through route,   
Pedestrian Zone 

Grassmarket 
Pedestrianised Street 
(Partial) 

12pm – 6:30am      
Mon – Sun 

Pedestrian Zone, one-
way, rising bollards 

High Street 
Pedestrianised Street 
(Partial) 

10:30pm – 6:30am 
Mon - Sun 

Pedestrian Zone, HVM 
barriers, removable 
bollards 

Princes Street 
Main pedestrian and 
public transport route 

8pm – 7am,        
Mon – Sun 

Double yellow lines, 
Permitted vehicles only 
zone 

Rose Street 
Pedestrianised Street 
(Partial) 

11pm to 10:30am, 
Mon – Sun 

Pedestrian Zone, turning 
restrictions, removable 
bollards 

Scotland 

Glasgow – Buchanan 
St. & Argyll St. 

Shopping street, Urban 
thoroughfare 
(pedestrianised) 

7pm – 10am,       
Mon – Sun 

Removable/folding 
bollards 

Glasgow – 
Sauchiehall Street  

Multi-functional 
shopping street 
Pedestrianised (partial) 

6pm – 8am,         
Mon – Sun 

One way street, 
Single/double yellow lines 

Perth – High Street 
and adjacent streets 

Shopping streets, 
controlled zone 

6pm – 8:30am,    
Mon – Sun 

Restricted vehicle access, 
one-way streets, turning 
restrictions, pedestrian 
zone, automatic bollards 

Stirling – Port Street  Pedestrianised Street 
4pm – 11am,      
Mon – Sun 

Removable/folding 
bollards, pedestrian zone 

UK 

Leeds – King 
Edwards St (and 
lanes) 

Shopping streets, 
controlled zone 

7pm – 10:30am, 
Mon – Sun 

Perimeter signage,  
Removable/folding 
bollards 

London – Regent 
Street (and 
surrounding lanes)  

Main pedestrian and 
public transport route 

12:00am – 7am, 
Mon – Sun 

Double yellow lines 

London - Leicester 
Square 

Shopping streets, 
controlled zone 

12:00am –8:30am, 
Mon – Sun 

Automatic rising bollards 

Manchester – Market 
Street 

Pedestrianised Street 
7pm – 8am,         
Mon – Sun 

Automatic rising bollards 

P
age 118



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 22 of 68 

 

 

 

GNT OPERATIONAL PLAN 
 

 

P
age 119



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 23 of 68 

 

 

  

An accessible and inclusive street environment 

Create a more accessible streetscape which itself will become a local destination 

Key Principles Proposed Operational Measures & Design Considerations 

A. Provide an attractive and welcoming street environment for pedestrians. 
A. Using design features create a world-class space which will 
attract increased footfall. Introduce outdoor seating areas and 
amenity spaces which encourage people to dwell in the area. 

B. Support the movement of all users of all abilities around the City Centre 

B. Apply the principles of inclusive design, optimise pedestrian 
crossings and coherence of the street layout. Retain essential blue 
badge parking and minimise required walking distances where 
possible. 

C. Improve the accessibility and simplify the operation of road junctions 
C. Reduce the complexity of junctions and number of phases at 
traffic signals to reduce delays. Reduce required crossing 
distances and maximise pedestrian green times. 

D. Provide high-quality, safe, and comfortable cycle facilities which can be 
used year-round. 

D. Introduce a cycle-street design on George Street. Provide 
connections to the M2GS and CCWEL cycle routes to form a city 
centre cycle network. 

E. Enhance safety within the urban environment and improve road safety. 
E. Implement the findings of the Woman’s Safety Audit and Threat, 
Vulnerability & Risk Assessment. Mitigate potential road and 
crossing conflicts with pedestrians, cyclists, and road other users. 

P
age 120



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 24 of 68 

 

 

  

Introducing a new transport hierarchy 

Provide innovative designs which move away from the vehicle-dominated street layouts of the past 

Key Principles Proposed Operational Measures & Design Considerations 

A. Prioritise the movement of people in the City Centre over private 
car travel and other vehicles 

A. Increase footway widths/quality and revise bus stop locations 
where possible to increase the accessibility of public transport. 
Restrict right turns at junctions and reduce carriageway widths on 
George Street to deter through traffic.  

B. Provide additional priority for local bus services, improve their 
reliability, and maintain a high level of service along key routes  

B. Promote north-south traffic movements on Frederick Street and 
Hanover Street. Support the proposed CCT Bus Network Review.  

C. Remove non-essential parking and the presence of vehicles on 
George Street during set periods of the day  

 
   

D. Attempt to tackle inner city congestion D. Revise street spaces allocated for vehicle travel, reduce 
carriageway widths, and use physical traffic management to deter 
through traffic.  

C.  Retain only essential blue badge holder parking and loading 
bays on George Street.  George Street is proposed to be vehicle
free from 10:00am  –  7:00pm Mon-Sat, 12:00pm  –  7:00pm Sun

P
age 121



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 25 of 68 

 

A business and cultural centre at the heart of the First New Town 

Provide a framework for economic redevelopment, opportunities for events and an environment in which local 
businesses, residents and visitors can prosper 

Key Principles Proposed Operational Measures & Design Considerations 

A. Manage vehicle access to George Street, maintain essential local 
access to surrounding streets 

 
 

   

B. Support the local night-time economy and manage the 
requirements of the many venues present in the area 

B. Retain local taxi access to George Street during permitted hours, including 
two ranks positioned on central squares. GNT TROs will establish a permitting 
system to manage vehicle access out with these times e.g. for larger vehicles 
required for events setup, construction/utilities, other works, and coaches. 

C. Facilitate on-street events. Create a street which can become part 
of Edinburgh’s unique cultural heritage 

C. Provide a flexible street design and introduce a permit-based systems to 
control access out with operating hours. Allow for temporary closures for events 
while still accommodating local cycling. Support the development of the 
proposed CCT Events Strategy. 

D. Make the First New Town a place where businesses can thrive 
D. Improve the attractiveness of the area to drive local footfall. Provide business 
an opportunity to have outdoor seating year-round. Ensure adequate kerbside 
loading provision to conduct daily servicing and deliveries. 

E. Maintain the essential functions for residents and the attractiveness 
of the First New Town as a place to live 

  
 

E. Improve the capacity of resident/permit holder parking on side streets.
Consolidate waste collection into the 7:00pm  –  10:00am  ‘access window’  to 
minimise disruption. Manage essential works, retrofits using a permit scheme.

A. George Street is to become a ‘pedestrian  and cycle  zone’. This would allow
only permitted vehicles access, e.g. deliveries,  taxis,  and other services, from
7:00pm  –  10:00am Monday-Saturday, 7:00pm  –  12:00pm Sunday.

P
age 122



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 26 of 68 

 

 

 

Support the City’s journey to Net-Zero by 2030 

Promote a cleaner and greener local transport system and business practices 

Key Principles Proposed Operational Measures & Design Considerations 

A. Reduce vehicle movements in the area, improve local air quality and 
encourage the shift to more sustainable modes for everyday journeys e.g. 
walking, cycling and public transport 

A. Improve the accessibility of the area for pedestrians and cyclists. 
General traffic access will not be permitted on George Street in future. 
North/South public transport movements will be prioritised.  

B. Introduce measures which consolidate the movement of goods and 
services 

 
 

 
 

C. Encourage local businesses and service providers to use smaller, lower 
emission and electric vehicles 

C. Work with CEC and local service providers long-term to introduce last-
mile logistics hubs. Introduce electric vehicle charging points (Stage 4 
design). 

B. Permitted vehicle access and loading is proposed to be from 7:00pm  –
10:00am Monday-Saturday, 7:00pm  –  12:00pm Sunday. A Monitoring and
Evaluation Plan  is proposed  to understand the effects of the design and 
suggest any further operational changes, if required.

P
age 123



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 27 of 68 

 

 

 

GNT OPERATIONAL PLAN – TECHNICAL SUMMARY 

P
age 124



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 28 of 68 

 

7. Proposed Junction Design and Operation 

7.1. Introduction 
This chapter provides at detailed summary of the operation and function of each the four junction 
redesign proposals within the RIBA Stage 3 Design. This includes George Street and its junctions 
with Castle Street, Frederick Street, Hanover Street and St Andrew Square. At this stage there has 
been limited development of the Charlotte Street. – George Street junction as this is out with the 
GNT Project Study Area (Figure 2-1). It is expected that this project will be progressed as a 
standalone design scheme though closely integrated with both GNT and CCWEL going forward. 
This additional link will define how the CCWEL route will pass through the square and continue east 
via George Street. The design proposals shown below have been developed to reflect the current 
and anticipated usage of each junction, project principles and key heritage requirements e.g. 
symmetry and consistency in their layouts. Further details such as finalised road markings, tactile 
paving layouts, signage and traffic signalling design will be defined during RIBA Stage 4.  

7.2. Castle Street / North Castle Street – George Street Junction 
Design Summary 
Traffic levels on and around Castle Street. are known to be the lowest of each of the four junctions 
and are expected to be even lower by the time the GNT design is implemented. There is also 
limited scope for north-south motorised traffic movements due to there being no access to or from 
Princes Street. at the south end of Castle Street. The junction is unsignalised and now includes 
continuous footways across the Castle Street and North Castle Street approaches, mimicking the 
existing layout at Castle Street. These emphasise pedestrian priority over north-southbound cyclists 
and vehicles. The continuous footways also indicate that the east-west cycle/vehicle movement has 
priority over cycles/vehicles travelling north-south. 

Changes from the existing layout 

• George Street becomes a cycle-priority street with a low (<20mph) design speed.  

• 2-phased crossings, central pedestrian islands on the George Street approaches and other 
street clutter is to be removed.  

• Crossings on each approach are realigned and required crossing distances are reduced from 
19m to 10m. North and south approaches are provided with continuous footways. 

• Priority is shifted from north-south movements to east-west movements through the junction, 
giving priority to cycle users. 

Pedestrian & Cycle Operation  

• Pedestrians crossing to and from each approach of the junction would have priority over 
other users. Similar to the existing layout zebra crossings on the east and west be provided. 
As with all typical zebra crossings, traffic would be required to stop for any pedestrians 
waiting to cross or already crossing the cycle carriageway. Pedestrians crossing to and from 
each approach of the junction would have priority over other users. 

• The north and south approaches (Castle Street and North Castle Street) are provided with 
raised continuous footways. This encourages greater freedom of movement for pedestrians 
travelling east and west on George Street. Tactile and visually contrasting materials would 
be provided to aid navigation for visually and sensory impaired users. 

• Cycle movements east-west on the cycle carriageway would now have priority over vehicles 
traveling on the north and south approaches.  

• Cyclists would be exempt from right turning restrictions, giving them additional flexibility to 
turn in all directions from each approach of the junction.  

Vehicle Operation 

• On north and south approaches vehicles would be required to wait at the give-way line to 
allow pedestrians to clear the continuous footway and while entering the junction give way to 
cycle movements on George Street before continuing their journey. 

• Similar to the current operation, vehicles on all George Street would be required to wait for 
pedestrians waiting to cross or currently crossing.  

• Right turning movements from all approaches (around the Thomas Chalmers Statue) 
including U-turns would be banned.  

• Only permitted vehicles (such as daily servicing and deliveries vehicles) would be able to 
turn left into and out of George Street during operating hours. Outwith these hours traffic 
emerging from Castle Street would be required to continue north towards Queen Street.  
 

Figure 7-1 – Castle Street / North Castle Street - George Street Stage 3 Junction Layout 

  

Summary 

• The proposed design of Castle Street reflects the current and future vehicle demand of this 
area of the First New Town. It is currently the least trafficked of the junctions on George 
Street. 

• Priority of the George Street carriageway is proposed to be shifted from north-south to east-
west movements. This is done by introducing two continuous footways, these also give 
additional priority for pedestrians on George Street.  

• Local access to residents/permit holder parking, taxi ranks and loading areas on Castle 
Street and North Castle Street is retained. Only permitted vehicles and cycles would access 
George Street. 

P
age 125



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 29 of 68 

 

 

 

 

Figure 7-2 – Castle Street / North Castle Street - George Street Junction Layout – 3D Visual   

P
age 126



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 30 of 68 

 

7.3. Frederick Street – George Street Junction 

Design Summary 

This junction’s operation is similar in principle to the existing layout, it remains unsignalised 
although footway widths and quality will significantly increase. This will reduce required crossing 
distances and remove the need for a two-phased crossings, promoting greater access and 
navigation for pedestrians. For vehicles this will remain a core bus route in the City Centre. 

Raising crossing points on the east & west (George Street) approaches by 50-100mm create a 
speed bump for road users travelling on George Street, managing vehicle speeds through the 
junction, and reinforcing the priority of pedestrians. By restricting right turn movements it is possible 
to reduce the required carriageway space within the junction and running widths on George Street, 
which would further manage down speeds for east-west traffic. Give way markings are provided on 
the north & south (Frederick Street) approaches, now giving priority to the east-west movement. 
Visually distinct and contrasting materials would be used to communicate this.  

Changes from the existing layout 
• George Street becomes a cycle-priority street with a low (<20mph) design speed. 

• 2-phased crossings, central pedestrian islands and other street clutter is to be removed. 

• Priority is shifted from north-south movements to east-west movements through the junction, 
give priority to cycle users.   

• Crossings on each approach are realigned and required crossing distances are reduced from 
15-20m to 10-12m. East and west approaches have raised crossing to provide an additional 
level of traffic calming travelling through the junction.  

• Contrasting overrun areas are provided on the north and south approaches to visually 
narrow Frederick Street and further reduce vehicle speeds. 

Pedestrian & Cycle Operation  

• 4-way single-phased zebra crossings would be provided. Tactile and visually contrasting 
materials would be provided to aid navigation for visually and sensory impaired users. 

• As with all typical zebra crossings, traffic would be required to stop for any pedestrians 
waiting to cross or already crossing the cycle carriageway. Pedestrians crossing to and from 
each approach of the junction would have priority over other users. 

• Cycle movements east-west on the cycle carriageway would now have priority over vehicles 
travel on the north and south approaches.  

• Cyclists would be exempt from right turning restrictions, giving them additional flexibility to 
turn in all directions from each approach of the junction.  

Vehicle Operation 

• Similar to the current operation, vehicles on all approaches would be required to wait for 
pedestrians waiting to cross or currently crossing.  

• On Frederick Street (north and south approaches) buses and other vehicles would be 
required to wait at the give-way line to allow cycle (and other permitted vehicles) movements 
on George Street to clear the junction before continuing their journey. 

• Right turning movements from all approaches (around the William Pitt, The Younger Statue) 
including U-turns would be banned.  

• Only permitted vehicles (such as daily servicing and deliveries vehicles) would be able to 
turn left in and out of George Street during operating hours. Other traffic would be required to 
continue through the junction north-south to Princes Street or Queen Street.  
 

 

Figure 7-3 - Frederick Street - George Street Stage 3 Junction Layout 
  

Summary 

• Frederick Street is one of the key bus corridors serving Edinburgh City Centre. The 
proposed junction design retains its essential functions for public transport and provides 
features to enhance priority for crossing pedestrians and cyclists on the George Street 
carriageway. 

• Local access to residents/permit holder parking, taxi ranks and loading areas on Frederick 
Street is retained. To the south, existing vehicle restrictions Princes Street would also be 
retained; meaning buses, taxis and cyclists would be the main road users on this section of 
Frederick Street throughout the day. To the north, the junction of Frederick Street – Queen 
Street is the primary route for vehicle traffic to access the wider network.  

• With proposed changes to city centre operation such as the CCT Bus Network Review and 
Low Emission Zone, Frederick Street will likely see an increase in bus movement and a 
general reduction in traffic volumes. 

• Only permitted vehicles and cycles would access George Street. 

P
age 127



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 31 of 68 

 

 

 

 

Figure 7-4 - Frederick Street - George Street Junction Layout – 3D Visual   

P
age 128



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 32 of 68 

 

7.4. Hanover Street – George Street Junction 

Design Summary 

Hanover St. is a vital north-south route for buses and will also become an arterial north-south cycle 

route following completion of the Meadows to George Street (MGS) Project. It is also expected to 

retain some north-south access for general traffic subject to the MGS TRO. As with the other 

junctions, the east-west cycle movement remains key. However, given the high volume of bus 

traffic, the proposed layout prioritises north-south movements on Hanover St.  

Understanding Hanover Street is the most trafficked north-south route in the area, retaining 4-way 

signal control ensures that east-west movements from George Street are given appropriate time 

and space to complete their manoeuvres without the risk of conflict with north-south traffic. Raised 

pedestrian crossings to the east and west indicate priority to the north-south cycle/vehicle 

movement over the east-west cycle/vehicle movement. For cyclists, spaces adjacent to the George 

IV Statue form a 4m wide space to safely alight in the centre of the junction to wait to cross or 

perform a two-stage cycle left/right turn if desired. 

On each approach signalised pedestrian crossings provide crossing opportunities for pedestrians.  

This level of control will help ensure that Hanover Street and the carriageway areas within the 

junction are clear of cycles and vehicles, particularly buses.  

Changes from the existing layout 
• George Street becomes a cycle-priority street with a low (<20mph) design speed. 

• 2-phased crossings, central pedestrian islands and other street clutter is to be removed. 

• Signals operation at the junction is to be simplified to three phases: a north and south 
approach ‘green’ phase, an east and west approach ‘green’ phase and pedestrian ‘all green’ 
phase. These are shown in Figure 7-7 below. 

• Crossings on each approach are realigned and required crossing distances are reduced from 
16-20m to 11-15m. East and west approaches have raised crossing to provide an additional 
level of traffic calming travelling through the junction.  

• Uni-directional cycle lanes are added to the east and west sides of the Hanover Street 
carriageway 

• Contrasting overrun areas are provided on the north and south approaches to visually 
narrow Hanover Street and further reduce vehicle speeds on approach. 

Pedestrian & Cycle Operation  

•  4-way single-phased pelican-style crossings would be provided. Tactile and visually 
contrasting materials would be provided to aid navigation for visually and sensory impaired 
users. While a ‘green man’ is shown for pedestrians an audible buzzer would also sound. 

• Similar to the existing layout, pedestrians who want to cross must first press the button to 
activate the crossing, once it is safe to cross, a green man would illuminate, and traffic would 
be required to stop.  

• During the north-south ‘green’ phase cyclists and vehicles on George Street (east and west 
approaches) would be required to wait at stop lines while signals  

• Cyclists would be exempt from right turning restrictions, giving them additional flexibility to 
turn in all directions from each approach of the junction. 
 
 

Vehicle Operation 

• Through traffic volumes would reduce and types of vehicles present on Hanover Street 
would change as a result of the Meadows to George Street and Low Emission Zone 
proposals. From 7:00am – 11:00pm each day, only buses, taxis and cyclists would be 
permitted to travel from The Mound to George IV Bridge via Bank Street, this is proposed to 
be enforced via an ANPR (automatic numberplate recognition) monitored bus gate. Existing 
bus north-south bus movements would likely see an increase in reliability. 

• Right turning movements from all approaches (around the George IV Statue) including U-
turns would be banned.  

• Only permitted vehicles (such as daily servicing and deliveries vehicles) would be able to 

turn left into and out of George Street during operating hours. Other traffic would be required 

to continue through the junction north-south to The Mound or Queen Street.  

• Similar to the current operation, vehicles on all approaches would be required to wait at stop 
lines while a red light is active to allow pedestrians to cross.  

Figure 7-5 - Hanover Street - George Street Stage 3 Junction Layout 
  

Summary 

• Hanover Street is an important bus and general traffic corridors serving Edinburgh City 
Centre. The proposed junction design prioritises north-south movements, particularly for 
public transport, while also managing vehicle speeds travelling through the junction.  

• The junction has 4-way traffic signals with controlled pedestrian crossing on each approach. 

• With proposed changes to city centre such as the Low Emission Zone and Meadows to 
George Street proposals background traffic flows on Hanover Street during peak daily hours 
will likely reduce. Only permitted vehicles and cycles would access George Street. 

P
age 129



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 33 of 68 

 

Figure 7-6 - Hanover Street - George Street Junction Layout – 3D Visual  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 7-7 - Hanover Street – George Street Junction Signal Phases 

  

P
age 130



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 34 of 68 

 

7.5. St Andrew Square – George Street Junction 

Design Summary 

Similar to Hanover Street, St David Street and St Andrew Square is also an important north-south 
route for buses in the city centre. This route is proposed to become an arterial north-south route for 
cyclists following completion of the CCWEL project. The proposal signalised junction design gives 
each of the three approaches equal priority to facilitate these movements. While general traffic 
access is to be restricted on George Street, St Andrew Square will retain access to facilitate 
journeys travelling north-south towards Princes Street and Queen Street.  

The junction is signalised on all approaches and would provide controlled crossing for pedestrians, 
ensuring the carriageway is clear of cycles and vehicles. Unlike the other junctions, pedestrian 
crossings on the St David Street (north and south) approaches are not raised. This is to avoid 
impacting the comfort of bus journeys and minimise any potential maintenance challenges. 
Understanding that through-traffic movements in future would be significantly reduced; traffic signal 
phasing at the junction proposes cyclist phases on all approaches operate in parallel to traffic 
phases, waiting in a central turning area within the cycle lane itself while giving way to vehicles 
currently on the carriageway. This will be explored further and fully defined within the Stage 4 
(Technical) Design. 

The design also proposes to move the James Clerk-Maxwell statue to a position on the footway 
outside the west entrance of St Andrew Square. Placing the statue here, serves both an aesthetic 
and functional purpose; repositioning it provides greater flexibility within the design and enables the 
simplification of the junction’s layout and operation.  

Changes from the existing layout 
• George Street becomes a cycle-priority street with a low (<20mph) design speed. 

• 2-phased crossings, central pedestrian island and other street clutter is to be removed. 

• The James Clark Maxwell Statue is proposed to be moved to a new plinth adjacent to St 
Andrew Square. 

• Signals operation at the junction is to be simplified to three phases: a north and south 
approach ‘green’ phase, a west approach ‘green’ phase and pedestrian ‘all green’ phase. 
These are shown in Figure 7-10 below. 

• A bi-directional cycle lane is added to the east side of the St David Street / St Andrew 
Square carriageway. Median islands are used to create a space for cyclists to alight wait 
waiting to cross to/from George Street. 

• Crossings on each approach are realigned and required crossing distances are reduced from 
16-21m to 11-11.5m.  

Pedestrian & Cycle Operation  

•  3-way single-phased pelican-style crossings would be provided. Tactile and visually 
contrasting materials would be provided to aid navigation for visually and sensory impaired 
users. While a ‘green man’ is shown for pedestrians an audible buzzer would also sound. 

• Similar to the existing layout, pedestrians who want to cross must first press the button to 
activate the crossing, once it is safe to cross, a green man would illuminate, and traffic would 
be required to stop.  

• During the north-south ‘green’ phase cyclists and vehicles on George Street would be 
required to wait at stop lines while signals.  

• The CCWEL route is fully segregated from traffic travelling north-south, providing additional 
level of comfort and safety for cyclists. While within the junction cyclists would be required to 
give way to crossing pedestrians.  

Vehicle Operation 

• Similar to the current operation, vehicles on all approaches would be required to wait at stop 
lines while a red light is active to allow pedestrians to cross.  

• Through traffic volumes in the area would reduce and types of vehicles present would 
change as a result of the CCWEL and Low Emission Zone proposals. North-south bus 
movements would likely see an increase in reliability. 

• Only permitted vehicles (such as daily servicing and deliveries vehicles) would be able to 

turn into and out of George Street during operating hours. Other traffic would be required to 

continue through the junction north-south towards Princes Street or Queen Street.  

Figure 7-8 – St Andrew Square - George Street Stage 3 Junction Layout 
  

Summary 

• St Andrew Square / St. David’s Street is another important bus corridor serving Edinburgh City 
Centre. With proposed changes to city centre such as the Low Emission Zone and CCWEL 
proposals background traffic flows around St Andrew Square during peak daily hours will 
reduce. This would likely increase in reliability north-south bus movements. 

• The proposed junction design facilities cycle movement to the CCWEL route and provides 
segregation to north-south cycle movements.  

• Only permitted vehicles and cycles would access George Street. 

P
age 131



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 35 of 68 

 

Figure 7-9 – St Andrew Square - George Street Junction Layout – 3D Visual  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 7-10 – St Andrew Square– George Street Junction Signal Phases 

  

P
age 132



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 36 of 68 

 

8. Walking, Wheeling, and Non-motorised 
Users 

8.1. Introduction & CCT Context 

City of Edinburgh Council’s City Mobility Plan and City Centre Transformation polices recognise that 
the quality of inner-city spaces and the spatial framework itself impacts the success of local 
businesses (where they choose to locate and potentially invest), the quality of living for residents 
and attractiveness for visitors. The GNT project serves as an opportunity to improve the look, feel 
and operation of the city centre.  

The Stage 3 design has been developed to support the needs of pedestrians of all ages and 
abilities. Proposed revisions to footway spaces and junctions promote improved desire lines, high-
quality and level surface finishes, improved navigation and wayfinding. Reconsidering the transport 
hierarchy and vehicle access to George Street is also anticipated to reduce the volumes of traffic 
and unlock the potential of the currently cluttered, fatigued and untidy public realm spaces in the 
area.  

8.2. Current Pedestrian Environment and Accessibility 

George Street is characterised by its historic architecture, statues and scene vistas to Edinburgh 
Castle and The Forth, however is also dominated by vehicle-based transport. A majority of the 
space itself is dedicated to carriageways (to the north and south two-lane carriageways) and 
centrally allocated parking which detracts from the character and heritage of the street. At most 
times of year the area is cluttered with street furniture and other physical barriers which can limit 
pedestrian accessibility and present challenges to users such as the mobility impaired, the elderly 
or young families. Other street clutter such as railings, phone boxes, excessive signage and 
planters generally create obstacles for pedestrians crossing at junctions, causing delays and 
disruption at junctions. Footway widths and quality vary significantly across the area, with much of 
George Street’s footways showing signs of damage and fatigue.  

The variety of junction types and pedestrian crossing styles currently presents challenges to some 
user groups. At busier junctions with Hanover Street and Charlotte Square/Charlotte Street traffic 
signals with advanced cycle stop lines and multi-stage pedestrian crossings are provided to 
navigate very long crossing distances (often >15m). Where traffic is generally calmer, at junctions 
with Castle Street and Frederick Street, multi-stage zebra crossings are used, providing additional 
priority to pedestrians over east-west vehicle movements. The current design of these crossings 
and obstacles on the footway often encourages pedestrians to cross diagonally (ignoring formal 
crossing points) or unsafely crossing between queuing traffic.  

Whilst public transport and coach services are limited to only the two eastern blocks of George 
Street, these services are currently well used during peak times. Parking on George Street is also 
well utilised throughout the day, attracting many vehicle users to the area, particularly trade and 
service vehicles. Road markings and carriageway surfaces in much of the area are significantly 
worn, these maintenance issues also generally detract from the pedestrian experience. 

8.3. Public Realm Improvements 

Design Approach 

The approved GNT design principles aim to create more space on the street for walking and 
wheeling and make it easier and safer for users of all abilities to move around. The approach to 
footway spaces within the design is based on the following principles.  

• Remove central median parking and kerbside parking to reduce the dominance of vehicles. 

• Provide facilities which are ‘accessibility for all’. Retain blue badge parking and promote 
inclusion for mobility impaired and other impaired user groups. 

• Enlarge spaces available to pedestrians to improve the pedestrian experience 

• Eliminate unnecessary street clutter (such as on-street signage or guard railings) 

• Segregate pedestrian and cycle and vehicle spaces 

• Retain and enhance key views and vistas within the streets 

• Create areas for the public to dwell, including seating and break out spaces.  

• Create a streetscape which is flexible and can host events without impacting pedestrian and 
cycle routes.  

• Introduce a pallet of materials and high-quality finishes which communicates to cyclists and 
other vehicles on George Street that the traditional ‘road’ has been removed and that they are 
now the ‘visitors’ within this streetscape.  

Footway design and function  

With the removal of parking and reductions in carriageway spaces, there is c.30m of space 
(measuring northern building thresholds to southern building thresholds) to accommodate each of 
the street’s required uses; as a pedestrian space and throughfare, a cycle / vehicle corridor and 
source of essential parking and loading facilities. The Stage 3 design seeks to prioritise pedestrian 
movement over other travel modes through a number of key layout changes including the 
introduction of significantly wider, unobstructed footway corridors and enhanced pedestrian 
crossings at all junctions. Figure 4-2 and Figure 4-3 above illustrates the proposed zone-based 
approach to George Street’s footways. This includes a number of distinct areas detailed below.  

‘Spill-out’ Zones 
The ‘spill-out zone’ is an approximately 2.5m wide zone adjacent to building frontages, though this 
varies based on individual building thresholds. This zone caters for controlled commercial spill-out 
(such as on-street seating for bars and restaurants) and slower moving pedestrian traffic (such as 
window shoppers) on both sides of the street, giving them a space to pause or access amenities on 
street. These areas are proposed to be constructed using Yorkstone Flags and longitudinal bands 
of contrasting material used to clearly define spill-out zones from the main footway corridor. Smaller 
cubes of material are proposed be used to highlight the thresholds of key buildings.  

Pedestrian Movement Corridor (Main Footway Zone)  
The main footway zone at the centre of the north and south footways is proposed to be a 4m wide 
corridor which has no obstruction or street furniture. This zone would facilitate faster moving east-
west pedestrian movements. Delineation between the footway zones would be done using 
longitudinal banding of visually contrasting stone material.  

Flex-zones  
Between loading/ blue badge parking areas and the main footway zone 2.5m wide flexible zones 
are proposed. The specific function of these is yet to be agree at this stage, these may be provided 
as additional spill-out areas for adjacent businesses, extended footways or will otherwise function 
as an inventory zone where necessary street furniture such as cycle parking, bins, fuse boxes, 
temporary/permanent Hostile Vehicle Mitigation (HVM) measures, etc. would be installed. 

P
age 133



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 37 of 68 

 

Landscaped Seating Areas  
Towards the centre of each block of George Street four landscaped seating areas are proposed. 
These combine planting and low stone walls to create sheltered seating areas where people can 
comfortably dwell in the street. Each of these areas are to be is 5m wide and 16.5m long. Their 
function is envisaged to be adaptable and cater for a range of activities including incidental play. 
Gaps between landscape seating areas would be provided to introduce informal crossing 
opportunities (including dropped kerbs and tactile paving where appropriate) and improve the north-
south permeability across the street. 

Other Pedestrian Design Features 

Central Squares 
Raised central squares are proposed at the centre of each block of George Street, these are 
provided in order to highlight key buildings such as Assembly Rooms, The Dome and St. Andrew’s 
& St. George’s West Church. These spaces open up the street, providing unobstructed vistas of key 
buildings and of the street as a whole. To provide additional support local business operation these 
spaces are also proposed to be used as taxi ranks and reserve areas loading (particularly for larger 
vehicles) during permitted hours.  

The primary purposes of these are to slow down traffic and allow for informal street crossing points 
mid-block. It is also anticipated these spaces may be used for on-street events. The central squares 
are at the same level as the footway and are accessed by a ramped entrance kerbs, this is to help 
emphasise to both cyclists and motorised vehicles that this is a pedestrian priority space. Physically 
the squares would be formed through the use of different paving and material styles, this ensures 
features on these footway are visually distinct for those with visual or other impairments. Additional 
measures around the squares to aid navigation (such as tactile paving) and protect pedestrians 
(such as bollards and other street furniture) will continue to be developed as part of the Stage 4 
design.  

Raised Crossing locations 
Raised zebra-style crossing points are proposed on the George Street approaches of the George 
Street-Castle Street and George Street-Frederick Street junctions. These enhance pedestrian 
experience by widening crossing points (therefore increasing the capacity for crossing pedestrian 
movements), while also acting as a traffic calming measure (such as a speed hump) slowing traffic 
on approach.  

Continuous footways  
On the Castle Street and North Castle Street approaches of the Castle Street-George Street-North 
Castle Street junction continuous footways are proposed. These sections of footway would be 
provided at the same level as the surrounding footways on George Street without visual breaks or 
changes in design. Different to a raised crossing, vehicle drivers are expected to treat these areas 
as part of the footway gain access George Street / Castle Street. Drivers entering these streets 
would be required to wait at stop lines for an appropriate gap in pedestrian movements to travel up 
and across the footway. This also aims to reduce vehicle speeds on approach. 

Changing the hierarchy at these crossings allows east-west (cycle dominant) movements on 
George Street to have priority and provides greater space and priority to pedestrians over a raised 
crossing or other traditional uncontrolled crossing type e.g. zebra. 

8.4. Improving accessibility and inclusion 

Equalities considerations 
The CCT Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA), published alongside the CCT delivery plan in 
September 2019 discussed the potential impact of CCT and the GNT project by travel mode, and 
highlighted key challenges to improving accessibility within the city centre, including 

• The need to improve pedestrian priority and safety (Currently vehicles are dominant in the area) 

• General lack of public seating 

• The current street layout does not fully align with the desired pedestrian movement 

• The Need to rationalise street clutter 

Edinburgh-Specific Considerations 

Based on 2011 Census Data, and the yearly Scottish Household Survey (SHS) Edinburgh has one 
of the fastest growing populations of any city in the UK. Considering equalities characteristics, over 
15% of (c.75,000) people across the city are considered to have a long-term condition or disability 
which impacts their mobility, 14% of the city’s population is over 65 and 15% is under the age of 16, 
considering ethnic background Edinburgh’s population is 91% White, 6% Asian, 1% Black, 1% Arab 
and 1% other ethnicities.  

Current accessibility  
For low mobility and impaired users road crossings and junctions are known to be challenging to 
navigate within the current street layout. Multi-stage crossings, indirect desire lines and the lack of 
available footway space to alight on footways and pedestrian islands while crossing and street 
clutter such as guard rails results in an environment which increases the risk of discrimination 
against vulnerable users. Poor footway quality and fatigue in the area is also considered a barrier to 
access for limited mobility groups. 

Inclusive Design Approach 
Ensuring accessibility for users of all abilities is a key element of the GNT Project. Inclusivity and 
consideration of those with impairments, whether visible or non-visible, and other equalities groups 
is embedded within the design and operational plan’s development at this stage. The City of 
Edinburgh Council under CCT is also looking to integrate the scheme with other local initiatives to 
help people in equalities characteristic groups become more active. 

Within the design, footways and crossing locations have been designed to be ergonomic, intuitive, 
improve movement capacities and provide a greater quality of pedestrian experience. A consistent 
approach to providing inclusive facilities such as audible buzzers and tactile cones at controlled 
crossings, dropped kerbs and tactile materials at informal crossing locations and contrasting 
materials to illustrate footway zones has been used to improve the visual coherence of the scheme. 
These features are anticipated to provide points of reference for those with visual impairments and 
other protected characteristics when navigating the space. 

Upgraded footways in the area are also be proposed to be at a consistent level travelling east-west, 
removing the current risk of slips and trips and improving the accessibility for low mobility groups 
such as wheelchair users. At pedestrian crossing points, all median islands have been removed 
and crossing locations realigned to reduce required crossing distances and more directly align with 
desire lines. Kerb lines throughout the design would be provided with a minimum vertical 
delineation of 100mm in order to improve visibility and accommodate users with partially 
sightedness, whether walking independently or with a guide dog.  

P
age 134



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 38 of 68 

 

User benefits  

The main beneficiaries of the scheme are anticipated to be pedestrians using the street who will 
benefit from wider footways, improved crossings and reduced traffic volumes in the area.  Similarly, 
those who already cycle regularly to commute or for leisure as well as those less confident cyclists 
which would consider changing modes would also benefit from the improved street environment.  
Alongside these users blue badge holders looking to access shops and businesses in the area, 
retail shoppers, tourists and businesses in the area would all benefit from the improved accessibility 
and associated increase in footfall in the area. Public transport users will also have the opportunity 
to benefit from the scheme through improvements to footway accessibility, repositioning of bus 
stops and reduced general traffic movements in the area. 

This notwithstanding, the proposed restrictions to vehicle access may impact disproportionately on 
those reliant on bus and taxi services outwith daily ‘access window’ hours. The location of bus stops 
and taxi ranks on intermediate streets will be located as close to George Street as possible to help 
mitigate any impact. Further equalities impact of the project is dependent on the implementation of 
the Edinburgh City Centre Transformation policy going forward. For example a number of potential 
transport interventions which target travel for impaired and older users (such as a local shuttle bus 
service) are identified, though are yet to be developed in detail at this stage.  

Equalities impacts 

Access to all areas of the First New Town will be maintained and improved for pedestrians, though 
likely walking trip lengths to/on George Street (and journey times) may increase for some users 
during periods of the day. Steep gradients on Frederick Street and Hanover Street currently restrict 
access to George Street for mobility impaired and will continue to do so. Bus stops are proposed to 
be positioned closer to George Street in order to minimise required walking/wheeling distances and 
promote greater pedestrian comfort. Restrictions on taxi access to George Street could also have a 
detrimental impact on the access to the who are often reliant on these to get around. The 
introduction of public seating on George Street will for the first time create “rest” areas for a rage of 
user groups whether families, older people and low mobility groups who are often reliant on these to 
get around. 

Further engagement and an updated Integrated Impact Assessment will be produced to further 
explore and mitigate these impacts.  

Low mobility groups (wheelchair users, maternity groups, older people and young children) 
The design is anticipated to enhance accessibility for these users. Features such as widened 
footways throughout the area, comfortable seating and spaces to rest, improved long-term air 
quality, reduced noise, level and quality surface finishes and improved crossing provision would 
promote movement around the area in future.  

Physically impaired people would also likely experience a positive impact from the improved 
accessibility of the area and its recreational spaces.   

Sensory impairments and other non-visible disabilities - There is likely to be a positive impact, 
for those with sensory impairments and other disabilities with additional footway space and a 
generally safer space for all users. Design features introduced above would create a more 
welcoming and cohesive street environment which aims to improve the quality of life of people with 
learning disabilities and other mental health issues. Rationalising parking and removing general 
traffic access to George Street is anticipated to significantly reduce through traffic volumes in the 
area, resulting in a less congested and more comfortable sensory environment to be in for those 
with mental impairments to dwell in.  

 

8.5. Pedestrian Comfort, Seating and Street Furniture Design 

Wayfinding 
Wayfinding information and signage within the design will also need to be improved to support 
pedestrian journeys in future. These features will be developed during the Stage 4 (Technical) 
Design. It is understood that The City of Edinburgh Council are also developing a ‘Physical and 
Digital Wayfinding Strategy’ to support the public realm interventions introduced as part of CCT 
going forward. 

Considering current provision and the general approach to Wayfinding within Edinburgh City 
Centre, informational boards and maps are positioned at key bus interchanges, such as Waverley 
Rail Station and local destinations such as Rose Street and Princes Street Gardens. There is 
limited provision on George Street and adjoining First New Town streets. Despite much of the area 
being highly accessible for pedestrians and within a 5–10-minute walk from Princes Street and 
other local attractions, the area is generally not advertised or explained to pedestrians. Navigation 
for pedestrians in the area is therefore often reliant on local knowledge and for those which aren’t 
familiar, online mapping, e.g. visitors and tourists.  

Enhanced wayfinding can bring a variety of benefits to the pedestrian experience in the area, such 
as increasing comfort, safety, and familiarity for everyday journeys. Visually distinct and stylish 
forms also assist in the development of a local brand/identity, can further improve the coherence of 
the street environment and help people to orient themselves, especially visitors and tourists.  

Understanding the area forms part of the Edinburgh City Centre UNESCO World Heritage Site, 
careful consideration will need to be given at the next stage to any final wayfinding signage and 
infrastructure. This is anticipated to be informed by further consultation with Edinburgh World 
Heritage and other local stakeholders. Under current Council guidance signage etc. is also noted to 
require planning consent. 

 

  

P
age 135



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 39 of 68 

 

Landscaped Seating Areas 
The lack of publicly available seating (outdoor seating not associated with the many bars and 
restaurants of the area) is known to be a barrier for access for older people and those with limited 
mobility. These people and those from other vulnerable groups are often put off walking in the city 
centre due to lack of opportunities to stop and rest when required. 

Eight landscaped seating areas are proposed within each block of George Street (totalling 24 
across the full length of the street). Shown in Figure 8-2 - Figure 8-4 below, these are designed to 
provide users an opportunity for c.150 people to pause and enjoy the street. Compared to the 
existing provision, there is only one permanent bench on George Street, positioned adjacent to St. 
Andrew’s and St George’s West Church. Low-level planting is also integrated to soften the 
streetscape; this allows these areas to also function as ‘rain gardens’, capturing surface water and 
contributing to the sustainable urban drainage strategy for the area. 

The temporary use of these areas by adjacent businesses, e.g. for additional bar/restaurant seating 
or for local events, has also been explored at this stage. The use of such spaces will form part of a 
wider discussion on the future management and usage of George Street. Using these areas would 
require businesses to apply for Council permissions via an online application form for an Outdoor 
Area Occupation Permit, also known as a ‘Table and Chairs Permit’, and appropriate alcohol sale 
licenses.  

Street furniture and ergonomics  

The street furniture palette (including cycle stands, bollards, and seating) has initial been developed 
through discussion with stakeholders including heritage and accessibility groups. The Stage 3 
design features have been developed to be respectful and complimentary to the World Heritage 
Site environment in which the street is located, robust enough for everyday use and minimise 
maintenance burdens post-construction. Provision, location and styles of street furniture will be 
finalised within the Stage 4 (Technical) Design.  

Seating areas have been developed in line with the following considerations/principles –  

• Flexible - The provision of arm rests and back rests can mean the difference between 
someone with impaired mobility being able to use a seat or not. The design aims to provide a 
mix of different seating styles, e.g. a mix of seating within freestanding benches and more 
permanent seating in-set into stone ledges and a mix with higher/lower arm rests and back 
rests etc. This approach provides options to pedestrians based on their level of comfort and 
gives the space itself additional flexibility.  

• Comfortable and convenient – seating will be designed to make the street feel comfortable 
and safer. Natural materials are to be provided to put the user at ease and styles selected 
which maximise comfort for people of all abilities. Consideration has also been given to 
providing circulating spaces between benches/seating, promoting a greater sense of personal 
comfort and providing opportunities for wheelchair users to engage with these areas. 

• Visually Distinct - In order to aid navigation and comfort for people with impaired vision, 
materials of seats themselves (and adjacent walls) would contrast in colour and tone with the 
surrounding footways and planting areas. This assists in making the boundaries of these areas 
more definable, helping people identify which areas are safe to sit.  

Figure 8-1 - Indicative GNT Street Furniture Designs 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Public Artwork 
The provision of public artwork on George Street as part of the public realm design has been 
explored at this stage. This aims to increase the level of pedestrian interaction with the street, 
potentially introduce elements of play and help attract visitors to the area. Introducing art would also 
be a way to celebrate the unique and diverse community and history of the First New Town. Studies 
show artwork can improve public wellbeing, when provided on street this would be anticipated to 
naturally slow down pedestrians, giving them a greater opportunity to dwell and engage with the 
area. 

Specific locations and provision will be agreed during the Stage 4 (Technical) Design. Initial options 
discussed at this stage include: 

• Artwork within paving or engravings on stone surfaces 

• Heritage plaques / signage within stone features or seating areas 

• Art installations / bespoke stand-alone sculptures within seating areas 

• Bespoke street furniture e.g. stylised benches, bollards, cycle stands, bins etc. 

• Creative and interpretative feature lighting 
  

Summary 

• The current street layouts are dominated by parking and carriageway spaces which 
detracts from the character and heritage of the area. Footway widths and quality vary 
considerably, current damage and fatigue reduces accessibility for pedestrians. 

• The proposed design has been developed to support the needs of pedestrians of all ages 
and abilities. It has also been developed to complement the historic architecture and 
scenic vistas of the area.  

• A zone-based approach to footway design has been used to create areas of distinct 
character and function on George Street. Footway widths are proposed to be increase and 
all crossings realigned to better meet pedestrian desire lines. 

• Pedestrians within the proposed design would be provided additional priority when 
crossing through improved raised and continuous crossing types.  

• The design of wayfinding signage, street furniture, public artwork and other pedestrian 
welfare facilities will be finalised within the Stage 4 (Technical) Design. 

P
age 136



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 40 of 68 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Figure 8-2 – Proposed GNT Design – Landscaped seating areas 
 

P
age 137



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 41 of 68 

 

Figure 8-3 – Proposed GNT Design – Flexible use of seating areas 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 8-4 - Proposed GNT Design – Indicative seating design 
 

 

   

P
age 138



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 42 of 68 

 

9. Cycling 

9.1. Introduction 
Cycle travel is suitable both to complete journeys or part of a journey. For cycle users this can lead 
to a range of positive individual and shared benefits; these include improved health, reduced traffic 
congestion, reduced pollution, and financial savings over vehicle travel. Encouraging more people 
to cycle would positively contribute to the City’s Net Zero 2030 commitments, objectives relating to 
public health, quality of life and help tackle the current climate emergency.  

Around 72% of journeys to work or education in Edinburgh are within a realistic cycling distance of 
under five kilometres (5km or approximately three miles).  

9.2. Context  
GNT, CCT and Edinburgh’s Future Cycle Routes  
The removal of parking, reduction of carriageway widths and restrictions to vehicle movements 
brings potential benefits for both pedestrians and cyclists in the city centre. The removal of buses 
from George Street also provides opportunities to further reduce carriageway geometries and 
provide traditional forms of traffic calming to deter through-traffic movements. The space itself can 
then be designed to prioritise the movement of pedestrians and cyclists. 

In parallel to the GNT Project, The Meadows to George Street Active Travel Route (MGS) and City 
Centre West to East Link (CCWEL) are also being progressed. These would interface with the 
project study area at Charlotte Square, Hanover Street and St Andrew Square/St David’s Street. 
The proposed future inner city cycle network is shown in  

 

 

Figure 9-5 below. 

Meadows to George Street – The MGS project proposes to provide segregated cycleway (both 
unidirectional and bi-directional) improvements from Teviot Place along Forrest Road, George IV 
Bridge and the south section of Hanover Street. Additional north-south cycle connections to the 
Second New Town via the north side Hanover Street to Dundas St, and areas such as Canonmills 
and Stockbridge are also being considered by The Council.  

City Centre West-to-East Link (CCWEL) – Already under construction, CCWEL will provide fully 
segregated bidirectional cycle connections from Roseburn Path in the west to York Place in the 
east. The route is to be a safe, direct and provide an increased level of comfort over existing 
facilities. The CCWEL route once completed, aims to provide an attractive ‘family friendly’ facility to 
encourage less confident people and cyclists to take up cycling as an everyday mode of travel to 
and from work, places of education and for leisure. 

Understanding the need for coherence across each cycle facility, at this stage there has been a 
significant level of dialogue between the three respective project teams. Each proposed design has 
been developed to take cognisance of each other in order to provide an active travel network of 
consistent standards and quality. 

The GNT Project will form a central part of the city centre cycling network, though its street design 
must also lend itself to become a destination where pedestrians, cyclists and other users are 
encouraged to visit, travel through and dwell in.  

Existing Routes  

National Cycle Routes 1 and 75 currently travel on-road along George Street and Hanover Street. 
These connect to other primarily on-road local cycle links such as the Union Canal (via Edinburgh’s 
West End, The Meadows (via the Mound and George IV Bridge), Leith Walk (via the Trams to 
Newhaven project cycleways) and Easter Road. Many of the streets surrounding the GNT study 
area are denoted as core paths, these vary from busy main roads such as Princes Street and 
Shandwick Place to quieter traffic restricted streets such as Melville Street and Manor Place.  

9.3. Cycle Street 
Principals 
The Stage 3 design measures have been developed to reinforce a new transport hierarchy, which 
aims to deter car and vehicle use and prioritising cycling. The George Street carriageway is 
proposed to become a ‘cycle street’ in future. The design aims to create an environment in which 
vehicles are treated as guests. Initially pioneered across Europe (Belgium, Denmark and The 
Netherlands), cycle streets operate using the following principles: 

• The carriageway is reserved for bicycles and essential vehicle movements only. 

• Vehicle access is limited, this is typical done using timed restrictions. 

• Maximum carriageway speeds for vehicles should be the equivalent to the speed of an 
average cyclists, this is anticipated to be 10-20 mph. Physical and visual traffic calming 
would be provided to reinforce this. 

• All road users should be conscious and considerate of each other and pedestrians, 
overtaking cyclists would be discouraged. 

• In order to minimise conflicts, parking and loading should only take place within specified 
bays and not on the main carriageway lanes. 

As the concepts involved in the operation of cycle priority streets are new to Edinburgh and 
Scotland. When implemented, it is anticipated that few drivers (and cyclists) will be aware of the 
changes. It may be necessary to develop an informational campaign via social media, the project 
website etc. to communicate how cyclists are intended to navigate the area. 

Figure 9-1 - Visstraat (implemented 2009) Dordrecht, Netherlands 

 

  

P
age 139



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 43 of 68 

 

Operation 
The design aims to provide intuitive facilities which grant a greater level of comfort and freedom for 
less confident cyclists. It is proposed cyclists would travel along the carriageway as the dominant 
mode of travel on George Street in future, connections to adjacent cycle routes would be provided 
at Hanover Street and St Andrew Square using on-street segregated cycle lanes. In line with 
changes to the Highway Code introduced in January 2022, cyclists on George Street would also be 
encouraged to travel in the centre of their lane. It is noted cargo-bikes and e-cargo bikes would 
have unlimited access throughout the day, this is anticipated to influence delivering patterns in the 
area going forward. 

  

 
 

  

  
    

 
  

 

 
  

 
 

 

 

  

  

   
    

    

 

 

Figure 9-2 - Sint-Antoniesbreestraat (implemented 2008) Amsterdam, Netherlands 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 
  

 

 

 

 

For much of the day, from 10:00am  –  7:00pm Monday to Saturday and 12:00pm  –  7:00pm on 
Sundays, cyclists would have priority use of central carriageway facilities. During these hours’
deliveries, servicing, taxis and other vehicle travel  would not be permitted on George Street  unless 
managed by cargo-bike.  Only those vehicles  considered exempt (such as blue badge holders) and 
those  with consent from the Council  via permit  (e.g. for essential works/construction or events 
vehicles  etc.) would be  granted  access.

The proposed cycle  street  design would  also  give  priority  to cyclists travelling  east-west on George 
Street at junctions;  vehicles  travelling on  Castle Street/North Castle Street  and Frederick Street 
would be required to  yield to cyclists.  At Hanover Street, movements from George Street would be 
given equal priority using traffic signals.

  Physical traffic calming measures, including raising north-south crossing points and central
squares and visually narrowing carriageway lanes  to 5m wide  using banded materials, will be 
introduced in order to reduce vehicle speeds on George Street, examples  of this  are shown in
Figure  9-3  and  Figure  9-4  below.  These measures aim to enhance safety and security for cyclists
and promote increased vigilance of crossing pedestrians.  It is anticipated that the cycle  carriageway
would  also  be constructed  50-100mm lower than footway  levels, similar to a typical carriageway to 
provide  a level of physical segregation between pedestrians and cyclists.

Additionally, road markings have not been developed as part of the Stage 3 design, it is anticipated 
that there will be as few markings as possible to facilitate the cycle street design.

Cycle Parking
Accessible  cycle  parking is an important component of encouraging people to access the area by 
bicycle in future. When positioned correctly it can  create convenient stopping points for work,
shopping or leisure-based cycle journeys. Within the design cycle parking is proposed  at locations 
adjacent  to the central zones.  This would consist of four groups of ten  Sheffield-style cycle stands 
(totalling 40)  within  each of the four blocks of  George Street.  This would increase the formal cycle 
parking  capacity  of the area to  160  bicycles.  Cycle parking is also  be  located on Castle  Street,
Fredrick  Street  and Hanover Street, final locations, and capacity of these are to be agreed during 
the Stage 4 (Technical) Design.

Inclusion of e-bike charging points will also be investigated at the next stage.

Summary

•  The GNT Project will form a central part of the city centre cycling network, George Street will
  form part of the future City Centre West-to-East Link (CCWEL) and Meadows to George
  Street (MGS) cycle routes.

•  The GNT design aims to provide intuitive feeling  cycle facilities which grant a greater level of
  comfort and freedom for cyclists. This aims to encourage more people, especially less
  confident cyclists to be active and further reduce the dependency on vehicle travel in
  Edinburgh.

•  It is proposed George  Street would become a ‘cycle street’ allowing cyclists to travel along
  the  carriageway as the dominant mode of travel in future.  The cycle street is, in essence, a
  6m wide cycle priority carriageway running along the centre George St. It would be
  delineated with contrasting bands of material to visually narrow the street to 5 m. While these
  lanes do not outline the ‘carriageway’ itself, these are a way to visual way to define the route
  for people cycling, a method of slowing vehicles and discouraging motor  vehicles from
  overtaking cyclists.

•  For much of the day vehicles would not be permitted on the street (other than exempt users
  such as blue badge holders), from 10:00am  –  7:00pm Monday to Saturday and 12:00pm  –
  7:00pm on Sundays, cyclists would have priority use of the street.

•  Cycle parking for up to 160 bicycles is provided with the proposed design. Within each of the
  four blocks of George Street  40  cycle parking is proposed at locations adjacent to the central
  zones and seating areas. Additional stands are  to be located on Castle Street, Fredrick
  Street and Hanover Street, the final locations of these are to be agreed during the Stage 4
  (Technical) Design.

P
age 140

FEAR4788
Highlight

FEAR4788_1
Highlight

FEAR4788_2
Highlight

FEAR4788_3
Highlight

FEAR4788_4
Highlight

FEAR4788_5
Placed Image



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 44 of 68 

 

Figure 9-3 - Proposed GNT Cycle Street Design - Central Zones 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 9-4 - Proposed GNT Cycle Street Design 

 

 

   

P
age 141



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 45 of 68 

 

 

 

 

Figure 9-5 - Edinburgh CCT Cycle Network  

  

P
age 142



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 46 of 68 

 

10. Public Transport 

10.1. Introduction 

A thriving public transport system is a vital part of a city’s infrastructure, increasing its accessibility, 
while also supporting sustainability and providing a more liveable environment for its residents. 
Considering existing travel patterns, the people of Edinburgh already have (most recent statistics 
from 2019) the lowest relative percentage of journeys to work undertaken by cars (41%, deceasing 
from around 45% in 2018) and the greatest percentage of people using buses or bicycles (32%, 
noted to be around three times the national average) when compared to other Scottish cities. The 
GNT Project serves an opportunity to further guide this mode shift and decrease dependence on 
private vehicle travel. 

A review of the city centre public transport network is being conducted by The City of Edinburgh 
Council as part of the City Mobility Plan (CMP) and City Centre Transformation (CCT) strategic 
policies. This is with a view to optimise service provision within the inner city and provide journey 
time improvements by rerouting services, repositioning stops and turnaround locations to reduce 
congestion and free up footway/carriageway spaces which in turn can be used for public realm 
schemes.  

Bus demand on George Street is understood to vary by block; between Frederick Street-Hanover 
Street c.16 and Hanover Street-St Andrew Square c.78 bidirectional bus movements travel on 
George Street per hour during peak daily operation times (7:00am – 8:00pm for most services). 

Improving journey times and journey time reliability of bus services in Edinburgh, not only in the city 
centre, would generally make it easier for people of all abilities to access employment, education, 
leisure and other opportunities in the city. Considering the wider goals of Edinburgh CMP and CCT, 
improvements to bus services would also contribute to reducing vehicle traffic and congestion on 
key city centre routes such as Princes Street, Queen Street / York Place, Hanover Street and 
Lothian Road, also resulting in benefits for vehicle users and delivery/service providers. 

In line with the objectives of the GNT Project this ‘Bus Network Review’ study would also 
recommend measures to enhance the quality of facilities provided at bus stops, improve the 
amenity for travellers in the city centre and increase capacity/number of daily users; therefore 
contributing to the economic attractiveness of the city centre and potentially encouraging further 
investment.  

10.2. Proposed Service Provision and CCT Considerations 

While the impact of the ‘Bus Network Review’ study will have on local bus routes is still to be fully 
realised, it is proposed that bus access, including tour buses be removed from George Street in 
future. This enables a reduction in carriageway areas required to facilitate vehicles turning 
movements and traffic lanes, allowing greater allocation of space for pedestrians and cyclists within 
the proposed design.  

Within the study area, bus services are proposed to be retained on Frederick Street, Hanover Street 
and St David street. In consultation with Lothian Buses and other service providers final stop 
locations are to be agreed during the Stage 4 (Technical) Design process.  

 

The seven existing stops on these streets will be retained close to their existing positions these are 
shown in  

 

Figure 10-1 below, this includes  

• 3 stops on Frederick Street, one north of the junction with George Street on the west side and 
two to the south of the junction on both sides. Each are to be retained as traditional bus stops 
with bus bays on the carriageway. 

• 4 stops on Hanover Street, two located north of George Street on either side of the carriageway 
(part of the GNT Project) and two to the south junction on either side of the carriageway (part of 
the MGS Project). These are proposed to become a ‘floating’ bus stops. 

Other potential benefits arising for the proposed changes to service patterns include:  

• Improved bus service reliability and journey time savings for routes traveling north-south 
through the city centre.  

• Refined bus stop locations (resulting in reduced walking distances to onward destinations) and 
improved stop designs, including real-time information and other smart technologies.   

• Frederick Street and Hanover Street effectively become bus, cycle and taxi priority streets 
(including delivery and servicing vehicles during permitted hours) for a majority of the day. 

• Reduced bus congestion on Frederick Street, Hanover Street and St Andrew Square. 

• A more attractive environment for pedestrians on George Street, wider footways and greater 
accessibility for public transport on adjacent side streets. 

Floating Bus stops 
Adjoining with the Meadows to George Street Project on the southern section of Hanover Street, 
‘floating’ bus stops are provided in order to segregate cycle movements from the dominant flows of 
north-south traffic, therefore mitigating potential conflicts with pedestrians and other vehicles and 
generally promote greater safety for all users. Practically speaking, floating bus stops are a simple 
method to maintain access to public transport while giving cyclists and vehicles their own lanes. In 
this configuration (seen in Figure 10 -2 and Figure 10 -3 below), cyclists would travel behind bus 
stop locations giving them an added level of protection from traffic. 

Following the design approach used on Leith Street and other current cycle schemes across 
Edinburgh, bus stop shelters and hardstanding areas for alighting passengers on Hanover Street 
would be positioned within a ‘floating’ island 2-3m wide. This provides a sheltered space separate 
from the main footway and building frontages on Hanover Street for bus passengers to stand or sit 
prior to boarding. The design aims to manage the high flow of pedestrians seen in the area and 
remove the obstructions which more traditionally designed bus stops (and their alighting 
passengers) are known to cause.  

Summary 

• Bus services are to be removed from George Street; the realignment of existing services is to 
be explored as part of the CCT ‘Bus Network Review’ undertaken by The City of Edinburgh 
Council. No changes are proposed to the operation of St Andrew Square / St. David’s Street. 

• Within the study area bus services are to be retained on Frederick Street, Hanover Street 
and St David Street Floating bus stops are to be provided on Hanover Street, while more 
conventional style bus stops with bus bays are to be provided on Frederick Street.  

P
age 143



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 47 of 68 

 

To aid pedestrians crossing to and from the ‘floating’ islands mini zebra crossings 1-1.5m wide 
would be provided. Coloured markings and tactile paving would be used to increase the visibility of 
crossing locations and provide greater priority to pedestrians. Similar to operation of a typical zebra 
crossing positioned on-road, this would require cyclists to slow and stop to given way to pedestrians 
at or already on the crossing.   

P
age 144



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 48 of 68 

 

 

 

Figure 10-1 - GNT Study Area Bus Stop Locations  
  

P
age 145



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 49 of 68 

 

Figure 10 -2 - Example of a Floating Bus Stop design, Cambridge (https://www.cambridge-news.co.uk) 

 

Figure 10 -3 - Floating Bus Stop design (Edinburgh Street Design Guidance, Part C) 

  

P
age 146



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 50 of 68 

 

11. Vehicle Access 

11.1. Introduction 

Reprioritisation of carriageway spaces and reduction of background traffic movements within 
Edinburgh City Centre will be essential in realising the Council’s ambitious transport and 
environmental policies by 2030. The City Mobility Plan and City Centre Transformation Plan aim to 
change the City’s transport hierarchy, reclaim spaces currently taken up by vehicles and 
carriageways and redesign them to be used as public realm and pedestrian spaces in future. A 
majority of traffic is thought to be attracted to the area due to the availability and convenience of 
parking. From 2019 surveys of the area, over 44% of car-based journeys were observed to 
originate from within the city boundary.  

The GNT proposal has been developed in line with the Councils ambition to reduce on-street 
parking. It is thought that St James Quarter and its c.1,500 space parking capacity will generally 
offset any reductions to parking provision. It is likely that this new source of parking has also 
changed background traffic patterns within the city centre.  

The removal of non-essential forms of parking (such as pay & display) on George Street is 
anticipated to significantly decrease the attractiveness for vehicle travel in the area and therefore 
reduce volumes of traffic circulating in the area. Due to existing turning restrictions at junctions 
(such as a ban on right turns enter George Street at Charlotte Street) George Street itself sees 
considerably less traffic volumes than other strategic east-west routes such as Queen Street, 
Queensferry Road or Ferry Road.  

11.2. Environmental considerations 

The GNT proposal has been developed in accordance with the Council’s 2030 City Plan, 2050 City 
Vision and proposed 2024 Low Emission Zone (LEZ), it will support the sustainable growth of the 
city and promote active modes and public transport over private travel. Over time, this would reduce 
carbon emissions within the city centre, improve public health and the attractiveness of the city. 

Removing general traffic (and parking) from a route such as George Street offers the potential to 
significantly improve conditions for local residents and everyday commuters through improvements 
to air quality. Within the study area this would primarily be done by reducing congestion, reducing 
the time buses spend alighting in the city centre and reducing the need for buses to accelerate 
when in stop-start traffic.  

With the implementation of the Edinburgh LEZ air quality and traffic conditions are anticipated to 
improve in the immediate area surrounding George Street and known hotspots such as Hanover 
Street, as a direct result of reducing through traffic volumes and imposing vehicle emission 
standards.  

 

 

 

 

11.3. Current Traffic Operation 

Background Traffic Movements  

Due to the frequency of events, street closures or ongoing construction works, there is limited 
contemporary traffic data available for Edinburgh’s city centre network. Traffic and parking surveys 
undertaken from April- June 2019 have been used in this instance to understand the baseline traffic 
movements along the key general traffic routes in the area, George Street and Hanover Street.  

Bi-directional through traffic movements on George Street, for those ‘blocks’ of the street between 
Frederick Street-Hanover Street and Hanover Street-St Andrew Square are show below in Figure 
11-1 and Figure 11-2. These considers all vehicle movements and loading vehicles (LGVs and 
HGVs) 

Figure 11-1 - George Street Traffic Movements - All vehicle Types (per 15mins)  

 

Figure 11-2 - George Street Traffic Movements – LGVs and HGVs (per 15 mins) 

 

0

25

50

75

100

125

150

175

0
0

:0
0

0
1

:0
0

0
2

:0
0

0
3

:0
0

0
4

:0
0

0
5

:0
0

0
6

:0
0

0
7

:0
0

0
8

:0
0

0
9

:0
0

1
0

:0
0

1
1

:0
0

1
2

:0
0

1
3

:0
0

1
4

:0
0

1
5

:0
0

1
6

:0
0

1
7

:0
0

1
8

:0
0

1
9

:0
0

2
0

:0
0

2
1

:0
0

2
2

:0
0

2
3

:0
0

Hanover Street - St Andrew Square Frederick Street - Hanover Street

0

10

20

30

40

50

0
0

:0
0

0
1

:0
0

0
2

:0
0

0
3

:0
0

0
4

:0
0

0
5

:0
0

0
6

:0
0

0
7

:0
0

0
8

:0
0

0
9

:0
0

1
0

:0
0

1
1

:0
0

1
2

:0
0

1
3

:0
0

1
4

:0
0

1
5

:0
0

1
6

:0
0

1
7

:0
0

1
8

:0
0

1
9

:0
0

2
0

:0
0

2
1

:0
0

2
2

:0
0

2
3

:0
0

Hanover Street - St Andrew Square Frederick Street - Hanover Street

P
age 147



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 51 of 68 

 

Current Traffic Patterns and key statistics 

• Vehicle movements on George Street varies from block to block. These are generally seen to 
increase from east to west. Daily vehicle demand is lowest to the east (between Charlotte 
Square and Castle Street), c.3000 bi-directional vehicle trips per day. Daily vehicle demand is 
greatest to the west (between Frederick Street and Hanover Street), c.5500 vehicle trips per 
day. However it is unknown the quality of vehicles which travel in the area multiple times per 
day. 

• Of these vehicles, c.1350 are vehicles parking on George Street during weekdays. 

• General traffic levels are elevated from 8:00am-6:00pm, flows are observed to be c.250 bi-
directional movements per hour, this is generally consistent with typical commuter patterns and 
local business opening hours. 

• George Street sees a peak of c.570 bi-directional traffic movements per hour. This occurs 
during the evening peak period, between 5:00pm and 6:00pm.  

• The junction of George Street- Hanover Street sees a total of c.17700 daily traffic movements. 

• Hanover Street sees c.10,900 daily traffic movements, c.6000 northbound from The Mound and 
c.4900 southbound from Queen Street/Queen Street Gardens East. 

• At the junction 30% of daily traffic from George Street (2010 vehicles) turns right (northbound or 
southbound) to exit the area via Hanover Street. 5% (322 vehicles) are also observed to U-turn 
around the George IV Statue. At the junction 12% of daily traffic on Hanover Street (1346 
vehicles) currently turns right into of George Street, a further 19% (2102 vehicles) turn left into 
George Street.  

• c.535 vehicles per day enter George Street from Charlotte Square, 86% (462 vehicles) from 
South Charlotte Street and 14% (73 vehicles) from North Charlotte Street. 

 

Current Vehicle Access routes & restrictions 

GNT Study Area 

• General traffic access to George Street is currently unrestricted. Vehicles can enter the street 
via a number of access points including: 

o Turning right from South Charlotte Street. 
o Entering via the north side of Frederick Street and Hanover Street via Queen Street or 

Queen Street Gardens.  
o Entering the south side of Hanover Street via The Mound. 
o Turning left or right from St Andrew Square/St David Street. 

Wider City Centre 

• There are a number of local restrictions which effect the routes of general traffic and other 
vehicle users including. 

o ‘Authorised vehicles only’ (buses, taxis and cycles) restrictions on Princes Street, 
including loading from 8:00pm-7:00am daily. 

o ‘Authorised vehicles only’ (buses, taxis and cycles) restrictions on Frederick Street at 
its junction with Princes Street. 

o No left turns entering George Street from North Charlotte Street 
o Westbound traffic movements only on Rose Street and its connecting lanes, 

prohibiting (eastbound) left turns into Rose Street at its intersections with Castle 
Street, Frederick Street and Hanover Street. 

o Partial pedestrianisation of Rose Street, loading only from 11:00pm -10:30am daily. 

11.4. Proposed Restrictions and Operation 
Removing general traffic access to George Street 

It is proposed general traffic access be removed from George Street and a ‘pedestrian and cycle 
zone’ be created to manage access for essential vehicle movements (e.g. blue badge holders and 
daily servicing and deliveries). This provides an opportunity to maximise accessibility for 
pedestrians and cyclists. Significantly reducing general traffic access also allows for the 
prioritisation of bus services on interconnecting streets including Hanover Street and Frederick 
Street, aiming to improve their reliability and journey times (in both inbound and outbound 
directions). More predictable journey times and less congestion would further improve the quality 
and attractiveness of bus services in the city centre, likely attracting additional patronage. While the 
area is currently within the City Centre 20mph zone, physical and visual traffic calming within the 
design aims to further reduce maximum vehicle speeds to less than 15mph, comparable to the 
speed of the average cyclist on-street. This aims make it impractical to use George Street as a 
short cut and therefore minimise the number of drivers who would potentially ignore the proposed 
access restrictions.  

Vehicle Access Restrictions & Future traffic routes 

Proposed vehicle access restrictions within Edinburgh City Centre and First New Town upon the 
GNT design’s opening year include: 

GNT Proposal & GNT Study Area 

 
 

  

 

 

 
 

  
  
 

  
 

 

 

  
 

  

•  General traffic would not be permitted on George Street at any time. Vehicles traveling east-
  west in the area would be required to route via alternatives such as Queen Street / York Place  –
  Charlotte Street  –  Lothian Road.

•  Local access to first new side streets; North Castle Street, Frederick Street and Hanover Street
  and secondary streets Hill Street, Thistle Steet and Young Street would be retained. Existing
  bus and taxi only restrictions to the south of Frederick Street would also be retained.

•  Right turning movements at the three key junctions with Castle Street, Frederick Street and
  Hanover Street.

•  For permitted vehicles, George Street would be accessible by:
o  Turning left and right from St Andrew Square/St David Street.
o  Turning left from the north approach of Charlotte Street (right turn provision from the

  southern approach of Charlotte Street is yet to be confirmed as part of CCWEL design of
  George Street  –  Charlotte Street junction).
o  Turning left from North Castle Street, the north approach of Frederick Street and
  north/south approaches of Hanover Street (during permitted hours).

Other CCTs Proposals & wider city centre

•  Vehicle access to The Mound / Bank Street from 7:00am  –  11:00pm daily would be limited to
  buses, taxis and cyclists only. This is to be enforced using an ANPR gate.

11.4.1.  Managing  Essential  Vehicle Access to George Street

P
age 148

FEAR4788_6
Highlight

FEAR4788_7
Highlight

FEAR4788_8
Highlight

FEAR4788_9
Placed Image



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 52 of 68 

 

11.4.2. Restricting carriageway and junction spaces 
Carriageways and spaces for vehicles travel through junctions within the design are proposed to be 
reduced in order to maximise spaces pedestrian and cyclists. On George Street vehicle movements 
are proposed to be consolidated onto a ‘cycle priority’ single carriageway 6m wide. This is 
discussed for each of the proposed junction designs above in Sections 7.2-7.5 and 9.3 above. On 
adjacent streets carriageways are also proposed to be reduced to c.6-8m wide. Required 
carriageway widths will vary between Castle St/North Castle Street, Frederick Street and Hanover 
Street based on each street’s required function and specific context. Designs of these streets are to 
be finalised within the Stage 4 (Technical) Design.  

11.4.3. Signals optimisation 
At the signalised junctions of George Street – Hanover Street and George Street – St. Andrew 
Square signal timings would be adjusted to capitalise on the anticipated reductions in traffic along 
these routes and enable more ‘green time’ to be given to north-south movements. By revising 
junction designs (and introducing turning restrictions on side streets) the number of signal phases 
can also be reduced, therefore enhancing priority for pedestrians and cyclists. This aims to reduce 
delays and improve journey times for movements in each direction. Signal design specifications will 
be fully developed during the Stage 4 (Technical) Design.  

11.5. Parking  
George Street 
It is proposed all non-essential parking bays (pay & display, permit holders only, motorcycles) be 
removed from George Street, this includes kerbside parking to the north and south side and 
centrally positioned bays. The existing c.240 space capacity currently includes 18 spaces 
sporadically positioned for blue badge holders. This is to be upgraded to 24 spaces within the 
proposed design. Blue badge holder spaces would be positioned within extended parking bays 
(varying from 16.5m-26m long) to the north and south of the carriageway to the end of each ‘block’ 
of the street. Blue badge holders are noted to have unrestricted parking throughout the day. Blue 
badge spaces are also distributed on each adjacent street based on the number of existing spaces 
and their observed demand, this is to ensure those with impaired mobility have convenient places to 
park and required onward walking/wheeling distances are minimised. Blue badge parking locations 
within the proposed design are shown in Figure 11-6 below. 

First New Town Streets 

Parking is proposed to be retained on each of the adjacent First New Town streets, including: 

• North Castle Street – 65 residents permit spaces and 15 pay & display bays  

• Castle Street - 7 resident permit spaces  

• Frederick Street - 18 resident permit spaces 

The above would provide short stay parking (up to 3 hours) to serve local businesses and residents 
permit parking throughout the day. This parking is anticipated to be patrolled and monitored by 
wardens. Provision and specific locations for motorcycle parking and car club spaces will be agreed 
during the Stage 4 Design process.  

11.6. Taxis 
Current Operation 
Unlike many of Scotland and the UK’s other cities, Edinburgh currently operates with a two-tiered 
taxi system. There are two distinct forms of taxi travel in the city centre – licensed taxis (black 
Hackney cabs), and private hire cars (PHCs), e.g. Uber and other 3rd party operators. While both 
can be flexibly pre-booked in advance online etc., the main difference in operation is that, only 
licensed taxis can be hailed on-street or from taxi ranks (‘plying for a hire’ as described in the 
Council’s own guidance). However this operational difference is slowly eroding, due to rising 
popularity of Uber and other ridesharing apps and travel changes arising from the Covid-19 
pandemic. PHCs are now frequently booked immediately before their hire (e.g. at nightlife venues 
or local destinations such as Waverley rail station), therefore being used in a way similar to ‘plying 
for hire’. Equally, an increasing proportion of licensed taxis now carry out pre-booked hires.  

Taxis are currently a core component of public transport in the City Centre, they also provide an 
essential mode of access for older people, those with mobility impairments and other vulnerable 
characteristic groups. Taxis are also often the preferred option for the many visitors to the city 
travelling with luggage. Public transport has limited provision from midnight to 4:00am and is limited 
to several key routes. Taxis services provide a more direct, flexible and private mode of transport at 
all hours of the day, albeit at additional cost to the user. Engagement undertaken with stakeholders 
including police Scotland and nightlife proprietors during the development of the Women’s Safety 
Audit (also discussed in Chapter 13) has also highlighted taxi access is essential in helping create a 
safe space.  

The study area currently sees c.1550 taxi journeys (black Hackney cabs) per day, including c.760 
accessing George Street (April 2019). These figures significantly increase during the Summer and 
Winter festivals and during specific events for example the recent Scottish Open, The Fringe and 
winter celebrations. Taxi surveys undertaken in 8th-21st December 2020 on North Bridge examined 
the split of black hackney cabs and PHCs, on average 57% (321) of daily taxi movements were 
conducted by black hackney cabs and 43% (239) by PHCs. From this it is estimated a further 
c.1170 PHCs access the area per day, including c.573 estimated to access George Street.  

A large proportion of taxis currently accessing George Street and the wider area are noted to 
illegally park in other types of facilities such as blue badge holder spaces, loading bays, double 
yellow lines etc. This puts considerable pressure on these facilities often forcing those relevant 
vehicles (blue badge holders and larger loading vehicles to use other facilities or double park in 
some instances. From April / May 2019 weekday parking surveys, considering taxis which alighted 
for periods greater than 15 minutes, 80% (24/30) of those George Street parked inappropriately and 
66% (92/139) of those on Castle Street/Frederick Street/Hanover Street parked inappropriately. 

  

P
age 149



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 53 of 68 

 

 
  

 
 

  

 

  
  

 
 

 
  

 

 

  

 

   

   

   

     

   
   

 
    

 
   

 

 
  

  
  

   

 
  

 
   

 
  

 

Accessibility & Inclusivity Considerations 
The City of Edinburgh Council has duty of care under the Equalities Act to avoid mobility impaired 
or disabled people being placed at a ‘substantial disadvantage’ when accessing local services and 
facilities. It is therefore essential to retain some level of taxi access to facilitate travel for these 
users. Taxi facilities on George Street are proposed to be located within two of the raised squares 
at the centre of the Castle Street – Frederick Street ‘block’ (on the north side, opposite The 
Northern Lighthouse Board) and Hanover Street-St Andrew Square ‘block’ (on the south side, 
adjacent to The Dome) as to reduce the required walking distance to access taxis from key venues 
and attractors nearby.  
 
Through engagement with stakeholders and accessibility groups at this stage a lack of availability of 
wheelchair accessible taxis on-street was identified. This was considered as a significant barrier to 
access and often caused frustration for those with very limited mobility. This not only impacted 
those which lived within the immediate Frist New Town or Second New Town areas but was also 
the case for many of the well-known taxi ranks within the wider city centre (such as Market Street). 
or these users, this often meant they needed to invest more time and effort into planning their 
journey, for work or leisure, often requiring multiple vehicles to reach their final destination.  

Consideration is being given to enable blue badge holders to potentially access George Street via 
licensed taxis however further analysis of potential numbers and available “online” systems to 
manage potential numbers will be undertaken. The availability of a new app to support exempted 
access for blue badge holders to the new LEZ zone will be assessed to determine if such a system 
could be applied to disabled taxi access. 
  

   
    
    

  
 

  
    
     

   

  
 

 

  
  
 
   
  

     

       

     

     
   

 
   

  

    
 

   

  
 

   

Proposed Operation
George Street
Licensed taxi  access is proposed to be retained on George Street in future. However this  is 
proposed to be performed  only  during the daily ‘access window’ from 7:00pm  –  10:00am Monday to
Saturday and 7:00pm  –  12pm on Sundays.  As mentioned above, this is in order to consolidate and 
vehicle movements to create times of day in which the street is largely vehicle-free, giving priority to
cycling and pedestrian movements.  Outwith these times taxis would not be permitted access and 
would be expected to pick-up or drop-off at kerbside areas on adjacent streets. Whilst this will 
introduce some inconvenience, the area will remain  largely  accessible with a maximum c.100-125m
walk  within any block.  No final decision has been reached regarding  future  private hire car access
to George Street.  City of Edinburgh  Council  are currently conducting further investigation  into the 
impact of PHC  travel in the City Centre  and surveys  of current or planned restricted streets.

First New Town Streets
Taxi  access would remain unrestricted on Castle Street, Frederick Street and Hanover Street  and
St Andrew Square  Taxis would retain the ability to alight at the kerbside for up to 5 minutes to pick-
up or drop-off. Taxis entering the area would also be required to adhere to current restrictions e.g.
black Hackney Cabs on Princes Street and proposed right-turn restrictions at junctions with George
Street.

11.6.1.  Taxi Ranks

Current provision

George Street  –  four taxi ranks, including:

•  Adjacent to the Northern Lighthouse Board,  on the south side, with capacity for 5 taxis.

•  Adjacent to Assembly Rooms, on the south side, with capacity for 3 taxis.

•  Opposite The Standing Order,  on the north side, with capacity for 5  taxis.

•  Adjacent to The Dome on the south side, with capacity for  6 taxis.
Castle Street  -  A rank with capacity for  4  taxis on the east side between Rose Street and George 
Street.
Frederick Street  –  a  rank  capacity for  5  taxis to the east side close to the junction with Princes 
Street.
Hanover Street  -  A rank with capacity for  4  taxis on the west side south of the intersection with 
Rose Street.

Proposed taxi provision
Taxi  rank locations have been  proposed  throughout the  study area based on existing demand, key 
local venues and nightlife and  the  availability of kerbside spaces. Similar to general parking, taxi 
spaces on George Street have been rationalised in order to increase the capacity of blue badge 
spaces and loading  facilities.  The  location of taxi ranks within the proposed design are shown in
Figure  11-6  below, this includes:

George Street  –  two taxi ranks, each  with capacity for 5 taxis positioned on central squares within 
the ‘blocks of the street between Castle Street-Frederick Street and Hanover Street-St Andrew 
Square. Taxis would only be permitted to alight within these bays during daily operating hours
7:00pm-10:00am Mon-Sat and 6:00pm-12:00pm Sunday.
Castle Street  -  A rank with capacity for 4 taxis on the east side between Rose Street and George 
Street.
Frederick Street  –  two taxi ranks, including a rank with capacity for 2 taxis to the east side north of
the junction with George Street and another with capacity for 3 taxis to the east side close to the 
junction with Princes Street.
Hanover Street  -  A rank with capacity for 2 taxis on the west side south of the intersection with 
Rose Street.

P
age 150

FEAR4788_10
Highlight

FEAR4788_11
Highlight



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 54 of 68 

 

11.7. Emergency Response and Access  

11.7.1. Emergency Situations 
Ensuring access for emergency service vehicles at all times is also critically important to the safety 
and security of local people, properties and businesses. During an emergency situation (such as a 
security incident or severe traffic collision on Princes Street or Queen Street) it would be possible to 
accommodate diverted traffic within the proposed layout. However, this would likely result in 
significant delays and disruption to the surrounding area. Due to the proposed design changes to 
the George Street carriageway such as raised crossings and other traffic calming, reductions in 
carriageway widths and junction turning areas the street’s maximum capacity (flow of vehicles per 
hour) are anticipated to greatly reduce.  

In the event general traffic is directed to George Street, the volume of vehicles would also 
temporarily make the street unsuitable for cyclists, going against one of the project’s main 
objectives. If at any point George Street (or a given section of the street) was to be used for general 
traffic access, an alternative route would also need to be provided to ensure the safety of people 
cycling.  

11.7.2. Emergencies during events  
Similar to exiting operation, plans for emergency access during events and street closures would be 
set out using an ‘Emergency Access Plan’ or similar. Access measures etc. for each given event 
are discussed and agreed with members of emergency services prior to granting permission to host 
the event. As noted above a CCT ‘Events Management Strategy’ is currently in development, this 
document is anticipated to develop a list of operating principles for hosting events within the city 
centre and GNT Study Area, including safety requirements. Any large-scale street closure requires 
an emergency response plan, or other forms of management plan such as a Temporary Traffic 
Regulation Order (TTRO). In the event George Street was to be closed or traffic temporarily 
diverted to the street, these plans would be required to provide details including. 

• Required vehicle control measures, road closures or diversions to avoid/mitigate danger to the 
public, and measures required (physical or otherwise) to enforce these.  

• Other facilities which required suspension, e.g. parking, loading bays, taxi ranks and cycling 
lanes. 

• Safe routes to divert traffic and active travel users, providing fully segregated routes, if required. 

•  Methods to restrict pedestrian access, if required.  

  

Summary 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  

 
 

  
  

 

 
 

•  General traffic access is proposed to be removed from George Street in future. The street
  currently sees around c.4300 vehicle trips per day.

•  Right turns are proposed to be banned at each of the three main junctions with Castle Street,
  Frederick Street and Hanover Street. This is anticipated to effect c.2010 vehicles per day.

•  Parking  on George Street  is proposed to be  rationalised, this proposes to  remove  all non-
  essential  parking e.g. pay & display.  In future, this would require vehicles to park elsewhere
  within the First New Town  or  the wider area such as St James Quarter.

•  Essential blue badge parking is to be retained. Capacity of these bays is to be increased and
  locations made more convenient to access compared to existing provision.

•  Parking capacity on adjoining streets  will be optimised  while providing essential spaces for
  blue badge holders, loading  bays, taxi bays  and bus stops.  Parking capacity  will  increase on
  North Castle Street and Frederick Street within the proposed design.

•  Taxi access to  George Street is proposed to be retained during daily ‘access windows’ from
  7:00pm–10:00am Mon-Sat & 7:00pm-12:00pm Sun.

P
age 151



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 55 of 68 

 

 

 

 

Figure 11-3 – Existing Traffic Restrictions to be maintained  

 

 

  

P
age 152



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 56 of 68 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 11-4 - Proposed GNT Vehicle Restrictions  

   

P
age 153



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 57 of 68 

 

 

Figure 11-5 – Proposed vehicle access   

P
age 154

Highlight

Highlight

Highlight

FEAR4788_12
Placed Image



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 58 of 68 

 

Figure 11-6 - Proposed GNT Parking Types and Zones  

  

P
age 155



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 59 of 68 

 

12. Deliveries, Servicing and Waste 
Management  

12.1. Current Operation  
Loading Provision  

George Street - On George Street there are currently eight dedicated loading bays with a capacity 
to accommodate a maximum of 20 large goods vehicles (LGVs)) and c.255m of single yellow lines 
(maximum capacity of 28 LGVs). 

GNT Side Streets – On Castle Street, Frederick Street and Hanover Street loading facilities 
significantly vary based on the function of each street.  
Castle Street - Stopping up the southern section of Castle Street has allowed for the creation of a 
‘pedestrian zone’, within this are loading only areas with a capacity of 14 LGVs.  
Frederick Street - Frederick Street follows a more typical approach to loading and servicing, 
providing on-street loading bays and single yellow lines. Frederick Street currently has a maximum 
loading capacity of 10 LGVs at any time (including 1 dedicated loading bay and c.75m of single 
yellow lines). 
Hanover Street –Hanover Street also has on-street loading facilities, however due to its critical 
function as a bus route, there is limited a limited level of provision. On the southern section, there is 
capacity for only 1 LGV (c.14 metres of single yellow lines), while on the northern section there is 
provision for 10 LGVs (including a dedicated loading bay and c.55m of single yellow lines).  

Access Timing 

All on-street loading facilities in the area currently operate from 9:15am-4:30pm and 6:30pm-
8:00am daily and are only restricted during peak commuting times, 8:00am-9:15am and 4:30pm-
6:00pm. On Castle Street loading within the pedestrianised zone is permitted from 11:00pm – 
10:30am daily. 

Loading and Servicing Demand 

From loading / parking surveys undertaken in April/May 2019 and engagement undertaken 
throughout each stage of the project, the peak loading period in the study area is typically from 
8:00am-11:00am on weekdays and 11:00am-1:00pm at weekends. Surveys undertaken at this 
stage have highlighted 68% of business respondents typically received deliveries during this period.  

The study area sees around c.251 on-street delivery and servicing vehicles per weekday and c.70 
on Saturdays (including LGVs, OGVs and HGVs). This demand does not account for rear loading 
undertaken on Rose Street/Thistle Street Lanes etc. meaning the actual number of servicing 
vehicles access the First New Town each day is likely far greater. The peak flows of these vehicle 
types on George Street were observed to be c.10-12 bi-directional movements per hour.  

Inappropriate and Illegal Parking 

From April / May 2019 surveys 73% (183/251) of observed loading and servicing vehicles parked 
within other facilities such as pay & display or permit only bays and taxi ranks or double park in 
some instances. This suggests a large proportion of service vehicles are required to inappropriately 
park to access the area.  This can be attributed to the high demand for pay & display parking and 
inappropriate/illegal parking behaviour exhibited by drivers of general traffic vehicles.  

12.2. Proposed Operation 
Loading Provision 

  

 

 
 

 

   

  
 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 

 

  
   

 

 

 
  

   
 

 

  

 
 

  
 

 

  

George Street  -  Loading on George Street is proposed to be consolidated into eight dedicated 
loading bays, these would be equally distributed along the street on the north and south sides. This 
would provide  128m of kerbside space and capacity for 16 LGVs at any given time. Areas to the 
north and south of each Central  Zone (which vary from 25-29m long) on George Street are also
able  to serve as reserve areas for loading. This would provide an additional capacity for up to c.24
LGVs during daily operation. These are shown in Figure A above and

Figure  12-1  below.

GNT Side Streets  –  Similar to the current operation loading and servicing on Castle Street/North 
Castle Street, Frederick Street and Hanover Street would be done  at the kerbside within designated
loading areas. It is noted that provision on each side street is likely to see further consideration and 
is to be finalised during the Stage 4 (Technical) Design process.
Castle Street  -  existing pedestrianised areas and loading facilities (with a capacity of 14 LGVs)
would be retained.
Frederick Street  -  two extended loading bays with a capacity of 6 LGVs are proposed on Frederick
Street. These are to be distributed on either side of the junction with George Street.
Hanover Street  –  As noted above, the GNT Project interfaces with the Meadows  to George Street 
Project at  the southern section of Hanover Street. Based on the latest designs, three extended 
loading bays with a capacity of 9 LGVs are proposed on Hanover Street, with one of these (space 
for 3 LGVs) to be provided on the northern section and two  (space for 6 LGVs) to be provided on
the southern section.
Other  FNT  Streets  -  Connections to the rear of First New Town properties and loading/parking 
facilities via Hill Street, Thistle Street, Young Street and Rose Street are to be maintained.

Access Timing

Loading within the study area is proposed to be  permitted  during  the daily  ‘access window’ from
7:00pm  –  10:00am Monday to Saturday and 7:00pm  –  12pm on Sundays.

The proposal aims to control access for  vehicular traffic  only, it is noted cargo-bikes  and e-cargo 
bikes would have unlimited access to George Street and the wider area throughout the day. This is 
anticipated to influence the vehicle types operating in the city centre and guide local businesses 
towards more sustainable methods of conducting  their daily deliveries and servicing.

Other  forms of  servicing  requiring extended periods access, particularly for larger vehicles  (e.g.
building renovations  or furniture removals  etc.) would be encouraged to occur  during the access 
window but  would be permitted  at other times  through consent from The City of Edinburgh Council 
and Local Roads Authority via  a parking  dispensation  or a  permit scheme.  GNT TROs are proposed
to include a permitting system to manage access to the area.

Consolidating Deliveries  and Servicing

Under CCT the City of Edinburgh Council are  investigating the provision of  ‘last mile’ logistics and 
other freight consolidation  centres  across the city to optimise servicing methods and operation.
Whilst work behind these hubs are in their inception stage and  thus  not likely to be available prior to
the design’s  implementation, these facilities would reduce  further  the impact of delivery  movements 
and encourage use of more sustainable methods/techniques.

A ‘Delivery and Servicing Plan’ for the area would also explore this, if implemented.

P
age 156



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 60 of 68 

 

 

 

Figure 12-1 - Proposed GNT Loading Zones  

  

P
age 157



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 61 of 68 

 

  

 

 

 

 
 

 
  

 

 

  
 

 

  

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12.4. Good Practice Guide and promoting safety 
It should be noted, all deliveries vehicles (of any given size) entering George Street during 

permitted hours must adhere to the highway code, including any signs, lines and other restrictions 

which would be imposed around the area. These road users will also have a duty of care to ensure 

the safety and accessibility of the area is not compromised as part of their daily activities. 

It is recommended that an informational ‘good practice guide’ or similar be circulated prior to the 

design’s implementation. The points below summarise the proposed operation of loading facilities 

within the design and the expectations of service vehicles accessing the study area during daily 

operational hours.  

 

   

 

 

   

  

  

  

  

 

 

 

   

  
   

 
 

  

 

  

 

 

 

  

  

  

   
  

 
  

12.3.  Waste Collection

Current Operation

It is understood there are many commercial  and council-managed  waste management service 
providers operating in the First New Town on a daily basis.  Most  already  operate using a window-
based approach, typically providing collection times  for general waste and recycling  from 08:30am-
12:00pm,  3-4 times per week; with cardboard, glassware and other more specific forms of waste 
collected less frequently. Some business types, notably restaurants prefer evening collection times,
from 9:00pm  –  12:00am, as these best align with business practices and therefore minimise 
disruption.

Similar to delivery and servicing patterns observed in the study area, waste is also collected to the 
front and rear of businesses.  For those properties on George Street specifically this often results in
waste and bins  being stored at the kerbside or  at  storefronts overnight for collection, cluttering and 
obstructing footways for pedestrians.

Managing Commercial Waste

While specific collection arrangements (timing/frequency etc.) would be agreed by individual 
businesses  and  their preferred service provider, in future it is proposed waste collection would only
be permitted during daily  access windows: 7:00pm  –  10:00am Monday to Saturday and 7:00pm  –
12pm on Sundays.

This aims to concentrate the times in which waste service vehicles are present in the area and 
encourage providers to consolidate their services. This also looks to promote a clutter free and 
vehicle free environment  out with  these operational hours.  Following existing CEC guidance,
businesses should only present their waste on at agreed times on the agreed collection days, no 
‘trades waste’ should be stored on the street at any time.

Managing Residential Waste  and public litter bins

While specific locations of public litter bins and other street furniture has yet to be agreed within the
Stage 3 Design, ensuring streets remain clean and tidy is an important part of increasing the 
attractiveness of the area overall.

Collection of residential waste and on-street bins would  be similar to  existing arrangements.
Following engagement with Council Officers at this stage, it was agreed  CEC  Waste Management 
vehicles would  also  service the area during the daily access windows  in future. Bins would be 
emptied from the kerbside or wheeled from secure bin stores  to a vehicle parked within a 
designated loading bay  on the relevant collection days. Referring to CEC ‘Waste and Cleansing’
policies on households and public waste, any waste presented for collection, whether in bags or 
bins etc. should not block any footways or cycleways.

•  Loading and unloading should only be performed within allocated bays during permitted

  hours of day,  these are proposed to be 7:00pm  –  10:00pm Monday-Saturday and  7:00pm  –
12:00pm on Sundays.

•  On George Street, to avoid conflicts with other road users, particularly cyclists, delivery

  vehicles should not stop on the central cycle carriageway  or footways  in order to  load/unload

  goods or  park  at any time. This would  impede  other vehicles and  essential services such as

  waste collection  and could severely impact the safety of cyclists or crossing pedestrians.

•  Where possible providers should alight within bays on the side of the carriageway closest to

  the property/business they  require  access  to. This is to avoid crossing the carriageway with

  heavy goods, potentially causing obstructions for other road users and limiting pedestrian

  accessibility.

•  To ensure adequate servicing time and access to all local businesses, servicing  vehicles

  should not alight in loading bays any longer than absolutely necessary to conduct deliveries.

•  Local businesses, service providers and suppliers  will be encouraged to  liaise with  each
  other to  examine how to  consolidate deliveries and  reduce waste  collection vehicles required
  to service the area. It is noted  at this stage  that it will take time to influence  servicing
  behaviours e.g. the  type and frequency of  vehicles accessing the city.

•  Where feasible, businesses of the area would also be encouraged to schedule deliveries and
  regular maintenance outwith morning and evening  commuting  hours  (08:00am-09:15am and
  4:30pm-6:00pm on weekdays)  or use alternative access via Rose Street / Thistle Street
  Lanes  during these times  in order to alleviate pressure  on local roads, reduce congestion
  and mitigate potential conflicts with pedestrians and cyclists  traveling in the area.

•  Engines of vehicles should be switched off wherever practical (particularly during the evening

  and early morning hours) to minimise unnecessary noise and emissions.

Summary

•  The proposed design provides capacity for  a maximum of  65 delivery and servicing vehicles
  using loading bays and other on-street facilities. This includes kerbside spaces equivalent to
  40 LGVs on George Street and 25 LGVs on adjacent side streets.

•  While this provides a net-decrease  in provision over  the current street layout  (83), the design
  would significantly increase the capacity of formalised loading areas  (currently equivalent to
  37 LGVs)  to exclusively be used by loading vehicles  in future.

•  The proposal also  aims to manage the times in which delivery,  servicing, waste management
  vehicles are present in the area. An ‘access window’ for permitted vehicles is proposed from
  7:00pm  –  10:00am Monday  –  Saturday and 7:00pm  –  12:00pm on Sundays. This would
  create periods of day in which George Street would be almost entirely vehicle-free.

•  Permitted vehicle access out with these times is proposed to be managed using permits and
  dispensation schemes. GNT TROs will  include  a permitting system.

P
age 158

FEAR4788_13
Highlight

FEAR4788_14
Highlight

FEAR4788_15
Highlight

FEAR4788_16
Highlight

FEAR4788_17
Highlight

FEAR4788_18
FEAR4788

FEAR4788_19
Highlight

FEAR4788_20
Highlight



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 62 of 68 

 

13. Safety and Security  

Independent to the Project Design Team, the Atkins’ Women’s Safety and Physical Security Teams 
were commissioned to appraise the proposal to assess risks and to ensure public safety and 
security elements were embedded into both the design and operational plan going forward.  

13.1.  ‘Get Home Safely’ - Women’s Safety Assessment 
The Atkins Women’s Safety Team supported the development of the design and operational plan 
through the use their ‘Getting Home Safely – design for women by women’ audit tool. This audit 
(GNT-ATK-GHS-ZZZZZ-FN-ZS-000001) was undertaken to ensure that good design for women’s 
safety (and other vulnerable characteristic groups) is embedded in the project, therefore giving 
greater consideration of gender and other characteristic nuances which impact the safety of users 
in public spaces. The Getting Home Safe (GHS) toolkit assesses public areas and streetscapes 
against six key themes: Landscape, Infrastructure, Human Presence, Digital, ‘Love my Street’ and 
Community / social.  

Key Findings 
The audit found that Stage 3 designs would likely improve the safety for women and girls compared 
to existing conditions through enhancing pedestrian spaces. These improvements are generally 
around the landscape and infrastructure themes within the GHS assessment – for example through 
providing formal and informal crossing opportunities, removing obstructions on footways and 
encouraging greater visibility through increasing positive on street activity.  

Recommendations 
The audit produced a series of design and operational recommendations which should be carried 
forward and implemented within the Stage 4 (Technical) Design process, a sample of these include: 

• Design drawings should be prepared to consider both daylight and hours of darkness. This 
helps to illustrate the differences in environment between hours of light and darkness. This 
would assist in highlighting potential dark spots or areas in need of greater illumination.  

• Wayfinding signage should be placed at key decision points on George Street to support 
integration with onward transport including buses and taxis. Consideration could also be given 
to integrated Help Points within signage. 

• Include provision of digital CCTV, with sufficient lighting to ensure facial recognition on CCTV 
footage to support eyes on the street. 

The audit also identified a number of additional opportunities outside of the scope of the GNT 
Project which would enhance safety for women and girls in GSNT. A sample of these include: 

• Consider greater expression of the local culture and community through local artwork and 
involve community groups in the design - creating a sense of ownership and stewardship.  

• Surrounding areas including Lanes should be considered as a wider zone when considering 
operations, maintenance, and safety / security programmes as well as CCTV and lighting. 

• Promotion of positive behaviour campaigns and engagement with management and staff of 
clubs and bars in the area, additional support at closing time, staff training on addressing issues  

• Promotion of apps and existing services by Police Scotland and community groups (such as 
Street Assist provided by Essential Edinburgh or Strut Safe) to support women and other 
vulnerable groups finding support when needed and getting home safely.  

• Provision of safe havens such as Ask Angela and others, along the length of GSNT, to ensure 
there are facilities along the length of George Street (and adjacent streets) and that these are 
appropriately promoted. 

13.2. Physical Security - Threat, Vulnerability and Risk Assessment 
In parallel to the design work at this stage the Atkins Physical Security Team, with input from Police 
Scotland, have undertaken a Threat, Vulnerability and Risk Assessment (TVRA) of the proposal. 
This appraised the design and comprehensively analysed the resultant security risks to George 
Street and the First New Town. This report (GNT-ATK-PSC-ZZZZZ-RP-ZS-000001) and the 
proceeding Operational Requirements (OR) report (GNT-ATK-PSCGSZZZ-RP-CS-000001) and 
Vehicle Dynamics Assessment (VDA) document (GNT-ATK-PSC-ZZZZZRP-CB-000001) provide 
recommendations of design and operational measures to mitigate identified security risks, in line 
with current best practice Centre for the Protection of National Infrastructure (CPNI) guidance. 

Key Findings 
• The greatest safety risks were identified to potentially occur at road junctions and streets 

spaces (such as landscaped seating areas) in which people congregate. These primarily 
concerned the potential for vehicle-as-a-weapon attacks (VAW).  

• There is a dynamically changing threat across the street environment depending on particular 
day and year, as well as the impact of the night-time economy. This relates primarily to 
nightclubs and major events. 

• There is potential for collateral crime in the area, this is attributed to high footfall and presence 
of major venues. 

Recommendations 
• Hostile Vehicle Mitigation (HVM) Strategy – Development of a HVM strategy was recommended 

to be undertaken during the Stage 4 (Technical) Design. This would investigate the provision of 
additional traffic calming measures, vehicle security barriers, visual deterrents, streetscape 
furniture or landscaping to provide people and building-fronts in the area protection against a 
hostile vehicle. At present Atkins are liaising with CEC to produce a HVM Options Study. 

• Supporting technology – Smart security systems including video surveillance and enhanced 
lighting were also recommended to protect users from security events in future. The proposed 
approach would be to use technical solutions to provide surveillance and the possibility of 
communication required to deter and detect malicious activity. The system would potentially 
integrate with security control facilities at Edinburgh City Chambers to enable live monitoring of 
the area. 

13.3. Operational Considerations  

Embedding public safety and security into the proposal is important to the design’s success when 
implemented. The continued use of the ‘Get Home Safely’ tool will ensure an enhanced level of 
consideration is given to the vulnerabilities of people navigating the space and aims to maximise 
the coherence and comfort of the environment for all users in future.  

Implementation of a Hostile Vehicle Mitigation (HVM) Strategy and development of an initial HVM 
Options Study will be critical to the safety and enforcement considerations of the proposal going 
forward. If static, automated, or manually retractable bollards are desired by the City of Edinburgh 
Council their implementation would require careful consideration. Specifically the associated 
maintenance burden, design feasibility and public acceptability of these methods require 
exploration.  

Similarly, the likely benefits, drawbacks and city centre-wide implications of chosen method of 
access control (manually operated on-street or automated via smart systems etc.) also needs to be 
carefully considered.   

P
age 159



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 63 of 68 

 

14. Enforcement and Management 

14.1. Current Traffic enforcement 
Enforcement of road traffic and parking restrictions in Edinburgh are managed by both The Council 
and local Police services. Decriminalised Parking Enforcement (DPE) legislation enables The City 
of Edinburgh Council to administer its own parking penalties, including the issuing of Penalty 
Charge Notices (PCNs) to vehicles which breach on-street restrictions communicated by signs and 
road markings. From October 2008 this has meant stationary traffic offences (e.g. no waiting on 
double yellow lines) has ceased to be criminal offence enforced by police and has instead become 
civil penalties enforced by The Council itself. The Police have retained responsibility for the 
enforcement of ‘moving traffic violations; obstruction of roads, parking on areas such as zig-zag 
markings, and parking/driving on footways.  

From 2012, enforcement of bus lane and bus gate restrictions were also decriminalised, allowing 
the Council to begin enforcement of the restrictions using cameras. From this a number of 24-hour 
and peak time bus lanes / bus gates were created in key locations across the city such as Johnston 
Terrace, Corstorphine Road, The Jewel and Commercial Street (adjacent to Ocean Terminal). 

Proposed LEZ Enforcement  

With the recent approval of the Edinburgh Low Emission Zone, with full implementation from June 
2024, vehicles entering the First New Town must meet a minimum emission standards. Importantly 
the legislation which supports this and other Scottish LEZ proposals in Aberdeen, Dundee and 
Glasgow, Low Emission Zones (Scotland) Regulations 2021, grants the Council the ability to use 
ANPR (automatic number place recognition) camera-based systems to enforce emission standards, 
detecting vehicles as they enter and exit the LEZ cordon area.  

If a vehicle is found to be in breach of these standards, the driver would be subject to a Penalty 
Charge Notice. Penalty structures for LEZs are generally more strict than other traffic restrictions. 
An initial penalty charge for all vehicles breaching emissions standards is £60, the penalty rate then 
doubles each time the non-compliant vehicle enters the zone within a 90-day period. Maximum 
penalty charges are capped (per 90-days) at £480 for cars and LGVs and £960 for minibuses, 
coaches, buses and HGVs. Blue badge holders and emergency vehicles are considered exempt. 

This system is anticipated to reduce the flows of background traffic entering George Street, First 
New Town and wider LEZ cordon when implemented. Though, long-term as electric vehicles 
become more common in Edinburgh traffic may gradually increase again, potentially encouraging 
the misuse of George Street.  

14.2. GNT Enforcement Strategy 
Further to camera-based enforcement proposed to support the Edinburgh LEZ, there remains a 
challenge surrounding how access to George Street will be enforced. Ultimately the Council have 
limited legislative powers to enforce moving traffic violations (such as entering a ‘pedestrian zone’ 
etc.), as this remains under the control of Police Scotland.  

While enforcement via ANPR is understood to be the Council’s preferred solution, legislation does 
not currently permit this as an option to impose restrictions. However, it is acknowledged that the 
City of Edinburgh Council are engaging with Transport Scotland and others to seek changes in 
primary legislation to achieve this. Indicative enforcement options considered at this stage are 
discussed in Table 14-1. 

Looking towards the Stage 4 Design process and submission of statutory orders, to ensure the 
most effective enforcement of the design the project will likely rely on physical restrictions such as 
automated bollards (similar to Option 2) in order to control vehicle access during restricted hours. 

The implementation of TROs during subsequent stages will make restrictions (such as timed 
vehicle restrictions, banning right turns etc) enforceable. Enforcing the proposal in cooperation with 
Police (during an initial period) post implementation also may be a method to deter misuse. 

The public realm design solution for the street itself aims to self-enforce and introduce a new 
transport hierarchy and change the priority of traffic routes, retaining north / south routes while 
discouraging the use of George Street by general traffic or as a through route. This relies on the 
provision of physical deterrents such as traffic calming which would limit the speed and capacity 
vehicle movements, removing parking sources and providing clear and coherent signage to 
communicate restrictions.  

Table 14-1 - GNT Enforcement Options 

GNT Enforcement Options 

Option 1 2 3 

Description 

Traditional Enforcement 
- Signage strategy to 
communicate restrictions. 
Council wardens and 
police presence enforce 
restrictions   

Hostile Vehicle Mitigation / 
Physical interventions - 
Signage complemented by 
bollards (manual or automatic) 
or barriers in order to physically 
enforce restrictions.  

Camera–based enforcement 
- ANPR cameras automatically 
read number plates, recording 
a vehicle’s entry and exit into 
an area. 

Benefits 

Proposed restrictions are 
simple to understand 
using signage  

Allows for unrestricted 
access for blue badge 
holders.  

Low implementation and 
maintenance costs  

Proposing limited vehicle 
access exceptions aids 
compliance of the design. 

Tried and tested penalty 
charge and legislative 
system 

Provides a high level of control 
Access for blue badge holders 
restricted unless supplementary 
measures including additional 
permits and cameras, or 
intercom are included. 

Several types of access control 
available including manually 
operated bollards, automatic 
bollards and barriers etc. 

Can serve as an opportunity to 
encourage local groups to ‘self-
manage’ access to the area.  

Enables use of smart systems 
such as ticketless parking, the 
ability to track the number of 
available spaces, and crime 
prevention.  

Effectively facilitates 
emergency and exempt vehicle 
access during restricted hours 
and can penalise inappropriate 
/ nuisance vehicles. 

Tried and tested bus gate / 
lane enforcement and LEZ 
enforcement (June 2024) 

Challenges 

Risk of lack of 
enforcement during 
evening / night  

TRO regulations do not 
allow restrictions to be 
applied to private coach 
travel without restricting 
all bus services. 

TRO regulations specify 
that access exceptions 
allowing for ‘taxi access 
only’ apply to black cabs 
and not private hire cars. 

Need to manually 
manage and log requests 
for scheduled and 
unscheduled vehicle 
access. 

Existing examples of automated 
control in Edinburgh are subject 
to frequent maintenance issues 
and a high maintenance burden. 

Costly ‘smart’ control systems 
would be required to facilitate 
scheduled and unscheduled 
vehicle access. 

The speed and flexibility of 
barriers / bollards can limit 
access in emergency situations. 
Manually operated barriers can 
be resource intensive  

Access for blue badge holders 
would potentially be restricted 
unless “white-list” style permits 
are introduced. 

The Council have limited 
powers to enforce “moving 
traffic offences”.  

Camera enforcement is unable 
to determine blue badge 
access, badges are registered 
to a person not a vehicle. 

A zone-based – access permit 
scheme tied to vehicle 
registrations would be required 
to enable essential access in 
combination with camera 
enforcement  

Costly ‘smart’ control systems 
would be required to facilitate 
scheduled and unscheduled 
access. 

P
age 160



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 64 of 68 

 

14.3. Signage and Road Marking Strategy  
A comprehensive signage strategy would be required to effectively communicate the intended 
function of the proposed design and vehicle restrictions to all users when entering and exiting the 
area. As discussed above it is proposed George Street would become a ‘Pedestrian and Cycle 
Zone’ in future, removing general traffic access and introducing timed restrictions for essential 
vehicle access. Corresponding timed waiting/loading restrictions would also be introduced on 
connecting streets.  

Current guidance 
Under Traffic Signs Regulations and General Directions 2016 (TSRGD), The Traffic Signs 
Amendment (Scotland) Regulations and General Directions 2018 and recently proposed 
amendments Regulations and General Directions (Scotland) 2022 there are a variety of zone/area-
based methods which can be used to prohibit vehicle movements and impose timed restrictions etc. 
This includes schemes such as ‘Controlled Zones’, ‘Restricted Zones’, ‘Pedestrian Zones’ / 
‘Pedestrian and Cycle Zones’ and ‘Restricted Parking Zones’. 

Within more recent amendments to TSRGD, the requirements to provide signs and markings in 
combination at the kerb side has been removed (however exceptions are still made for situations 
such as signalised junctions and crossings). Beneficially to the GNT Project these changes reduce 
the potential number of signs required to communicate the design, minimising street clutter and 
promoting greater comfort for pedestrians.  

Edinburgh Specific Context 

There are currently three ‘Pedestrian Zones’ in Edinburgh city centre; Castle Street, Rose Street 
and The Grassmarket. The methods of enforcement and approach to signs and road markings 
within these varies. All provide a combination of entry/exit signs (to communicate access timings 
and permitted vehicle types) and physical restrictions (fixed/removable bollards and providing no 
through route on Castle Street) to deter vehicle traffic during non-operational hours.  

The design of Castle Street differs as traditional post-mounted signage is not use. The design 
instead relies on the material palette of the street (such as using bands of material to highlight 
loading areas) and markings (studs and engraved materials at parking bays) to communicate its 
use. With the enforcement of the Edinburgh LEZ from June 2024 onwards, it is anticipated signage 
to reinforce this scheme will also be introduced at entry/exit points to the First New Town such as 
Queen Street/York Place. 

GNT Design 

During the Stage 4 design signage and road markings regarding blue badge spaces, cycle lanes 
and cycle facilities at junctions, taxi ranks, loading bays, permitted and pay & display parking and 
signalised junctions and signalised pedestrian crossings will also be finalised. It is also noted brown 
signs indicating George Street as a ‘tourist attraction’ / destination may also be required in future. 

Understanding the First New Town forms part of the Edinburgh UNESCO World Heritage Site it is 
anticipated obtrusive street signage and use of double and single yellow lines within the design will 
kept to a minimum so as to not distract from the heritage value and aesthetics of the area. Where 
possible waiting and loading restrictions would be communicated using signs alone either post-
mounted or integrated with landscape features or bollards where possible.  Ultimately the density of 
signs and markings provided within the design at the discretion of the City of Edinburgh Council in 
line with their duties as Roads Authority under TSRGD.  

14.4. Management of Events 
Facilitating Events  

The Stage 3 design creates a flexible street design and would support use for on-street events, 
although the scale of events is likely to change. The proposed zoned footway design promotes 
opportunities for small scale events to take place on-street within flex-zones and landscape seating 
areas such as art exhibitions, pop-ups etc. Each of the four central squares would also support 
event footprints of up to c.30x15m, although these would not support larger scale events seen in 
the past such as fairgrounds etc. This is also understood to be the general preference from 
businesses and residents within the area. There is the option to close entire ‘blocks’ of George 
Street to create linear-style events, subject to Council permissions. Additional consideration has 
been given to provision of utility and service connections within the fabric of the design as to reduce 
the reliance of temporary water/power sources. Though provision of such infrastructure is not 
without its challenges in respect of standing charges, servicing and billing. A detailed review of 
utilities will be undertaken as part of the Stage 4 design process. 

Regardless of a given event’s location or proposed size on George Street emergency vehicle 
access must be retained. This would be achieved through the narrowing of the central carriageway, 
to a minimum legal width of 4m, this would also facilitate the needs of cyclists in future. The 
management and enforcement of these spaces during events would be the responsibility of events 
organisers, their on-street security personnel / stewards and Police Scotland.  

Events Management 

Events in Edinburgh City Centre are organised in line with the Council’s Cultural Strategy and 
guidance from the Events Planning and Operations Group (EPOG). EPOG is currently chaired by 
members of the Council‘s Culture Services Team, it focuses on solving the access and operational 
issues associated with events and aims to ensure all events are well-planned, safe and successful. 
It is understood that The City of Edinburgh Council are currently developing an ‘Events 
Management Plan’ which would set out the ‘principles’ involved in coordinating events (e.g. required 
vehicle access routes/timings and required permissions/permits, facilities available on-street, 
methods to access utilities etc.) in key city centre areas like the First New Town and methods to 
consolidate the permissions/permits required to host events. Considering events on George Street, 
it is anticipated this ‘Events Management Plan’ would require event organisers to provide transport-
related details regarding. 

• Event set-up - including information such as the number and types of vehicles which require 
access, requested hours of access and time expected to load/unload equipment, lead times 
to erect temporary structures or stages and any required on-street parking suspensions to 
facilitate the event. 

• Operation – access arrangements for pedestrians, cyclists and emergency vehicles 
(including safe segregated routes, if required), loading and servicing procedures for effected 
areas and supporting measures to mitigate disruption, signage and other measures to 
communicate proposed restrictions,  

• Post-event – Access arrangements required for post-event clean up, dismantling of 
temporary structures etc. including information such as the timing, number and types of 
vehicles which require access. 

While events are anticipated to continue on-street in the area, approval ultimately will lay with 
Council Officers and may not be given where events may significantly impact daily operation, 
access to residential areas, road safety and emergency access, local businesses or the local road 
network generally. Under the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984, the law which governs the process 
of temporarily closing roads and Temporary Traffic Regulation Orders, at least 8 weeks’ notice is 
needed to process requests to host on-street events allow sufficient time to co-ordinate with local 
stakeholders and any other activities which may be proposed nearby. 

P
age 161



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 65 of 68 

 

15. Access Requirements and Exemptions  

15.1. Introduction 
Edinburgh’s City Centre offers a unique experience, providing a true variety of functions and local 
business types including retail/shopping, bars/restaurants, nightlife, hotels and events; all within a 
historic medieval and Georgian architectural setting. Considering George Street specifically, it 
serves as one of the city’s premier and main shopping thoroughfare and is known for its historic 
architecture, many cafes, restaurants, bars and use during the summer and winter festivals as an 
on-street event space.  

One of the main challenges of the existing city centre’s operation is the required level of 
maintenance, construction and servicing works (scheduled/unscheduled) on a daily basis alongside 
management of parking sources. A large percentage of parking in the area is currently utilised by 
trades vehicles, as noted previously, often resulting in excessive pressure on other types of parking 
e.g. blue badge bays, loading bays, taxi ranks etc.  

15.2. Existing permitting methods in Edinburgh City Centre 
The study area will partially rely on existing City of Edinburgh Council permitting and dispensation 
schemes to manage parking and vehicle access within the area and facilitate ad-hoc access to the 
proposed George Street ‘pedestrian and cycle zone’. This includes but is not limited to. 

Resident’s parking permits – Parking permits for local residents of a Controlled Parking Zone, this 
grants access to park within ‘Permit holders only' spaces throughout the day. It is noted being 
provided a residents' parking permit does not guarantee someone a parking space.  
Visitors Parking Permits – Permits which grant others permission to park within a permit holders’ 
space. One permit is valid for 90 minutes. These are sold in ‘books’ on the Council’s website.  

Blue Badges – Permits which allow people with disabilities or health conditions to park for an 
unlimited time within blue badge allocated spaces, ‘Permit holders only’ spaces and up to 3 hours 
on single/double yellow lines, either as the driver or passenger.  

Retail/Business and Trades permits - A permit which grants access to ‘Permit holders only’ 
spaces for vehicles associated with a qualifying list of business types and trades such as joinery, 
masonry, electrical etc. These are currently valid between the hours of 9.00am - 4.30pm Monday-
Saturday and 12.30pm - 6.30pm on Sundays. To be granted a retail/business permit, the vehicle 
must be essential for daily business use. A maximum of two retail/business parking permits may be 
issued per business. For trades permits, these are noted not to be used for commuting and the 
parked vehicle should be strictly essential to be used as a base for materials or equipment. A single 
trades’ permit can be used by several registered vehicles (typically granted to a given 
contractor/business etc.); however only one vehicle may use the permit at any given time. These 
types of permit also do not guarantee the permit holder a parking space.  

Parking dispensations – A form of permit which grants vehicles the ability to parking or 
load/unload for extended periods on yellow lines or loading bays in situations where vehicle access 
is required to undertake works/business. This is typically used in situations such as delivering 
large/heavy goods, furniture/home removals and building retrofits. This type of permit requires 
communication with The Council’s Roads Authority to grant permission a minimum of 24 hours prior 
to the proposed time of access.  

Parking suspensions – A method to restrict use or give priority access to parking/loading areas for 
a limited time. This method is typically used to facilitate on-street events, carry out essential 
highways, utilities or building works, for weddings/funerals, filming etc. This process requires 
communication with The Council’s Roads Authority to grant permission a minimum of 48 hours prior 
to the proposed time of access, this is in order to ensure the proposed space is made accessible. 

Access Considerations 

Vehicle access - George Street has a complex set of daily access requirements (scheduled and 
unscheduled) which the GNT design will be required to facilitate and manage during restricted 
hours of operation. Examples of these include: 

Scheduled - christenings, weddings, funerals and other religious services, secured deliveries (e.g. 
banks and high value goods), coach pick-up/drop-off, building maintenance work, furniture 
removals / building retrofits  
Unscheduled – hotel pick-ups and drop-offs (typically taxis or private vehicle travel), emergency 
access for building maintenance and other works, emergency services 

Considering the proposed changes to the streetscape within the GNT design and wider ambitions of 
CCT, management of trade vehicle access is anticipated to be an ongoing challenge. Given the 
historic context of the area e.g. building age, the diversity of businesses and access requirements 
of key venues and businesses, requests for access permits and ad-hoc access are also anticipated 
to be significant. Further investigation of facilitating access to the extents of George Street between 
Hanover Street and St Andrew Square is anticipated to be undertaken during the Stage 4 design 
process.  

Buses - Restrictions to tour bus access on George Street would likely increase the number of 
buses per day operating on Frederick Street Hanover Street, Charlotte Street and St David Street 
which could result in capacity issue for existing routes and bus stops on these streets. It is 
understood coach access and future coach parking areas will be addressed as part of the Council’s 
‘CCT Coach Strategy’. 

Pedestrians - Access to all areas of the First New Town would be maintained and improved for 
pedestrians, though walking trip lengths (and journey times) would increase for some users during 
certain periods of the day. Timed restrictions on taxi access to the street could also have a 
detrimental impact on the access to the street for those who are often reliant on taxis to get around. 
On Frederick Street and Hanover Street bus stop locations closest to George Street have been 
repositioned closer to the junction with George Street to minimise required walking/wheeling 
distances and promote greater pedestrian comfort. 

15.3. GNT Management Strategy  
It is proposed that the GNT traffic regulation orders (TROs) will also include a ‘controlled zone’ 
permit (in addition to physical restrictions) as a method of managing ad-hoc vehicle access in 
future. This would operate in addition to existing permitting schemes currently employed in the area.  

This would provide the City of Edinburgh Council a mechanism of granting access to essential 
vehicles during daily restricted hours of operation and penalise those which do not have permission. 
This would be supported in future by vehicle restrictions (including ANPR) associated with the 
Edinburgh Low Emission Zone and Hostile Vehicle Mitigation measures developed during further 
design stages. This notwithstanding, the system would also be required to be supported by 
appropriately robust Council infrastructure and IT services. This is to ensure all requests for access 
can be managed quickly and fairly. 

Those requesting access in future would be required to contact The Council’s Roads Authority to a 
minimum of 24 hours prior to the proposed time of access. This is the preferred way forward based 
on the Council’s current guidance/policy guidelines. The implementation and operation of permit-
based systems is also well understood by the Council and are readily used throughout the City. It is 
noted these schemes are typically supported through physical enforcement measures and vehicle 
routing/turning restrictions.  

P
age 162



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 66 of 68 

 

15.4. Access Exemption 
There are a number of vehicle types and users which are typically given ‘exempt’ status from traffic 
restrictions enforced using Traffic Regulation and Road Orders. Detailed below, are some examples 
of road users which would be granted access to George Street during daily restricted hours. This 
includes but is not limited to: 

No permits or permissions required 

• Blue badge holders. 

• Cyclists (including e-bikes and cargo-bikes). 

• Emergency vehicles (Police, Fire Brigade, Ambulance). 

• Funeral or undertaker service vehicles. 

• Governmental (including Non-departmental Public Bodies) and City of Edinburgh Council 
vehicles undertaking their statutory duties.  

• Medical practitioners (GP, nurse and midwife) administering care to a local resident. 

• Post Office vehicles delivering to local residences and business premises.  

• Secured Cash deliveries 

With appropriate Council permits or permissions in advance 

• Events vehicles (e.g. large and heavy goods vehicles required to transport equipment) 

• Coach travel, facilitating pick-up and drop-off opportunities at events venues, hotels and St. 
Andrew’s and St. George’s Church. 

• Trades vehicles required to conduct building, construction or excavation works, the 
maintenance, improvement or reconstruction of roads and utilities works. 

• Special events e.g. weddings, funerals, conference facilitators, VIP visits 

Following existing Council processes and guidance, access for events vehicles, trades and 
construction vehicles is granted by request to the Council’s Road Authority up to forty-eight hours in 
advance. This permission can also be subject to conditions, such as imposing specific time-based 
or location-based restrictions.  

 

 

P
age 163



 

 

| 1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx 

  
Page 67 of 68 

 

16. Summary, Recommendations and Next Steps  

16.1. Summary  
This report develops the proposed Operational Plan to support the effective management and 

function of the GNT public realm design proposal. This document and the Stage 3 (Detailed) Design 

act together to put forward a package of measure which would reallocate and reprioritise spaces 

within the public realm to improve accessibility, promoting active travel, manage traffic access to the 

First New Town and prioritise essential public transport. These proposals also aim to support the 

Council’s ongoing City Centre Transformation strategy and Net-Zero 2030 commitments. The plan 

discusses the methods of access and operation of all travel modes within the First New Town study 

area, and how people will come to interact with and navigate the city centre following the 

implementation of the design. Proposed measures such as the creation of a ‘pedestrian and cycle 

zone’ on George Street and the redistribution and reallocation of parking and loading areas will also 

inform the development of amendments to Road and Traffic Regulation Orders (RSOs & TROs) 

current governing the operation of the city centre  

16.2. Recommendations and Next Steps 

16.2.1. GNT Hostile Vehicle Mitigation Strategy / Enforcement Strategy 

Implementation of a Hostile Vehicle Mitigation (HVM) Strategy and development of an initial HVM 
Options Study during the Stage 4 (Technical) Design will be critical to the safety and enforcement 
considerations of the proposal going forward. If desired, additional traffic calming measures and 
security features such as vehicle barriers or bollards, would provide physical means to control 
vehicle access and deter misuse use of the street during proposed access hours. While the 
feasibility and public acceptability of these methods are still to be explored, it is anticipated these 
would also mitigate concerns regarding the enforceability of the design. While ANPR systems are 
already committed to support the Edinburgh LEZ, to facilitate the enforcement of ‘moving traffic 
violations’ it is understood changes to primary legislation as the ‘National ANPR Standards’ etc are 
required.  

 

16.2.2. GNT / CCT Smart Permitting/Parking Management System  

In order to facilitate the likely high number of requests for vehicle access to George Street during 

restricted hours of operation and demand for deliveries, creation of an app-based (or Council 

website-based) booking and permitting system may be required.  

This would seek to create a location-based timetabling system which could manage requests based 

on vehicle type, time/duration of access and function (e.g. vehicles required for building works, 

conducting events etc.), and generate an automated permit (corresponding to a vehicle 

registration). If developed for GNT, this could be expanded for use in all controlled parking zones 

across the city. 

 

 

  

 

   

    

   

 

 

 

   

 

 

  

  

  

   

   

   

 

  

  

  

  

 

   
 

 

  

 

16.2.3.  GNT  Monitoring and Evaluation Plan

While existing  city centre travel patterns,  servicing patterns and  their  demand are thought to be well

understood, a programme of monitoring and surveys pre-  and post-construction are recommended 

to  identify  potential benefits and drawbacks of the proposed Design and Operational Plan in future,

servicing and delivery  trends  and where servicing efficiencies could be achieved  (e.g.  consolidation

deliveries in  those  situations where a  particular supplier visits the  area  more  several times  per  day 

or  attempting to reduce the  number of different companies delivering  similar products).

This  plan would  promote communication between CEC, local businesses and their service

providers and help  identify ‘quick wins’  for the daily users of the scheme. The evidence-base for this

plan would likely require a mix of interviews with local businesses and on-street observations.

Examples  of  baseline data and key performance indicators (KPIs) which  could be  agreed in 

advance  and monitored throughout this process  include.

•  Volumes of pedestrians, cyclists and public transport journeys (incl. alighting  passengers)

  traveling in the area at peak times and throughout the day.

•  Public transport reliability and journey times for key services on Hanover Street.

•  Number of taxi trips accessing George Street and the area (pickup and drop-offs)

•  The frequency  and number of vehicles required (per provider/supplier) to service the area.

•  The  required vehicle sizes  to transport  goods.

•  The quantity  and relative  size  / weight  of goods being moved.

•  The urgency  and scheduling  of goods  (e.g. for restaurants is fresh produce  is required or

  whether this can be stored overnight.).

•  Preferred access routes  favoured by service providers.

•  Background traffic levels on adjacent city centre routes, e.g. Queen Street and Charlotte Street.

This is also thought to assist in the development of a wider ‘CCT Operational Plan’ and ‘Digital and 
Smart Cities Strategy’,  pedestrian and cycle counters could be implemented within the street.

16.2.4.  GNT  Construction Management Plan

Looking to the construction and implementation stage, a  construction  site  traffic  management  plan 
(CSTMP)  would be required to minimise the disruption caused by the works and mitigate the 
interface wherever possible between site traffic and general traffic.  The  current Stage 3 Design 
programme  forecasts a  construction period of around  24  -  36 months  in duration. With an 
anticipated start date in mid to late 2024  subject to the sign off of the Stage 4 (Technical) Design 
and the approval of the project’s traffic regulation orders (TROs) and redetermination orders 
(RSOs).  Generally, mitigating risks and eliminating hazards during construction works are a core  
component of the construction design and management process (CDM). Development of these 
documents would be informed by the Project Risk Register (GNT-
ATK-GHS-ZZZZZ-QA-ZM-000001), which is continually updated throughout the life cycle of the 
project.

Taking on board lessons-learned from the Trams to Newhaven Project and the construction 
management approach used, methods to support access for daily servicing and deliveries e.g. local
delivery hubs, staging areas for deliveries, cargo bike libraries etc. would be required to help ensure
continuity of service for effected businesses and manage  vehicle movements entering the  area.

P
age 164

FEAR4788_21
Highlight

FEAR4788_22
Placed Image



 
 

 

 

1.0 | October 2022 
Atkins | GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan V1.2.docx Page 68 of 68 
 

 

P
age 165



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

George Street New Town 
Getting Home Safely Technical Note 

City of Edinburgh Council 

August 2022 
 

 

 

  

 

 

Page 166



 
 

 

GNT-ATK-GHS-ZZZZZ-FN-ZS-000002 |2.0 | August 2022 

Atkins | Getting Home Safely Technical Note Page 2 of 28 
 

Notice 

This document and its contents have been prepared and are intended solely as information for City of 
Edinburgh Council and use in relation to George Street New Town project 

Atkins assumes no responsibility to any other party in respect of or arising out of or in connection with this 
document and/or its contents. 

This document has 28 pages including the cover. 

 

Document history 
Document title: Getting Home Safely Technical Note 

Document reference: GNT-ATK-GHS-ZZZZZ-FN-ZS-000001 

Revision Purpose description Originated Checked Reviewed Authorised Date 

1.0 Draft technical note KC AM SS UF 20/05/22 

2.0 Revised technical note KC AM JA JA 17/08/22 

       

       

 

 

  

Page 167



 
 

 

GNT-ATK-GHS-ZZZZZ-FN-ZS-000002 |2.0 | August 2022 

Atkins | Getting Home Safely Technical Note Page 3 of 28 
 

 

1. Introduction 

1.1. George Street New Town Project 
George Street (GS) and the wider First New Town (FNT) area supports a wide range of City functions, 
serving as a key role for the local economy, residents, events and tourism. It is also a key element in the city 
centre’s travel network for non-motorised users, public transport and vehicle users. The FNT is an important 
destination in terms of experiencing Edinburgh and it has a critical economic, cultural, and functional role in 
shaping the City’s national and international profile. 

The design seeks to deliver a high-quality public realm environment which will enhance the area’s identity as 
a world class destination. The rationale is to provide an adaptable yet robust design which will prioritise the 
movement of pedestrians walking and wheeling, cyclists and public transport users. The ambition of the 
design is to generate increased footfall and to create a space which supports increased dwell times. 

Core elements of the design include: 

• Delivering a design solution which gives priority to pedestrian movement, considering set periods of the 
day where the streets operate without non-essential vehicle access but permitting bus services and blue 
badge access where appropriate. 

• Incorporation of wider city Active Travel ambitions and form part of the City Centre West-to-East Cycle 
Link (CCWEL) Route and Meadows to George Street. Use of this facility is to be retained year-round. 

• Maintaining the current local bus passenger services within the area; with limited bus stop and route 
realignments, in-keeping with City of Edinburgh Council’s wider Bus Network Review plans. 

• Prioritising blue-badge parking within the GSNT area and essential resident parking within the scheme 
area, to support close access for those who most need it, and reallocating parking bays from GS within 
the First New Town where this may be possible.  

• Reducing vehicle traffic movements at all junctions including George Street, Hanover Street and 
Frederick Street, to support essential access requirements through the First New Town. 

1.2. Getting Home Safely Assessment 
Women’s safety in public spaces is at the forefront of the political, public and community agendas in 
Edinburgh. The City of Edinburgh Council (CEC) has taken the opportunity to transform its city centre to 
ensure these spaces are safe and comfortable for vulnerable users, including women and girls of all ages 
and abilities, and the Equally Safe strategy for women and girls supports and progresses these aims.  

Atkins have been enrolled on the George Street New Town (GSNT) project to support this vision, and use 
their ‘Getting Home Safely – design for women by women’ approach to ensure that good design for women’s 
safety is embedded in the project, by taking into account gender nuances which impact the safety of users of 
public spaces.   

The Getting Home Safely (GHS) toolkit has been developed by Atkins, using best practice from other widely 
available assessments of public space (i.e. Walking Route Audit Tool, Healthy Street etc), and has been 
adapted and extended to cover gender nuances in public space design. The GHS toolkit assesses public 
areas and streetscapes against six key themes: 

• Landscape 

• Infrastructure 

• Human Presence 

• Digital 

• ‘Love my Street’ 

• Community / social  

This audit therefore goes above and beyond more conventional streetscape audit tools by DfT, Transport 
Scotland and others. A full list of the metrics considered within each of the GHS themes is provided in 
Appendix A. 

Page 168



 
 

 

GNT-ATK-GHS-ZZZZZ-FN-ZS-000002 |2.0 | August 2022 

Atkins | Getting Home Safely Technical Note Page 4 of 28 
 

 

Figure 1 - Getting Home Safely Toolkit criteria goes above and beyond existing audits to consider 
multiple factors surrounding women's safety. 

This document outlines the approach and findings of our ‘Getting Home Safely’ – women’s safety 
assessment - of GSNT, covering the existing baseline conditions and a review of Stage 2 and Stage 3 
proposals for the area. 

 

2. Approach 
The GHS approach for GSNT has used the following approach: 

 

The following data sources were used to inform the assessment: 

• Desktop research – focussing on understanding the socio demographic context, crime levels, area 
context and supporting evidence for the GHS themes. 

• Stakeholder engagement – to provide context and local knowledge to inform the baseline review of 
GS.  

• GHS site audits – conducted in both daylight (10/03/2022) and hours of darkness (09/03/2022).  

Using the insight collected from the above sources, the GHS toolkit has been used to assess the existing 
situation on GS against the 30 GHS metrics, using a reg-amber-green (RAG) approach1 to assess the public 

 

1 Where a range of scores are applicable to a public space, the assessment score presents the weakest score within to 
ensure a fair evaluation and highlight the least optimum areas within a public space. 

Review 
designs 

against GHS 
criteria and 

opportunities 

Existing 
situation 

assessment 

Identify 
opportunities 
to enhance 
safety for 

women and 
girls 

Desktop 
research 

Stakeholder 
engagemen

t 

Site audits 

Page 169



 
 

 

GNT-ATK-GHS-ZZZZZ-FN-ZS-000002 |2.0 | August 2022 

Atkins | Getting Home Safely Technical Note Page 5 of 28 
 

space against our GHS metric criteria. The RAG approach provides a visual tool to assess and prioritise 
areas for improvements, supported by qualitative comments / reasoning behind the RAG rating.  

The GHS assessment on the existing situation in GS highlights the key issues for women’s safety in the 
area, and identifies opportunities to improve safety for all in the redevelopment of GSNT.  

Following on from this, the Atkins GHS toolkit has been used to review the proposals for GSNT (both Stage 
2 and Stage 3 designs), to ensure that opportunities identified to improve safety for women and girls are met 
in the current stage of design or highlighted for inclusion as the scheme develops. 

2.1.1. Stakeholder engagement  
Table 1 summarises the engagement with stakeholders that has been used to inform the GHS assessment. 

Table 1 - GHS Stakeholder engagement 

Date Format Attendees  Key themes discussed 

07/03/2022  Video call Daisy Narayanan (CEC Mobility 
and Placemaking Senior 
Manager) 

GHS methodology and audit process. 

High level considerations for the GHS 
audit themes. 

09/03/2022  In-person 
event 

Heather Clark (Police Scotland, 
Women’s Safety Portfolio) 

Lynsay Claxton (Police 
Scotland, Disability Portfolio 
Holder) 

Shona Clelland (CEC Culture, 
runs Assembly Rooms) 

William Duncan (George Street 
Assembly, Chair) 

Katherine Henebry (Sustrans) 

Tony Holsgrove (CEC, GNT 
Project Manager) 

Kirsty Lewin (Spokes, 
InfraSisters) 

Emily Noble (Police Scotland, 
Race & Religion Portfolio 
Holder) 

Angela Voulgari (CEC, 
Edinburgh Equally Safe) 

Wide ranging discussion at stakeholder 
event, covering issues such as: 

• Importance of operations (including 
access / servicing) and maintenance 
to the functioning of GS;  

• Safety for cyclists, including well-lit 
cycle parking;  

• Essential Edinburgh currently fund a 
rapid response police team, which 
should be retained. Some concern 
over safety on Rose Street and The 
Lanes;  

• Concern over lack of CCTV, lighting 
and surveillance on the street, which 
are considered important to 
women’s safety; 

• Police Scotland have a training, 
“Don’t Be a Bystander”, which they 
could adapt for local staff; 

• Construction environments should 
also be considered for women. 

09/03/2022  Site visit Lesley McInnes (CEC, 
Transport & Environment 
Convener) 

Jo Mowat (Conservative 
Councillor for Edinburgh City 
Centre) 

Claire Miller (Green Councillor 
for Edinburgh City Centre) 

Walk through of George St during hours 
of dusk / darkness, with councillors 
highlighting key areas and 
considerations for women’s safety in the 
area based on personal experience or 
reported issues. 

10/03/2022  In-person 
event 

Grant Stewart (Essential 
Edinburgh, Projects Manager) 

Key issues from Essential Edinburgh 
BID (Business Improvement District), 
including the need for more police 
coverage outside of events (Edinburgh 
festival etc), as police presence was 
indicated to be valued in local surveys. 
Noted cleaning and maintenance should 
be part of operation proposals (also 

Page 170



 
 

 

GNT-ATK-GHS-ZZZZZ-FN-ZS-000002 |2.0 | August 2022 

Atkins | Getting Home Safely Technical Note Page 6 of 28 
 

Date Format Attendees  Key themes discussed 

noted seating if often frequented by 
drinkers). Safety and security of the area 
is a top priority for BID members.  

11/03/2022  Video call Heather Clark (Police Scotland) 
Judith Cowie (CEC Active 
Travel Lead) 
Shirley McLaren (CEC 
Community Safety) 
Angela Voulgari (CEC, 
Edinburgh Equally Safe) 

Neil Whiteside (Police 
Scotland) 

Discussions on issues / initiatives 
including: 

• City-wide CCTV being upgraded to 
digital; 

• Working with BT to put in a 5G 
network which will be present on GS 
and Princes Street; 

• City Free Wi-Fi is now available; 

• Eight wayfinding signs are planned 
for the city centre; 

• Considerable change in atmosphere 
on George St with different activities 
including the Festival and outdoor 
dining; 

• There was a desire to expand the 
project to review the New Town 
more broadly and consider impacts 
of George St proposals on 
surrounding streets; 

• It was noted that the WSPP group 
was already working on mapping 
crime levels. 

05/04/2022 Video call 
(held as 
stakeholder 
was unable 
to attend in 
person event 
on 
09/03/2022). 

 

Annette Pollock (Edinburgh 
Access Panel - EAP) 

 

Discussion on GHS including the need 
to consider women of all ages and 
abilities, with specific needs for visibility 
and good lighting with few shadows, 
non-slip paving material in a limited 
colour palette. Emphasised importance 
of taxis and other vehicles for mobility 
impaired individuals. EAP supports 
seating and CCTV. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 171



 
 

 

GNT-ATK-GHS-ZZZZZ-FN-ZS-000002 |2.0 | August 2022 

Atkins | Getting Home Safely Technical Note Page 7 of 28 
 

3. Existing conditions GHS assessment 

3.1. Existing conditions  
Table 2 summarises the findings of the GHS existing conditions assessment. It encompasses insight from 
desktop research, stakeholder engagement and site audit.  

The Red-Amber-Green (RAG) score has been added to each of the metrics within the GHS themes to 
provide a visual indication of how the area performs against GHS categories. It therefore identifies where 
there are opportunities for improvement in the area.  Areas marked in grey indicate the categories are not 
applicable in this assessment or are not considered in the GHS toolkit. Opportunities identified through the 
assessment are indexed within Table 2 and are detailed further in Table 3. 

 

Page 172



 
 

 

GNT-ATK-GHS-ZZZZZ-FN-ZS-000002 |2.0 | August 2022 

Atkins | Getting Home Safely Technical Note Page 8 of 28 
 

 

Table 2 - Existing conditions GHS assessment 

Theme Category 
Daytime assessment Night time assessment 

Supporting photographs 
GHS 
score 

Comments  
GHS 
score 

Comments 

Landscape 

Vegetation n/a  

N/A. A few planters noted in the middle of GS, placed by the 
BID. 

There are however a number of planters, privately owned by 
venues along the street. These are generally under a metre in 
height but do include small trees. Whilst these provide an 
enhanced softer environment along the street, they do provide 
some hidden areas at points along the route.  Opportunity L1. 

n/a   

    
 

Planters and vegetation along the route 
 

      

       
Large obstructions along footway 

 

 
Servicing vehicles present obstructions to footway 

(periodically) 

Seating  1 

No public seating along the route. One bus stop with a resting 
place noted. Hospitality venues place private seating outside 
premises, solely for use of customers. Opportunity L2. 

1 

No real change between daytime and night time 
conditions. Opportunity L2. 

Walls or 
barriers 

3 

No walls or barriers along the route. With the exception of one 
set of guard railings (which offer clear visibility through the 
railing posts) around the junction of GS and Hanover Street. 

n/a   

Legibility of 
routes  

3 

Route is legible, with good visibility. No wayfinding signage at 
present, but street names, known venues and monuments at 
each junction provide natural wayfinding.  Opportunity L3 

3 

No real change between daytime and night time 
conditions noted as the street has a general level of 
ambient lighting. 

Large 
obstructions 

2 

Several large obstructions noted on footways, including phone 
boxes, utility boxes, and large public and commercial bins. 
There are a number of unsightly utility boxes / cabinets which, 
if their use is redundant, could be removed. Opportunity L4. 

Servicing vehicles / loading often presents large obstructions 
to footway and highway.  Opportunity L5. 

2 

No real change between daytime and night time 
conditions. Opportunity L4. 

 

 

 

 

P
age 173



 
 

 

GNT-ATK-GHS-ZZZZZ-FN-ZS-000002 |2.0 | August 2022 

Atkins | Getting Home Safely Technical Note Page 9 of 28 
 

Theme Category 
Daytime assessment Nighttime assessment 

Supporting photographs 
GHS 
score 

Comments  
GHS 
score 

Comments 

Human 
Presence 

Positive On 
street 
activity 

3 

Good pedestrian flow along the majority of sections of the street, 
particularly heavy at the points of intersection with side roads. The 
lowest pedestrian flow was at the Charlotte Square end of the 
street. Broad range of uses - people accessing work, hospitality 
venues and facilities along the route.  Opportunity HP1 

2 

Some pedestrian flow related early evening uses of the street 
such as outdoor drinking and dining, with more pedestrian 
traffic at intersections. Level of activity dependent on peak 
time (i.e., higher at weekends). Opportunity HP1 

     

Architecture along George St presents multiple hidden and 
dark corners/areas 

 
 

Example active building frontages (including high level 
windows that reduce eyes on street) 

      
 

Some glass frontages providing eyes on the street 
 

 

Passageway between GS and Rose Street 

Negative On 
street 
activity 

3 No negative on street activity observed during daytime hours. 1 

Negative on-street activity observed, in particular from male 
customers leaving hospitality venues. Noted by stakeholders 
that this is a common occurrence and there is a change in 
use / activity from 9pm onwards. Observations of vomit on 
street in pre-dawn hours prior to street cleaning activities.  
Opportunity HP2 

Active 
building 
frontages 

2 

Active frontages are mixed. Architecture of some buildings means 
window height is very high at ground level in many buildings and 
reduces the eyes on the street. There is also a higher intensity of 
office and residential use on the upper floors of buildings. The 
Charlotte Square end of George St has hospitality venues, 
although it was very quiet and isolated during the night-time audit.  
The mixture of retail, hotels, restaurants etc along George St 
means that there are likely to be pedestrians at all times of the 
day.  Opportunity HP3 

2 

Natural surveillance is likely to be higher at all times of the 
day in the summer when there is seating outside hospitality 
venues. The mixture of retail, hotels, restaurants etc along 
GS means that there are likely to be pedestrians at all times 
of the day. Opportunity HP3 

Glass 
frontages 

1 

Few buildings have full glass frontages in the ground and first 
storey levels. Windows in other buildings are often at high levels 
that prohibit viewing activity on street.  Opportunity HP3 

1 No real change between daytime and night-time conditions. 

Overlooking 
by 
residential 
properties  

2 

Residential properties along the route are not at ground level 
which reduces potential for natural surveillance. Noted that many 
are rented as office space or short term let (i.e., Airbnb) and do 
not provide consistent surveillance. Opportunity HP4 

n/a   

Presence of 
hidden 
corners / 
areas 

1 

The nature of the buildings with large entrances, staired 
entrances, columns and staggered frontages results in multiple 
areas where people could lurk / hide.  There is little CCTV along 
GS to alleviate concerns around hidden / dark areas. Opportunity 
HP5 

A passageway adjacent to the Assembly Rooms which links to 
Rose Street was identified as a particular hazard by stakeholders 
- although this does not have public access rights and is generally 
locked during the hours of darkness. Opportunity HP6 

1 

Multiple building frontages presented opportunities for hidden 
corners.  Opportunity HP6 

Presence of 
staff / 
support   

2 

Traffic warden observed in the daytime audit. Reported that the 
BID fund a police officer to patrol the area in periods of peak 
activity, and that other staff are in place at certain time periods 
including taxi marshals and voluntary groups such as Street 
Assist. These were not evident at time of audit but may be 
focussed on weekend peak periods.  Opportunity HP7 

2 

Some private members of security staff noted at 
establishments along the route. Reported that the BID fund a 
police officer to patrol the area in periods of peak activity, and 
that other staff are in place at certain time periods including 
taxi marshals and voluntary groups such as Street Assist. 
These were not evident at time of audit but may be focussed 
on weekend peak periods. Opportunity HP7 

 

 

P
age 174



 
 

 

GNT-ATK-GHS-ZZZZZ-FN-ZS-000002 |2.0 | August 2022 

Atkins | Getting Home Safely Technical Note Page 10 of 28 
 

Theme Category 
Daytime assessment Nighttime assessment 

Supporting photographs 
GHS 
score 

Comments  
GHS 
score 

Comments 

Digital 

Mobile voice 
coverage 

3 

Good mobile voice coverage at present, and city-wide free Wi-
Fi is also available now.  Opportunity D1 

n/a  

  

Mobile data 
coverage 

3 Good mobile data coverage at present. Opportunity D1 n/a  

 

Local use of 
safety 
reporting 
apps  

3 

Whilst there is local use of several different safety reporting 
apps (Hollie Guard, Follow It, Bright Sky, Circle of 6, 
Kitestring), none are promoted by the Local Authority. 
However, Hollie Guard is promoted by the Edinburgh division 
of Police Scotland.  

n/a  

 

Promotion of 
tracking / 
emergency 
contact apps 
or 
programmes 

1 

No evidence of promotion of tracking apps or services in site 
audit. Several apps are noted in the area (both national and 
local apps), but usage levels are unknown. Noted in the 
desktop review that Edinburgh residents have been 
encouraged to download the Hollie Guard app by Edinburgh 
Police, however no evidence of this in site audit. Opportunity 
D2 

1 

No evidence of promotion of tracking or safety apps noted 
in night-time audit. Opportunity D2 

Accurate 
digital 
wayfinding / 
mapping of 
local area 

3 

George St and surrounding areas are well-mapped and 
accurate on all major platforms including Google Maps, City 
Mapper, Transport for Edinburgh. TfE have also developed 
pdf maps available online. Opportunity D3 

n/a  

 

 

  

P
age 175



 
 

 

GNT-ATK-GHS-ZZZZZ-FN-ZS-000002 |2.0 | August 2022 

Atkins | Getting Home Safely Technical Note Page 11 of 28 
 

 

Theme Category 

Daytime assessment Night time assessment 
Supporting photographs 

 

GHS 
score 

Comments  
GHS 
score 

Comments 
 

Infra- 
structure 

Network 
connectivity 
and 
permeability 

2 

George St is well-connected to surrounding areas, with 
intersecting streets approximately every 200m. However, the 
central car parking areas create a barrier to pedestrian 
crossings away from these formal crossing areas.  
Opportunity I1 

n/a   

    
Lighting on building facades 

 

    
Wide footways along the length of GS, with some clutter 

and uneven surfaces 

    
Crossing points at desire lines 

 
Informal crossing points created through ‘island’ parking in 

central area on GS.  
 

         
Cycle parking (formal and informal) along GS 

Width of 
footways  

3 

Wide footways throughout route extent. Footway use by 
hospitality venues for outside drinking and dining and for 
queuing for entrance to night time entertainment 
establishments is well controlled and does not unacceptably 
narrow footway width.   

n/a   

Street 
lighting 

2 

Lighting is consistent along the route from wall mounted lights, 
however, is not at a great intensity along the centre of the 
route.  Opportunity I2 

2 No complete dark spots observed during night time audit 

Footway 
condition 

1 

Evidence of uneven surfaces in paving along the route and 
crossing points which could present mobility challenges to any 
users on wheels (e.g., wheelchair, buggy, child’s scooter). 
Some significant defects noted through cracked paving and 
uneven tactile paving. Opportunity I3 

n/a   

Pedestrian-
friendly 
crossings at 
street-level 
that meet 
desire lines 

2 

Formal crossing points at all intersecting roads, and along the 
street in line with current car parking provision in street.   

Parking in central area on GS allows more informal crossing 
points but can present a safety hazard. Area is not heavily 
trafficked. 

2 

Informal crossing more challenging in hours of darkness 
due to parking in central area.  

Cycle / 
scooter 
parking  

1 

Cycle / scooter parking is located at the ends of the central 
parking zone, which require crossing two lanes of traffic to 
access. Non-standard cycle parking is not available. Evidence 
of informal “fly parking” suggests demand higher than existing 
provision. Opportunity I4 

1 

Parking benefitted from ambient lighting but not particularly 
well-lit during hours of darkness. 

  

P
age 176



 
 

 

GNT-ATK-GHS-ZZZZZ-FN-ZS-000002 |2.0 | August 2022 

Atkins | Getting Home Safely Technical Note Page 12 of 28 
 

 

Theme Category 
Daytime assessment Night time assessment 

Supporting photographs 
GHS 
score 

Comments  
GHS 
score 

Comments 

Community 
/ Social 

Presence of 
community 
groups 

1 

Evidence of presence of BID through planters located at 
crossing points, but no other evidence of active community 
groups observed.  Opportunity CS1 

n/a  

  

Positive 
behaviour 
campaigns 

1 

Several campaigns within Edinburgh to encourage positive 
behaviour, however no evidence of promotion or use of these 
noted on site. Opportunity CS2 

1 

Again, no evidence of promotion of positive behaviour 
campaigns to target reported problematic evening 
behaviours. 

Presence of 
Safe Havens 

1 

No evidence of safe havens or other similar schemes. 
Opportunity CS3 

1 No evidence of safe havens or other similar schemes. 

Love My 
Street 

Artwork / 
public space 
design 

1 

No evidence of local artwork or public involvement.  

Opportunity LMS1 
n/a   

 

Artwork on passageway between GS and Rose Street; 
approach could be used to create community involement 

in GS 

 

Graffiti on doorways, litter boxes and other furniture along 
GS 

Maintenance 
reporting 

1 

No evidence of maintenance reporting, although desktop 
research identified options through Council website or “Fix My 
Street” app.  Opportunity LMS2 

n/a   

Area 
maintenance 

1 

Litter noted along extent of GS. Vomit along street in early 
hours of morning. Graffiti noted on bins and other signage / 
property along extent of route. Opportunity LMS3 

1 As per daytime audit. 

Community 
involvement 

1 

BID provides some community involvement but minimal. 
Opportunity LMS1 

 On/a   

      

 

P
age 177



 
 

 

GNT-ATK-GHS-ZZZZZ-FN-ZS-000002 |2.0 | August 2022 

Atkins | Getting Home Safely Technical Note Page 13 of 28 
 

4. Existing situation - Opportunities 
Through the GHS assessment of the existing situation, a number of opportunities have been identified to 
improve safety for women and girls in the development of GSNT. These have been developed though 
consideration of the RAG status of the assessment of the existing situation, as well as recognised measures 
to enhance safety for women and girls (and all). These are shown below, ordered by theme:  

Table 3 – Opportunities / recommendations identified to enhance women’s safety from baseline 
situation 

Landscape 

L1 

Provision of vegetation <1m in height, if well-maintained, will provide a softer and more 
ambient environment along the street. 

Engagement with businesses to ensure any vegetation is well-maintained and does 
not present any opportunity for hiding places or infringe on street space. 

L2 

Seating along the route in well lit, open, and high footfall areas will provide resting 
points and enhanced pedestrian environments. Use of natural materials should be 
considered to provide more ambient environments and a variety of arrangements to 
suit different needs.  

L3 

Wayfinding signage would assist in directing pedestrian flow along the route, 
identifying onward transport including buses and taxi ranks, and maximising footfall to 
local venues. George Street should be included in the roll out of wayfinding signage in 
the area. 

L4 

No real evidence of use of phone boxes, so consider removing, or re-siting / 
redesigning. Commercial litter bins are large and present obstructions. Lower-level 
bins with recycling facilities would provide less obstruction along the route. There are a 
number of unsightly utility boxes / cabinets which, if their use is redundant, could be 
removed. 

L5 

Consider operations of the street – including disabled parking, loading, and servicing 
requirements along the street in an operations plan to ensure these activities do not 
present obstructions to footfall or impact on environment along GS and promote 
accessibility. 

Human 
Presence 

HP1 
Opportunities to increase the level of footfall at the Charlotte Square end of the street, 
including potentially discussions with the private owner to see if public access rights 
for the Square can be secured.  

HP2 
Behaviour campaigns and staff presence along the route, particularly during periods of 
peak activity from hospitality venues, may assist in reducing negative behaviour on the 
street. 

HP3 
Any new buildings introduced to the street should consider the need for eyes on the 
street (facilitated by planning policy).  

HP4 
Planning policies should encourage street level development uses which support 
greater surveillance, as well as greater residential density on upper floors. 

HP5 
Provision of CCTV would support surveillance and feelings of safety along the route, 
specifically where there are hidden / dark corners due to building architecture and 
high-level windows which do now allow for natural surveillance.   

HP6 
Ongoing engagement with building owners / venue operators should be undertaken to 
ensure that passageways with no public access rights continue to be locked during the 
hours of darkness. 

HP7 
Opportunity to increase staff / support presence (i.e., help points) to enhance safety, 
particularly during night time hours and hours where there is negative on street 
behaviour. 

Digital D1 
CEC is working with communications providers to identify priority areas for 5G roll out. 
GS should be considered as a priority candidate. 

Page 178



 
 

 

GNT-ATK-GHS-ZZZZZ-FN-ZS-000002 |2.0 | August 2022 

Atkins | Getting Home Safely Technical Note Page 14 of 28 
 

D2 
Promotion of safety apps along the route, in establishments and on public transport / 
cycle parking to widen awareness and use of these apps. 

D3 
Ensure wayfinding maps are continually updated to reflect changes to the streetscape, 
land uses and venues. 

Infrastructure 

I1 Removal of central car parking to improve legibility for pedestrians crossing the street.  

I2 
Overall improvement to paving condition on footways required, along with regular 
maintenance to fix cracked and loose paving. 

I3 
There is an opportunity to introduce additional street lighting, which could be focussed 
in certain areas or activities, such as at cycle parking.   

I4 

Provision of enhanced and additional cycle parking to match requirements, and place 
appropriately to provide easy access along GS and to remove safety hazards of 
crossing highway. Cycle usage surveys could be undertaken to understand current 
usage levels. 

Community / 
Social 

CS1 
Engage with community groups to provide sense of ownership and involvement along 
the route. Community artwork and small 'parklets' provided and maintained by 
community groups would provide a positive community-owned feature.  

CS2 
Further promotion of positive behaviour campaigns to assist in reducing negative 
behaviour on street particularly during night time hours. 

CS3 
Engage with BID to develop safe havens along the extent of GS covering daytime and 
night time hours. 

Love My 
Street 

LMS1 
Engage with local community groups and artists to provide on street art works and 
features like small parklets to create a more welcoming environment. 

LMS2 
Appropriate information displayed at key points along the route to enable efficient 
maintenance reporting.  

LMS3 
Improve maintenance approach along the street extent. Requirements for continuing a 
high level of street cleaning (particularly around dawn) to ensure a clean and ambient 
environment, encouraging positive on street activity. 

  

  

Page 179



 
 

 

GNT-ATK-GHS-ZZZZZ-FN-ZS-000002 |2.0 | August 2022 

Atkins | Getting Home Safely Technical Note Page 15 of 28 
 

5. Stage 2 and 3 design GHS assessment  
Stage 2 and 3 design proposals for GS were reviewed by the GHS team in March 2022. The following 
documentation was used to inform the assessment: 

• Stage 2: 

- 2021-05-10_GNTST2 WYG Draft Concept GA including Junction Layouts 

- 7035_GNTST2_Rendered Plan-A0 L 

- GNTST2 Operational Plan FINAL 

• Stage 3:    

- GNT-ATK-HGN-ZZZZZ-DT-CH-000001 through GNT-ATK-HGN-ZZ-DR-CH-000104 (dated 
18/03/2022) 

- 2022.03.21_George Street Fly Through - Hi-res 

It should be noted that night time assessments of Stage 2 and 3 designs are indicative, as a complete set of 
design drawings had not been created to show hours of darkness.  This is a further recommendation for 
design teams and CEC to ensure that all future design drawings created for the scheme (and indeed 
on all projects) are prepared to show both daylight and darkness to enable a clear understanding of the 
streetscape in both conditions. 

Table 4 provides a RAG summary of the Stage 2 and 3 design proposals, in comparison to the existing 
baseline conditions. A full breakdown of the GHS design assessment for the Stage 2 and 3 designs is 
presented in Appendix B and C. 

 

Page 180



 
 

 

GNT-ATK-GHS-ZZZZZ-FN-ZS-000002 |2.0 | August 2022 

Atkins | Getting Home Safely Technical Note Page 16 of 28 
 

 

Table 4 – GHS assessment summary, Stage 2 and 3 designs compared to existing situation. 

Theme Category 

 Daytime  Night time  Comments 

 Existing Stage 2 Stage 3  Existing Stage 2 Stage 3  

Landscape 

Vegetation 

 

n/a 
       Stage 2 and 3 design proposals include vegetation planters, to provide zones in 

GS. Exact height specifications are not included in the designs, but currently 
considered to be under 1m in height. 

Seating  

 

1 
       Stage 2 and 3 design proposals include landscaped seating areas along both 

sides of the street. Increasing footfall and eyes on the street and providing a 
more welcoming environment for social interaction. 

Walls or barriers 
 

3        No walls or barriers over 1m in height included in the design proposals. 

Legibility of routes  

 

3 

       Landscaped seating areas with a different character for each block in GS will 
assist in making the environment more legible for all. Increase in pedestrian 
space and removal of vehicular space along GS will assist in improving the 
environment and legibility for pedestrians. 

Large obstructions 

 

2 

       Stage 2/3 design proposals remove large obstructions along the length of GS 
previously identified in existing situation (phone boxes, large litter bins etc). 
Further items are placed within the design (seating, bollards etc), but these are 
all under 1m in height.  

Human 
Presence 

Positive On street activity 

 

3 

       No considerable change from existing conditions. The Stage 2/3 designs provide 
an enhanced pedestrian environment, with seating and space for social 
interaction that should assist with increasing pedestrian flow and positive on 
street activity. However, the movement of vehicles, bus stops and taxi services / 
cars from GS will however reduce natural surveillance – which may reduce 
benefits of natural surveillance and positive on street activity, particularly during 
the hours of darkness.   

CEC is minded enabling access to licensed taxis aligned to service Windows 
especially to support night time economy. Buses only service two blocks of the 
Street currently. Buses will remain on interconnecting streets of 
Hanover/Frederick and South St Andrews Street. Project team will aim to ensure 
bus stops on interconnecting streets are as close to George St junctions as 
possible. 

Negative On street activity 

 

3 

       No considerable change from existing conditions. The Stage 2/3 designs provide 
an enhanced pedestrian environment, with seating and space for social 
interaction that should assist with increasing pedestrian flow and positive on 
street activity. The movement of bus stops and taxi services during day time 
hours will reduce presence of passing vehicles. Taxis access is proposed to 
remain during the evening/night, and service/loading vehicles will remain present 
especially during evening and early morning service windows, so there will be 
some natural surveillance along the street during evening hours. Emergency 
service vehicles  will have improved visibility of George Street with removal of 
parked cars/vans. 

Active building frontages 

 

2        No change from existing situation as designs do not include any changes to 
buildings along the length of GS.  

Glass frontages 

 

1        No change from existing situation as designs do not include any changes to 
buildings along the length of GS. 

Overlooking by residential 
properties  

 

2 

       No change from existing situation as designs do not include any changes to 
buildings along the length of GS. Currently, there are private security cameras 
throughout George Street which do not provide consistent coverage along the 
route. The stage 3 proposals state these will be replaced without enhancement. 

P
age 181



 
 

 

GNT-ATK-GHS-ZZZZZ-FN-ZS-000002 |2.0 | August 2022 

Atkins | Getting Home Safely Technical Note Page 17 of 28 
 

Theme Category 

 Daytime  Night time  Comments 

 Existing Stage 2 Stage 3  Existing Stage 2 Stage 3  

Presence of hidden corners / areas 

 

1 

       As per the existing situation, the architecture on GS presents hidden corners and 
dark areas. However, the designs show there will be a clear line of sight along 
GS, with large obstacles and parking removed to create clutter free areas with 
increased visibility and a reduced number of hidden corners.  

Presence of staff / support   

 

2 

       There will be a reduction in parking attendants along the route due to the removal 
of parking in the central area. However, there will be increased presence and 
footfall along the route due to provision of seating and hospitality venues having 
more space to provide outside seating. (Stage 2 designs did not have any 
evidence of this, hence Red status). In addition, there may be further staff 
presence through landscaping / maintenance staff and taxi marshals, but this has 
not been confirmed at this stage. 

Digital 

Mobile voice coverage 
 

3        Stage 2/3 designs do not alter the current provision of mobile voice / data 
coverage, hence scored as per existing situation. 

Mobile data coverage 
 

3        

Local use of safety reporting apps  

 

3        Use of local safety reporting apps is scored as per existing situation. 

Promotion of tracking / emergency 
contact apps or programmes 

 

1        Promotion of tracking / emergency contact apps would not be included in the 
Stage 2/3 designs, hence not assessed.  

Accurate digital wayfinding / 
mapping of local area 

 

3        No change from existing situation – local digital wayfinding / mapping of local 
area is accurately mapped for pedestrian accessibility. 

Infra- 
structure 

Network connectivity and 
permeability 

 

2 

       Both Stage 2 and 3 increase pedestrians’ space and make improvements to 
crossing facilities / opportunities on adjoining streets, improving connections to 
other routes, and allowing greater route choice. The designs will connect several 
cycle routes. 

Width of footways  

 

3        Stage 2 and 3 designs significantly increase pedestrian footways (to approx. 
4.5m on each side of GS), as vehicular space decreases.  

Street lighting 

 

2        Street lighting is outside of the remit of the current design proposals, hence not 
assessed for Stage 2 or 3. 

Footway condition 

 

1 

       Increased size of footway with smooth finishes and clear designation between 
footway and vehicular / cycle area.  Designs create clear pedestrian space with 
zoning of areas. Granite is proposed at Stage 3 to provide robust and durable 
material that should stay in good condition for longer than alternatives.  

Pedestrian-friendly crossings at 
street-level that meet desire lines 

 

2 
       Designs have considered desire lines and improves freedom of movement 

through the reduction of vehicular space (including parking) and improves 
crossings with adjacent streets.  

Cycle / scooter parking  

 

1 
       Cycle parking will be adjacent to the cycleway at regular intervals along both 

sides of George Street. There would be an increased capacity of 150 bicycles, 
however these are based on standard cycles only. 

Community 
/ Social 

Presence of community groups 
 

1        

N/A - These elements would not be included in Stage 3 designs, but should be 
considered as the GSNT project progresses 

Positive behaviour campaigns 
 

1        

Presence of Safe Havens 
 

1        

Love My 
Street 

Artwork / public space design 
 

1        

Maintenance reporting 
 

1        

Area maintenance 
 

1        

Community involvement 
 

1        

 

  

P
age 182



 
 

 

GNT-ATK-GHS-ZZZZZ-FN-ZS-000002 |2.0 | August 2022 

Atkins | Getting Home Safely Technical Note Page 18 of 28 
 

Table 5 – Opportunities tracker 

Theme Opportunity / Recommendations Addressed Outstanding Action 

Landscape 

L1 

Provision of vegetation <1m in height, if well-maintained, will provide a softer and more ambient 
environment along the street. 

Engagement with businesses to ensure any vegetation is well-maintained and does not present any 
opportunity for hiding places or infringe on street space. 

✓  
Ensure these design elements are included as the design for GS is further 
developed to maintain current benefit of Stage 3 design for women’s safety. 

L2 
Seating along the route, in well lit, open, and high footfall areas will provide resting points and enhanced 
pedestrian environments. Use of natural materials should be considered to provide more ambient 
environments, and a variety of arrangements to suit different needs.  

✓  

L3 
Wayfinding signage would assist in directing pedestrian flow along the route, identifying onward 
transport including buses and taxi ranks, and maximising footfall to local venues. George Street should 
be included in the roll out of wayfinding signage in the area. 

 ✓ 
CEC to engage with wayfinding teams to ensure George Street is included in 
wayfinding scheme 

L4 

No real evidence of use of phone boxes, so consider removing, or re-siting / redesigning. Commercial 
litter bins are large and present obstructions. Lower-level bins with recycling facilities would provide less 
obstruction along the route. There are several unsightly utility boxes / cabinets which, if their use is 
redundant, could be removed. 

✓  
Ensure these design elements are included as the design for GS is further 
developed to maintain current benefit of Stage 3 design for women’s safety. 

L5 
Consider operations of the street – including disabled parking, loading, and servicing requirements 
along the street in an operations plan to ensure these activities do not present obstructions to footfall or 
impact on environment along GS and promote accessibility. 

 ✓ 
CEC to work with BID and other landowners to consider operations plan for 
GSNT 

Human 
Presence 

HP1 
Opportunities to increase the level of footfall at the Charlotte Square end of the street, including 
potentially pursuing discussions with the private owner to see if public access rights for the Square can 
be secured.  

 ✓ CEC to engage with landowners. 

HP2 
Behaviour campaigns and staff presence along the route, particularly during periods of peak activity 
from hospitality venues, may assist in reducing negative behaviour on the street.  ✓ 

CEC to engage with Police, BID and premise owners to roll out positive 
behaviour campaign and on GS (and surrounding areas). This should include a 
review of existing programmes in which venues/businesses are engaged, Police 
Scotland programmes, and outside opportunities.  

HP3 
Any new buildings introduced to the street should consider the need for eyes on the street (facilitated by 
planning policy).   ✓ CEC to engage with planning teams and as appropriate with landowners. 

HP4 
Planning policies should encourage street level development uses which support greater surveillance, 
as well as greater residential density on upper floors.  ✓ CEC to monitor going forwards. 

HP5 
Provision of CCTV would support surveillance and feelings of safety along the route, specifically where 
there are hidden / dark corners due to building architecture and high-level windows which do now allow 
for natural surveillance.   

 ✓ 

CEC to consider placement of CCTV along GS (currently outside of scope of 
Stage 3 designs) Whilst private CCTV does exist on George Street, project team 
are speaking to CEC CCTV team to discuss improved coverage. CEC currently 
rolling out upgrade to existing CCTV network and GNT will be highlighted as 
area for potential enhancement as part of upgrade. 

HP6 
Ongoing engagement with building owners / venue operators should be undertaken to ensure that 
passageways with no public access rights continue to be locked during the hours of darkness.  ✓ CEC to engage with landowners. 

HP7 
Opportunity to increase staff / support presence (i.e., help points) to enhance safety, particularly during 
night time hours and hours where there is negative on street behaviour.  ✓ 

CEC to engage with BID, premise / landowners Police and community partners 
to ensure appropriate support is in place in GSNT, particularly during peak night 
time hospitality hours. 

Digital 

D1 
CEC is working with communications providers to identify priority areas for 5G roll out. GS should be 
considered as a priority candidate.  ✓ CEC to engage with teams involved in 5G roll out 

D2 
Promotion of safety apps along the route, in establishments and on public transport / cycle parking to 
widen awareness and use of these apps.  ✓ 

CEC to engage with BID, Police, premise owners and local safety app providers 
to promote apps and trackers and encourage use.  

D3 
Ensure wayfinding maps continually updated to reflect changes to the streetscape, land uses and 
venues.  ✓ CEC to monitor going forwards. 

Infra-
structure 

I1 Removal of central car parking to improve legibility for pedestrians crossing the street.  ✓  
Ensure these design elements are included as the design for GS is further 
developed to maintain current benefit of Stage 3 design for women’s safety. 

I2 
Overall improvement to paving condition on footways required, along with regular maintenance to fix 
cracked and loose paving. ✓  

P
age 183



 
 

 

GNT-ATK-GHS-ZZZZZ-FN-ZS-000002 |2.0 | August 2022 

Atkins | Getting Home Safely Technical Note Page 19 of 28 
 

Theme Opportunity / Recommendations Addressed Outstanding Action 

I3 
There is an opportunity to introduce additional street lighting, which could be focussed in certain areas 
or activities, such as at cycle parking.    ✓ 

Lighting is currently outside of the scope of the GSNT designs, however 
additional localised lighting would provide tangible impacts on feelings of safety 
in the area and should be considered.  

CEC are currently assessing current lighting levels in street to identify if 
enhancement required, and this will be included in scope if required at a later 
stage. 

I4 
Provision of enhanced and additional cycle parking to match requirements, and place appropriately to 
provide easy access along GS and to remove safety hazards of crossing highway. Cycle usage surveys 
could be undertaken to understand current usage levels. 

✓ ✓ 

Ensure this is included as the design for GS is further developed to maintain 
current benefit of Stage 3 design for women’s safety. Further surveys to 
understand current and estimated future cycle use. Provision for parking of non-
standard cycles including trailers and cargo bikes.  

Community 
/ Social 

CS1 
Engage with community groups to provide sense of ownership and involvement along the route. 
Community artwork and small 'parklets' provided and maintained by community groups would provide a 
positive community-owned feature.  

 ✓ 
CEC and BID to engage with community groups to investigate inclusion local 
artworks and displays to GSNT and approach roads 

CS2 
Further promotion of positive behaviour campaigns to assist in reducing negative behaviour on street 
particularly during night time hours.  ✓ 

CEC to engage with Police, BID, premise owners and organisations such as St 
Andrews and George Church, New Town, and Broughton Borough Council 
(NTBCC), and George Street Association to roll out positive behaviour campaign 
and on GS (and surrounding areas) 

CS3 Engage with BID to develop safe havens along the extent of GS covering daytime and night time hours.  ✓ 
CEC and BID, New Town, and Broughton Borough Council (NTBCC), and 
George Street Association to work with premise owners to create safe havens 
along length of GSNT and surrounding roads. 

Love My 
Street 

LMS1 
Engage with local community groups and artists to provide on street art works and features like small 
parklets to create a more welcoming environment.  ✓ 

CEC and BID to engage with community groups to investigate inclusion local 
artworks and displays to GSNT and approach roads 

LMS2 
Appropriate information displayed at key points along the route to enable efficient maintenance 
reporting.   ✓ 

CEC to ensure that mechanisms for maintenance reporting are clear and 
provided at key points along GSNT and surrounding streets to ensure 
redevelopment of GS does not negatively impact on surrounding area 

LMS3 
Improve maintenance approach along street extent. Requirements for continuing a high level of street 
cleaning (particularly around dawn) to ensure a clean and ambient environment, encouraging positive 
on street activity. 

 ✓ 
CEC and BID to develop appropriate maintenance plan for GS, to include dawn 
cleaning specifically around periods of peak night time activity on GS. 

 

P
age 184



 
 

 

 GNT-ATK-GHS-ZZZZZ-FN-ZS-000001 |1.0 | August 2022 

Atkins | GNT-ATK-GHS-ZZZZZ-FN-ZS-000002 (003)_07092022 Page 20 of 28 
 

6. Conclusions and Recommendations 
The Getting Home Safely assessment has used background data, stakeholder feedback and GHS public space 
audits to provide an understanding of the existing situation on GS, which has allowed identification of several 
opportunities to enhance safety for women and girls in the development of GSNT. The Stage 2 and 3 design 
proposals for GSNT have been reviewed following the GHS themes and metrics, to understand what 
opportunities identified to enhance safety have been addressed in design, and where there is the potential to 
make further improvements. 

Overall, the Stage 3 designs to date improve the current situation in terms of safety for women and girls 
compared to existing conditions through enhancing pedestrian space. These improvements are generally 
around the landscape and infrastructure themes within the GHS assessment – for example through providing 
formal and informal crossing opportunities, removing large obstructions in the pedestrian footway and with 
greater eyes on the street through encouraging positive on street activity. CEC should seek to ensure that the 
good elements of Stage 3 designs in terms of women’s safety are taken forward into Stage 4 and onwards into 
construction. 

There are several additional opportunities that sit outside of the design remit at this Stage which would enhance 
safety for women and girls in GSNT.  These include:  

Design: 

• Design drawings should be prepared to consider both daylight and hours of darkness. This helps to 
illustrate the differences in environment between hours of light and darkness. Illustrating lighting levels 
along the street would assist in highlighting potential dark spots or spots in need of greater illumination. 
Localised lighting may be required at cycle parking and wayfinding.  

• Consideration of non-standard cycles including for cycle parking and that all hotspots of demand for cycle 
parking are met through cycle parking provision. 

• Wayfinding signage should be placed at key decision points on George St and should support integration 
with onward transport including buses and taxis. Consideration could also be given to integrated Help 
Points within the signage. 

• Include provision of enhanced digital CCTV, with sufficient lighting to ensure facial recognition on CCTV 
footage to support eyes on the street. 

Operations: 

• Ensure GSNT benefits from an upgraded 5G network being rolled out in Edinburgh, to enhance mobile and 
data access in addition to the city free Wi-Fi available.   

• Confirm appropriate operations plans to balance needs of communities and user groups as well as 
businesses. This includes loading as well as public transport, including taxis and accessibility. This will help 
pedestrian flow along GSNT and remove large barriers in the footway that present hidden corners. 

• Surrounding areas including the Lanes will be impacted by changes on George St and are part of the New 
Town commercial and hospitality neighbourhood, so should be considered as a wider zone when 
considering operations, maintenance, and safety / security programmes as well as CCTV and lighting.  

• Develop a maintenance plan to ensure a high standard is retained in vegetation, street furniture, and public 
realm, including day-to-day cleanliness of public spaces as well as regular upkeep and repairs. This will 
create a more welcoming public space, remove barriers along the street and ensure facilities are fit for 
purpose. This should be discussed with Essential Edinburgh BID in the first instance, as they provide an 
existing maintenance service for GS. An easy-to-use maintenance reporting mechanism such as a city-
wide mobile phone app would also be useful, ensuring that local people can quickly and easily report 
issues.  

Policy / planning: 

• CEC should engage with Planning to improve eyes on the street and provision of glass frontages for 
intervisibility in any new developments along GSNT (and indeed across the city). 

• Consider greater expression of the local culture and community through local artwork and spaces and 
involve community groups in the design and usage of public spaces - creating a sense of ownership and 
stewardship.  

• CEC to engage with BID, landowners, community groups and Police to consider and develop the following 
(non design solutions) to ensure a comprehensive support network for women and girls visiting GSNT 

Page 185



 
 

 

 GNT-ATK-GHS-ZZZZZ-FN-ZS-000001 |1.0 | August 2022 

Atkins | GNT-ATK-GHS-ZZZZZ-FN-ZS-000002 (003)_07092022 Page 21 of 28 
 

(noting that a range of support options would be more inclusive for all, as not everyone feels comfortable 
with Police presence): 

- Additional staff training for prevention of issues such as the Don’t Be a Bystander training available 
from Police Scotland. 

- Promotion of positive behaviour campaigns and engagement with management and staff of clubs and 
drinking establishments on GS on behaviour of male customers, through campaigns targeted toward 
men (e.g., London’s #HaveAWord campaign), additional support at closing time, staff training on 
addressing issues  

- Promotion of apps and existing services by Police Scotland and community groups (e.g., Street Assist 
provided by Essential Edinburgh, Strut Safe) to support women and other vulnerable groups finding 
support when needed and getting home safely. It should be acknowledged that not everyone feels 
comfortable seeking help or support from Police.    

- Provision of safe havens such as Ask Angela and others, along the length of GSNT, to ensure there 
are facilities along the length of GS (and surrounding roads) and that these are appropriately promoted. 

- Support for staff should be considered alongside customers, including for travel during hours of 
darkness and late at night. 

 
 
 

Page 186



 
 

 

 GNT-ATK-GHS-ZZZZZ-FN-ZS-000001 |1.0 | August 2022 

Atkins | GNT-ATK-GHS-ZZZZZ-FN-ZS-000002 (003)_07092022 Page 22 of 28 
 

Appendix A – GHS Toolkit elements 

Theme Category Criteria 
 

Landscape 

Vegetation Vegetation in the area is generally less than 1 metre in height, is not dense and comprises of trees rather than shrubs   

Seating  If present, seating / benches are positioned where there is good lighting, natural surveillance, CCTV surveillance and good visibility   

Walls or barriers Walls or barriers are kept to a minimum along the perimeters of the route and are generally less than 1 metre in height   

Legibility of routes  Presence of measures to provide route legibility, i.e., natural wayfinding measures, street signs, wayfinding signage, fingerpost signs etc.  

Large obstructions Presence of large obstructions in or around footways (i.e., footway parking, refuse containers, advertising signs)  

Human 
Presence 

Positive On street Activity Presence of activities on the route which make people feel safer e.g., people waiting at bus stops, other pedestrians (walking), people sitting outside cafes   

Negative On street Activity Presence of activities on the route which may make people feel unsafe / uncomfortable e.g., antisocial behaviour   

Active building frontages Presence of a mix of land uses fronting the site and a mix of hours that they are operational   

Glass frontages Presence of transparent (not privacy) glass frontages at ground level allowing people to see into and out of the building   

Overlooking by residential properties  Presence of residential properties that overlook the site to provide human presence, more natural surveillance, and private security camera systems.  

Presence of hidden corners / areas 
Presence of hidden corners / areas where people could hide e.g., alleyways, recesses; hiding places created by poor positioning of large items on street e.g., commercial bins / contractors’ 
containers, parked cars, grit bins 

 

Presence of staff / support   
Presence of transport staff / PCSOs / Police officers / Private security guards / BID on street teams / Car Park staff 
Staffing likely to vary so suggest this is audited at daytime and night time 

 

Digital 

Mobile voice coverage Presence of good mobile networks to enable phone calls   

Mobile data coverage Presence of good mobile networks to enable data sharing (i.e., for maps, tracking or safety apps)  

Local use of safety reporting apps  
Presence and use of local safety reporting apps in the area. Examples include: SafetiPin, Hollaback, Safe and The City, Shake2Safety, bSafe, Circle of 6, or Kitestring, OneScream, Life360, Red 
Panic Button, What3Words. 
Are their active safety reporting apps commercially available or provided by the local authority 

 

Promotion of tracking / emergency 
contact apps or programmes 

Local promotion of tracking and emergency contact apps, such as on bus stops, at local venues (cafes, shops, restaurants / pubs, supermarkets, doctors’ surgeries), presence on local authority 
website  

 

Accurate digital wayfinding / mapping of 
local area 

Digital methods provide accurate wayfinding in the site. e.g., Google Maps, iMaps, Bing Maps, Waze, City Mapper.   

Infrastructure 

Network connectivity and permeability Presence of routes / connections within site that allow users frequent route choices.  

Width of footways  Physical width of footways for pedestrian movement  

Street lighting Presence and quality of lighting within the area, is lighting to current design standards and levels for the location?  

Footway condition Condition and maintenance of footways   

Pedestrian-friendly crossings at street-
level that meet desire lines 

Frequent highway crossing points that are welcoming, on desire lines, and provide multiple opportunities for crossing a highway route without requiring users to wait excessive lengths to cross 
highway. 

 

Cycle / scooter parking  Presence of cycle / scooter parking that is well lit, accessible and encourages use.  

Community / 
Social 

Presence of community groups Presence of community groups (Community Watch etc)  

Positive behaviour campaigns 
Presence of positive behaviour campaigns (giving space, being considerate, looking out for people, crime etc) Noted these may be venue specific and therefore review in daytime and night time 
hours is relevant. 

 

Presence of Safe Havens 
Presence of Safe Havens or schemes such as "Ask Angela" at suitable venues in the site area and evidence of how they are promoted to those who may need them. Noting that Safe Havens 
may only open during certain times. 

 

Love My 
Street 

Artwork / public space design Presence of art / murals etc in public spaces, creating more welcoming community spaces  

Maintenance reporting Presence of reporting mechanisms for when maintenance is required.  

Area maintenance Consideration of whether public spaces are clean and well maintained.  

Community involvement Presence of community involvement in planning and / or design or streets or public spaces   

 

P
age 187



 
 

 

 GNT-ATK-GHS-ZZZZZ-FN-ZS-000001 |1.0 | August 2022 

Atkins | GNT-ATK-GHS-ZZZZZ-FN-ZS-000002 (003)_07092022 Page 23 of 28 
 

Appendix B – Stage 2 GHS assessment 

Theme Category 

Daytime assessment Night time assessment 

Existing 
score 

Stage 2 
score 

Comments Existing 
score 

Stage 2 
score 

Comments 

Landscape 

Vegetation n/a 

 There are vegetation planters in the designs which line the 
carriageway in the centre of George Street and provide segregation 
between the road and pedestrian and cycle area.  
It is unclear how tall these are from the plans, but there are gaps in 
between planters which ensures they do not become obstructions.  

  

As per daytime assessment. Planters included in design should not 
provide any dark / hidden areas due to the indicative height. 

Seating  1 
 There will be landscaped seating areas along both sides of the 

street.   
  Seating provides dwell areas around hospitality locations along 

GSNT. Lighting along the street should cover the seating areas but 
additional lighting may be needed. 

Walls or barriers 3 

 The designs don't feature any walls or barriers >1m in height, 
assuming planters are small. Thomas Chalmer statue is in the 
centre of George Street, this may prevent people from being able to 
see to the other side of the street for a limited area. Vegetation plan 
along central route to use planters as 'barriers to assist in 
demarcation of zones’ does not support natural surveillance if over 
1m in height. Few zones may provide respite and feelings of security 
if in the direction of open areas that are staffed or covered by natural 
surveillance.  

   

Legibility of routes  3 

 Landscaped seating areas with a different character for each block 
in George Street will help to make the environment more legible for 
all. No information on wayfinding and street signs is available in the 
stage 2 designs.  

  
No change from daytime assessment. Lighting and size of street 
provides open routes to support legibility at night. 

Large obstructions 2 

 The designs will widen footways and minimise street clutter on all 
adjoining streets. Clearly delineated seating areas will reduce the 
potential for conflicts between commercial seating areas, slow 
moving pedestrians and faster moving pedestrians travelling 
elsewhere within the study area. This could potentially give an 
increased feeling of security by providing a clear line of site without 
obstructions.  
Car parking in the centre of George Street is removed in the Stage 2 
Designs, this will prevent unwanted natural surveillance of people 
sitting in cars or standing between cars and facilitate informal road 
crossings.  
Loading / service bays could reduce on-street visibility when in use 
and make crossing more challenging, however there will be an 
overall decrease in vehicles on George Street.  

  

Removal of large obstructions (as discussed in daytime 
assessment) will be particularly appreciated during hours of 
darkness as there will be fewer hidden corners / dark areas. 

Human 
Presence 

Positive On street activity 3 

 Designs to include dwell space and encourage on street activities 
should create more welcoming spaces for social interaction and 
positive on street activity.  

  Evening activity including outdoor hospitality in summer months 
should encourage positive on street activity in the expanded 
pedestrian space in GSNT.  No specific campaigns included in 
design for encouraging positive on street activity. There may be 
less on street activity in winter months during darkness.   

Negative On street activity 3 

 Largely unchanged from review of existing situation. There are two-
night clubs along GS which may lead to antisocial behaviour during 
the night, these close at 3am outside of the festival period. Potential 
negative interactions and behaviours with staff on construction sites, 
general visitors (unwanted behaviours). 

Car parking in the centre of GS is removed in the Stage 2 Designs, 
this will prevent natural surveillance of people sitting in cars, 
however, create more space for crossing and social interaction. 

  

No provision for reduction in negative on-street activity during night 
time in Stage 2 designs. The additional pedestrian space along 
GSNT should encourage social interaction, and this may continue 
negative behaviours experienced during hours of darkness along 
GS in existing situation. 

Active building frontages 2  No change to active building frontages from existing situation as 
these is outside of the remit of the designs.  However, there may be 

  No change to active building frontages from existing situation as 
these is outside of the remit of the designs.  However, there may 

P
age 188



 
 

 

 GNT-ATK-GHS-ZZZZZ-FN-ZS-000001 |1.0 | August 2022 

Atkins | GNT-ATK-GHS-ZZZZZ-FN-ZS-000002 (003)_07092022 Page 24 of 28 
 

Theme Category 

Daytime assessment Night time assessment 

Existing 
score 

Stage 2 
score 

Comments Existing 
score 

Stage 2 
score 

Comments 

some benefit from more on street activity from the hospitality venues 
due to the provision of additional seating and dwell space. 

be more on street activity from the hospitality venues due to the 
provision of additional seating and dwell space. 

Glass frontages 1 
 No change from existing situation as this is outside of the remit of 

the designs. 
  No change from existing situation as this is outside of the remit of 

the designs. 

Overlooking by residential 
properties  

2 
 No change from existing situation as this is outside of the remit of 

the designs. 
   

Presence of hidden corners / 
areas 

1 

 The designs show there will be a clear line of site from one end of 
GS to the other. Moving large obstacles to create clutter free areas 
with increased visibility and a reduced number of hidden corners. 
The designs show that parking throughout the centre of GS has 
would be removed which will reduce the number of hidden places 
and stop people being able to sit in cars / create unwanted 
surveillance.  

The buildings have a range of projection onto the street which 
means opportunities to lurk at intervals where shop / building fronts 
aren't vertically level.  Some residential properties / offices have 
basement level entry from the street. 

  

No considerable change from daytime assessment. 

Presence of staff / support   2 

 There are private security cameras dotted throughout GS, however 
there is no reference to CCTV cameras in the stage 2 designs so it 
is not understood how this may differ following construction. 

There are potentially no staff likely to be present on the street, as 
parking attendants who currently monitor parking on GS will not 
likely need to be present. 

  

As in daytime assessment, but with potentially less support and 
staffing. 

Digital 

Mobile voice coverage 3  Same as review of existing. There is good mobile voice and data 
coverage throughout all of GS for all networks, including good voice 
and data coverage.  

   

Mobile data coverage 3     

Local use of safety reporting 
apps  

3 
 Evidence of local usage of local safety reporting apps.     

Promotion of tracking / 
emergency contact apps or 
programmes 

1 
 N/A - These elements would not be included in Stage 3 designs, but 

should be considered as the GSNT project progresses 
  N/a - These elements would not be included in Stage 3 designs, 

but should be considered as the GSNT project progresses 

Accurate digital wayfinding / 
mapping of local area 

3 
 No change from existing situation.    

Infra- 
structure 

Network connectivity and 
permeability 

2 

 The designs will connect several local cycling routes including 
National Cycle Routes 75 and 76, Golden acre Cycle Path and Leith 
Walk.  

The designs will provide more opportunities to cross in between 
junctions on George Street. This will allow pedestrians to travel 
more directly to their destination. Providing more informal crossing 
points and removing the vehicles parked in the centre of George 
Street will contribute to making crossings safer. 

   

Width of footways  3 
 The stage 2 designs show that the width of footpaths will increase 

dramatically to 4.5m wide as the amount of space for vehicles 
decreases.   

   

Street lighting 2 
 Lighting is outside of the remit of the Stage 2 design, therefore not 

included in design proposals.  
  Lighting is outside of the remit of the Stage 2 design, therefore not 

included in design proposals. 

Footway condition 1 

 The condition of footways on George Street is assumed to be good 
following construction, the maintenance of the area has not been 
outlined at this stage of the project. Kerb provision expected to be 
60mm which will provide a distinction between footpaths and cycle 
lanes / roads. 

   

P
age 189



 
 

 

 GNT-ATK-GHS-ZZZZZ-FN-ZS-000001 |1.0 | August 2022 

Atkins | GNT-ATK-GHS-ZZZZZ-FN-ZS-000002 (003)_07092022 Page 25 of 28 
 

Theme Category 

Daytime assessment Night time assessment 

Existing 
score 

Stage 2 
score 

Comments Existing 
score 

Stage 2 
score 

Comments 

Pedestrian-friendly crossings at 
street-level that meet desire lines 

2 

 Designs have considered desire lines and freedom of movement 
which are currently restricted due to the number of vehicles and a 
streetscape which prioritises vehicle parking. The design seeks to 
provide pedestrian friendly crossings by promoting indirect crossing 
of the street to follow desire lines and reducing the width of the 
central carriageway space and maximising footway space, 
supporting more direct crossing behaviours at the junction, with 
opportunities for diagonal crossing of able-bodied pedestrians. 
Restricting and timing vehicles access GS will also make crossing 
easier and safer. Junction proposals facilitates pedestrian / vehicle 
interaction at consistent intervals and provides direct opportunities to 
cross or leave the immediate vicinity via A-roads such as Lothian 
Road / A700.  

  

As per daytime assessment. 

Cycle/scooter parking  1 

 There is increased cycle parking provision, including cycle hire 
stations and e-bike charging on each of the streets in the Stage 2 
designs.  Cycle parking will be adjacent to the cycleway at regular 
intervals along both sides of George Street. There would be an 
increased capacity for 150 bicycles. The demand for cycle parking 
now and following the scheme is unknown, so it is unclear whether 
this would be operating at capacity. The parking would only be able 
to store standard bicycles. 

  

Lighting at parking locations should be considered, both as a 
preventative measure and to support levels of comfort in using 
cycle parking 

Community 
/ Social 

Presence of community groups 1  
N/A - These elements would not be included in Stage 3 designs, but 
should be considered as the GSNT project progresses 

   

Positive behaviour campaigns 1    N/a - These elements would not be included in Stage 3 designs, 
but should be considered as the GSNT project progresses 

Presence of Safe Havens 1    

Love My 
Street 

Artwork / public space design 1  

N/A - These elements would not be included in Stage 3 designs, but 
should be considered as the GSNT project progresses 

   

Maintenance reporting 1     

Area maintenance 1    N/a - These elements would not be included in Stage 3 designs, 
but should be considered as the GSNT project progresses 

Community involvement 1     

  

P
age 190



 
 

 

 GNT-ATK-GHS-ZZZZZ-FN-ZS-000001 |1.0 | August 2022 

Atkins | GNT-ATK-GHS-ZZZZZ-FN-ZS-000002 (003)_07092022 Page 26 of 28 
 

7. Appendix C – Stage 3 GHS assessment 
 

Theme Category 

Daytime Night time 

Existing 
score 

Stage 2 
score 

Stage 3 
score 

Comments Existing 
score 

Stage 2 
score 

Stage 3 
score 

Comments 

Landscape 

Vegetation n/a 

  The Stage 3 design (fly-through video) shows that 
planters included in the design will not be above 
shoulder height when sitting. The Council will have 
maintenance responsibilities for the planters to 
ensure these stays below 1m. 

   
As per daytime assessment. Planters included in 
design should not provide any dark / hidden areas due 
to the indicative height. 

Seating  1 
  There are no significant changes from the stage 2 

review – there will be landscaped seating areas 
along both sides of the street.   

   Additional seating provides dwell areas around 
hospitality locations along GSNT. No localised lighting 
around seating areas included in the design proposals.  

Walls or barriers 3 
  There are no significant changes from the stage 2 

review.  
    

Legibility of routes  3 

  Landscaped seating areas with a different character 
for each block in George Street will help to make the 
environment more legible for all. No information on 
wayfinding and street signs is available in the stage 2 
or 3 designs. 

   
No change from daytime assessment. Lighting and 
size of street provides open routes to support legibility 
at night. 

Large obstructions 2 

  There are no large obstructions included in the Stage 
3designs, however there are bollards, which are 
small obstructions (under 1m) which line the parts of 
GS which could be used for loading / disabled 
parking. 

   
Removal of large obstructions (as discussed in 
daytime assessment) will be particularly appreciated 
during hours of darkness as there will be fewer hidden 
corners/dark areas. 

Human 
Presence 

Positive on-street activity 3 

  As per Stage 2 design review, provision of additional 
seating and dwell space provides larger areas for 
social interaction on GS – but these benefits are 
more likely to be realised in summer and hours of 
daylight than at night. 

   As per Stage 2 design review - Evening activity 
including outdoor hospitality in summer months should 
encourage positive on street activity in the expanded 
pedestrian space in GSNT.  No specific campaigns 
included in design for encouraging positive on street 
activity. There may be less on street activity in winter 
months during darkness.   

Negative on-street activity 3 

  There is no change from the Stage 2 assessment.  
Additional pedestrian space on GS provides more 
opportunity for social interaction.  

   As per Stage 2 assessment. Additional pedestrian 
space on GS provides more opportunity for social 
interaction – which may continue negative behaviours 
experienced during hours of darkness along GS in 
existing situation. 

Active building frontages 2 

  No change to active building frontages from existing 
situation as these is outside of the remit of the 
designs.  However, there may be some benefit from 
more on street activity from the hospitality venues 
due to the provision of additional seating and dwell 
space. 

   No change to active building frontages from existing 
situation as these are outside of the remit of the 
designs. However, there may be some benefit from 
more on street activity from the hospitality venues due 
to the provision of additional seating and dwell space. 

Glass frontages 1 
  No change from existing situation as this is outside of 

the remit of the designs. 
   No change from existing situation as this is outside of 

the remit of the designs. 

Overlooking by residential 
properties  

2 

  Currently, there are private security cameras dotted 
throughout George Street which provide poor 
coverage and the stage 3 proposals state these will 
be replaced without further improvement.  

    

Presence of hidden corners 
/areas 

1 

  Generally, as per Stage 2 design assessment. The 
stage 3 proposals formalise existing seating areas 
and remove some of this seating from the main 
circulation area which widens the street. The 

   As per daytime assessment –improvements to lines of 
sight through removal of large obstructions, and and 
more space on the footway to walk away from building 

P
age 191



 
 

 

 GNT-ATK-GHS-ZZZZZ-FN-ZS-000001 |1.0 | August 2022 

Atkins | GNT-ATK-GHS-ZZZZZ-FN-ZS-000002 (003)_07092022 Page 27 of 28 
 

Theme Category 

Daytime Night time 

Existing 
score 

Stage 2 
score 

Stage 3 
score 

Comments Existing 
score 

Stage 2 
score 

Stage 3 
score 

Comments 

buildings have a range of projection onto the street 
which means there are opportunities to lurk at 
intervals where shop/building fronts aren't vertically 
level – additional pedestrian space will provide more 
room between building frontages and walking routes. 

architecture will have benefits during hours of 
darkness. 

Presence of staff / support   2 

  As there are seating areas on the side of the footway 
opposite to the building frontages, restaurant staff will 
likely be present on the street and frequently crossing 
the footway. This is likely to be most common during 
the day and in the evening.  

   As per daytime assessment – hospitality staff would be 
more present on footways than current existing 
situation (or marked in Stage 2 designs) specifically at 
night when there is a lot of evening activity.   

Digital 

Mobile voice coverage 3   Same as review of existing. There is good mobile 
voice and data coverage throughout all of GS for all 
networks, including good voice and data coverage.  

    

Mobile data coverage 3       

Local use of safety reporting 
apps  

3 
  Evidence of local usage of local safety reporting 

apps. 
    

Promotion of tracking / 
emergency contact apps or 
programmes 

1 
  N/A - These elements would not be included in Stage 

3 designs, but should be considered as the GSNT 
project progresses 

   N/A - These elements would not be included in Stage 
3 designs, but should be considered as the GSNT 
project progresses 

Accurate digital wayfinding / 
mapping of local area 

3 
  No change from existing situation.     

Infra- 
structure 

Network connectivity and 
permeability 

2 

  Network connectivity remains good, with connections 
to cycle routes, improved informal crossing provision 
through removal of the central car parking, and 
improved formal crossing provision.  

   As per daytime assessment  

Width of footways  3 

  There are no significant changes from the Stage 2 
proposals. The stage 3 proposals show that the width 
of footway will increase dramatically to 4.5m wide as 
the amount of space for vehicles decreases. There 
will still be some seating on the street which restricts 
the footway width slightly but still provides generous 
footway space.  

    

Street lighting 2 
  Lighting is outside of the remit of the Stage 3 design, 

therefore not included in design proposals. 
   Lighting is outside of the remit of the Stage 3 design, 

therefore not included in design proposals. 

Footway condition 1 

  The condition of footways on George Street is 
assumed to be good following construction, the 
maintenance of the area has not been outlined at this 
stage of the project. Kerb provision expected to be 
60mm which will provide a distinction between 
footpaths and cycle lanes / roads. Portuguese 
Granite is proposed as one of the footway materials 
in some sections. This is a dark material which is 
robust and not susceptible to abrasion which means 
it will stay in good condition for longer. Lighter 
material may make the area feel brighter; however, 
the durability of this material is of primary importance. 
Slip resistance should be considered.  

    

Pedestrian-friendly crossings at 
street-level that meet desire lines 

2 

  There are no significant changes from the Stage 2 
proposals.  

At the junction with Castle Street and Frederick, there 
are Zebra crossings which reduce the time which 
pedestrians have to wait before crossing. There is a 
signalised crossing at the junction with Hanover 

   

As per daytime assessment. Crossing points reducing 
waiting times will be beneficial during hours of 
darkness to ensure swift movement along GS. 

P
age 192



 
 

 

 GNT-ATK-GHS-ZZZZZ-FN-ZS-000001 |1.0 | August 2022 

Atkins | GNT-ATK-GHS-ZZZZZ-FN-ZS-000002 (003)_07092022 Page 28 of 28 
 

Theme Category 

Daytime Night time 

Existing 
score 

Stage 2 
score 

Stage 3 
score 

Comments Existing 
score 

Stage 2 
score 

Stage 3 
score 

Comments 

Street and St David Street, which is a busy street and 
central bus corridor.  

Cycle / scooter parking  1 

  The demand for cycle parking now and following the 
scheme is unknown, so it is unclear whether this 
would be operating at capacity. The parking included 
in the designs would only be able to store regular 
bicycles.  

   

As in daytime assessment. No localised lighting 
present in Stage 3 designs around cycle parking. 

Community 
/ Social 

Presence of community groups 1   
N/A - These elements would not be included in Stage 
3 designs, but should be considered as the GSNT 
project progresses 

    

Positive behaviour campaigns 1      N/A - These elements would not be included in Stage 
3 designs, but should be considered as the GSNT 
project progresses Presence of Safe Havens 1      

Love My 
Street 

Artwork / public space design 1   

N/A - These elements would not be included in Stage 
3 designs, but should be considered as the GSNT 
project progresses 

    

Maintenance reporting 1       

Area maintenance 1 
     N/A - These elements would not be included in Stage 

3 designs, but should be considered as the GSNT 
project progresses 

Community involvement 1       

 

 

 

© Atkins except where stated otherwise 

P
age 193



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

RESEARCH & CONSULTANCY 
 

 
ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT FOR GEORGE STREET 

AND FIRST NEW TOWN PROPOSALS 
 

CITY OF EDINBURGH COUNCIL 
 
 
 

 

DATE OF REPORT: 29TH SEPTEMBER 2022 

 

  

Page 194



CONTENTS 
1 REPORT OUTLINE ......................................................................................................................... 3 

1.1. STUDY METHOD .................................................................................................................................. 3 
2 GNT PROPOSALS ......................................................................................................................... 6 

2.1 CONCEPT DESIGN ............................................................................................................................... 7 
2.2 OPERATIONAL PLAN ........................................................................................................................... 8 

3 PROJECT RATIONALE ................................................................................................................10 
3.1 JUSTIFICATION FOR PUBLIC SECTOR INTERVENTION ................................................................ 10 
3.2 GNT - ADDRESSING MARKET FAILURE ........................................................................................... 11 
3.3 BENEFICIARY GROUPS AND KEY PRIORITIES ............................................................................... 12 
3.4 FIT WITH OTHER PLANS AND STRATEGIES ................................................................................... 13 

4 THE GNT AREA ............................................................................................................................15 
4.1 BUSINESS BASELINE ........................................................................................................................ 15 
4.2 RESIDENTS ........................................................................................................................................ 17 
4.3 PROPERTY VALUES .......................................................................................................................... 18 
4.4 VISITORS ............................................................................................................................................ 20 

5 REVIEW OF LITERATURE ...........................................................................................................22 
5.1 SURVEY OF LOCAL RESIDENTS AND BUSINESSES ...................................................................... 28 

6 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT ..........................................................................................31 
6.1 REMIT FOR EIA................................................................................................................................... 31 
6.2 SUMMARY OF THE OPTIONS ........................................................................................................... 31 
6.3 COSTS ................................................................................................................................................. 32 
6.4 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSUMPTIONS ................................................................................................ 32 
6.5 ECONOMIC IMPACT RESULTS ......................................................................................................... 36 

7 QUALITATIVE ASSESSMENT .....................................................................................................40 
7.1 HEALTHY STREET APPROACH ........................................................................................................ 40 
7.2 LADDER OF QUALITIES APPROACH ................................................................................................ 40 

8 CONCLUSIONS ............................................................................................................................42 

APPENDIX A – CASE STUDIES ..........................................................................................................43 

 

Page 195



1 REPORT OUTLINE 

Rettie & Co. was commissioned by the City of Edinburgh Council 
(CEC) to undertake research to establish the economic impact of its 
proposed George Street and First New Town (GNT) public realm 
proposals. 

GNT is a major public realm project that aims to reconfigure the use of space in George Street and 
reconsider how its junctions work with intersecting streets and squares, to create a high-quality placemaking 
environment. The aim is to make the area attractive for people of all ages to visit, shop, rest, and make 
active and sustainable travel choices. 

Rettie & Co.’s work involves estimating the gross and then the net economic impact of the proposed 
development options by considering the likely direct, indirect and induced impacts of the development, taking 
into account local and national multipliers, leakage and displacement levels. This provides impact figures in 
terms of quantifiable economic indicators (output, employment and Gross Value Added). 

1.1. STUDY METHOD 

Our methodology for calculating economic impact is based on the HM Treasury Green Book1 guidance and 
Additionality guidance that has been developed for the UK Government and regional development 
agencies2. We calculate the gross and then the net economic impact of the proposed development by 
considering the likely direct, indirect and induced impact of the development, taking into account local and 
national multipliers and displacement levels. 

The gross economic impact of the development is a measure of the total economic benefit generated and 
can be divided into the following elements. 

• The jobs created through the construction of the development 

• The additional incomes / expenditure attracted to the area by new employees 

• The indirect jobs created through the purchases of supplies and services 

• The induced jobs created by the wages and salaries of the direct and indirect jobs created. 

The net additional economic impact takes account of a variety of factors to ensure that the proportion of 
the gross economic impact attributed to the development is not understated or overstated. Additionality 
involves assessment of a number of factors. 

• Leakage – i.e. that part of the total economic benefit that ends up outside the area. This is informed 
by the local industrial/economic profile, i.e. any impact occurring in sectors where there is no local 
representation will be lost, e.g. expenditure on supplies from suppliers outside the area. 

 
1 HM Treasury, Green Book: Appraisal and evaluation in central government. London: TSO. 
2 Department for Business, Innovation & Skills, Research to improve the assessment of additionality. BIS Occasional Paper No. 1. 
October 2009. Homes & Communities Agency, Additionality Guide. 4th edition. 2014. Department for Communities & Local Government, 
DCLG Appraisal Guide. 2016 

Page 196



• Displacement – i.e. loss of any activities that are in direct competition with the new development. 
For example, other developments that are competing for the space may not go ahead or may be 
reduced in size. This loss of income is offset against the final impact. 

• Deadweight – i.e. impacts that would still have accrued regardless of the development. If there are 
competing developments, the new development may simply result in a redistribution of benefits away 
from alternative sites, therefore reducing the attributable local expenditure and employment impacts, 
i.e. new businesses may have arrived in the area regardless of the new development. 

• Substitution – i.e. when a firm substitutes one activity for another in order to take advantage of 
public sector assistance, e.g. when a firm substitutes a jobless person to replace an existing worker 
via a public sector grant. 

• Multipliers – i.e. the impact that the new businesses, residents and employees have as they spend 
money in the area. Bespoke local multipliers will be derived from the analysis to determine the 
knock-on effects that the direct expenditure injection has throughout the economy. This process 
utilises the Scottish Input-Output tables, adjusted to take account of the local industrial profile and 
corrected for the issues highlighted above. 

This economic impact assessment is a high level exercise, which uses national averages and proxies. 

All economic impact assessments have a similar method, outlined below. 

Figure 1.1 Economic impact assessment methodology 

 
Source: Rettie & Co adaptation of English Partnerships’ Additionality Guide, 2008 

At a high level, broad assumptions can be made about costs and expenditure, national average multipliers 
can be used and assumptions can be made about leakage, displacement, etc. based on appraisal and 
additionality guidance and secondary research. 

To avoid optimism bias, conservative assumptions should be used in both the assessment of costs and 
benefits of the project. For example, relatively high levels of leakage and displacement are assumed to 
ensure that the overall appraisal results also err on the conservative. Combined, these factors are between 

Page 197



c.45-90% for each of the benefits. The inclusion of a Do Minimum option as the counterfactual also reduces 
the net additional effects of the Reference Case. 

The economic impact is calculated at a city level and a City Centre (neighbourhood). This is a City Centre 
project designed for the benefit of the neighbourhood and the city as a while. In terms of investment, it is not 
large enough to consider wider regional or national impacts. 

The remainder of this report is structured as follows. 

• Section 2 outlines the GNT proposals 

• Section 3 examines the project rationale 

• Section 4 looks at the GNT area, providing baseline information on occupancy and visitors 

• Section 5 considers the variety of international literature on the impacts of public realm 
improvements on cities, including drawing out lessons of similar schemes 

• Section 6 details the economic impact assessment 

• Section 7 provides a qualitative assessment of the proposals based on elements of the literature 
and the criteria they judge to be required for good urban design to generate favourable outcomes 

• Section 8 provides the conclusions. 

 

Page 198



Private & confidential: This document is received and read on the basis it is solely for the use of City of 
Edinburgh Council to whom it is addressed and no liability can be accepted to third parties for the whole or 
any part of its content.  No part of this report may be published without the written consent of Rettie & Co. 
 

2 GNT PROPOSALS 

The GNT study area consists of George Street, Castle Street, 
Frederick Street and Hanover Street and the junctions with 
Charlotte Square and St Andrew Square.  

Figure 2.1 Map of GNT project area 

 
Source: Faithful & Gould 
 
A report by Ironside Farrar3, on behalf of CEC considered design principles for George Street back in 
2016. It produced a SWOT analysis of the street based on an engagement and consultation exercise, 
where it provided the key inherent strengths and weaknesses of the street as well as the opportunities 
and threats that are present. 

Although the diversity of the offer, street profile and preservation of historic architecture were all clear 
strengths, notable weaknesses were also highlighted, particularly around the lack of a clear vision for 
the street, the lack of public investment, the dominance of the car and the poor quality of much of the 
street landscape. 

The street was facing some clear threats, especially from the loss of commercial investment, the lack 
of investment to maintain it adequately and the emergence of other locations such as the St James 
Quarter. 

Opportunities were spelled out, particularly around creating a new vibrant City Centre destination with 
a people focus that was more accessible and inclusive and had higher quality infrastructure 
supporting it. 

  

 
3 Ironside Farrar, George Street – a special place. May 2016. 

Page 199



 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF GEORGE STREET & FIRST 
NEW TOWN PROPOSALS, EDINBURGH 7 

 

Figure 2.2 SWOT analysis of George Street 

 
Source: Ironside Farrar 

2.1 CONCEPT DESIGN 

The broad design objectives for GNT are set out below. This attempts to set the vision and strategy 
for the area that was identified as being absent in the Ironside Farrar (2016) report, as well as building 
on the concept and design principles included in that report. 

• Create a world class place that respects and enhances the existing Edinburgh City Centre 
World Heritage Site. 
 

• Improve the pedestrian experience through an enlarged and enhanced public and 
pedestrian space, creating a safe, vibrant space for all. 
 

• Promote sustainable transport by prioritising active travel and access for people with a 
disability or impairment, with public parking on George Street seen as lowest priority. 
 

• Deliver flexible space by developing an adaptable street design and enabling use for 
appropriate events. 
 

• Make for a more vibrant local economy by enhancing the First New Town as a place where 
businesses can thrive. 

The GNT concept design consists of the following core elements and design principles. 

• Wider pavements on both sides of George Street along the entire street length to increase 
circulation space and accessibility for all pedestrians. This is to be primarily achieved by the 
reduction in the road width, obtained from the removal of parking bays. Wider pavements and 
narrower road space are intended to make pedestrian crossing more convenient in all 
directions, and to allow for direct, safer and easier access to these junctions. 
 

• A substantial scale of greenery, including hedges, large multi-stem shrubs and other low-level 
shrub planting contained within raised granite planters, with sensitively balanced landscaped 
seating areas on the north and south sides of George Street to provide designated areas 
where people can relax or rest in comfort and safety. These additions are designed to make 
the street more welcoming, with the potential to include some informal play elements within 

Page 200



 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF GEORGE STREET & FIRST 
NEW TOWN PROPOSALS, EDINBURGH 8 

 

these spaces. Increasing the volume of greenery is part of the Council’s commitment to be a 
zero-carbon city by 2030 and enhance the overall biodiversity of a street. 
 

• The creation of a very low traffic area. Bus services will continue to operate within the GNT 
area but will not travel along George Street itself as part of the city-wide bus network review. 
Bus services will be able to directly cross George Street via north and south routes on 
interconnected streets, including Hanover and Frederick Streets. St Andrew Square will 
continue to be an important transport interchange for users to work in and visit GNT, with 
access to the expanded tram network, local bus services and Edinburgh Bus Station. The 
proposal to remove local bus routes along George Street will allow the creation of a final 
design proposal that removes all but essential traffic from the street. This low traffic area will 
enable cycling to be located within the centre of George Street and provide opportunities for 
additional placemaking including landscaped, play and seating areas. 
 

• Creation of a cycling street within the central carriageway of the newly designed street to 
provide a high-quality approach to cycling in the First New Town area, interfacing with both 
the CCWEL and MGS active travel projects to create a network of strategic cycling routes to 
the west of the city from Charlotte Square to the east through St Andrew Square and south 
via George IV Bridge. To accommodate the new cycleway, the junctions of George Street will 
be redesigned, which will also improve the visual setting around the central statues, help slow 
down remaining vehicle movements within the First New Town streets and reduce potential 
for cycle/pedestrian/vehicle conflict. 
 

• The removal of parking bays from George Street to free-up space for non-motorised uses. 
The ECCT strategy highlights the removal of on-street parking in the Edinburgh’s historic core 
as necessary to reallocate space for high quality public realm. 
 

• An integrated Sustainable Urban Drainage System (SUDs) within the designated landscaped 
areas, which will allow surface water to drain naturally, replenishing ground water and having 
zero impact on the capacity of existing drains and sewers. The varied landscape planting for 
the area will also slow the rate of surface water as plants filter, reuse and reduce flood risks. 
 

• Repositioning of the James Clerk Maxwell statue at the gateway into George Street, adjacent 
to the western entrance to St Andrew Square gardens, creating a more sympathetic and 
prominent position. 
 

• Incorporation of largely ‘clutter free’ spaces outside key iconic George Street buildings on 
each block, including areas outside the Assembly Rooms and St Andrew’s and St George’s 
West Church. This will provide clear and uninhibited views of prominent buildings. The spaces 
located outside key buildings will also create a flexible and multi-functional environment that 
could support appropriately scaled events that are sympathetic to the unique setting and built 
form of George Street. 

2.2 OPERATIONAL PLAN 

Below are outlined the draft current fundamental principles of an operational plan for First New Town, 
which are aligned to the ECCT Strategy. A final operational plan for the First New Town will be 
endorsed by the Council’s Transport and Environment Committee at a future date. 

• Delivering pedestrian and cycling priority, where George Street operates without non-
essential vehicle access through set periods of the day but permitting blue badge access at 
all times where appropriate  
 

• Preserving the use of cycling infrastructure all year-round 
 

Page 201



 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF GEORGE STREET & FIRST 
NEW TOWN PROPOSALS, EDINBURGH 9 

 

• Maintaining local bus passenger services within the First New Town area including direct 
crossing points with George Street (but not along George Street) 
 

• Prioritising blue-badge parking within the GNT area and essential resident parking within the 
wider scheme area (but not on George Street), to support access for this group of key users 
 

• Removing all but essential vehicle traffic movements from George Street with access for 
service vehicles only permitted during servicing and loading windows, except for certain 
essential services 
 

• Taxi and private hire services are unlikely to be permitted to access to George Street when 
enforcement restrictions are in place, but additional taxi rank spaces are proposed in the 
wider First New Town interconnecting streets and St Andrew Square 
 

• Pre-agreed exemptions will apply to users who require access during service windows, for 
example weddings, funerals and emergency utility/building works. 

 
 
 

 

 
  

Page 202



 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF GEORGE STREET & FIRST 
NEW TOWN PROPOSALS, EDINBURGH 10 

 

3 PROJECT RATIONALE 

There need to be grounds for market failure to justify any type of 
public sector intervention in the supply of property or land by any 
public sector agency. 

3.1 JUSTIFICATION FOR PUBLIC SECTOR INTERVENTION 

The HM Treasury Green Book identifies four clear types of market failure, summarised below. 

• Public Goods – Goods to be enjoyed by all, where there is no incentive to pay, therefore 
there is no incentive for the market to supply. Examples include public realm projects, national 
parks and the place itself (i.e. the environment in which people and businesses have to 
operate). Possible interventions to correct the failure would include public provision of the 
good and a competitive tendering process for a private provider to provide the good, possibly 
with some element of public subsidy. 

• Externalities – These are production or consumption effects that impact on others. These 
spill-over effects are not reflected in market prices, leading to sub-optimal production or 
consumption of a good. Externalities can be positive or negative. Positive examples would 
include a development that improves tourism in an area and brownfield development that 
reduces deprivation. Negative examples would include pollution and congestion. Possible 
interventions to correct the market failure would include taxes or subsidies to adjust prices 
nearer to market levels. 

• Information gaps – This is where economic agents have difficulties in accessing sufficient 
information to inform transactions. Examples would include difficulties in agents pricing risk 
and asymmetric information, where one economic agent is advantaged by having much more 
information than others. Possible interventions to correct the market failure include regulation 
to ensure quality thresholds are met, direct provision of information and accreditation 
procedures. 

• Market power – This is a situation where lack of competition deters potential entrants, e.g. 
through land banking or setting-up high barriers to market entry. Possible interventions to 
correct the market failure include regulation, removing market barriers and imposing 
competitive tendering on markets to ensure other suppliers are considered. 

Essentially, these all provide grounds for intervening in markets to ensure economic efficiency. The 
grounds for intervention are also justified on equity and environmental grounds. The Department for 
Communities and Local Government (DCLG)4 states that there are three broad grounds for justifying 
market intervention. 

• Efficiency, i.e. the market failure grounds discussed above 

• Equity, to allow for a fairer distribution of resources 

• Environmental, to ensure sustainable standards of living.  

These grounds can be compatible, but there may also be occasions when they are competing 
considerations and some trade-off between two (or three) of them is required. 

 
4 DCLG, Community and local government economics, Paper 1: a framework for intervention. DCLG: London. 
2007. 

Page 203



 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF GEORGE STREET & FIRST 
NEW TOWN PROPOSALS, EDINBURGH 11 

 

The DCLG goes on to outline four different levels, or types, of intervention that public bodies may 
employ to meet these broad objectives. 

• Enabling local solutions – Enabling flexibility in the implementation of policy to provide 
integrated and tailored solutions to the way in which problems come together and interact in 
specific places. 

• Ensuring costs and benefits are considered across economic areas – Formulating 
economic policies at the level that the market operates, e.g. to ensure that the costs and 
benefits of decentralisation are balanced. 

• Exploiting economies of scale and scope – For example, clustering economic activity to 
raise productivity. 

• Establishing effective co-ordination – Joining-up and co-ordinating effective delivery. 

In terms of traditional grounds of market failure, the GNT scheme proposals would largely be due to 
infrastructure as a public good and the positive externalities that should arise from it, but there are 
also clear environmental grounds to justify public sector intervention, e.g. through reducing pollution 
and congestion and promoting sustainable travel solutions. 

3.2 GNT - ADDRESSING MARKET FAILURE 

This project is aimed primarily at creating a world class space, improving the visitor experience and 
promoting sustainable transport. There are also clear potential economic benefits in enhancing space 
for businesses to operate in and through provision of appropriate events. 

The GNT project components are characterised by a requirement for the public sector to facilitate, 
lead and fund the associated works. This can be broadly summarised as investment in public goods. 

1. Public goods: A public good is a good that, once produced, is (1) undiminished by being 
used by one or more users (it is non-depletable); and (2) available to all (it is non-excludable). 
These two characteristics prevent markets from functioning, since the provider/seller is unable 
to ensure that only those who pay for the good can obtain it. This means that, by definition, 
the marginal cost of supplying the public good to the next user is zero. As a result, public 
goods tend not to be provided by private sector agents given the number of other non-
contributing beneficiaries. Although the benefits that accrue from public realm and other 
improvements may be captured by reduced development costs (and in some cases this can 
be very site specific), in many cases the benefits can be hard to attribute directly to the public 
sector investment if there are multiple users. Since the beneficiaries are often fragmented, 
this makes it difficult to value and even more difficult to extract financial contributions. 

Businesses and residents within the city look to the public sector to provide the underpinning 
infrastructure to facilitate public realm improvements. There are reasons for this. 

2. Low awareness of the benefits and free-riding: even supposing that developers and 
property owners could be convinced of the private property benefits deriving from public realm 
schemes, many know that they will still benefit even if they do not contribute. 

3. Short-termism: commercial pressures often militate against long-term investment in strategic 
infrastructure. This is not unique to the GNT project. Often, where the benefits of the 
investment are not realised for many years, developers will seek to invest in sites with fewer 
constraints (and therefore costs) with shorter payback periods. 

In addition, there are positive externalities of the intervention. 

4. Externalities: reducing levels of road traffic in the area will improve air quality and reduce 
accidents and pollution, which will have positive health benefits. The improvements are also 

Page 204



 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF GEORGE STREET & FIRST 
NEW TOWN PROPOSALS, EDINBURGH 12 

 

intended to help the area better compete for inward investment and visitors. 

3.3 BENEFICIARY GROUPS AND KEY PRIORITIES 

There are a number of intended beneficiary groups from this strategy, as outlined in the infographic 
below. 

Figure 3.1 Examples of intended beneficiary groups 

 
Source: Rettie & Co. 

The GNT project will aim to deliver the following key priorities as illustrated below. 

  

Page 205



 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF GEORGE STREET & FIRST 
NEW TOWN PROPOSALS, EDINBURGH 13 

 

Figure 3.2 Key priorities of the GNT scheme 

 
Source: Rettie & Co. 

3.4 FIT WITH OTHER PLANS AND STRATEGIES 

GNT is a key component of the Edinburgh City Centre Transformation (ECCT) strategy and delivery 
plan. ECCT seeks to unify City Centre projects into a singular holistic delivery plan. It seeks to deliver 
an exceptional street environment that is welcoming and accessible for all users. 

The ECCT Strategy identifies key quiet zones in the City Centre where people will have priority, with 
vehicles given access as ‘guests. George Street is identified as one of these areas, where significant 
public realm improvements and pedestrian priority will be delivered. GNT is one of the earlier 
programmed projects within the ECCT delivery plan and is intended to make a significant contribution 
towards realising the vision of transforming the City Centre as a revitalised, more vibrant and people 
focused place. 

The proposals align with city strategic priorities including the recently approved City Mobility Plan 
(CMP) and form an integral relationship with other key City Centre active travel projects including 
Meadows to George Street (MGS) and the City Centre West to East Link (CCWEL). 

Page 206



 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF GEORGE STREET & FIRST 
NEW TOWN PROPOSALS, EDINBURGH 14 

 

The CMP is underpinned by a Council target for the city to be net carbon zero by 2030. It sets out a 
basis for significant tram, bus network and active travel interventions to improve mobility and address 
key challenges. The strategy will mean car and heavy bus dominated traffic within the City Centre will 
be replaced by walking and cycling infrastructure, and by smaller cleaner passenger vehicles for 
those with mobility constraints. A core objective of CMP is to make the City Centre largely car free by 
2030. The final concept design for the GNT project aligns with many of the CMP aims, especially the 
aim to create a people focused City Centre. 

 
 

 

  

Page 207



 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF GEORGE STREET & FIRST 
NEW TOWN PROPOSALS, EDINBURGH 15 

 

4 THE GNT AREA 

This section outlines what the GNT area consists of in terms of 
businesses and visitor traffic. 

As well as providing valuable context, this also provides a baseline assessment of existing uses that 
is required for the later impact assessment. 

4.1 BUSINESS BASELINE 

An analysis was conducted of the Valuation Roll for George Street and the selected neighbouring 
streets in the GNT area to provide a baseline of existing use. This analysis generated 745 commercial 
premises, including 453 offices, 151 retail outlets, 94 food & beverage (F&B) establishments, 14 
hotels/guesthouses and 6 public/religious buildings. 

Based on rateable value and poundage rates, business rates for these properties can be estimated. 
On this basis, including small business relief, the rates income across the identified commercial 
properties totals c.£22.4 million. Of this, retail is the major contributor, with c.£9 million paid in rates, 
followed by £7 million by offices and £4 million from F&B. Hotels and guesthouses generate around 
£2 million in rates based on these records. 

This information was also used to estimate the size of the various use classes in the GNT area and 
UK Government job density figures5 were used to then estimate the number of jobs associated with 
this space by use class. In our estimates, there are around 160,000 sq m of commercial space in the 
GNT area, the bulk of it (nearly 100,000 sq m) for offices, with c.31,000 sq m of retail and c.24,000 sq 
m of F&B. This translates into around 8,000-10,000 office jobs, 1,000-1,500 retail jobs and 1,500-
2,000 F&B jobs.  

 

  

 
5 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/484133/employment_density_guid
e_3rd_edition.pdf  

  

Page 208

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/484133/employment_density_guide_3rd_edition.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/484133/employment_density_guide_3rd_edition.pdf


 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF GEORGE STREET & FIRST 
NEW TOWN PROPOSALS, EDINBURGH 16 

 

Figure 4.1 Breakdown of Valuation Roll analysis 

Use Class Count % 

Office 453 60% 

Retail 151 20% 

F&B 94 13% 

Car Park 23 3% 

Hotel 14 2% 

Public / Religious 6 1% 

Under 
Construction 2 <1% 

ATM 1 <1% 

Other 1 <1% 

Source: Scottish Assessors / Rettie & Co.   

Figure 4.2 Estimates of space and jobs of GNT businesses 

 
Source: Scottish Assessors / Rettie & Co. 

In 2007, a study was undertaken by Edinburgh City Centre Management (ECCM) to understand views 
on a Business Improvement District (BID) in the city6, which provides some baseline measures 
although it is a little dated. 

The main advantages of being located in the City Centre given by employers were: 

• prestigious location; 
• busy area/lots of customers; and 

 
6 Edinburgh City Centre Management, Business Improvement District: benchmark of attitudes – report of key 
research findings. 2007. 

Page 209



 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF GEORGE STREET & FIRST 
NEW TOWN PROPOSALS, EDINBURGH 17 

 

• convenient for customers/client. 

The main disadvantages were: 

• difficult to park; 
• high cost of rent/rates; and 
• too quiet/not enough customers. 

The vacancy rate in the City Centre is rising. According to Essential Edinburgh, among the 552 BIDS 
businesses7, 62 were vacant in the latest (January 2022) audit, i.e. a vacancy rate of 11.2%. This is 
up from 8.7% recorded in a previous audit in November 2020. 

The bulk of the vacancies are in the retail sector (61%), with 39% in the office sector and 6% in 
hospitality. George Street accounts for 37% of these vacancies, the highest of any City Centre 
location, followed by Princes Street at 21%. Castle Street, Hanover Street and Frederick Street each 
account for around 5-6% of vacancies. 

The new St James Quarter has displaced a proportion of retail businesses that had operated in the 
GNT area. The office sector is also changing, with many offices in hybrid mode of allowing a mix of 
flexible office space working alongside working from home. There is also the emergence of new 
bespoke quality office space in the city, including at the likes of Haymarket nearby. 

4.2 RESIDENTS 

Analysis of the Council Tax register returned 179 residential units, with the highest concentrations 
located on the northern roads leading to Queen Street. Analysis of the distribution by Council Tax 
bands shows a high concentration of upper tier properties, with 41% in the F band and 20% in the G 
band. 

Based on the count of properties and banding, the estimated gross Council Tax revenue for the area 
would be just under £500,000 at current Council Tax rates. 

  

 
7 Those businesses in in the Business Improvement District (BID), which is a business-led and business funded 
body formed to improve the commercial area. 

Page 210



 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF GEORGE STREET & FIRST 
NEW TOWN PROPOSALS, EDINBURGH 18 

 

Figure 4.2 Council Tax analysis 

 

Source: Scottish Assessors / Rettie & Co.   

4.3 PROPERTY VALUES 

The Council Tax bands were used to assess the values of the George Street properties in April 1991, 
with price thresholds inflated from these values to July 2022 using the average house price for 
Scotland percentage change. This provided a residential property value in the GNT area of c.£84 
million. 

  

Page 211



Private & confidential: This document is received and read on the basis it is solely for the use of City of Edinburgh Council to whom it is addressed and no liability can be 
accepted to third parties for the whole or any part of its content.  No part of this report may be published without the written consent of Rettie & Co. 
 

Figure 4.3 Estimate of 2022 residential property values in the GNT area 

 
Source: Rettie & Co 

  

Band 1st April 1991 Valuation Band Low High Low Mid High Count Total Value
A Up to £27,000 £26,999 £133,266 0
B Over £27,000 and up to £35,000 £27,000 £34,999 £133,271 £153,012 £172,754 1 £153,012
C Over £35,000 and up to £45,000 £35,000 £44,999 £172,758 £197,436 £222,113 6 £1,184,615
D Over £45,000 and up to £58,000 £45,000 £57,999 £222,118 £254,199 £286,281 11 £2,796,192
E Over £58,000 and up to £80,000 £58,000 £79,999 £286,285 £340,579 £394,872 51 £17,369,506
F Over £80,000 and up to £106,000 £80,000 £105,999 £394,877 £459,042 £523,206 74 £33,969,072
G Over £106,000 and up to £212,000 £106,000 £211,999 £523,211 £784,815 £1,046,418 35 £27,468,513
H Over £212,000 £212,000 £1,046,423 1 £1,046,423

£396,987 179 £83,987,334

1991 2022

Avg / TotalsP
age 212



Private & confidential: This document is received and read on the basis it is solely for the use of City of 
Edinburgh Council to whom it is addressed and no liability can be accepted to third parties for the whole or 
any part of its content.  No part of this report may be published without the written consent of Rettie & Co. 
 

For commercial rents, an estimate was made based on floorspace figures from the Valuation Roll and 
assumptions of £ per sq ft for each of the use classes. This provided a range of £50-59 million. 

Figure 4.4 Estimate of 2022 commercial rents in the GNT area 

 
Source: Rettie & Co 

4.4 VISITORS 

4.4.1 Essential Edinburgh research 

Essential Edinburgh conducts regular surveys of trends in the City Centre BID area, the last of which 
was for 20198. Footfall in the area typically runs at around 4.5 million to 5.5 million a month, although 
it tends to be higher (c.6 million per month) in December during the Winter Festival. This provides an 
estimate of around 58 million visitors per year. For estimating a share to the GNT area, we used 
research findings from an ECCM survey9. This is somewhat historical but is the best available 
evidence that we could find. In this survey, the bulk of visitors reported using the BID area for 
shopping, with 17% for entertainment (pubs/clubs) and 10% for eating out. Of the areas visitors tend 
to use most, the GNT streets were selected by 38% of shoppers, 71% for those visiting clubs/pubs 
and 78% of those eating out. Applying these figures allows us to make an approximate estimate of the 
number of visitors who use the GNT streets for different types of activity. We estimate that there are 
around 27 million visits to the area in a year, around 47% of all visits to the City Centre BID area. 

Figure 4.5 Estimated visitor numbers in GNT area 
Visitor type Estimated visits to GNT area (per annum) 
Shoppers 15.4 million 
Clubs/pubs 7.0 million 
Eating Out 4.5 million 
TOTAL 27.0 million 

Source: Rettie & Co 

The same research stated that there was no single prevalent problem with the City Centre as a 
destination, although a quarter of the visitor sample did raise crowds and parking as concerns. Among 
non-visitors, the lack of parking and expense of parking was mentioned by around 20-25% of 
respondents as reasons why they did not visit more often. 

4.4.2 Research on ETRO on George Street 

Between July 2014 and August 2015, CEC introduced an Experimental Traffic Regulation Order 
(ETRO) on George Street, which partially pedestrianised the street, introduced a cycle lane and 
tested the transport implications and wider impacts of these measures on street users. Over this 
period, a survey of visitors was conducted10. 

 
8 Essential Edinburgh, Essential trends – BID market intelligence. Issue 105. 
9 ECCM, BID: Benchmark of Attitudes – Report of Key Research Findings (2007) 
10 Research Resource, George Street ETRO Survey. City of Edinburgh Council. Sept 2015. 

Page 213



 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF GEORGE STREET & FIRST 
NEW TOWN PROPOSALS, EDINBURGH 21 

 

The survey found that the main reasons for visiting George Street were browsing/window shopping 
(41%), dining/eating (30%) and meeting friends and family (25%). Only 16% travelled in by car, with 
25% arriving on foot, 24% getting in by train, 19% by bus, 11% by bicycle, 4% by tram and 2% by taxi. 

For the majority, George Street was rated highly for most of the criteria considered including feelings 
of safety and quality and range of shops and businesses. Satisfaction was lower for ease and 
availability of parking (for cars and bikes). 

Over 60% of respondents believed that the ETRO measures had improved the overall appearance of 
George Street, while only 9% believed that they had worsened the street’s appearance. However, the 
bulk of respondents (72%) said that the changes had made no difference to their likelihood of visiting 
George Street, although 22% said that the changes had increased their likelihood of visiting while 3% 
said that they had made them less likely to visit. 

There was broad support in the survey for introducing pedestrianised spaces on George Street, with 
65% of respondents supporting and just 7% opposing. 47% supported pedestrianised places in 
George Street ‘all of the time’. However, 43% said availability of car parking was ‘very or fairly 
important’, with 24% saying ‘very important’, although only 16% had actually travelled in by car. 

4.4.3 Estimates of visitor spending 

Estimates for visitor spending were based on estimates of retail floorspace and turnover produced by 
Ryden in 201911. These were extrapolated for the GNT area to produce a retail turnover range of 
£250-£374 million, with a mid-range estimate of £312 million. 

An equivalent estimate for F&B space could not be as readily assessed. Instead, an estimate was 
produced for F&B based on estimates of rent generation of F&B space in the GNT area against retail 
space. These estimates suggested that F&B space was around half of the rents in the retail sector. 
This proportion was applied to F&B turnover to provide an estimate of £156 million of F&B turnover in 
the GNT area. 

This provided a total spending figure of £468 million made by the 27 million visitors to the GNT area 
each year, i.e. around £17 per visit. A study on the Value of Parks for CEC in 201512 estimated that 
the average spend in the local economy from a premier park visit was £9.68, or £11.81 uprated to 
2024 prices. Given the spending opportunities are greater in the City Centre than at a premier park, 
this small level of premium for a City Centre visit is believed to be justifiable. 

Although the Ryden estimates are at 2017 prices, no uprating was undertaken on these figures given 
the volatility in the retail sector in recent years. This is believed to be the most recent benchmark 
evidence on spending levels and the best available for these purposes. 

 

 

 
11 Ryden & Roderick MacLean Associates Ltd., Edinburgh City Plan 2030 commercial needs study: retail & 
leisure. City of Edinburgh Council. April 2019.  
12 City of Edinburgh Council, The value of City of Edinburgh’s parks. 2015. 

Page 214



 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF GEORGE STREET & FIRST 
NEW TOWN PROPOSALS, EDINBURGH 22 

 

5 REVIEW OF LITERATURE 

There is an array of international literature that has considered 
the impact of public realm improvements in cities to create 
improved spaces that enhances the visitor experience and 
promotes sustainable transport. 

The literature has also considered the economic and social impacts of this type of investment. 

A summary of the relevant literature is provided below. Findings from these types of exercises should 
be treated with some caution as none could be described as being fully comparable with the GNT 
plans in terms of design, implementation and context. The implementation of these initiatives is 
occurring in different types of area at different times and in different economic circumstances. 
Nevertheless, the is some commonality in the findings that are relevant for the GNT proposals. 

• The research shows that better place quality provides positive economic, environmental, 
social and health outcomes over the short- to long-term across different socioeconomic strata. 
 

• There is a strong perception among street users and local businesses and households that 
street improvement schemes enhance street character and vibrancy. 
 

• Improving walking and cycling conditions improves the convenience, comfort and affordability 
of access to destinations. It is also accessible and inclusive, helping all in the community to 
share the benefits. 
 

• Replacing on-street parking with bike lanes has little to no impact on local businesses and 
may even increase business levels. Although cyclists tend to spend less per trip than car 
users, they also tend to make more trips. 
 

• Business owners tend to over-estimate the volume of car customers and underestimate 
bicycle levels in their streets. 

There is also evidence from other locations that such improvements can translate into measurable 
positive outcomes. Appendix A provides summaries of some of the best case study evidence. Given 
the methodological difficulties in measuring the impacts of public realm interventions on an ex ante 
basis, there is a reliance on case studies, using an ex post approach to support investment in the 
public realm. 

• In Altrincham in Greater Manchester, a £15 million increase in public realm, a new market and 
increasing food & drink premises has been credited with reducing vacancy rates from 30% in 
2010 to just 8% by 2017. Better quality streets, pavements and cross pointing were also 
credited with increasing footfall in the town by 25% over 2010-17 (summarised in Trafford 
Council, 2017). 
 

• In Stoke-on-Trent, a £10 million investment to make the area more pedestrian friendly led to a 
30% rise in footfall and the opening up of new businesses. These improvements included 
widening pavements, renewing footpath surfaces and installing trees and seating 
(summarised in Living Streets, 2018). 
 

• In Melbourne, renovating pavements and street furniture and turning narrow back alleyways 
into a walkable network increased pedestrian traffic by 40% and boosted café numbers in the 
area by over 600 (summarised in Living Streets, 2018). 
 

Page 215



 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF GEORGE STREET & FIRST 
NEW TOWN PROPOSALS, EDINBURGH 23 

 

• In New York, the Department of Transport partnered with community organisations to create a 
number of new public plazas in the city, including in Times Square. This led to an 11% 
increase in pedestrian traffic in Times Square and 74% of Times Square users saying that the 
area had ‘improved dramatically. There was also a 40% reduction in particulate matter in the 
project area, 35% fewer pedestrian injuries and 63% fewer injuries to motorists and 
passengers (summarised from Arup, 2019). 
 

• In Chicago, investment of $86 million to improve the quality of the city’s theatre district is 
estimated to have produced $6 billion of economic benefits (summarised from Arup, 2019). 

Living Streets (2018) identified three performance indicators for public realm improvements in the 
literature. 

1. Impact on existing business performance (footfall and retail) 
2. Urban regeneration (new businesses, retail income, employment and social exclusion) 
3. Improved customer and business perceptions. 

Benefits are not just economic but also environmental, safety and health. 

Kada Research (2018) estimated the value of various benefits based on evidence from UK cities. 

Figure 5.1 Estimated impacts of public realm improvements from previous UK research 
Performance Factor Scale of Observed Impacts 
Footfall 10-45% INCREASE 
Retail sales (% business turnover) 15-25% INCREASE 
Rents and capital values 15-20% INCREASE 
Vacancy rates 15-20% DECREASE 

Source: Kada Research (2018) 

This is consistent with a meta-analysis by Whitehead et al (2006), which found walking and cycling 
projects increased retail and commercial rents by around 10-30%. 

There is also research in the Edinburgh market that suggests similar benefits from public realm. 
Tolley (2011) found in a survey of shoppers and retailers in the city that shoppers’ main concern was 
a good range of shops in an attractive environment. 

Stated Preference experiments in London produced Willingness to Pay (WTP) estimates of £45 per 
person per annum for high street improvements and £20-£45 per person per annum for streets 
outside London (Sheldon et al 2007). In another study, Londoners were also found, on average, to be 
willing to pay an additional £14.78 to £17.35 on their Council Tax for improvements in their walking 
environment (Accent and Colin Buchanan, 2006). 

Living Streets (2018) provided a summary of the evidence on willingness to pay for improvements 
from the UK literature. This has a central estimate of £40-£45 per person per year for a range of 
different benefits. 

  

Page 216



 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF GEORGE STREET & FIRST 
NEW TOWN PROPOSALS, EDINBURGH 24 

 

Figure 5.2 Estimates of willingness to pay for public realm street improvements in the UK 

 
Source: Living Streets (2018) 

However, not all the research is positive on the impact of such changes. For example, there is 
evidence that value of public realm improvements may be neutral in some cases and even negative. It 
is also observed, in a number of studies, that assessing the financial value/impact of these changes 
can be a difficult exercise as identifying and attributing a causal link between investment in public 
realm and direct commercial returns has proven to be a challenge in a number of studies, particularly 
to understand the additional benefits once deadweight, displacement and leakage are accounted for. 
The impacts are also often long-term and can be secondary in wider urban regeneration projects, 
again making measurement difficult. Living Streets (2018) is clear that hard, quantitative assessments 
in this area are rare. This report also argues that the evidence suggests that good design matters and 
pays for itself over time, but there is less known about how investments in public realm can be 
harnessed to create local employment and other economic benefits. 

Key findings from the literature review are summarised below. 

  

Page 217



 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF GEORGE STREET & FIRST 
NEW TOWN PROPOSALS, EDINBURGH 25 

 

Figure 5.3 Key findings from literature review 
Author(s) Title Key findings 
Accent and Colin Buchanan 
(2006) 

Valuing Urban Realm – Business 
Cases for Public Spaces. 
Transport for London 

• Londoners would be willing to 
pay an additional £14.78-£17.35 
on their council tax for 
improvements in their walking 
environment. 

Arup (2019) The Economic Case for Public 
Realm Investment in the Heart of 
London Area 

• Evidence from a number of 
successful comparable global 
cities demonstrates the positive 
economic benefits of public 
realm improvements in cities. 

• Estimates that proposed 
improvements in the heart of 
London area would increase net 
jobs by 18%, net GVA by 44%, 
business rates by 16% and 
commercial rents by 208%. 

Carmona (2016) Place Value: place quality and its 
impact on health, social, economic 
and environmental outcomes 

• Better place quality adds value 
economically and socially. 

• Benefits occur over the short- to 
long-term and across all 
socioeconomic strata. 

• There are certain qualities that 
are required to maximise place 
value through good urban 
design including lower levels of 
traffic; walkability and bikeability; 
connection to a public transport 
network; sense of place; 
pedestrian scale of streets; and 
lower traffic speeds and 
neighbourhood noise. 

Carmona (2018) in Journal of 
Urban Design 

Place Value: place quality and its 
impact on health, social, economic 
and environmental outcomes 

• Links place qualities with 
positive outcomes of all types 
and evidences place qualities 
that are fundamental in new 
development to maximise place 
value. 

CityLab (2016) The Complete Business Case for 
Converting Street Parking into 
Bike Lanes 

• Replacing on-street parking with 
bike lanes has little or no impact 
on local businesses. 

• Cyclists spend less per trip than 
car drivers but tend to make 
more spending trips. 

• Business owners tend to 
overestimate the levels of car 
customers and underestimate 
bicycle levels in their streets. 

• Replacing street parking with 
cycle lanes had little impact on 
business property values and 
customer shopping patterns. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 218



 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF GEORGE STREET & FIRST 
NEW TOWN PROPOSALS, EDINBURGH 26 

 

Commission for Architecture & 
Built Environment and Dept for 
Environment, Transport & the 
Regions (2001) 

The Value of Urban Design • Good urban design enhances 
the economic viability of 
development and delivers social 
and environmental benefits at 
low cost. 

• The relationship between design 
and value is complex. There are 
examples of good design 
increasing value but also 
examples of these increasing 
costs (at least in the short-term). 
It can also be difficult to 
measure economic, social and 
environmental values of design 
through financial means. 

Haus-Klau (1993) A Review of the Evidence from 
Germany and the UK. Transport 
Policy 1(1). 

• Shoppers tend to have a more 
negative perception of high 
traffic areas than retailers. 

Kada Research (2018) Kidderminster Centre Public 
Realm Improvements – economic 
impact assessment 

• Evidence that public realm 
improvements of around £2m 
produced a BCR of 7.6:1 over 
10 years. 

• Provides case study benchmark 
evidence of the impacts of public 
realm improvements based on 
various literature. 

Kumar & Ross (2006) Effects of Pedestrianisation on the 
Commercial and Retails Areas – 
study in Khao San Road, 
Bangkok. Splintered Urbanism. 

• Retailers tend to benefit from 
and support pedestrian 
improvements once 
implemented. 

• Shoppers tend to have a more 
negative view of traffic than 
retailers. 

Living Streets (2018) The Pedestrian Pound – the 
business case for better streets 
and places 

• Summarises much of the ley 
literature and evidence in the 
field, including case study 
evidence. 

• Better streets and places have a 
high social return, but it is 
challenging to establish whether 
public realm investment creates 
additional benefits. 

• Identifies some of the 
shortcomings in the evidence 
and the lack of quality 
quantifiable assessments. 

• Evidence that the public would 
be willing to pay for 
pedestrianisation and better 
townscapes as they prefer 
pedestrian environments over 
car-centred environments. 

Sheldon et al (2017) Valuing Public Realm – business 
cases for open spaces. European 
Transport Conference 

• Stated Preference theory in 
London estimated Willingness to 
Pay for High Street 
improvements of £45 per person 
pa in London and £20-£45 per 
person pa outside London. 

Tolley (2011) Good for Busine$$ - the benefits 
of making streets more walking 
and cycling friendly 

• Shoppers’ main concern in 
Edinburgh was having a good 
range of shops in an attractive 
environment. 

• Shoppers tend to have negative 
perceptions of high traffic areas. 

Page 219



 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF GEORGE STREET & FIRST 
NEW TOWN PROPOSALS, EDINBURGH 27 

 

Trafford Council (2017) Altrincham Town Centre 
Neighbourhood Business Plan 

• In Altrincham, a £15m increase 
in public realm has been 
credited with reducing vacancy 
rates and increasing footfall over 
2010-17. 

Transport for London (2017) Cycling and the housing market • Evidence is mixed on whether 
high quality cycling infrastructure 
has a positive effect on the local 
housing market. 

• Impacts tend to be greater at the 
neighbourhood level as 
improved connectivity and 
liveability can unlock new 
development. 

Transport for London (2018) Walking & Cycling: the economic 
benefits 

• Walking and cycling 
improvements to high streets 
and local centres can increase 
retail spending by up to 30%. 

• Active travel is accessible and 
inclusive, helping all in the 
community to share benefits. 

Transport for London and 
University College of London 
(2018) 

Street Appeal: the value of street 
improvements 

• There are very strong 
perceptions among everyday 
street users and local property 
occupiers that street 
improvement schemes enhance 
street character, walkability, 
ease of crossing, opportunities 
for sitting, and general street 
vibrancy. 

Transport for London & University 
of Westminster (2018) 

Health Streets: a business view • A good environment for walking, 
cycling and spending time are 
important for business 
performance in an area. 

• Areas can improve by trying to 
achieve Healthy Streets 
indicators. 

• The top 3 interventions to 
improve the street environment 
are improving public realm, 
reducing levels of motor traffic 
and improving pedestrian 
crossing. 

 
Victoria Transport Institute 
(Litman) (2018) 

Economic Value of Walkability • Improving walking and cycling 
conditions improves the overall 
convenience, comfort and 
affordability of access to 
destinations. 

• People walking have a much 
greater exposure to the local 
environment due to their slower 
speeds and activities are 
experienced by the amount of 
time they take not just distance 
travelled. 

• Walkable neighbourhoods tend 
to have greater resilience, e.g. 
fewer vacancies and greater 
social equity. 

Whitehead et al (2006) The Effect of Urban Quality 
Improvements on Economic 
Activity. Journal of Environmental 
Management 80(1). 

•  A meta-analysis that shows 
walking and cycling projects 
increase retail and commercial 
rents by 10-30%. 

Source: Rettie & Co 

Page 220



 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF GEORGE STREET & FIRST 
NEW TOWN PROPOSALS, EDINBURGH 28 

 

5.1 SURVEY OF LOCAL RESIDENTS AND BUSINESSES 

A business and resident online survey was run as part of the George Street & First New Town Design 
(RIBA Stage 3) Operations Plan engagement. To help to find evidence for some of the core 
assumptions in the economic impact assessment, a number of questions were added to this survey. 
The questionnaires were hosted by Atkins and promoted through local flyer drop and using CEC’s 
own consultation hub (Citizen Space). The survey was open from 1st March-8th April 2022. 

80 responses were received, 39 of which were local residents, 21 owned/managed a local business, 
16 worked in the area and 4 were residents of other parts of the city. Residents received a residents’ 
questionnaire and those owning, managing or working for a business in the area received a business 
questionnaire. Many sectors were represented among the business respondents, including banks, 
retail, food & beverage, legal & property, hotels and religious venues. Among resident respondents, 
many streets with the First and Second New Towns were represented. 

This level of response is not representative of residents or businesses in the area and is relatively 
small. Nevertheless, it does provide some insight into how the local community views the proposals 
and their likely impacts. 

Only one of the business questionnaire respondents said they had plans to relocate in the coming 
years. Respondents to this questionnaire were asked about the impact the project would have on 
staffing levels after completion. A majority felt no meaningful impact, although a small proportion of 
responses believed that staff numbers would fall. Only one respondent stated that staff numbers 
would rise. 

Figure 5.4 Anticipated impact by local businesses of the GNT project on local staffing numbers on 
project completion 

 
Source: Business & Resident Online Survey in GNT area 
 
  

Page 221



 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF GEORGE STREET & FIRST 
NEW TOWN PROPOSALS, EDINBURGH 29 

 

Business questionnaire respondents were also asked about the impact they thought the project would 
have on local footfall and spending. There was no clear consensus among the responses, although 
the weight of the evidence leaned towards a negative impact. 

Figure 5.5 Anticipated impact by local businesses of the GNT project on local footfall and spending 

 
Source: Business & Resident Online Survey in GNT area 

A similar question was asked of residents. Resident opinion was also diverse, but leaned more 
towards a positive response, with 60% seeing positive change and 25% believing that footfall and 
spending would fall. 

  

Page 222



 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF GEORGE STREET & FIRST 
NEW TOWN PROPOSALS, EDINBURGH 30 

 

Figure 5.6 Anticipated impact by local businesses of the GNT project on local footfall and spending 

Source: Business & Resident Online Survey in GNT area 

Taken together, over 40% of the business and resident correspondents combined thought that there 
would be a positive impact on local footfall and spending compared to just over 20% who assumed a 
negative impact. This does provide some evidence of expected positive returns from the project but is 
far from a ‘ringing endorsement’ and, overall, the survey results do suggest some local nervousness 
about the changes and ‘mixed feelings.’ 

This pessimism about public realm improvements before implementation is also noted in the 
literature. However, there is also evidence that retailers tend to support and benefit from pedestrian 
improvements once implemented (Kumar & Ross, 2006) and a number of studies have shown that 
shoppers are much more likely to have negative views about traffic and transport than retailers (Haus-
Klau, 1993; Kumar & Ross, 2006; Tolley, 2011). 

 
 

  

Page 223



 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF GEORGE STREET & FIRST 
NEW TOWN PROPOSALS, EDINBURGH 31 

 

6 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

Rettie & Co was instructed to undertake an economic impact 
assessment for the GNT proposals. 

The proposals are based on the Council’s current plans. 

As previously highlighted in this report, the nature of George Street is changing anyway as a result of 
market forces and the likely direction of this is difficult to foresee just now. Estimating the quantitative 
impacts of public realm improvements has also been highlighted in the literature as a difficult exercise 
to undertake accurately. For these reasons, this assessment needs to be treated with caution, but 
every effort has been made to make as accurate and fair an assessment as possible given the 
available data and evidence. 

6.1 REMIT FOR EIA 

This impact assessment contributes to the economic case for the development by estimating the 
costs, benefits and value for money of the project. 

Based on current proposals, this will constitute a 3-year build programme. 

This assessment will estimate the gross and then the net economic impact of the proposals by 
considering the likely direct, indirect and induced impacts of the proposals, taking into account local 
and national multipliers, leakage and displacement levels. This provides impact figures in terms of 
quantifiable economic indicators (output, employment and GVA13). 

The area covered for the economic impact assessment will be at the Edinburgh City level. This 
development is considered to be of city-wide significance in terms of spending and objectives. This 
means that we will be assessing the ability of the development to bring jobs and output to the city. 
The proposals are not considered to be as significant or widespread enough to consider regional or 
national impact assessments. 

The economic impact of the proposals will be assessed together with the impact of a ‘do nothing/do 
minimum’ scenario to act as the counterfactual. This will provide an assessment of the net 
additionality of the proposals, i.e. by removing deadweight. 

6.2 SUMMARY OF THE OPTIONS 

There are two options on which to undertake the detailed economic impact exercise, which are 
summarised below. 

6.2.1 Option 1 – Do Minimum Option 

This option consists of the current maintenance of the GNT streets. CEC estimates a rough cost of 
£150,000 per annum. This was run over a 20-year appraisal period (for reasons set out below). 

6.2.2 Option 2 - Full Phased Investment Case (Intervention Case) 

This option assumes delivery of the GNT programme as currently planned. 

 
13 GVA stands for Gross Value Added. It is the additional value generated by each part of production activity and, 
here, is equated as output minus intermediate consumption. 

Page 224



 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF GEORGE STREET & FIRST 
NEW TOWN PROPOSALS, EDINBURGH 32 

 

6.3 COSTS 

The GNT project will be funded by the public sector. Sustrans (managing grant funds on behalf of 
Transport Scotland) have allocated up to £22million grant funding via their Places for Everyone 
programme. The balance of funds will be secured via CEC’s capital works programme – currently up 
to £10 million. This provides a total estimated budget of £32 million and covers construction, fees and 
surveys. 

The capital costs for the project were taken from CEC’s budgeted plan from April 2019 (c.£27.5 
million). These costs were uprated by inflation to 2024 prices using the GDP deflators and the latest 
Office for Budget Responsibility’s (OBR’s) Economic & Fiscal Outlook. This produced a figure of 
£32.7 million. 

To this, an Optimism Bias of 20% was added, a typical on such projects and verified by Faithful & 
Gould. 

A maintenance cost per annum of 1% of cumulative build costs (a year in arrears) was included over 
the appraisal period. An appraisal period of 20 years was judged as suitable based on Green Book 
guidance. 10 years would be a typical period but large-scale infrastructure projects can have an 
appraisal period of up to 60 years. Given the scale of this particular project, 20 years was believed to 
be a suitable appraisal period. Arup (2019) had a similar approach in their work on the heart of 
London area. 

This provided a total cost figure over the appraisal period of £45.2 million. On a Net Present Value 
(NPV) basis over 20 years, using a discount rate of 3.5%, as recommended in the Green Book, this 
produced a figure of £42.1 million. 

Figure 6.1 GNT predicted build-out and capex 

 
Source: Rettie & Co 

The above cost estimates have been used to calculate the construction benefits enabled by the GNT 
project. 

6.4 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSUMPTIONS 

The economic impact assessment considers the quantitative benefits for each of the options, 
principally on employment, output, GVA and provision of new housing. These are assessed on a 
gross basis (direct results of the activity) as well as a net basis (to take account of the economic 
effects that will not occur – displaced - as a result of the activity as well as the extra activity that will 
occur because the activity happens). 

The economic impact for the project arises from a number of main sources. 

• Construction 
• Visitor spend 
• Additional household spend 
• Land value uplift 
• Willingness to Pay 

Page 225



 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF GEORGE STREET & FIRST 
NEW TOWN PROPOSALS, EDINBURGH 33 

 

Additional Council Tax and Business Rates revenues were excluded from the analysis. Although an 
increase in such revenues would be expected from the development, they would likely create public 
sector employment, which would have revenue costs attached. To simplify the impact assessment, 
these have therefore been omitted. 
 
The proposals will take a number of years before the full benefits will be realised. The appraisal 
period for the benefits is the same as those for the costs (20 years), which is also a reasonable period 
for infrastructure lifetime before further significant costs. 

6.4.1 Construction impact assumptions 

The construction impacts of the project itself are relatively straightforward to define – it is the impacts 
of the infrastructure spend and public realm improvements. 

Under the Intervention Case, it is assumed that infrastructure works start in 2024/25 and are 
completed by 2026/27. In addition, an assumed ongoing revenue cost for maintenance has been 
included, which starts after the first 12-month period. 

The capital spend is estimated to be around c.£45 million for the Intervention Case in 2024 prices, 
including Optimism Bias and the maintenance spend across the build-out period. 

The Do Minimal option involves an estimate of the maintenance spend, which the Council estimated 
as roughly £150,000 per annum, giving a capital spend of £3 million over the 20-year appraisal 
period, or £2.2 million in NPV terms. 

The following additionality assumptions were used in the economic impact model for calculating 
construction impact for the various options. These are consistent with HM Treasury and other 
additionality guidance. 

• Leakage: Typically, developers’ key commodities are centrally procured for their regional 
divisions and, on a regional basis, local suppliers are sourced for installation. This can be 
reduced by, for example, using local workers and the local supply chain. Nevertheless, we 
would expect a level of leakage given that some of the sourcing and manufacturing will take 
place outside the city. Leakage at the Edinburgh level will be relatively high as it is likely that 
suppliers and workers would be used outside this relatively small geographical area. Using 
this information, in conjunction with Additionality Guidance, we decided to use a 35% leakage 
figure at the city level. 

• Displacement: This considers the likelihood that construction activity would simply be 
displaced from other parts of an area. It is inevitable that there will be some displacement as 
some other construction activity would be likely to be happening elsewhere if this particular 
development did not go-ahead and construction displacement is usually assumed to be high 
in assessments of this kind. Based on these arguments and Additionality Guidance, we 
assumed a 35% displacement figure at the city level. 

• Multipliers: The latest (2018) Scottish multipliers (for GVA, output and employment) were 
adjusted using guidance from the 2014 Additionality Guide. We assumed a 35% scale as the 
base for the Edinburgh level. This is reasonably conservative assumption. 

We assumed the substitution effect to be 0%, i.e. that the Council or any other public sector body will 
not offer public sector inducements for firms to take up staff, offices, etc. at the expense of those in 
the same location. This is a very specific form of displacement and BIS guidance demonstrates that 
the size of such effects is minimal anyway for these types of interventions. 

Deadweight is accounted for in the counterfactual (Do Minimal option) and the preferred option will be 
assessed against it in terms of impact. 

Page 226



 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF GEORGE STREET & FIRST 
NEW TOWN PROPOSALS, EDINBURGH 34 

 

CEC has stated that, as with all major Council construction contracts, community benefit clauses will 
be included in any contracts aiming to secure benefits such as local apprenticeships and training 
opportunities.  

6.4.2 Operating impact assumptions 

The operating impact is based on two main sources. 

• Increased visitor spend 
• Increased household spend. 

 
Spending benefits from these two sources are expected to be the most identifiable and measurable 
ways in which the development will boost business operations, creating new jobs and economic 
output. 

To undertake this exercise, the business and resident baseline analysis outlined in Section 4 was 
used. 

As explained in this section, 27 million visitors per annum are estimated to visit the GNT area and the 
level of spend is around £468 million per year, i.e. around £17 per visit. 

Given the likely upheaval during construction over the three-year period, it was estimated that 
turnover//spending would be 10% down for each of these three years. This is a somewhat arbitrary 
figure but would represent a significant decline in spending. The Kada (2018) research (referenced in 
Section 5) estimated that these type of public realm improvements would raise retail spending by 15-
25%. We assumed that this would be a gradual increase up to the lowest point of this range to ensure 
our assumptions were conservative, i.e. 5% increase over Years 4-5, 10% over Years 6-9 and 15% 
from Year 10. 

The following assumptions were applied on the visitor spending. 

• Visitor displacement. Visitor displacement is likely to be high as many people visiting the 
area will be local or be visiting the city anyway and take in the GNT area as part of a wider 
trip. The ECCM (2007) survey, referred to in Section 4, estimated that around 31% of visitors 
to the City Centre BIDS area were from over 10 miles away, i.e. visitors likely to be arriving 
from outside the city boundaries. The displacement figure will therefore likely be in excess of 
70%. A visitor displacement figure of 80% for the local authority area was therefore applied. 

 
• Multipliers. Adapted Food & Beverage, Sports & Recreation and Retail multipliers and 

effects, based on Home & Communities Agency Additionality Guidance (2014) and the 
Scottish Input-Output tables, were applied to the output figure to calculate the additional 
output and GVA associated with the additional spending. The scales applied are in line with 
the construction and operation multipliers above. 

 
As with construction, substitution effects were assumed at 0% and deadweight will be taken account 
of when measuring against the counterfactual (Option 1). 

The other quantitative category of operating impact that the development will trigger is the impact of 
additional population and households, particularly the income spending of new households moving 
into the area. To calculate this, the following assumptions were made. 

• New households. We assumed that the area would take a proportionate share of the 43,400 
new homes targeted for the city over a 12-year period in the Council’s latest Main Issues 
Report (Choices for Cityplan). This implies a figure of 32 new households, or 2.7 per annum 
over the 2018-30 period. Note: GNT will only start in 2024/25 and therefore the per annum 
housing uplift will only apply for seven years. 

Page 227



 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF GEORGE STREET & FIRST 
NEW TOWN PROPOSALS, EDINBURGH 35 

 

• Household displacement. We assumed that the new houses will be constructed and 
occupied over Years 1-7, i.e. an average of 2.7 units built, sold and occupied each year. The 
latest SESPlan Housing Need & Demand Assessment14 calculates that there is a high level of 
self-containment in the region, which would be the basis for assuming a high level of 
displacement. We therefore assumed a displacement of 90% at the Edinburgh level. 

• Household size. The average household size in Edinburgh is currently 2.12 persons per 
household15 and this was used to calculate the population growth resulting from the housing 
part of the development. 

• Household income and income retention. In calculating the household income in the area 
arising for the development, we assumed that these houses would be targeted (on average) 
at those on average earnings. For Edinburgh, we took the average household income 
(£48,142) from the latest Council figures for the city based on Mosaic data (2020) and uprated 
for inflation to 2024 prices. A proportion of spending will occur outside of the area, e.g. 
mortgage payments, transport payments, and utilities. The spending likely to be retained is in 
retail. We assumed that nearly all this retail spend will be captured at the city level (90%). 
Scottish Input-Output tables indicate that about 24% of all spending is in Retail; therefore we 
assumed that 22% of spending is retained in Edinburgh. As befits a Green Book compliant 
appraisal, these are conservative assumptions. 

• Multipliers. Retail sector multipliers were applied in the same way as with the construction 
and visitor spending impacts. 

The operating benefits are therefore for retail and F&B only. There will likely be benefits for other 
sectors, such as offices, in terms of additional employment. However, with the current upheaval in the 
office market in the city and the relatively low vacancy rates for offices, we have assumed no 
additional benefits of additional office employment. Instead, the benefits for offices are based on 
property value uplift. 

6.4.3 Property value uplift 

We took the current baseline values for residential property values and commercial rents provided in 
Section 4 and uprated these to 2024 prices. 

Kada (2018) estimated that the property value uplift for public realm street improvements in the UK 
was 15-20%. We took the low-end estimate and applied this these values over a 20-year discount 
period. 

6.4.4 Willingness to Pay 

An average Willingness to Pay for quality public realm in the local community was derived from the 
lower bound estimate from Living Streets study (2018), illustrated above in Figure 5.2 and applied to 
the City Centre population and local workforce only. The report suggested that those living and 
working in the area would be willing to pay around £32 per year for a range of public realm 
improvements, with this uprated to just over £39 per year at 2024 prices. 

6.4.5 Loss of parking revenue 

A negative impact of the scheme will the loss of parking revenue as a result of pedestrianisation. CEC 
provided a breakdown of parking revenues by City Centre street for year 2019/0. CEC stated that only 
George Street would be affected by the loss of parking revenue as other streets could maintain 

 
14 SESPlan Housing Need & Demand Assessment 2. Final Report. March 2015. 
15 National Records for Scotland, Estimates of Households and Dwellings in Scotland. 2021. 

Page 228



 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF GEORGE STREET & FIRST 
NEW TOWN PROPOSALS, EDINBURGH 36 

 

parking. The parking revenue figure for George Street in 2019/20 was c.£1.7 million, which was 
uprated to c.£1.9 million to 2024 prices. 

It would only be a proportion of such revenue that would be lost as those who wish to bring their cars 
into the City Centre can find other locations to park in. A displacement figure of 43% was used based 
on the ETRO study for CEC of people that said that parking was important or fairly important. 

Multipliers were also applied to this loss in revenue as it would also entail the loss of indirect and 
induced spending. This was assumed to affect Council revenues and therefore Council employment, 
therefore office-based multipliers and output and GVA per head figures were used. 

6.5 ECONOMIC IMPACT RESULTS 

The economic impact assessment was carried out for two phases: the construction phase and the 
operating phase. 

The construction phase impact of the total programme is the impact of the infrastructure spend. The 
costs provided are all at 2024 prices. A maintenance cost of 1% of cumulative build cost (in arrears) 
was also applied on an annual basis. Optimism bias at 20% was applied to all construction costs to 
account for uncertainty and risks.  

The construction costs for each of the options are outlined below. 

Table 3.2 Construction Costs 
Cost element Do minimum Intervention 

case 
Infrastructure and build costs £0m £33m 
Optimism Bias £0m £7m 
Maintenance costs £3m £6m 
Total costs £3m £45m 
Net present value over 20 years £2m £42m 

 

The operating phase impact is based on five sources. 

1. Additional visitor spending generated by the scheme. 
2. Additional spending in the local economy from new households moving into the area. 
3. Property value uplift due to the scheme. 
4. Willingness to Pay for improved public realm among local residents and workers. 
5. The loss of parking revenues to the Council. 

The number of projected jobs created across the construction and operating phases have been 
calculated and presented below for both options at the Edinburgh City level. Our baseline estimates of 
the number of jobs in the GNT area is around 11,000 to 14,000 jobs (see Table 4.2). The net 
additional jobs, calculated below, therefore represents around one-fifth to one-quarter more jobs as a 
result of the project. 

  

Page 229



 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF GEORGE STREET & FIRST 
NEW TOWN PROPOSALS, EDINBURGH 37 

 

Table 3.3 Number of Projected Additional Jobs Over 20 Years 
Jobs Do minimum Intervention case 

Construction 
jobs (PYEs) 1 70 

Operating 
jobs 0 2,892 

Total impact 1 2,962 

 

The net present value (NPV) of the gross value added (GVA) of all the benefits over a 20-year period 
were calculated and presented below. 

Table 3.5 NPVs of Benefits at 20 Years 
Benefits Do minimum Intervention case 

Construction 
impacts £0.5 million £9 million 

Operating 
impacts £0 million £86 million 

Total impact £0.5 million £95 million 

 

The intervention case delivers significant economic impacts in terms of the sizes of the construction 
and operating benefits. The ‘do minimum’ option has little economic benefit. 

6.5.1 Cost-benefit analysis 

The results of a cost-benefit analysis carried out at the Edinburgh level are set out below.  The benefit 
cost ratio (BCR) for each option and geographical area was calculated by taking the NPV of the total 
net benefits over 20 years and dividing this by the NPV of the total costs over the same period. 

Table 3.6 Summary of Cost Benefit Analysis 
Benefits Do minimum Intervention case 

Costs 
(discounted) £2 million £42 million 

Net GVA 
(discounted) £0.5 million £95 million 

BCR 0.2 2.2 

 

Page 230



 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF GEORGE STREET & FIRST 
NEW TOWN PROPOSALS, EDINBURGH 38 

 

The intervention case delivers the strongest benefit-cost ratio: 2.2 at an Edinburgh level, as opposed 
to 0.2 for the ‘do minimum option. This means for every £1 spent, benefits of the value of £2.20 are 
generated. 

6.5.2 Accounting for deadweight 

To estimate actual net additional over the appraisal period, the costs and benefits of the preferred 
option need to be assessed against the counterfactual, i.e. the assessment of what would likely 
happen without the intervention (the Do Minimum option). This means assessing the intervention on a 
net costs and net benefits basis. On this basis, the net costs would be £40 million (£42 million for the 
intervention case subtracted by £2 million for the do minimum case). The net benefits are as follows 
would be just under £95 million, with the BCR then rising to 2.4. 

Table 3.7 Reference Case Minus the Counterfactual 
Benefits Intervention case 

Net Costs 
(discounted) £40 million 

Net Benefits 
(discounted) £94.5 million 

BCR 2.4 

 

6.5.3 Sensitivity testing 

Sensitivity analysis is conducted to identify the effects of changing key variables in the economic 
model. 

We have assumed a 20% variation in impacts on the high end and low end cases on the net 
additional impacts, which reflects different economic conditions, with the high end representing more 
buoyant than expected economic activity over the next 20 years and the low end more depressed 
economic activity. The retail and F&B industries are sensitive to changes in the economic climate and 
the property market will rise and fall under different economic conditions. 

While the upper scenario can be looked on as the best likely outcome, the lower scenario can be 
considered as the worst likely outcome. 

The net impact is again net of the counterfactual and the figures are rounded. 

Table 3.8 Sensitivity Analysis – Impacts over 20 years (varying benefits) 
Area & Measure Gross Net Add +20% -20% 

Edinburgh City     
Construction Jobs PYEs 148 69 83        55 
Operating Jobs PYEs 13,880 2,892 3,470 2,314 
GVA (discounted) £338m £95m £114m £76m 
BCR  2.4 2.9 1.9 

 

We have also assumed a 20% variation in net costs, assuming other things equal, which is outlined in 
the table below. 

  

Page 231



 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF GEORGE STREET & FIRST 
NEW TOWN PROPOSALS, EDINBURGH 39 

 

Table 3.9 Sensitivity Analysis – Impacts over 20 years (varying costs) 
Area & Measure Gross Net Add +20% -20% 

Edinburgh City     
Costs (discounted) £45m £40m £48m      £32m 
BCR  2.4 2.0 3.0 

 

Varying benefits (with costs equal) and varying costs (with benefits equal) still maintains a public 
sector BCR of around 2 or above under a range of scenarios. 

  

Page 232



 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF GEORGE STREET & FIRST 
NEW TOWN PROPOSALS, EDINBURGH 40 

 

7 QUALITATIVE ASSESSMENT 

A broader qualitative assessment of the scheme can be 
undertaken using the indicators in two different toolkits. 

7.1 HEALTHY STREET APPROACH 

Transport for London and University of Westminster (2018) used ten criteria to help to assess the 
experience of being in streets that measure the extent to which streets are appealing places to walk, 
cycle and spend time. 

These are listed below together with an assessment of where the GNT proposals meet such criteria. It 
appears clear that the GNT proposals are consistent with the Healthy Streets approach. 

Figure 6.1 Assessment of GNT proposals against Healthy Streets approach 
Criteria Relevance of GNT proposals Criteria 

met? 
Pedestrians from all walks of life Wider pavements and pedestrianised areas will create 

more welcoming spaces for all pedestrians to walk and 
spend time in. 

✔ 

People chose to walk, cycle & use 
public transport 

Wider pavements and new cycling street will increase the 
appeal of walking and cycling in the area. 

✔ 

Clean air Promotion of active travel and pedestrianisation will 
reduce the number of vehicles on the road and improve 
air quality. 

✔ 

People feel safe Wide pavements will give people more space and an 
added sense of safety. Pedestrianisation will make 
people feel safer to be on near roads or cross roads. 

✔ 

Not too noisy Pedestrianisation will reduce the number of vehicles on 
the road and lower noise pollution. 

✔ 

Easy to cross Narrower road space will shorten crossing distances and 
make streets easier to cross. 

✔ 

Places to stop and rest There will be designated areas for people to relax and 
rest. 

✔ 

Shade and shelter A substantial scale of greenery will help to create shaded 
and sheltered areas. 

✔ 

People feel relaxed Pedestrians and cyclists will feel more relaxed in a largely 
car free environment. 

✔ 

Things to see and do ‘Clutter free’ spaces will be incorporated outside iconic 
George Street buildings to provide clear views. These 
spaces can also support events. 

✔ 

Sources: Rettie & Co interpretation of Transport for London and University of Westminster criteria (2018) 

7.2 LADDER OF QUALITIES APPROACH 

Carmona (2018) developed the Ladder of Place Qualities, which covers place qualities that are 
strongly associated with positive outcomes (highlighted in orange in the table below) as well as a 
number of aspects considered fundamental when trying to maximise place value through good design 
(highlighted in green). 

The GNT proposals also appear consistent with the vast majority of these place quality criteria and 
neutral on the remainder. On the required criteria, they are consistent on seven and neutral just on 
one. 

  

Page 233



 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF GEORGE STREET & FIRST 
NEW TOWN PROPOSALS, EDINBURGH 41 

 

Figure 6.2 Assessment of GNT proposals against Ladder of Place Qualities approach 
Place quality Relevance of GNT proposals Quality 

met? 
Greeness Substantial levels of new greenery planned, including 

hedges and shrub planting as part of new landscaping 
features. 

✔ 

Mix of uses Land use is mainly retail and business but there are also 
private residences in the area, educational facilities, 
events places, hotels and a church. 

✔ 

Low levels of traffic Intention is to create a very low traffic area and removal 
of parking bays to create space for non-motorised uses. 

✔ 

Walkability Walkability to be improved by wider pavements, shorter 
crossing distances and pedestrianised streets. 

✔ 

Bikeability There will be a new cycling street within the central 
carriageway of the new street and this will be part of a 
network of strategic cycling routes across the city. 

✔ 

Compact & coherent The materials and level of intervention to be consistent 
throughout the area, creating a sense of continuity and 
coherence. 

✔ 

Pattern of development The level of intervention is consistent throughout the 
project area. However, development of surrounding 
buildings and land is outwith the scope of the project. 

- 

Public transport & connectivity Bus services will continue to operate in the GNT area but 
will not travel along George Street. An expanded tram 
network can also be accessed within the GNT area. 

✔ 

Visual permeability The project should maximise existing views and spaces, 
especially through decluttering spaces outside project 
buildings. However, it is not likely to have a major impact 
on the visual permeability of the area. 

- 

Sense of place The placemaking interventions will create a greater sense 
of place within the area. 

✔ 

Pedestrian scale Pedestrian infrastructure will be enhanced in the area 
with wider pavements and shorter crossing distances. 

✔ 

Façade continuity The surrounding buildings are not in the scope of the 
project, although there will be clutter free spaces outside 
key George Street buildings. 

- 

Natural surveillance High levels of natural surveillance due to the activity on 
the street for much of the day. 

✔ 

Street level activity Street level activity should be increased with wider 
pavements. Outdoor seating for food and drink 
establishments also possible and ability to create a café 
culture. 

✔ 

Good street lighting Street lighting will be reviewed and upgraded as required. ✔ 
Denser street network The street network is unlikely to be affected by the 

scheme. 
- 

Low traffic speeds The creation of a very low traffic area will limit traffic 
speeds, as will wider pavements and shorter crossings. 

✔ 

Attractive & comfortable places Wider pavements and pedestrianised streets with outdoor 
seating will help to create more attractive spaces for 
people to walk an spend time in. 

✔ 

Social public/private threshold 
features 

Placemaking interventions will create areas where people 
can linger and interact. Much of the area is privately 
owned. 

- 

Integration of built heritage Clearer views will be possible of prominent buildings, but 
the built heritage is unlikely to be impacted by the 
scheme. 

- 

Integration of natural features & 
ecosystem 

A SUDS will allow surface water to drain naturally, 
replenishing ground water and having no impact on 
existing drains and sewers. The landscape planting will 
slow the rate of surface water and reduce flood risk. 

✔ 

Perceived architectural quality Clearer views will be possible of prominent buildings, but 
the architectural quality is unlikely to be impacted by the 
scheme. 

- 

Sources: Rettie & Co interpretation of Transport for London and University of Westminster criteria (2018) 

Page 234



 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF GEORGE STREET & FIRST 
NEW TOWN PROPOSALS, EDINBURGH 42 

 

8 CONCLUSIONS 

In this economic impact assessment, the ‘full investment’ option 
is judged to make a major contribution towards delivering the 
benefits associated with the strategic objectives, to deliver 
significant net economic impacts and to achieve a relatively 
strong benefit-cost ratio. 

The project has a clear economic rationale in terms of addressing market failure and it is clear on 
intended beneficiary grounds and priorities. It also fits with core plans and strategies that CEC is 
taking forward with partners. 

According to the Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) Appraisal Guidance, 
BCRs of less than 1 represent poor value for money, while those between 1 and 2 represent good 
value for money and those over 2 represent high value for money. In this context, the ‘do minimum 
option’ represents poor value for money, while the ‘full investment’ option represents good value for 
money. 

The full investment case will also generate significant non-monetised benefits such as a healthier, 
safer and more relaxed environment. Therefore, in practice, the BCR should be comfortably above 
stated monetised levels. 

This represents the best attempt at this type of assessment given the data limitations. We have also 
attempted to be as conservative as possible, in line with HM Treasury Green Book guidance, when 
applying our assumptions, e.g. we have taken the low end impact estimates from other studies 

However, all economic impact assessments have their limitations. There are two main qualifications 
to our results. 

1. The business baseline work in this report provides estimates of business space, jobs and 
residents in the GNT area, as well as of visitor numbers and expenditure. This is based on 
available information and data extrapolation. A proper baseline study could produce more 
robust estimates of such variables and would be a useful exercise to undertake prior to 
implementation. The performance of the scheme could then be assessed with further 
monitoring and evaluation work to assess actual impacts, as has been undertaken in other 
places that have introduced similar measures. 
 

2. The assessment of likely impacts is largely based on the literature and previous studies. 
There is corroboration across the literature of the benefits of schemes such as that planned 
for the GNT area, but no two schemes are the same. There are also questions raised in the 
literature about the precise causal link between public realm improvements and commercial 
and economic returns. 

Nevertheless, as shown in the Appendix, there are strong examples of the outcomes and benefits of 
public realm improvements over time in the UK and other parts of the world. This is a short selection 
of such case studies. 

 

 

Page 235



 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF GEORGE STREET & FIRST 
NEW TOWN PROPOSALS, EDINBURGH 43 

 

APPENDIX A – CASE STUDIES 

SHEFFIELD TOWN CENTRE 

 

ISSUE 

In the 1990s Sheffield was facing economic challenges from 
declining industry and new out of town retail was drawing 
people away from the city centre.  

INTERVENTION  

Heart of City Project  

3 key public realm improvements in the first phase 

• Reconstruction of Peace Gardens 
• Re-alignment and narrowing of Pinstone Street to give 

event and gathering space outside the townhall  
• Narrowing of Surrey Street to give pedestrians more 

space 

OUTCOMES 

An evaluation of the public realm improvements to the Peace 
Gardens reported a 35% increase in footfall in the City Centre 
(Genecon, 2010). The authors estimated an attribution rate of 
20% – 44%, or a net increase of visitors of 350,000 –770,000, 
and a net increase in spending of £4.2 million (based on 7% 
attribution of additional spend of £12.20 per visitor). Reported 
regeneration outcomes included an increase of £1.60 –£2.40 / 
sq. ft. rental value and the creation of 341–527 additional net 
jobs (ibid.). 

+35% 

+£4.2m 

+£1.6-£2.4 

Increase in footfall 

Increase in spending 

Rent per sqft 

Page 236



 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF GEORGE STREET & FIRST 
NEW TOWN PROPOSALS, EDINBURGH 44 

 

MELBOURNE LANEWAYS 

 

ISSUE 

The revitalization of Melbourne’s laneways began in the early 
1990s when the City of Melbourne and state government 
worked to protect and upgrade the remaining laneways.  
 
This was part of a larger regeneration program intended to bring 
people back to the city after work hours, and make the city an 
exciting, safe, and hospitable environment. 

INTERVENTION 

The city of Melbourne renovated its pavements and street 
furniture and turned narrow back alleys into a walkable network 

Pedestrian-priority spaces with no vehicular traffic. 
Quality paving materials and custom designed lighting. 
Removal of obstacles, bollards, curbs, and redundant street 
elements. 
Improved cleaning, supervision of laneways, and wayfinding. 
Activation including cultural and arts events. 

OUTCOMES  

The renovation of the back alleys increased pedestrian traffic by 
40% (Arup, 2015). In 1994 just 8% of the laneways were 
accessible and active but by 2004 92% were walkable and had 
become destinations with new cafes and restaurants (The 
Urbanist, 2015). As a result, outdoor cafes have increased from 
just two in the 1980s to over 600 in 2018 (ibid.). 

Walkable and 
accessible 

92% 

Cafes by 2018 
600+ 

Page 237



 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF GEORGE STREET & FIRST 
NEW TOWN PROPOSALS, EDINBURGH 45 

 

ALTRINCHAM GREATER MANCHESTER 

 

ISSUE 

Highest number of shop vacancies in the UK in 2010 at over 30% 
 

INTERVENTION 

£15 million of investment in the public realm, a new market and 
increasing food and drink premises 

OUTCOMES 

Investment credited with reducing shop vacancy rates from over 
30% in 2010 – when the town centre was labelled a ‘ghost town’ 
in the national media7 – to 7.9% as of December 2017 

Better streets, pavements and crossing points are also credited 
with increasing footfall by 25% between 2010 and 2017, with 
further year-on-year increases in footfall predicted 

Additional investment of £3 million is planned in 2018 and the 
local council is exploring ways the model can be used to 
revitalise high streets in neighbouring towns (Trafford Council, 
2017). 

 

  

Vacancy Rate 
+30% 

Increased footfall 
+25% 

Planned investment 
+£3m 

Page 238



 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF GEORGE STREET & FIRST 
NEW TOWN PROPOSALS, EDINBURGH 46 

 

STROGET COPENHAGEN 

 

ISSUE 

Until 1962, all the streets and squares of central Copenhagen 
were used intensively for vehicle traffic and parking and were 
under pressure from the rapidly growing fleet of private 
vehicles. 

INTERVENTION  

The conversion of the 1.15 km-long main street into a 
pedestrian street was seen as a pioneering effort, which gave 
rise to much public debate before the street was converted. 
“Pedestrian streets will never work in Scandinavia” was one 
theory. “No cars means no customers and no customers means 
no business,” said local business owners. 

OUTCOMES 

There was a 35% increase in pedestrian volumes in the first 
year after the conversion.  

There was a 600% increase in pedestrian space from 
15,800sqm in 1962 to 99,700sqm in 2005.  

There was an 81% increase in outdoor café seating. Rising 
from 2,970 seats in 1986 to 7,020 in 2006. 

There was a 400% increase in stopping and staying activities 
from 1968 to 1996. 

There was a 20% increase in citywide pedestrian volumes to 15 
min / day on average. 

Increased footfall 
+35% 

Increased in outdoor 
café seating 

+81% 

Page 239



 ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF GEORGE STREET & FIRST 
NEW TOWN PROPOSALS, EDINBURGH 47 

 

PICCADILLY STOKE ON TRENT 

 

ISSUE 

Ambition to drive activity and footfall and vibrancy in the town 
centre.  

INTERVENTION  
Measures such as widening footpaths, replacing existing 
footpath surfaces, installing trees and seating. 

the area is undergoing pedestrianisation and is the heart of the 
City's 'Cultural Quarter' following the refurbishment of the 
Regent Theatre in 1999.  

In Spring 2021 bollards have been installed to further 
pedestrianize areas. The bollards will allow access for deliveries 
to businesses between 5am and 10am and 5pm and 9pm. 

OUTCOMES 

A £10 million investment to make the area more pedestrian-
friendly has increased footfall by 30%.  

New businesses, cafes and restaurants have opened. The 
project’s success has led to further strategic investment in 
public realm improvements to boost business performance 

 

Increased footfall 
+30% 

Investment 
£10m 

Page 240



 

 
Transport and Environment Committee 
 

10.00am, Thursday, 3 November 2022 

Picardy Place Island, Public Realm Improvement Project 

Executive/routine Executive 
Wards 11 – City Centre 
Council Commitments  

 

1. Recommendations 

1.1 Transport and Environment Committee is asked to: 

1.1.1 Note the feedback from the internal and external stakeholders as detailed in 

Appendix 2; 

1.1.2 Note that any delays to a decision to proceed with the preferred design will 

impact on the construction costs and the completion date of the project; and 

1.1.3 Grant approval to proceed with the preferred design for the Picardy Place 

Island site as shown in Appendix 3, noting that some further changes will be 

incorporated once street lighting and hostile vehicle mitigation measures 

are determined.  The updated design will be shared with internal and 

external stakeholders. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Paul Lawrence 

Executive Director of Place 

Contact: Chris McGarvey, Senior Project Manager, Strategic Transport 

E-mail: chris.mcgarvey@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 0131 529 3535 

  

Page 241

Agenda Item 7.2

mailto:chris.mcgarvey@edinburgh.gov.uk


 
Report 
 

Picardy Place Island, Public Realm Improvement Project 

2. Executive Summary 

2.1 This report provides details of the feedback received on proposed public realm 

enhancements of the Picardy Place Island site and seeks approval to proceed with 

a preferred design. 

 

3. Background 

3.1 On 5 December 2019, Transport and Environment Committee agreed that further 

public engagement should be held regarding the public realm enhancements of the 

Picardy Place Island site (the site) and a report be brought back to committee 

providing the results of the consultation exercise in order to proceed with a 

preferred design 

3.2 In December 2019, an update on the site was presented to the Transport and 

Environment Committee. This advised the following: 

3.2.1 Construction of Picardy Place, with the exception of the central island, was 

underway following all consultations in 2018; 

3.2.2 The long-term solution for the island could not be undertaken until the tram 

stop works were completed. The island was to be used as a compound to 

support Trams to Newhaven implementation and, consequently, only 

temporary footpaths and cycleways were to be provided to link up with the 

new routes through Picardy Place;  

3.2.3 A design solution for the central island was to be developed which 

complemented the public transport and active travel arrangements that 

were being delivered; and that 

3.2.4 Further public engagement on the public realm enhancement opportunities 

was to be held in Quarter 1 2020. 

3.3 Previous stakeholder engagement carried out included: 

3.3.1 A Public Exhibition in September 2017, with attendance from a variety of 

stakeholders including Councillors, Community Councils, community 

groups, local businesses and members of the public;  

Page 242

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s14500/Item%204.1%20-%20Minute%2005.12.19.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s11605/7.2%20-%20Progress%20Update%20on%20Edinburgh%20St%20James%20GAM%20works.pdf


3.3.2 Between November to December 2017, public engagement activities were 

held.  This included a half day workshop (attended by over 80 individuals 

representing key stakeholders across the city), two public drop-in sessions 

(attended by 230 people), and an online consultation event/survey which 

attracted almost 700 responses.  

3.3.3 In March 2019, concept designs were presented to the City Centre 

Neighbourhood Partnership. 

 

4. Main report 

Picardy Island, Public Realm  

4.1 To progress proposals for public realm improvements for the site, in July 2022 a 

new project team was set up.  The project team comprises Council officers with 

external support. A Project Board has also been established.    

4.2 To minimise the impact of works in this area, it was agreed to complete the public 

realm improvements at the same time as the Tram to Newhaven works, i.e., the 

Trams to Newhaven contractor would carry out the public realm construction work.   

4.3 It is intended to utilise the feedback from the previous consultations and 

engagement sessions (as described in section 3) alongside the Council’s transport 

policies and design guidance to support the design of the sites public realm 

proposals.  

4.4 Due to the public realm work already carried out during the construction of the St 

James Centre on Leith Street/Picardy place and the construction of the Picardy 

tram stop, it was concluded that the designs would focus only on the site and that 

there would be no changes to the existing cycle paths or pedestrian crossing points 

in the area. 

Engagement Sessions 

4.5 In August, engagement sessions were held to seek feedback on the proposals 

which are shown in Appendix 1.  A summary of the comments and proposed 

changes is provided in Appendix 2.  The three sessions were:  

4.5.1 On 15 August: with officers from across the Council; 

4.5.2 On 16 August: with Local Councillors and representatives from New Town 

and Broughton Community Council, Picardy Residents Association, The 

Cockburn Association, Living Streets and Spokes; and 

4.5.3 On 17 August: with the Edinburgh Access Panel and RNIB.  

4.6 The feedback from the above has been incorporated into the final concept design 

which is shown in Appendix 3. 

4.7 Following the Transport and Environment Committee meeting on 6 October 2022, 

the stakeholder feedback report was circulated to all stakeholders (Appendix 2) has 

been issued to all the stakeholders.  

Page 243



 

5. Next Steps 

5.1 In advance of considering the recommendations of this report, discussions are still 

ongoing regarding the type of street lighting and hostile vehicle mitigation measure 

that are required for the site.  Once agreed, these will be integrated into the design 

of the scheme (currently shown in Appendix 3).   

5.2 If Committee approve progressing with the proposed scheme design (Appendix 3), 

detailed designs and costs will be carried out to ensure the project remains within 

budget. Any changes to the design required will be agreed by the Project Board. 

Once complete, the final detailed designs will be shared with internal and external 

stakeholders. 

5.3 Construction is due to take place at the beginning of January to ensure that the 

project is completed at the same time as the Trams to Newhaven project. 

 

6. Financial impact 

6.1 The project has been allocated £2.7m from the Roads Capital budget. 

6.2 To deliver the project in tandem with the Trams to Newhaven project will save an 

estimated £300,000 by utilising the existing Tram project contractor to carry out the 

construction. Committee are therefore requested to approve the proposed design 

outlined in Appendix 3 (subject to final changes as noted in paragraph 5.1).   

6.3 If agreement to proceed is not in place by December 2022, it will not be possible to 

deliver the scheme alongside the Tram works and therefore, if the decision to 

proceed is delayed, it is estimated that the construction work would not be 

completed until November 2023. The cost would be circa £300,000 more than 

currently estimated plus any additional inflationary increases. 

 

7. Stakeholder/Community Impact 

7.1 This report identifies the stakeholder engagement that has been carried out to date. 

 

8. Background reading/external references 

8.1 Transport & Environment Committee 25th January 2018 

8.2 Transport & Environment Committee 5th December 2019 

8.3 Transport & Environment Committee 6th October 2022 Business Bulletin  

8.4 Trams to Newhaven final landscaping designs  

Page 244

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Transport%20and%20Environment%20Committee/20180125/Agenda/item_41_-_redevelopment_of_picardy_place.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s11605/7.2%20-%20Progress%20Update%20on%20Edinburgh%20St%20James%20GAM%20works.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=6428
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/tramstonewhaven/downloads/file/549/final-landscaping-designs


9. Appendices 

9.1 Appendix 1 – Picardy Place Engagement Presentation  

9.2 Appendix 2 – Picardy Place Central Island – Stakeholder Engagement Report  

9.3 Appendix 3 – Final concept Design for Picardy Place  

 

 

 

Page 245



PICARDY 
PLACE
CONCEPT DESIGN - 
ENGAGEMENT 
WORKSHOP  (16.08.22)

Appendix 1

P
age 246



SITE:
LOCATION PLAN 

DEVELOPMENT 
SITE 

OMNI 
CENTREST. MARYS

P
age 247



PICARDY PLACE DESIGN 
STARTING POINT / KEY DESIGN DEVELOPMENT

Remove building 

Update design 
to refl ect tram 
interface  

Develop accurate 
levels proposals

Retain cycle lane

P
age 248



SITE ANALYSIS P
age 249



SITE CONSTRAINTS / OPPORTUNITIES:
ANALYSIS PLAN 

LEVEL CHANGE

M
OVE

M
EN

T 

GREENINGGREENING

VIEWS

TRAM CONNECTVITY 

PROTECTION

MO
N

UMEN
T

MO
N

UMEN
T

P
age 250



SITE:
KEY CONSIDERATIONS 

Cycle routes 

Vehicle interface

Pedestrian space 

Tram stop connection  

P
age 251



SITE:
MATERIALITY 

Sandstone paving

Polished black granite

Granite detail Stainless steel

SITE:
MATERIALITY 

P
age 252



STRATEGY P
age 253



TRAM STOP 

LEITH WALK

LE
IT

H
 S

T.

LEITH ST.

CONCEPT DESIGN SOLUTION:
MOVEMENT 

Seperation of transport modes 
via designated routes and formal 
crossing points 

Landscape features such as low 
walls and planting to defi ne zones 
and restrict movement  

P
age 254



TRAM STOP 

LEITH WALK

LE
IT

H
 S

T.

LEITH ST.

CONCEPT DESIGN SOLUTION:
LEVELS CONSTRAINT   

Terraces / steps allow for a level 
fl exible interior to the site (typical 
gradients of 1 in 30 to 1 in 40).

Terraces to be polished black 
granite to match adjacent proposals 
to St. Marys frontage. 

P
age 255



TRAM STOP 

LEITH WALK

LE
IT

H
 S

T.

LEITH ST.

CONCEPT DESIGN:
ART & CULTURAL HERITAGE   

Leith stones could be situated 
adjacent to low granite wall. Shelter 
and informal seat to encourage 
public to pause 

Additional   
monument/ art 
work could stand at 
the east tip of the 
square in highly 
visible location  

Potential location of Conan 
Doyle monument as focal 

point. Sub-square enhances 
setting 

P
age 256



TRAM STOP 

LEITH WALK

LE
IT

H
 S

T.

LEITH ST.

CONCEPT DESIGN:
SUSTAINABLE DRAINAGE (SUDs)  

Linear attenuation planting beds/ 
tree pits to capture surface run off 
utilising site levels

P
age 257



TRAM STOP 

LEITH WALK

LE
IT

H
 S

T.

LEITH ST.

CONCEPT DESIGN SOLUTION:
HOSTILE VECHILE MITIGATION    

HVM protection along eastern, 
southern and western road interface 
via walls and bollards 

P
age 258



CURRENT DRAFT DESIGN P
age 259



TRAM STOP 

LEITH WALK

LE
IT

H
 S

T.

LEITH ST.

CONCEPT DESIGN - DRAFT DESIGN:

Steps in grey granite provide direct 
access in to the square 

Hard paved area provides fl exible 
space for events and pop up 
markets 

Leith stones could be situated 
adjacent to low granite wall. Shelter 
and informal seat to encourage 
public to pause 

Potential location 
for future  
monument  

Hostile Vehicle Mitigation bollards 
protect new public space 

Black granite terraces resolve 
steep levels constraint, protects 

pedestrain space and provides 
informal seating

Cycle lane

Potential location of Conan 
Doyle monument. Sub-square 

provides formal setting

Cycle parking

P
age 260



CONCEPT: 3D VISUALISATION
VIEW OF TERRACE/ STEPS LOOKING SOUTH TOWARD LEITH ST.

P
age 261



QUESTIONS

P
age 262



30 September 2022 

Confidential - External 

Picardy Place Central Island 

Stakeholder Engagement You Said, We Did 

Picardy Place Central Island 

City of Edinburgh Council 

making the difference 

Appendix 2

Page 263



City of Edinburgh Council 

Picardy Place Central Island 

Turner & Townsend 

Confidential - External 

Contents 

1 Introduction 1 

 Background 1 

 Timeline 1 

2 Methodology of Engagement 2 

 Internal Engagement 2 

 External Engagement 2 

 Edinburgh Access Panel and RNIB Engagement 3 

 Transport for Edinburgh Engagement 3 

 Scope of the engagement 3 

3 Internal Feedback 3 

 Art & Cultural Heritage 3 

3.1.1 You said 3 

3.1.2 We did 3 

 Services 4 

3.2.1 You said 4 

3.2.2 We did 4 

 Street Furniture 4 

3.3.1 You said 4 

3.3.2 We did 4 

 Lighting and CCTV 4 

3.4.1 You said 4 

3.4.2 We did 4 

 Landscaping 4 

3.5.1 You said 4 

3.5.2 We did 4 

 Bike Racks 4 

3.6.1 You said 4 

3.6.2 We did 4 

 Wayfinding 4 

3.7.1 You said 4 

3.7.2 We did 5 

 Hostile Vehicle Mitigation 5 

3.8.1 You said 5 

3.8.2 We did 5 

4 External Feedback 5 

Page 264



City of Edinburgh Council 

Picardy Place Central Island 

Turner & Townsend 

Confidential - External 

 Use of Space 5 

4.1.1 You said 5 

4.1.2 We did 5 

 Use of space for pop up events 5 

4.2.1 You said 5 

4.2.2 We did 5 

 Street Furniture 5 

4.3.1 You said 5 

4.3.2 We did 5 

 Art & Cultural Heritage 6 

4.4.1 You said 6 

4.4.2 We did 6 

 SuDS 6 

4.5.1 You said 6 

4.5.2 We did 6 

 Hostile Vehicle Mitigation 6 

4.6.1 You said 6 

4.6.2 We did 6 

 Landscaping 7 

4.7.1 You said 7 

4.7.2 We did 7 

 Bike Racks 7 

4.8.1 You said 7 

4.8.2 We did 7 

5 Edinburgh Access Panel and RNIB 7 

 Movement 7 

5.1.1 You said 7 

5.1.2 We did 7 

 Street Furniture 7 

5.2.1 You said 7 

5.2.2 We did 7 

 Bike Racks 8 

5.3.1 You said 8 

5.3.2 We did 8 

 Hostile Vehicle Mitigation 8 

5.4.1 You said 8 

5.4.2 We did 8 

Page 265



City of Edinburgh Council 

Picardy Place Central Island 

Turner & Townsend 

Confidential - External 

6 Next Steps 8 

 

 

Page 266



City of Edinburgh Council 

Picardy Place Central Island 

Turner & Townsend 01 

Confidential - External 

1 Introduction  

The purpose of this document is to describe the stakeholder engagement on the Picardy Place 

Central Island project.  

 

This document covers an overview of the engagement, the feedback provided and an update to the 

designs following the engagement responses.  

 Background 

In December 2019 an update was presented to the Transport and Environment Committee. This  

advised the following: 

▪ Construction of Picardy Place, with the exception of the central island, was underway  

following all consultations in 2018. The long-term solution for the island could not be  

undertaken until the tram stop works were completed.  

 

▪ The island was to be used as a compound to support Trams to Newhaven implementation,  

consequently, only temporary footpaths and cycleways were to be provided to link up with  

the new routes through Picardy Place. 

 

▪ A design solution for the central island is to be developed which complements the public  

transport and active travel arrangements that are currently being delivered. 

 

▪ Further public engagement on the public realm enhancement opportunities was to be held in 

Quarter 1 2020. 

▪ Picardy Island site to be complete by opening of Trams to Newhaven in Spring 2023. 

The initial planned timelines were not able to be adhered to due a variety of factors.  However, 

in July 2022 a new project team was set up with the City of Edinburgh Council, Turner & 

Townsend and Atkins, with the Trams to Newhaven contractor carrying out the construction 

work. 

 Timeline  

The timeline for the engagement through to construction is as follows:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 267



City of Edinburgh Council 

Picardy Place Central Island 

Turner & Townsend 02 

Confidential - External 

2 Methodology of Engagement  

 Internal Engagement  

An internal stakeholder engagement was held on 15 August 2022 via teams.  

The purpose of the engagement was for Atkins to present their draft concept designs and 

encourage feedback from each CEC department on each of the scope items.  

Feedback from the engagement helped shape and inform decision-making for the development of 

the proposals to final concept design.   

The following departments were involved in the discussion: 

▪ Planning and SuDs 

▪ Street Lighting  

▪ CCTV 

▪ Waste  

▪ Road Services  

▪ Archaeology  

▪ Forestry Service  

▪ Police Scotland  

 

 External Engagement  

An external stakeholder engagement was held on 16 August 2022 at St Mary’s Cathedral.  

The purpose of the engagement was for T&T to present a background of the project to date and 

overview of timelines and for Atkins to present their draft concept designs and encourage feedback 

on each of the scope items. 

The following were invited:  

▪ Elected Members  

▪ New Town and Broughton Community Council  

▪ Cockburn Association  

▪ Picardy Residents Association  

▪ Living Streets  

▪ Spokes 

▪ St James  

▪ Playhouse  

▪ St Mary’s Cathedral  

▪ Sir Tom Farmer 

 

Page 268



City of Edinburgh Council 

Picardy Place Central Island 

Turner & Townsend 03 

Confidential - External 

 

 Edinburgh Access Panel and RNIB Engagement  

An engagement was held on 17 August 2022 at Turner & Townsend’s office. 

The purpose of the engagement was for T&T and CEC to present Atkins draft concept designs and 

encourage feedback.  

 Transport for Edinburgh Engagement  

T&T and CEC engaged with Transport for Edinburgh to understand the requirements for wayfinding 

within the island site.  

 Scope of the engagement  

The points of discussion for feedback were as follows:  

▪ Trees planted in ground  

▪ Reinstatement of Conan Doyle monument  

▪ Leith Stones to be integrated into area  

▪ Art / Heritage  

▪ Retaining Wall / seating to accommodate level change  

▪ SuDs drainage system  

▪ Basic street furniture – bins etc  

▪ Street lighting provision made  

▪ Exclusion of pavilion building 

Ahead of engagements it was confirmed that the cycle way and crossing points were fixed and could 
not be amended as part of this scope.  

3 Internal Feedback  

 Art & Cultural Heritage  

3.1.1 You said 

▪ A new statue should be created for the east monument.  

▪ A new plaque will need to be created for the Conan Doyle statue.  

▪ The Leith Stones form part of the Eduardo Paolozzi sculpture the Manuscript of Montecasino 

1991, of which the hand, foot and ankle have been returned to the space in front of the 

Cathedral. These stones are remnants from the former Leith Station, which was where 

many Italian migrants arrived in Edinburgh, including the artist’s family. Therefore, they are 

an integral piece of the artwork and required to be part of the Picardy Place design. It is 

important they are not a trip hazard.  

3.1.2 We did  

▪ The design includes an ‘empty plinth’ providing future opportunit ies for public engagement 

and promotion of the arts. 

▪ The design notes the requirement for interpretation to be explored further.  

Page 269



City of Edinburgh Council 

Picardy Place Central Island 

Turner & Townsend 04 

Confidential - External 

▪ The Leith Stones have been included to sit in soft landscaping zone with low growing ground 

cover planting.  

 Services 

3.2.1 You said 

▪ Services would require access for 1.5m width vehicle for gritting purposes. 

3.2.2 We did  

▪ All footways are a minimum of 1.5m width.  

▪ Consideration to use removable bollards, to allow maintenance access. 

 Street Furniture  

3.3.1 You said  

▪ There is a preference for bins not to be included within the space.  

3.3.2 We did  

▪ No bins have been included within the design.  

 Lighting and CCTV 

3.4.1 You said 

▪ The area would need CCTV and it would be preferable for cameras to be consolidated with 

the lighting. 

▪ The use of standard CEC lighting columns would be preferable to have a consistent 

maintenance approach. 

3.4.2 We did  

▪ CCTV cameras have been included on 3 existing lighting columns.  

▪ Ongoing discussions are underway with the Street lighting team to ensure the most 

appropriate lighting columns are installed. 

 Landscaping  

3.5.1 You said 

▪ The trees should be of a different species to ensure resilience.  

3.5.2 We did  

▪ 4x tree species, agreed with CEC, have been included within the proposals along with a 

robust mix of ornamental shrubs, grasses and bulb planting to provide year-round interest 

with accent species adding visual interest to SuDs rain gardens and traditional soft planting 

beds. 

 Bike Racks  

3.6.1 You said 

▪ The space should accommodate a bike hire station as well as cycle parking.  

3.6.2 We did  

▪ A cycle hire rack for 7 bikes has been included at the west of the site.   

▪ Cycle parking for 8 bikes has been included to the north of the site.  

 Wayfinding  

3.7.1 You said 

Page 270



City of Edinburgh Council 

Picardy Place Central Island 

Turner & Townsend 05 

Confidential - External 

▪ Wayfinding to be included to tie in with the wider Transport for Edinburgh strategy.  

3.7.2 We did  

▪ Locations have been proposed to the north of the site and ahead of the south entrance to 

the island.  

 Hostile Vehicle Mitigation  

3.8.1 You said  

▪ A Vehicle Dynamic Assessment should be undertaken by HVM specialists.  

▪ Space between rated bollards is to be 1.2m.  

▪ Consideration should be given to install HVM around the cycle paths. 

3.8.2 We did  

▪ Atkins will undertake a Vehicle Dynamic Assessments and any recommendations will be 

considered in the final design. 

▪ Space between the proposed bollards is 1.2m.  

▪ Consideration to use removable bollards, to allow maintenance access. 

4 External Feedback  

 Use of Space  

4.1.1 You said  

▪ Did not envisage that this would be a space to dwell and would be used as an interchange 

only.  

▪ The area should be fully accessible.  

4.1.2 We did  

▪ Informal seating within the terraces / HVM walls has been removed. Benches have been 

included elsewhere as requested by the RNIB and Edinburgh Access panel. 

▪ The stairs were removed from the south entrance to provide an accessible north south 

primary route.  

▪ The west wall has been moved closer to the cycle way to remove this as a secondary 

pedestrian route. 

▪ Stairs are included to the east / west desire line to provide direct access through the change 

in level with an alternative accessible route provided adjacent to Leith Walk.  

 Use of space for pop up events 

4.2.1 You said  

▪ There was no requirement to provide space for any potential pop-up events. 

4.2.2 We did  

▪ No future proofing has been included for this.  

 Street Furniture  

4.3.1 You said  

▪ Could a Scottish Water bottle refill station be included within the island.  

4.3.2 We did  

Page 271



City of Edinburgh Council 

Picardy Place Central Island 

Turner & Townsend 06 

Confidential - External 

▪ This has been added to the north of the site.  

 Art & Cultural Heritage  

4.4.1 You said  

▪ A new plaque will be required for the Conan Doyle statue with a QR code.  

▪ A new statue should be created for the east monument.  

▪ There was no preference for the Leith Stones to be incorporated within the design as were 

unaware these were connected to the area.  

▪ To consider wayfinding to be combined with art. 

4.4.2 We did  

▪ The design notes the requirement for interpretation to be explored further.  

▪ The design includes an ‘empty plinth’ providing future opportunities for public engagement 

and promotion of the arts. 

▪ The Leith Stones form part of the Eduardo Paolozzi sculpture the Manuscript of Montecasino 

1991, of which the hand, foot and ankle have been returned to the space in front of the 

Cathedral. These stones are remnants from the former Leith Station, which was where 

many Italian migrants arrived in Edinburgh, including the artist’s family. Therefore, they are 

an integral piece of the artwork and required to be part of the Picardy Place design. The 

Leith Stones have been included to sit in soft landscaping zone with low growing ground 

cover planting.  

▪ Any wayfinding will need to be tied in with wider Transport for Edinburgh strategy. 

Therefore, combining this with art cannot be included as part of this scope.  

 SuDS 

4.5.1 You said  

▪ Suggested that the location of the SuDs attenuation at the tram stop was a barrier to 

pedestrian flow 

▪ Queried if it was necessary to connect to SW drainage and had concerns on the impact on 

the wider area. 

4.5.2 We did  

▪ The location of the rain garden at the tram stop has been maintained as it prevents the flow 

of pedestrians across the cycle path and moves people to the direction of the designated 

crossings.  

▪ A combination of SuDs and traditional drainage has been proposed which offer onsite 

attenuation and connection to the combined sewer to meet specific on-site conditions.  

 Hostile Vehicle Mitigation  

4.6.1 You said  

▪ This should be minimal and where required planters should be used rather than bollards.  

4.6.2 We did  

▪ Hostile vehicle mitigation measures have been integrated into the landscape features in the 

form of low walls clad in granite. Planting in and around the walls also softens the visual 

impact of the HVM measures.   

▪ Bollards are proposed where pedestrian access and egress is required. Bollards will be 

spaced at 1.2m which is the minimum standard required for HVM.   

Page 272



City of Edinburgh Council 

Picardy Place Central Island 

Turner & Townsend 07 

Confidential - External 

▪ A full vehicle dynamic assessment will be undertaken by Atkins to confirm the measures 

proposed are adequate.  

 Landscaping  

4.7.1 You said  

▪ Preference for the area to have biodiversity and be a “green oasis”.  

▪ The landscaping should have uniformity with the surrounding area.  

4.7.2 We did  

▪ The areas for soft landscaping to the both the east and west of the site have been 

increased.  

▪ The SuDs features include rain gardens/bioretention areas and tree pits which enhance 

biodiversity.  

▪ Through engagement with CEC Forestry department a mix of species have been agreed on. 

It was also agreed that a mix of species within the area is required for resilience against 

climate change and year-round interest. 

 Bike Racks  

4.8.1 You said 

▪ There was no appetite for bike racks or for future proofing for a cycle hire scheme.  

4.8.2 We did  

▪ These have remained within the design at the request of CEC with a view to promoting 

sustainable modes of travel and connection the newly proposed public transport.  

 

5 Edinburgh Access Panel and RNIB 

 Movement  

5.1.1 You said 

▪ The stairs at the south entrance should be removed   

▪ Any steps should have suitable handrails.  

▪ Reduce the conflict between cyclists and pedestrians. 

5.1.2 We did  

▪ The stairs were removed from the south entrance to provide an accessible north south 

primary route.  

▪ The west wall has been moved closer to the cycle path to remove this as a secondary 

pedestrian route and provide better segregation of cyclists and pedestrians. 

▪ Stairs are included to the east / west desire line to provide direct access through the change 

in level with an alternative accessible route provided adjacent to Leith Walk. These steps 

have handrails which will which have integrated lighting to illuminate the steps.  

 Street Furniture 

5.2.1 You said  

▪ The type of seating proposed to match the current arrangement at St Mary’s Cathedral is 

not always accessible and benches with arms should also be considered.  

5.2.2 We did  

Page 273



City of Edinburgh Council 

Picardy Place Central Island 

Turner & Townsend 08 

Confidential - External 

▪ Formal seating has been included in the form of benches with back rests and arms.  

▪ Informal seating within the terraces / HVM walls has been removed.  

 Bike Racks  

5.3.1 You said  

▪ Bike racks are to be out with the main pedestrian desire lines. 

5.3.2 We did  

▪ The cycle hire scheme has been relocated to the west of the site out with the primary 

pedestrian routes.  

▪ The cycle racks have been spilt into two and have been relocated to either side of the north 

SuDs bed to avoid them being obstructions within the pedestrian routes.  

 Hostile Vehicle Mitigation  

5.4.1 You said  

▪ These should not be pedestrian obstructions.  

5.4.2 We did  

▪ A continuous HVM line is required to provide protection to the site interior. The HVM 

measures are in the form of low walls where no pedestrian access is required and bollards 

where pedestrian access/ egress in required.  

6 Next Steps  

The final concept design is currently being costed and on conclusion of this exercise the budget 

and design will be reviewed by CEC Project team. Please note that in order to remain within 

the allocated budget the design may have to be altered from what has been shown. 

This report along with the final concept design will be presented at the next available Transport 

& Environment Committee in November or December for the project to proceed. 

Page 274



Appendix 3

P
age 275



P
age 276



P
age 277



P
age 278



P
age 279



P
age 280



P
age 281



P
age 282



P
age 283



P
age 284



 

 
Transport and Environment Committee  
 

10.00am, Thursday, 3 November 2022 

Bus Partnership Fund – Quick Wins Programme 

Executive/routine Executive 
Wards 1, 2, 16 and 17 
Council Commitments  

 

1. Recommendations 

1.1 Transport and Environment Committee is asked to: 

1.1.1 Note the progress made with the Bus Partnership Fund (BPF), including the 

approval of Experimental Traffic Regulator Orders (ETROs) for five schemes 

(as outlined in paragraph 4.2 and Table 1); 

1.1.2 Approve progressing with ETROs for the schemes detailed in paragraph 4.3 

and Table 2; and 

1.1.3 If recommendation 1.1.2 is approved, note the intention to progress with 

engagement and monitoring and evaluation (as outlined in paragraphs 4.6 – 

4.11 and in Appendices 2 and 3) and that trials will commence immediately.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Paul Lawrence 

Executive Director of Place 

Contact: Jamie Robertson, Transport Manager 

E-mail: jamie.robertson@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 0131 469 3654 

Page 285

Agenda Item 7.3

mailto:jamie.robertson@edinburgh.gov.uk


 
Report 
 

Bus Partnership Fund – Quick Wins Programme 

2. Executive Summary 

2.1 This report provides an update on the implementation of bus priority in response to 

the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic and seeks approval to introduce 

Experimental Traffic Regulation Orders (ETROs) for the remaining trial schemes.  

 

3. Background 

Bus Priority Rapid Development Fund and Bus Partnership Fund 

3.1 In 2020 and 2021, the Council introduced a series of measures across the city in 

response to the public health emergency (Coronavirus (COVID-19)).  

3.2 Interventions included bus lanes implemented under Temporary Traffic Regulation 

Orders (TTROs) and delivered through the Scottish Government’s Bus Priority 

Rapid Development Fund (BPRDF).  These were approved by Committee on 1 

October 2020. 

3.3 On the 22 April 2021, Committee received an update on a collective South East of 

Scotland regional bid to Transport Scotland’s Bus Partnership Fund (BPF). The bid 

identified £200m of bus priority interventions across the region. 

3.4 On 14 October 2021, Committee were informed that an award of £3.03m had been 

agreed from the BPF as an initial tranche of funding. This funding was targeted at 

the delivery of ‘Quick Win’ measures and appraisal work to support the 

development of business cases which will detail how the investment will achieve 

strategic objectives, at both the national and local level. 

3.5 The BPF funding was split as follows: 

3.5.1 £1.4m to develop medium-term interventions, assessed through a Strategic 

Appraisal and Outline Business Case; 

3.5.2 £1.45m for the delivery of “Quick Win” measures; and  

3.5.3 £0.18m allocated to project management. 

3.6 It is anticipated that further funding will be released once the Strategic Appraisal 

and Outline Business Case have been delivered, assuming successful progression 

through an associated gateway review process. 

Page 286

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s26616/7.3%20-%20Bus%20Priority%20Rapid%20Development%20Fund.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s26616/7.3%20-%20Bus%20Priority%20Rapid%20Development%20Fund.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s33322/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin_April%202021.pdf
https://www.transport.gov.scot/public-transport/buses/bus-partnership-fund/
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s39337/6.1%20-%20Business%20bulletin%20141021_Final.pdf


Strategic Appraisal 

3.7 Jacobs Ltd have been commissioned to support the development and delivery of 

the initial Strategic Appraisal work (valued at £350,000). This will assess a series of 

bus priority interventions on all the major bus corridors between Edinburgh and the 

Region, including orbital movements around the city, and it is due to be completed 

early in 2023. The Strategic Appraisal will be reported to Committee at the earliest 

opportunity. 

Quick Wins 

3.8 Stantec have been recently appointed to support the Council in the development of 

a package of bus priority measures that can be delivered immediately (these 

measures are referred to as “Quick Wins”). An update to Committee on 18 August 

2022 outlined the Quick Wins programme approach. 

3.9 This programme will appraise the bus lanes installed at various locations across the 

city as part of the BPRDF during an 18-month trial period.  The location of each 

Quick Win scheme is shown in Figure 3.1 below: 

 

Figure 1: Quick Win Scheme Locations 

3.10 The light green icons presented in Figure 1 above indicate the locations where trials 

are already underway (utilising ETROs) as part of the Travelling Safety Programme. 

The dark green icons shown in Figure 1 indicate the location of the remaining trial 

sites.   

Edinburgh Bus Alliance 

3.11 The BPF will complement the powers in the Transport (Scotland) Act 2019, 

enabling local authorities to work in partnership with bus operators to develop and 

deliver ambitious schemes that incorporate bus priority measures.  

Page 287

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s47965/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s47965/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin.pdf


3.12 The Fund will focus on the evidence of how bus services will be improved by 

addressing congestion, but the partnership approach is also expected to leverage 

other bus service improvements to help tackle the climate emergency, reduce 

private car use and increase bus patronage. 

3.13 One of the main conditions of the Fund is that partnerships must work towards 

achieving Bus Service Improvement Partnership (BSIP) status. On 28 July 2022, 

the Edinburgh Bus Alliance (EBA) was established to help work towards BSIP 

status. 

3.14 The EBA will also help identify current challenges related to bus travel and improve 

the passenger experience when travelling in and around Edinburgh. The EBA acts 

as the steering group overseeing the development of the Strategic Appraisal and 

the delivery of the Quick Wins schemes.  The EBA is chaired by the Council’s 

Public Transport Manager.  The members of the EBA are: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Public Transport Action Plan 

3.15 Importantly, the BPF is a significant part of the Council’s Public Transport Action 

Plan, which is due to be reported to Transport and Environment Committee in early 

2023. 

4. Main report 

4.1 In order to progress with the Quick Wins programme, there are a number of actions 

required to deliver the programme including engagement activities.  A monitoring 

and evaluation plan proposal is also required. 

Schemes Already Agreed 

4.2 Table 1 below shows the schemes which are included in the trial (as shown in 

Figure 1 above as light green icons) which have already been approved to 

progress.   

 

 

 

              
                   

Page 288

https://www.transport.gov.scot/publication/implementing-part-three-of-the-transport-scotland-act-2019-bus-services-analysis-of-consultation-responses/bus-service-improvement-partnerships/


Location Description Status 

A90 - Cramond Brig to 

Barton Junction  

Citybound bus lane, linked to 

existing Queue Management 

System on A90.  

Approval to progress to ETRO granted 

by Transport and Environment 

Committee on 18 August 2022 

(reconvened on 1 September) as part of 

the Travelling Safely report. Trials have 

already commenced. 

A90 - Craigleith Bus Lanes in both directions on 

approach to Craigleith Junction 

Approval to progress to ETRO granted 

by Transport and Environment 

Committee on 18 August 2022 

(reconvened on 1 September) as part of 

the Travelling Safely report. Trials have 

already commenced. 

A1 - Milton Road Bus lanes in both directions  Approval to progress to ETRO granted 

by Transport and Environment 

Committee on 18 August 2022 

(reconvened on 1 September) as part of 

the Travelling Safely report. Trials have 

already commenced. 

A70 – Lanark Road Westbound Bus Lane and an 

extension of the Eastbound Bus 

Lane at the Gillespie 

Crossroads.  

Approval to progress to ETRO granted 

by Transport and Environment 

Committee on 18 August 2022 

(reconvened on 1 September) as part of 

the Travelling Safely report. Trials have 

already commenced. 

A70 – Inglis Green Road Small extension to existing bus 

lane at the Inglis Green Road 

Junction  

Approval to progress to ETRO granted 

by Transport and Environment 

Committee on 18 August 2022 

(reconvened on 1 September) as part of 

the Travelling Safely report. Trials have 

already commenced. 

Table 1: Schemes already approved 

Proposed Schemes 

4.3 As noted in paragraph 3.2, there were a number of bus priority schemes introduced 

in 2021 in response to the Coronavirus pandemic.   

4.4 As part of the BPF Quick Wins programme, it is proposed to retain these schemes 

for a period of up to 18 months to enable on-going monitoring of their effectiveness 

in making it easier for buses to travel into and around the city.   

4.5 Table 2 below shows the schemes which are proposed to be extended, with a short 

note on the legislative approach (if required).  Further details are provided in 

Appendix 1. 

Page 289



Location Description Status 

A89 - Newbridge Approximately 300 metres of 

Eastbound Bus Lane on 

approach to Newbridge 

Roundabout  

Propose to progress under an ETRO as 

presented in this report.  If approved, 

commence trial immediately  

A8 - Gogar underpass Eastbound Bus Lane for the 

length of Gogar underpass  

Propose to progress under an ETRO as 

presented in this report.  If approved, 

commence trial immediately 

Hermiston Park & Ride  Traffic Signalisation of bus only 

exit from Park & Ride site  

No traffic order required.  Following 

Committee consideration of this report, 

commence trial immediately. 

Kaimes Crossroads Southbound Bus Lane on 

Howden Hall Road approach to 

Kaimes Junction and 

Westbound Bus Lane on 

Captains Road arm of Kaimes 

Junction.  

Propose to progress under an ETRO as 

presented in this report.  If approved, 

commence trial immediately 

Gilmerton Crossroads Parking restrictions on approach 

to Gilmerton Road junction.  

Propose to progress under an ETRO as 

presented in this report.  If approved, 

commence trial immediately 

Duddingston Park South Northbound Bus Lane on 

Duddingston Park South Road 

from approx. Bonnybridge Drive 

to Duddingston Yards  

Propose to progress under an ETRO as 

presented in this report.  If approved, 

commence trial immediately 

Table 2: Additional schemes  

Engagement Plan 

4.6 If the recommendations in this report are approved, a formal six-month consultation 

period will commence. During this period individuals or organisations can make 

representations regarding the trial and all feedback will be considered throughout 

the consultation period. The Engagement Plan is detailed in Appendix 2. 

4.7 A briefing note summarising the Quick Wins scheme programme was issued in 

October 2022 to: members of Transport and Environment Committee and relevant 

Ward Councillors.   

Monitoring and Evaluation 

4.8 A monitoring and evaluation plan has been developed to assess and consider the 

success, or otherwise, of schemes approved under the proposed trial. The 

monitoring programme will gather data to allow considered assessment and will 

help to inform any recommendations made on the post-trial future of schemes. 

Page 290



4.9 The initial implementation of the BPRDF schemes has provided an opportunity to 

test bus priority measures, collect live data and deliver early benefits to bus 

operators (during the pandemic). Should the recommendations in this report be 

approved, it will allow for the further examination of the measures installed and 

assess whether they have potential for retention now that there is a return to more 

traditional peak commuting travel patterns. 

4.10 The next steps in the Monitoring and Evaluation Plan will include: 

4.10.1 Data Collection – Data will continue to be collected on each of the schemes 

detailed in this report. This will include traffic flow counts, parking and 

queuing data and analysis of public transport journey time data from public 

transport operators. While baseline data from before the pandemic is not 

always available, ongoing data collection is likely to be useful to evidence 

the operation of each scheme.  The data collected will also be considered 

alongside other factors, including any suggested problems or issues with 

the infrastructure’s presence, and historical data from sources such as Tom 

Tom Traffic Data; 

4.10.2 On-street Observations – On-street observations will be undertaken on 

each of the trial schemes at various times to be better understand the 

operation of the bus lanes during their period of operation.  This will 

including observing how traffic interacts with the bus lanes, queuing, 

adherence to the restrictions and any wider impacts identified.  This may 

lead to changes or alterations to individual schemes during the trial period; 

and 

4.10.3 Market Research – is likely to include focus groups to allow for in-depth 

conversations to be undertaken.  These will examine, for example, how the 

measures are benefitting public transport operators and users alongside the 

potential impact on residents and businesses of the streets concerned. 

4.11 Further details on the Monitoring and Evaluation Plan are provided in Appendix 3. 

5. Next Steps 

Implementation of the Trial Schemes 

5.1 If the recommendations in this report are approved, the required ETROs will be 

made; subject to a minimum seven-day Public Notification period. In some cases, 

the ETRO plans may need to be refined subject to any final comments. 

5.2 Following the introduction of the ETROs, a formal six-month consultation period will 

commence. During this period individuals or organisations can make 

representations regarding the trial and all feedback will be considered throughout 

the consultation period. The Engagement Plan as outlined in Appendix 2 will be 

executed during the six-month trial period. 

5.3 Should any substantive or material matters arise during the trial periods, the 

Transport and Environment Committee and local ward Councillors will be updated. 

 

Page 291



Retaining schemes on a permanent basis 

5.4 The results of the statutory consultation, alongside the outputs of the Monitoring 

and Evaluation Plan and any objection or support received during the initial six-

month period will be reported to Committee for consideration prior to a final decision 

being taken on whether to retain schemes on a permanent basis. 

5.5 The transition from ETRO to permanent TRO is described in new regulations set 

out by Scottish Government. These regulations have been adapted so that the 

transition does not involve any separate advertisement or objection period for the 

making of the permanent order.  Rather, objections and representations made 

during the initial six months of ETRO operation require to be taken into 

consideration in the same way that it would if a TRO was advertised. 

5.6 Should trial schemes be considered for retention, future funding and changes to 

infrastructure may be appropriate for longer-term road layouts. The scope and 

programme of any such retention would be considered by Committee at the 

appropriate time. 

Orbital Bus Movements 

5.7 The grant award from Transport Scotland also provides funding to develop a trial of 

priority interventions focused on orbital bus movements. Jacobs Ltd are currently 

working closely with the EBA, bus operators and Council officers to configure this 

trial. An update to Committee will be presented once the specific detail of the orbital 

trial is developed. 

 

6. Financial impact 

6.1 The funding allocated from the BPF to this Quick Wins programme is outlined in 

paragraph 3.5.1. 

6.2 If the recommendations in this report are approved, the BPF allocation will be used 

to implement the schemes outlined in Tables 1 and 2.   

6.3 Project Management costs associated with the delivery of the programme are 

covered by the £180,000 Project Management allocation contained within the grant 

award. 

7. Stakeholder/Community Impact 

7.1 The advertising process of ETROs will follow the same process adopted for formal 

Traffic Regulation Orders including an advert in a national newspaper, the provision 

of plans showing the proposed restrictions and prohibitions and copies of the draft 

ETRO schedules. Individuals or organisations were asked to respond directly to a 

dedicated email address. In addition, a notification email will be sent to the bodies 

normally consulted as part of the TRO statutory process, to Councillors, Community 

Councils and to key stakeholders. 

Page 292



7.2 In addition to the statutory process in paragraph 7.1 above, Appendix 2 outlines 

further engagement activities to be undertaken and Appendix 3 provides details of 

the monitoring and evaluation plan.   

 

8. Background reading/external references 

8.1 Presentation on the Bus Partnership Fund to the Edinburgh and South East 

Scotland City Region Deal Joint Committee – 2 September 2022. 

8.2 Future Edinburgh Update on the Council Website - 2022. 

8.3 2030 Climate Strategy Implementation Plan – Policy and Sustainability Committee, 

November 2021. 

8.4 City Plan 2030 – Planning Committee, September 2021. 

8.5 Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal Joint Committee Funding 

Award Announcement – 3 September 2021. 

8.6 Business Bulletin for Transport and Environment Committee – 22 April 2021. 

8.7 Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal Joint Committee Bid 

Submission Authorisation – 5 March 2021. 

8.8 City Mobility Plan – Transport and Environment Committee, February 2021. 

 

9. Appendices 

9.1 Appendix 1 – Quick Wins Programme Overview 

9.2 Appendix 2 – Engagement Plan 

9.3 Appendix 3 – Monitoring and Evaluation 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 293

https://edinburgh.public-i.tv/site/mg_bounce.php?mg_a_id=40456&mg_m_id=6248
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/futureedinburgh
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=6005&Ver=4
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=147&MId=6160&Ver=4
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s39337/6.1%20-%20Business%20bulletin%20141021_Final.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s33322/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin_April%202021.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s32093/Item%205.5%20-%20Bus%20Partnership%20Fund%20with%20apps.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=5919&Ver=4


Appendix 1 – Quick Wins Programme Overview 

Background 

1. In 2020 and 2021, the Council introduced a series of measures across the city in 

response to the public health emergency (Coronavirus (COVID-19)). Interventions 

included bus lanes implemented under Temporary Traffic Regulation Orders 

(TTROs) and delivered through the Scottish Government’s Bus Priority Rapid 

Development Fund (BPRDF).  

2. A total of 12 “Quick Wins” bus priority projects were introduced across the city with 

the aim of making bus services more reliable during various tiers of pandemic 

restriction. Note: One of the twelve schemes is being absorbed into a more relevant 

programme and therefore not shown in Figure 2.  

3. The original premise of the projects, in the context of COVID-19, was that 

passengers would spend less time in the confined space onboard buses and, 

therefore, reduce their length of potential exposure to the virus.  

4. In October 2021, the Council was awarded a further £1.45m from the BPF in order 

to evaluate the success of the temporary measures and to facilitate making 

permanent those measures deemed suitable for retention, subject to stakeholder 

engagement and future Committee approval.  

5. Five of the Quick Win projects, including those on the A1, A70 and A90 have 

already been taken forward as part of the Travelling Safely project and were 

approved by Committee on 1 September 2022 to progress to ETRO. 

6. The Quick Win schemes largely consist of sections of bus lane of varying length, 

alongside associated parking and loading restrictions.  The location of each of the 

projects is shown in Figure 2 below.  

  

Figure 2: Quick Win Scheme Locations 

Page 294



7. Table 3 provides further detail on the location and describes the projects shown in 

Figure 2.   

Location Description of “Quick Win” 
Measure 

Benefit of “Quick Win” Measure  

A89 Approximately 300 metres of 
Eastbound Bus Lane west of the 
Newbridge Roundabout. 

Bus Lane provides a queue jump to the A89 / 
B800 traffic signals which is of benefit to public 
transport in the AM Peak. 

A8 Eastbound Bus Lane approximately 
250m through the Gogar underpass. 

Bus Lane provides a queue jump at peak 
periods to the Maybury traffic signals using a 
previously underutilised section of carriageway. 

Hermiston 
Park & Ride 

Traffic Signalisation of bus only exit 
from Park & Ride site. 

Signalisation of the Park & Ride exit assists 
buses exiting the facility particularly during the 
PM peak. Previously the dominant westbound 
flow in the evening peak and the Give Way 
operation in place caused significant delays to 
public transport.   

Kaimes 
Crossroads 

Southbound Bus Lane on Howden 
Hall Road approach to Kaimes 
Junction and Westbound Bus Lane on 
Captains Road arm of Kaimes 
Junction. 

Bus Lane provides a queue jump to the A701 / 
B701 traffic signals (north and East arms) which 
is of benefit to public transport in both the AM 
and PM Peak. 

Gilmerton 
Crossroads 

Parking restrictions on approach to 
Gilmerton Road junction. 

Waiting and Loading restrictions on the 
approaches to the A772 / B701 traffic signals 
improves bus and general traffic movement. 
This is particularly important on the southern 
approach where buses were previously unable 
to pass stationary traffic at peak periods. 

Duddingston 
Park South 

Northbound bus lane of approximately 
380m in length which links with a 
further section of existing bus lane on 
the approach to the A6106 / A1 
signalised junction. 

The existing carriageway width enabled a bus 
lane to be introduced in this location without any 
reduction in road capacity. 

Trials are already underway on the following approved schemes 

A90 
Cramond 

Eastbound Bus Lane on at A90 at 
Cramond Brig on approach to Barnton 
Junction (linked to Queue 
Management System). (This project 
is being progressed through the 
Travelling Safely programme). 

Bus Lane provides a queue jump to the A90 
Barnton traffic signals which is of benefit to 
public transport in the AM Peak. 

A90 
Craigleith 

Bus Lanes in both directions on 
approach to Craigleith Junction. (This 
project is being progressed through 
the Travelling Safely programme). 

Bus Lane provides a queue jump to the A90 / 
B900 Craigleith traffic signals which is of benefit 
to public transport in both the AM and PM Peak. 

A1 Milton 
Road 

Bus Lanes in both directions along 
Milton Road. (This project is being 
progressed through the Travelling 
Safely programme). 

Combined the bus lanes provide buses with a 
‘queue jump’ ability on the approaches to the 
traffic signals and provide a more consistent 
approach to bus lane provision along this 
section of the A1. 

A70 Lanark 
Road 

Westbound Bus Lane and an 
extension of the Eastbound Bus Lane 
at the Gillespie Crossroads (This 
project is being progressed through 
the Travelling Safely programme). 

Bus Lane provides a queue jump to the A70 / 
B701 Gillespie Crossroads which is of benefit to 
public transport in the AM Peak. 

A70 Inglis 
Green Road 

Small extension to existing bus 
lane at the Inglis Green Road 
Junction 

The extension of the bus lane aids its 
effectiveness and reduces the likelihood of bus 
delays.  

Page 295



 Table 3: Description of Quick Win Schemes 

8. TTROs have a maximum duration of 18 months, with the individual TTROs having a 

range of expiry dates from November 2022 to March 2023 (note that the project at 

Hermiston Park & Ride is not subject to a Traffic Order). 

9. While monitoring has been undertaken on the projects since their implementation, 

the true benefits of individual projects to bus users in terms of journey time savings 

and reliability can only be properly understood now that traffic flows have started 

returning to more traditional patterns. 

10. On this basis, it is proposed that each of the Quick Win schemes are subject to 

further assessment of the suitability of each scheme prior to making a decision on 

whether each of the projects should either be removed or made permanent through 

a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO). 

Proposed Experimental Traffic Regulation Order (ETRO) Process and 

Engagement 

11. An ETRO has a maximum lifespan of 18 months, during which ongoing monitoring 

and evaluation are undertaken. Stakeholder feedback will be considered throughout 

the ETRO process.  However, a formal consultation period covers the first six-

months of the ETRO in operation.  

12. Similar to a permanent TRO, the Council are legally obliged to advertise all ETROs 

and give the public an opportunity to state their support or objection. Traffic Orders 

can be viewed and representations can be made at any time during the six-month 

consultation period via the Council’s Traffic Orders webpage.   

13. The results of the statutory consultation, detailing any objection or support received 

during the six-month consultation period, will be reported to Committee for 

consideration prior to a final decision being taken on whether to retain schemes on 

a permanent basis. Furthermore, relevant elected members will be kept updated on 

feedback received during the trial period as required. 

Proposed Engagement 

14. During the development of the BPRDF schemes, the Council reviewed previous 

transport studies and worked collaboratively with stakeholders, including other local 

authorities and bus operators, to help inform and refine measures before their 

implementation.   

15. As a result of the measures implemented, continued engagement with bus 

operators confirms journey time savings and reliability improvements; which has 

aided patronage recovery and helped increase the attractiveness of public transport 

as an alternative to private car.  

16. Prior to Committee on 3 November 2022, initial engagement with key stakeholders, 

such as Community Councils, relevant elected members and bus operators, has 

been undertaken.  

17. In addition, other stakeholders and local residents will be made aware of the 

forthcoming ETRO process and associated six-month statutory consultation period. 

Page 296

https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/roads-pavements/view-comment-traffic-orders-new?documentId=12973&categoryId=20089


18. As mentioned in Paragraph 13 above, following the introduction of the ETROs, the 

formal six-month consultation period will commence, and individuals or 

organisations can make representations regarding the trial with feedback 

considered throughout the consultation period. These comments will be publicly 

accessible after the ETRO consultation period. 

Monitoring and Evaluation 

19. The Quick Win programme will appraise the bus lanes installed at various locations 

across the city as part of the BPF during the ETRO trial period. 

20. In partnership with the Council, bus operators have been continually monitoring the 

individual schemes since implementation and providing feedback in relation to 

observed journey time savings, reliability and other operational observations.   

21. Positive feedback has been received from Lothian Buses in relation to each of the 

installed Quick Win schemes, including estimates on journey time savings. Other 

feedback includes support from Stagecoach in relation to the A90 scheme.  

22. Operator suggestions have been provided in relation to minor adjustments or 

additions to the layout of a number of the schemes which could provide further 

improvements to bus journey times (such as enhanced signage etc). The 

incorporation of the suggested changes will be considered during the evaluation 

phase of the ETRO trial.  

23. A monitoring and evaluation plan has been developed to assess and consider the 

success, or otherwise, of the trial schemes. The monitoring programme will gather 

data to allow considered assessment to inform the post-trial recommendations.  

24. The Monitoring and Evaluation Plan will include the following key elements: 

• Data Collection – Ongoing data collection include traffic flows counts, parking 

and queuing data and analysis of public transport journey time data from public 

transport operators. 

• On-street Observations - Ongoing observations will be undertaken on each 

Quick Win project in order to better understand the operation of the bus lanes, 

including how traffic interacts with the bus lanes, queuing, adherence to the 

restrictions alongside any wider impacts in order to identify any changes or 

alterations to each scheme. 

• Market Research - Likely to be focus groups to allow for in-depth conversations, 

to be undertaken examining, for example, how the measures are benefitting 

public transport operators and users alongside the potential impacts on 

residents and businesses of the streets concerned. 

25. The outputs of the Monitoring and Evaluation plan will be reported back to 

Committee following the end of the initial six-month period.   

Programme 

26. The BPRDF Quick Win project consists of five distinct stages, with the project 

currently at Stage 3 as detailed in Figure 3. 

Page 297



 

Figure 3: Project Stages 

Scheme Drawings 

27. The following scheme drawings show the measures in place at each location. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 298



 

Figure 4 - Duddingston Park South 

 

 

Figure 5 – Kaimes Road 

 

Page 299



 

Figure 6 - Gilmerton Crossroads 

 

 

Figure 7 - Hermiston Park & Ride 

 

Page 300



 

Figure 8 - A8 Gogar Underpass 

 

 

Figure 9 - A89 Newbridge 

 

Page 301



Appendix 2 – Engagement Plan 

Background 

1. Stantec UK Limited has been appointed by the Council to provide ongoing 

consultancy support to develop and deliver a number of bus infrastructure schemes 

following a successful bid to Transport Scotland’s Bus Partnership Fund (BPF). The 

proposed “Quick Win” schemes form a range temporary bus measures previously 

implemented across the city by the Council under the Scottish Governments Bus 

Priority Rapid Deployment Fund (BPRDF).  

2. Each of the individual Quick Win schemes will now be subject to review, refinement 

and engagement during the statutory Experimental Traffic Regulation Order (ETRO) 

process to allow further monitoring and evaluation.  

3. The delivery of successful transport interventions begins and ends with participatory 

community and stakeholder engagement. Engagement ensures that the knowledge, 

ideas and experiences of people that live, work or visit the area are the basis for the 

development of transport interventions to meet future needs.  

4. All engagement activities need to be inclusive and assist in the resolution of 

tensions between different interest groups by including all views at an early stage. 

The consultants (Stantec) will support Council officers throughout the project to 

deliver this Engagement Plan; which will remain a live document to ensure all 

relevant groups are able to feed into the process and inform any changes to each of 

the Quick Win schemes. 

Engagement Plan 

5. The Engagement Plan: 

• Establishes engagement objectives and key messages; 

• Establishes roles and responsibilities; 

• Establishes an initial list of Stakeholders; and 

• Develops and describes the communication and engagement techniques to be 

employed throughout the project. 

 

6. The Plan is set out as follows and is summarised below: 

• Engagement Objectives and Key Messages; 

• Roles, Responsibilities and Governance; and  

• Engagement Activities. 

 

Engagement Objectives and Key Messages 

 Engagement Objectives 

1. To inform officers, Elected Members, stakeholders and local residents of the 

intention to promote ETRO’s as BPF “Quick Wins” trial schemes at a number 

of locations around the city.  Officers will gather feedback on key issues and 

opportunities to support the development process and will communicate the 

Page 302



ongoing opportunities for engagement during the ETRO statutory 

consultation process.  

 Key Messages 

2. The Key messages associated with the project engagement activities will be 

subject to ongoing review and refinement, although are likely to include the 

following: 

• Based on information from bus operators, the BPF “Quick Wins” 

schemes aim to improve bus journey time reliability at each of the 

locations during the period of their operation; 

• While monitoring has been undertaken on each of the schemes since 

implementation during the pandemic, the real benefits of the individual 

projects to bus users in terms of journey time savings and service 

reliability can only be properly understood now that traffic flows and 

working patterns have started returning to normal;  

• Following the introduction of the ETROs, a formal six-month consultation 

period will commence. During this period, individuals or organisations 

can make representations on the trial and all feedback will be considered 

throughout the ETRO consultation period; 

• Details of the individual schemes will be hosted on the Council website, 

with a dedicated email address provided to enable feedback from 

stakeholders and the public; and  

• The results of the statutory consultation, alongside the outputs of the 

Monitoring and Evaluation Plan and any objection or support received 

during the initial six-month period, will be reported to Committee for 

consideration prior to a final decision being taken on whether to retain 

schemes on a permanent basis. 

 

Roles, Responsibilities and Governance 

1. The Edinburgh BPF “Quick Wins” project is being led by officers from City of 

Edinburgh Council’s Strategic Transport Planning and Projects Development 

team, with support from Stantec.    

Team/ person Role Specific Responsibilities 

Council project team  Oversight from a project 
and programme 
perspective, decision 
making, CEC ‘face’ of the 
project, collaboration with 
other projects 

Provide lead role on internal governance procedures 
and approval of engagement and communication 
activities. 
 
Provide lead role on engagement activities with elected 
members.  
 
Provide stakeholder details and coordination role in 
engagement with internal officers and related project 
teams. 
 
Approval of all engagement materials. 

Stantec Advice, content creation, 
organise and run 
engagement activities, 
data gathering, lessons 
learnt and evaluation. 

Preparation and ongoing updates to engagement and 
comms plan. 
 
Organise and prepare engagement material to be 
hosted on project webpage and run all engagement 
activities.  
 

Page 303



Table 4 – Engagement Roles and Responsibilities 

2. Table 4 summarises roles and responsibilities for the delivery of project 

communications and engagement activities. 

Engagement Activities 

1. The aim of the engagement plan is to facilitate an ongoing working relationship 

between the project team, key stakeholders (internal and external) and local 

residents (adjacent to each of the “Quick Wins” schemes) to help review and 

refine the proposed measures, provide information on the proposed ETRO 

process and statutory consultation.  

2. The plan proposes activities to promote respectful dialogue between everyone 

involved, aimed at improving understanding of the project and process by 

stakeholders and taking joint action to achieve positive change within and 

around the project area. This engagement plan is driven by the key principles of 

fairness and equality, and a commitment to learning and continuous 

improvement.  

3. The proposed engagement materials and approach will be: 

• Effective − in meeting the needs and expectations of the people involved; 

• Efficient − by being well informed and properly planned; and 

• Fair − by giving people who may face additional barriers to getting involved 

an equal opportunity to participate.  

 Standards for community engagement 

4. This plan will fulfil the following standards of community and stakeholder 

engagement:  

Gather, analyse and report all data from engagement.  
 
Evaluate and report on lessons learnt. 
 

Council Communications 
team 

Advice, support, oversight 
from a wider CEC 
communications 
perspective,  

Provide internal webpage that will host information on 
the wider Bus Partnership Fund project. 
 
Review all content before publication from a messaging/ 
brand perspective. 
 
Agree social media framework and post social media 
content and handle any queries / issues should they 
arise. 

Page 304



 

 Figure 4- National Standards of Community Engagement  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 305



Stakeholders Identification 

5. Stakeholders and appropriate representative organisations (relevant to the 

project) will be identified within a number of different areas of interest based on 

previous engagement on the “Quick Wins” project and information gathered 

from ongoing engagement work undertaken on interrelated projects such as 

Travelling Safely. Table 5 identifies likely stakeholder groups and associated 

areas of interest.    

Commercial Residents / Local Representatives Political 

Local businesses or employers 

located on each route. 

Local residents in the vicinity of each route. 

Community Councils 

Transport and Environment 

Committee Members 

Ward Councillors 

Wider Areas of interest 

Visually impaired groups - 

RNIB 

Physical disability groups – 

MACS 

Public Transport Groups - 

EBUG 

Active travel charities/groups  

Employment groups 

Social justice groups 

Mental health groups 

Hearing impairment groups 

Older people groups 

 Table 5 - Stakeholder groups and associated areas of interest. 

  

Engagement activities and draft programme  

6. The programme of engagement is proposed to run between October 2022 and 

April 2023. We have identified a mixture of engagement activities appropriate to 

the stage and scale of the project, as shown in the table below with the aim of 

facilitating effective engagement prior to the introduction of ETRO’s. 

 

         Table 6: Proposed Engagement Activities 

Page 306



7. The engagement activities listed in Table 7 will be tailored to specific 

stakeholder groups and this will help to achieve the engagement objectives of 

the project. As the project affects a variety of relatively small, focused areas of 

the city, it is anticipated that most communication will be targeted at specific 

audiences.  

 

Table 7: Proposed Engagement Activities (maybe be subject to change) 

Key Risks and Challenges 

8. The purpose of the engagement is to raise awareness of the “Quick Wins” 

projects and inform stakeholders and local residents of the forthcoming ETRO 

process and associated six-month statutory consultation period.  

9. Due to the “Quick Win” schemes being located in relatively small areas spread-

out across the city, it may prove challenging to reach local residents adjacent to 

the schemes prior to the formal advertisement of the ETRO.  This could be 

particularly challenging for those not on social media, without providing 

Page 307



additional advertisement material such as a leaflet drop. Guidance will be 

sought from local stakeholders, including Community Councils, on an 

appropriate approach to advertising the project webpage.     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 308



Appendix 3 – Monitoring and Evaluation Plan 

Background 

1. Monitoring is an often-neglected stage of the project lifecycle, yet it is as important, 

if not more important, than any other stage in the project; especially for trial-based 

projects.  This Monitoring and Evaluation approach has been developed to assess 

and consider the success, or otherwise, of schemes approved under the proposed 

trial. The monitoring programme will gather data to allow considered assessment 

and will help to inform any recommendations made on the post-trial future of 

schemes. 

2. A total of 12 “Quick Win” bus priority projects were introduced across the city in 

2020 and 2021 with the aim of making bus services more reliable during various 

tiers of pandemic restriction. 

3. While monitoring has been undertaken on the projects since their implementation, 

the true benefits of the individual projects to bus users in terms of journey time 

savings and reliability can only be properly understood now that traffic flows have 

started returning to more traditional patterns. 

Proposed Monitoring Approach 

Baseline Data 

1. Due to the installation of the temporary measures during the COVID-19 pandemic, 

which were installed in response to a crisis, there was limited site specific baseline 

data collected prior to installation. However, the following sources of information are 

available to enable analysis of the network operation pre-COVID: 

• Tom Tom Journey time data;  

• Traffic flow information from the Council’s traffic signals SCOOT loops; 

• Department for Transport (DfT )and Transport Scotland traffic count locations; 

and  

• Journey-time information from public transport operators. 

2. Tom Tom has the industry’s largest historical traffic database making the data ideal 

for the assessment of journey times pre- and post-pandemic (2019 v 2022). Data on 

journey times along selected route corridors can be obtained from TomTom and 

utilised to assess journey times pre-pandemic and before the measures were 

introduced and compare them to journey times post pandemic with the measures in 

place. 

3. SCOOT Detector Flow Trends can be analysed at certain junctions in order to 

provide a general indication of traffic flow trends pre- and post-pandemic. While it is 

not possible to obtain accurate traffic flow data from this source, analysis of the 

background trends can indicate whether traffic flows at a certain location have 

returned to the pre-pandemic norm. 

4. Bus operators record data on journey times between various timing points on the 

network and this data alongside operator’s experience can provide information on 

Page 309



bus journey times trends pre- and post-pandemic. Data on bus journey times before 

and after implementation will highlight whether the Quick Win schemes continue to 

provide a benefit to bus journey times.   

5. Data from the above sources will enable a comparison to be made with similar data 

post installation of the “Quick Win” schemes providing a quantitative review of 

network performance in the vicinity of each “Quick Win” scheme.  

6. An initial review of baseline data collected on a number of key corridors including 

the A8 and A90 suggests that general traffic flows and journey time trends in May 

2022 were lower than the equivalent period in May 2019 and further analysis will be 

undertaken during the ETRO trial period. 

Proposed Monitoring Methods 

7. Since the introduction of the “Quick Win” schemes, officers and bus operators (in 

particular Lothian Bus) have been continually monitoring the individual projects 

through on-site observations since implementation and providing feedback in 

relation to observed journey time savings and operational observations.   

8. The proposed monitoring programme will gather data to allow considered 

assessment and will help to inform any recommendations made on the post-trial 

future of schemes.  

9. The Monitoring and Evaluation Plan will include the following key elements; with 

more detail on the individual methods to be employed contained in Table 1 below: 

• Data Collection – Ongoing data collection include traffic flows counts, parking and 

queuing data and analysis of public transport journey time data from public 

transport operators. This data will enable a quantitative assessment to be made 

on the benefits of the specific projects to public transport and identify any wider 

issues or trends associated with general traffic.  

• On-street Observations - Ongoing observations will be undertaken on each of the 

“Quick Wins” schemes in order to better understand the operation of the bus 

lanes during the period of operation including how traffic interacts with the bus 

lanes, queuing, adherence to the restrictions alongside any wider impacts in order 

to identify any changes or alterations to each scheme. 

• Market Research - likely to be focus groups to allow for in-depth conversations, 

to be undertaken examining for example how the measures are benefitting public 

transport operators and users alongside the potential impacts on residents and 

businesses of the streets concerned. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 310



Potential Monitoring Methods 

Element Baseline Purpose Frequency 

Quantitative Tools 

Automatic vehicle 
counts 

Not collected to date and only 
limited baseline data is available at 

DfT count sites or based on 
historical planning application data 

Identify changes in use on existing 
sections and model junction 

performance. 

As Required - 
Ongoing 

TomTom Journey 
time survey 
information 

Available at each “Quick Wins” 
location 

Comparison of general traffic 
journey times pre / post installation 

of “Quick Wins” measures. 

As Required - 
Ongoing 

Council Traffic 
Signals SCOOT 

flows 

Available at a limited number of 
traffic signal junctions 

Analysis of general traffic flow 
trends although data is not 

suitable for use in more detailed 
analysis. 

As Required - 
Ongoing 

Public Transport 
Journey Time 
Information 

Depending on the public transport 
operator historic data is available 

Determine any changes in public 
transport journey time as a result 
of the “Quick Wins” measures. 

As Required - 
Ongoing 

Video Surveys Not available 

Video surveys to analyse queue 
lengths, parking and general 
adherence to the bus priority 

measures 
 

Identification of problem areas 
where adjustment of the installed 

measures may be required 

As Required 

Qualitative Tools: 

On-site 
observational 

studies 

Data available from officer 
observations since installation 

On-site analysis of the 
performance of the measures 

during appropriate peak periods 

As Required - 
Ongoing 

 

Internal Officer / 
Key Stakeholder 

Liaison 

Liaison with key stakeholders and 
Officers to gain an insight on the 

operation of the network pre-
pandemic   

Ongoing liaison to understand 
issues and identify any changes to 

the proposed measures   

As Required - 
Ongoing  

 

Page 311



Community 
impact evaluation 

Information collected through 
engagement with local residents / 

businesses 

To understand community needs, 
issues and identify any changes to 

the proposed measures 
To be determined  

 Table 1 - Potential Monitoring Methods 

Proposed Evaluation Approach  

10. A well-designed monitoring framework provides a basis for undertaking the 

evaluation stage of the project. An outcome evaluation should attempt to determine 

the extent to which a project has delivered against its initial goals – i.e. has it 

delivered the objectives?  

11. The collection of good quality monitoring data will enable the project team to carry 

out a robust evaluation and understand both quantified and behavioural impacts of 

their investment. It will also make it possible to gauge the extent to which the 

objectives have been achieved, spell out what has worked and what has not, and 

provide a basis for future prioritisation exercises.   

12. The process evaluation will aim to identify lessons that could be learned for 

delivering similar schemes in the future.  It will aim to gather a collection of 

qualitative and quantitative data to understand what worked well and what did not. 

 

Page 312



 

 
Transport and Environment Committee  
 

10.00am, Thursday, 3 November 2022 

Cammo Road – Trial Road Closure Update 

Executive/routine Executive  
Wards 1 and 6 
Council Commitments  

 

1. Recommendations 

1.1 Transport and Environment Committee is asked to: 

1.1.1 Agree to delay the proposed trial road closure (vehicle prohibition) of Cammo 

Road until the completion of the new Maybury Road/Craigs Road signalised 

junction; and 

1.1.2 If recommendation 1.1.1 is agreed, note that a road network assessment will 

be undertaken on completion of the new Maybury Road/Craigs Road 

signalised junction to identify if there are any further works which could 

impact on the implementation of the trial.  Committee will be kept updated on 

the progress of this. 

 

 

 

Paul Lawrence 

Executive Director of Place 

Contact: Dave Sinclair, Local Transport and Environment Manager 

E-mail: david.sinclair@edinburgh.gov.uk 

Page 313

Agenda Item 7.4

mailto:david.sinclair@edinburgh.gov.uk


 
Report 
 

Cammo Road – Trial Road Closure Update 

2. Executive Summary 

2.1 This report provides an update on the outstanding action to implement a trial road 

closure on Cammo Road.  

3. Background 

3.1 On 17 June 2021, Committee agreed to undertake a trial vehicle prohibition on 

Cammo Road with a view to commencement by the end of 2021, for a period of up 

to 18 months. 

4. Main report 

4.1 Since the approval of the trial closure of Cammo Road, officers have been working 

on preparing the appropriate legal order to implement an Experimental Traffic 

Regulation Order (ETRO) to progress with the trial closure. 

4.2 However, while preparations have continued, officers have not considered it 

appropriate to implement the trial closure due to significant works, closures and 

disruption to the road network in the West Craigs and Turnhouse area.  

4.3 These have included roadworks on Turnhouse Road (several consecutive sets of 

temporary traffic lights) and a prolonged road closure on Craigs Road (west side).  

4.4 At the end of July 2022, the Craigs Road (west section) reopened and the majority 

of roadworks on Turnhouse Road were expected to be completed by the end of 

October 2022. 

First Stage Consultation 

4.5 Therefore, in preparation for this, the ETRO and layout plan was drafted for the first 

stage consultation with statutory consultees. This consultation took place in July 

2022 and received 20 responses. 

4.6 A summary of the responses is attached in Appendix 1.  The majority of responses 

were received from residents at either end of the proposed trial closure, with a 

response received from the Cramond and Barnton Community Council and the 

Airport Fire and Rescue Service. 

4.7 Based on the responses received, officers notified local Councillors and 

Stakeholders that a review of the network would be appropriate prior to the 

Page 314

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s36304/Item%204.1%20-%20Minute%20of%2017%20June%202021.pdf


commencement of the trial.  This would consider the scope of adjacent roadworks 

and any access limitations for local residents and businesses.  The Rolling Actions 

Log for Committee (in August 2022) was also updated to confirm that a network 

review would be carried out prior to implementation of the ETRO.  Officers also 

recognised that suitable emergency access arrangements should be agreed with 

the Airport in advance of implementation. 

Local Road Network Review 

4.8 As part of the local road network review, the Consultant representing an adjacent 

developer confirmed that they are expecting that works to install a new signalised 

junction at the Maybury Road/Craigs Road junction and to widen/upgrade the west 

tie-in to Craigs Road will commence in January 2023 for a period of three to four 

months. 

4.9 The completion of these works will improve access for local residents and 

businesses in the Turnhouse Road/Lennymuir area by allowing unrestricted entry 

from Maybury Road.  

4.10 At the time of writing, technical approval for the junction has not yet been granted, 

however, officers expect the necessary consents will be provided shortly. 

4.11 Considering the implications of a further temporary road closure on Craigs Road 

(west side near the construction of the new junction), officers recommend that the 

trial closure of Cammo Road be delayed until these junction works are complete 

(expected Spring 2023).   

5. Next Steps 

5.1 If Committee agree the recommendation to delay the implementation of the ETRO 

to close Cammo Road, towards the programmed completion of the new signalised 

junction officers will undertake a further local road network review to consider if 

there are any significant roadworks upcoming that could impact on the success of 

the trial. 

5.2 In the meantime, officers will discuss the plans for the trial closure with 

representatives from the Airport Fire and Rescue Service to consider how access 

can be maintained when the closure is implemented.  

5.3 Assuming the local road network review does not identify any further conflicting 

road works in the areas, a broader notification exercise will be carried out to update 

local residents and businesses of the plans for implementation. 

5.4 Thereafter, the ETRO would be made.  This will confirm the start date and expected 

trial period. 

5.5 A statutory six-month consultation period would commence at the start of the trial.  

In this period, individuals or organisations can formally raise objections relating to 

the trial scheme.  

5.6 Following the six month period, any objections received and a proposal for the 

future of scheme should be considered at this Committee. This report is expected 

Page 315

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s48552/5.2%20-%20Rolling%20Actions%20Log%2018.08%20v2.pdf


around nine months after the trial begins.  This also reflects a request from the 

Cramond and Barnton Community Council to undertake the trial for nine months 

only.   

6. Financial impact 

6.1 The cost of preparing the layout, signing schedule, making the ETRO and delivering 

the trial closure is expected to be in the region of £10,000 and will be met by the 

transport revenue budget. 

6.2 The cost of undertaking the statutory six month consultation will also be met from 

the existing transport revenue budget. 

7. Stakeholder/Community Impact 

7.1 Local engagement with stakeholders, local Councillors and the two Community 

Councils was undertaken in 2021 to determine the level of support for the trial. 

7.2 The first stage engagement with statutory consultees (emergency services/road 

haulage organisations etc) was undertaken in July 2022. A summary of responses 

is provided in Appendix 1.   

7.3 Under the current regulations when an ETRO is made, a formal six-month 

consultation period should commence.  This allows anyone to offer comment, 

support or to raise a material objection to the TERO. Any objections should be 

reported to Committee for consideration with recommendations on the future of the 

scheme.    

8. Background reading/external references 

8.1 None. 

9. Appendices 

9.1 Appendix 1 – Summary of responses to first stage ETRO consultation. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 1 – Summary of responses to first stage ETRO consultation 

 

Page 316



Response Number Summary of Comments 

Support 10 Increased numbers of commercial 

traffic in residential areas. 

Road safety risks to pedestrians 

especially children in the Cammo area. 

20mph speed limit should also be 

extended. 

Period of trial should be restricted to 9-

months. 

Trial closure would stop rat run. 

Objection 8 Restricted vehicle access from 

Turnhouse Road and Lennymuir. 

Roadworks should be complete before 

consideration. 

Affects access to the Airport cargo area 

and businesses. 

Displaced traffic and congestion at the 

existing Maybury (A8) junction. 

Isolating for local residents 

Comment 1 Spokes Edinburgh would comment 

during 6-month consultation stage. 

Emergency Access Required 1 Access for emergency vehicles required 

over flight path up to A90. Access 

arrangements to be agreed with 

Edinburgh Airport in advance of trial. 

 

Page 317



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
Transport and Environment Committee 
 

10.00am, Thursday, 3 November 2022 

Motion by Councillor Burgess - Sciennes Primary 

playground on Sciennes Road 

Executive/routine Executive 
Wards 15 – Southside/Newington 
Council Commitments  

 

1. Recommendations 

1.1 Transport and Environment Committee is asked to note: 

1.1.1 The actions taken in response to the Motion and, in particular, that the 

statutory process to promote a Traffic Regulation Order to close the section 

of Sciennes Road outside Sciennes Primary School permanently to motor 

vehicles has commenced; 

1.1.2 The independent legal advice commissioned by the Council, which 

concluded that any attempt to prohibit the use of this section of Sciennes 

Road to cyclists and pedestrians under current Roads or Planning legislation 

would carry a significant risk of legal challenge; 

1.1.3 That there is no current national or local funding available to deliver an 

expansion of the playground at Sciennes Primary School. However, a survey 

will be carried out over the next year, so that a list of similar issues across the 

school estate can be identified and prioritised should funding become 

available in the future;  

1.1.4 That this report concludes the action taken in response to the motion of 27 

January 2022; and 

1.1.5 That a Business Bulletin update will be prepared for Education, Children and 

Families Committee to provide a link to this report.   

Paul Lawrence 

Executive Director of Place 

Contact: Daisy Narayanan, Head of Placemaking and Mobility 

Page 319

Agenda Item 8.1



2 
 

E-mail: daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk 

 
Report 
 

Motion by Councillor Burgess - Sciennes Primary 

playground on Sciennes Road 

2. Executive Summary 

2.1 This report provides information on actions taken in response to an Emergency 

Motion approved by the Transport and Environment Committee on 27 January 

2022. 

 

3. Background 

3.1 On 27 January 2022, Transport and Environment Committee approved an 

Emergency Motion relating to Sciennes Primary School playground and Sciennes 

Road. 

3.2 The motion requested that officers bring forward a report on closing Sciennes Road 

to traffic, in front of Sciennes Primary School, on a permanent basis, to provide 

adequate playground space for the school in the long term, using the most 

appropriate mechanism such as a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO), Stopping Up 

Order or Redetermination Order (RSO). 

3.3 It also requested that, while a permanent closure is investigated, all practical 

measures should be taken to make the current temporary, partial closure safe and 

secure for children, including signage and road painting, and that closing the road to 

pedestrians and cyclists during school times should be explored. 

3.4 Finally, the motion requested that appropriate Council officers meet with ward 

Councillors and Parent Council representatives as soon as possible to progress the 

matter and that a Members’ Briefing be provided to Committee and ward 

Councillors by the end of March.  This meeting took place on 23 February 2022 and 

a briefing was provided to Committee and ward Councillors in March 2022. 

4. Main report 

4.1 The section of Sciennes Road immediately outside the school remains closed to 

motor traffic under a Temporary Traffic Regulation Order (TTRO). 

Page 320

mailto:daisy.narayanan@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/b19330/Motions%20and%20Amendments%2027th-Jan-2022%2010.00%20Transport%20and%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/b19330/Motions%20and%20Amendments%2027th-Jan-2022%2010.00%20Transport%20and%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9


3 
 

4.2 At the meeting on 23 February 2022, various actions were agreed to improve the 

operation of the temporary closure outside the school. 

Road Closure 

4.3 A review of the school’s Travel Plan is nearing completion and the new Plan is 

expected to be formally signed off by the school and the Parent Council this month. 

Work has recently commenced to promote a TRO to close this section of road 

permanently to motor vehicles and to introduce further traffic restrictions arising 

from the review.  Existing part-time School Streets restrictions, which prohibit 

access for most motor vehicles at the start and end of the school day, will continue 

to operate on adjoining sections of Sciennes Road. 

4.4 Subject to the successful conclusion of the statutory process for the TRO to close 

the section of road immediately outside the school permanently to motor vehicles, 

suitable measures to introduce the permanent road closure will be designed and 

implemented.  

Playground Extension 

4.5 The Parent Council has a longer-term aspiration for at least some of the road space 

outside the school to be repurposed to provide a secure extension to the school 

playground, with no access to this space for the general public. 

4.6 Council officers have investigated the potential to prohibit the use of this section of 

Sciennes Road to cyclists and pedestrians, both on a temporary and permanent 

basis. 

4.7 Independent legal advice was commissioned, which concluded that any attempt to 

prohibit the use of this section of Sciennes Road to cyclists and pedestrians under 

current Roads or Planning legislation would carry a significant risk of legal 

challenge. This advice has been shared with ward Councillors and the Parent 

Council. 

4.8 Repurposing road space to provide a secure extension to the school playground is 

not something that could be prioritised for delivery as part of the Council’s Road 

Safety programme. 

4.9 However, while the challenge presented by the size of the playground at Sciennes 

Primary School is recognised and documented, the size of a school’s playground is 

considered a ‘suitability’ issue. Suitability is a measure of whether a school is fit for 

the purpose for delivering the education curriculum. The school estate (Early Years, 

Primary, Secondary and Special Schools) consists of a wide range of buildings and 

sites from various periods that present a variety of suitability issues. 

4.10 Currently, funding available both nationally and locally is focused on ensuring the 

condition and sufficiency of the school estate. There is no funding available to 

address suitability issues which are considered a lower priority. However, a 

suitability survey will be carried out over the next year, so that a list of suitability 

issues across the school estate can be formed and prioritised should funding 

become available in the future. 

Page 321



4 
 

 

5. Next Steps 

5.1 Subject to the successful conclusion of the statutory process for the TRO, the Road 

a permanent closure of the section of road immediately outside the school to motor 

vehicles will be designed and implemented. 

5.2 The Learning Estates team will undertake a survey over the next year, so that a list 

of suitability issues across the school estate can be formed and prioritised should 

funding for such issues become available in the future. 

 

6. Financial impact 

6.1 There is no direct financial impact arising from this report. 

 

7. Stakeholder/Community Impact 

7.1 A meeting between officers, the (then) Convener and Vice Convener of Transport 

and Environment, ward Councillors and Parent Council representatives took place 

on 23 February 2022 in response to the Motion. Officers from the Council’s 

Learning Estate, Legal Services and Road Safety and Active Travel teams were in 

attendance. 

7.2 Officers from the Road Safety team have subsequently met with Parent Council 

representatives as part of the School Travel Plan Review process and will continue 

to engage with them throughout the delivery of the permanent road closure and the 

other measures identified through the Review process. 

7.3 The delivery of these measures supports the Council’s commitments to encourage 

active travel, reduce vehicle dependency and lower carbon emissions. Safety and 

accessibility for people walking, wheeling and cycling will also be improved. 

 

8. Background reading/external references 

8.1 None 

 

9. Appendices 

None 

 

Page 322



 

 
Transport and Environment Committee  
 

10.00am, Thursday, 3 November 2022 

Response to motion by Councillor Macinnes - 

Workplace Parking Levy 

Executive/routine Executive 
Wards All 
Council Commitments  

 

1. Recommendations 

1.1 Transport and Environment Committee is asked to note that: 

1.1.1 Regulations and Non-Statutory Guidance supporting local authorities in 

Scotland to implement a Workplace Parking Levy (WPL) have been 

concluded;  

1.1.2 The WPL is one of a suite of measures and powers that are within the 

Council’s control to support the delivery of objectives in the City Mobility Plan, 

and the City 2030 Climate Strategy; 

1.1.3 That an Edinburgh WPL could raise an additional £12.5 million per year.  

This revenue could also fund significant borrowing for capital investment in 

the city up to 10 times that value;  

1.1.4 The scope, including who is liable to pay, the boundary area to which it would 

apply, the value of the charge and what the revenue raised will fund are 

devolved for local authorities to decide; and   

1.1.5 There are further stages of work which would need to be undertaken by 

council officers to enable the Council to make an informed decision on the 

business case for WPL in Edinburgh.   

 

Paul Lawrence 

Executive Director of Place 

Contact: Gareth Dixon, Senior Policy and Insight Officer 

E-mail: gareth.dixon@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 0131 529 3044 

Page 323

Agenda Item 8.2

mailto:gareth.dixon@edinburgh.gov.uk


 
Report 
 

Response to motion by Councillor Macinnes - 

Workplace Parking Levy 

2. Executive Summary 

2.1 This report provides an update on the work to date and proposed next steps on an 

Edinburgh Workplace Parking Levy (WPL). This includes an update on the motion 

request to detail “appropriate options on which workplaces should be considered, 

what appropriate exemptions might be necessary, how we can encourage 

employers and workers to shift to sustainable means of travel and how revenues 

raised can be reserved to directly invest in continued improvements to the transport 

network.”   

 

3. Background 

3.1 The Council has committed to investigate a Workplace Parking License scheme 

and to ensure the development of such a scheme is a workable option for the city, 

should the Authority decide to implement such a scheme. 

3.2 The City Mobility Plan for Edinburgh, published in February 2021, reported on WPL 

that: “following consultation, a workplace parking license will be designed and 

presented for consideration.” The draft 2030 Climate Strategy also states that as a 

next step the Council  will “engage with citizens and businesses on the potential 

benefits of introducing a WPL as part of a range of measures to deliver the City 

Mobility Plan.’’  

3.3 An update on the WPL scheme activity was reported to the Transport and 

Environment Committee in February 2021. The results of a city-wide parking survey 

were provided in a briefing paper in the Committee Business Bulletin on the 12 

November 2020.  

3.4 This suggested that a WPL in Edinburgh could raise up to £12.5 million in income 

annually if the city was to operate a similar charge per space and scheme design as 

the one in place in Nottingham.  

3.5 In August 2021, Council Officers submitted a response on behalf of the Council to 

inform Transport Scotland in the preparation of the Regulations and Guidance 

Page 324

https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/city-mobility-plan-1
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/29617/edinburgh-2030-climate-strategy#:~:text=Edinburgh%20has%20committed%20to%20%E2%80%9Dnet,city%2C%20put%20into%20the%20air.
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s28757/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin%2012%20November_Final.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s28757/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin%2012%20November_Final.pdf


reports for the Workplace parking licensing consultation on regulations and 

guidance.  

3.6 The following motion by Councillor Macinnes on the Workplace Parking Levy was 

agreed at Council meeting on 30 June 2022. Council:  

3.6.1 Agrees the existing Council commitment to continue exploration with the 

intention of implementation, of a Workplace Parking Levy as outlined in the 

agreed City Mobility Plan. 

3.6.2 Recognises that this proposal must be designed to meet Edinburgh 

resident’s needs and, above all, to contribute to sustainable transport 

solutions in the city. 

3.6.3 Recognises that there is a clear need, in moving towards our 2030 net zero 

carbon goals, for significant additional investment in sustainable transport 

options, primarily active travel and public transport. 

3.6.4 Recognises that a Workplace Parking Levy delivering additional funding 

which is necessary to improve the transport network in the city, providing 

cleaner, sustainable options for all to choose and helping to eradicate 

existing transport inequalities. 

3.6.5 Requests that an update report on the work to date on an Edinburgh 

Workplace Parking Levy should be brought to the Transport and Environment 

Committee for detail scrutiny within two cycles; and that this report should 

include an updated position on:  

3.6.5.1 The Scottish Government’s legislative progress on WPL;  

3.6.5.2 Appropriate options on which workplaces should be considered;  

3.6.5.3 What appropriate exemptions might be necessary;  

3.6.5.4 How we can encourage employers and workers to shift to 

sustainable means of travel; and  

3.6.5.5 How revenues raised can be reserved to directly invest in 

continued improvements to the transport network. 

4. Main report 

The Legislative position of the Workplace Parking Levy 

4.1 The discretionary power to introduce a Workplace Parking Licensing scheme 

comes from the Transport (Scotland) Act 2019.  Regulations to support the 

Workplace Parking Licenses scheme came into force on 4 March 2022 and further 

Guidance was published by Transport Scotland on 30 June 2022.  

4.2 The Regulations and Guidance help describe the processes of administration, 

operation, and the detail in the consultation and other requirements that must be 

undertaken by a Council ahead of implementing such a scheme.   

4.3 The Act gives local authorities in Scotland the discretion to determine:  

4.3.1 The value of the levy to be charged per liable parking place;  

Page 325

https://www.transport.gov.scot/consultation/workplace-parking-licensing-consultation-on-regulations-and-guidance/
https://www.transport.gov.scot/consultation/workplace-parking-licensing-consultation-on-regulations-and-guidance/
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s48147/Item%204.1%20-%20Minute%20of%2030%20June%202022.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ssi/2022/4/contents/made
https://www.transport.gov.scot/news/empowering-local-authorities-to-tackle-climate-change/


4.3.2 The area within the authority boundary the levy would apply to; and  

4.3.3 The day of the week, the time of the day, the type of vehicle and parking 

premise a levy may apply to.   

4.4 The Act also sets a series of national exemptions which include:  

4.4.1 Parking places provided by an employer occupied by a blue badge holder; 

and 

4.4.2 Parking places provided by an employer occupied by NHS workers at 

qualified NHS premises and parking places at hospices. 

4.5 It should be noted also that the nature of the WPL will not apply to the following 

other types of parking: 

4.5.1 Customer parking;  

4.5.2 Visitor parking; 

4.5.3 Residential Parking and on-street parking;  

4.5.4 Parking places at home where home is the place of work; 

4.5.5 Parking at the workplace occupied by fleet vehicles; 

4.5.6 Parking for vehicles not used by employees for their journey to and from 

place of work at Garages and Car Lots;  

4.5.7 Parking places provided by an employer that are not occupied; and 

4.5.8 Parking places provided outside of the City of Edinburgh Council boundary, 

(these would only be included should the City of Edinburgh Council decide 

to partner with another local authority). 

4.6 The Transport (Scotland) Act 2019 and the associated Regulations and Guidance 

place a few mandatory steps on local authorities before they can implement a WPL 

in their area. The authorities must: 

4.6.1 Ensure an assessment on the impacts of the proposal is completed; 

4.6.2 Complete a formal consultation lasting a minimum of two months on the 

proposed scheme (this is largely in keeping with the approval process in 

relation to the LEZ procedure).  The consultation will seek view from a 

variety of stakeholder including nearby residents and businesses who may 

be impacted by parking displacement and/or by investment in transport 

improvements funded by WPL revenue; and 

4.6.3 Finally, after the results of the formal consultation on the proposed scheme 

are published, there is a statutory eight-week examination period. The 

examination process will assess the extent to which the decisions made by 

the Council have complied with the procedures laid out in the regulations.  

4.7 The new consultation and sign-off requirements mean that the quickest period of 

delivery for a WPL, from inception to implementation, could be no less than 18-

months should examination proceedings not be raised within that eight-week 

examination period.  

Page 326



 

Workplace Parking Levy Revenue 

4.8 An Edinburgh Parking Survey completed in 2019 and 2020 estimated the number 

places considered to be chargeable as part of a WPL scheme. Using the active 

Nottingham WPL as a means of modelling revenue, analysis suggested a local 

Edinburgh scheme would generate around £12.5 million per year. Clearly, this 

would be impacted upwards or downwards by the rate of the charge or any local 

policy exemptions applied. Further illustrations of potential revenue estimates for 

Edinburgh, with a varied approach to local exemptions and value of charge, are 

provided in Appendix 1. 

4.9 Leicester City Council also provides a further example, having concluded a public 

consultation on their WPL scheme in March 2022. They proposed a 10-year 

investment programme, ensuring that the £95 million raised from the WPL over that 

period would fund £450 million worth of investment into priority projects within their 

local transport strategy (such as bus services and rail station transformation 

projects and cycle network enhancements). This potentially demonstrates the 

additional value of a WPL revenue and the ability of the scheme to leverage 

investment up to five-times the revenue total raised directly. 

4.10 The Transport (Scotland) Act limits the local authority to spend the revenue it would 

raise from a WPL on delivering the outcomes of the local transport strategy. The 

Edinburgh City Mobility Plan has three main objectives and also sub-objectives 

which are shown in Table 1 below: 

Table 1. Edinburgh City Mobility Plan Objectives 

Objective Sub-objective 

To improve 

health, 

wellbeing, 

equality and 

inclusion 

Encourage behaviour change to support the use of sustainable travel modes. 

Ensure that transport options in the city are inclusive and affordable.  

Ensure that transport options in the city are inclusive and affordable. 

To support 

inclusive and 

sustainable 

economic 

growth and 

respond to 

climate 

change  

Increase the proportion of trips people make by active and sustainable travel 

modes. 

Improve sustainable travel choices for all travelling into, out of and across the 

city.  

Reduce harmful emissions from road transport.  

Improve the safety for all travelling within our city.  

Maximise the efficiency of our streets to better move people and goods. 

To protect 

and enhance 

Reduce the need to travel and distances travelled.  

Reduce vehicular dominance and improve the quality of our streets. 

Page 327



our 

environment  

 

4.11 Further specifications were laid out in the associated Regulations and Guidance for 

a WPL that will support local authorities in Scotland in the operation and 

transparency over the WPL revenue. Together the legislative material for WPL 

confirms that: 

4.11.1 Operational costs of the WPL scheme can be taken from Scheme revenue;  

4.11.2 Underspends from one year of the WPL can carry forward to future years; 

and 

4.11.3 Accounts for the WPL revenue must be published by the local authority.  

4.12 Council officers will prepare a WPL revenue options paper, looking at the broad 

areas of spend, based on the objectives from the Edinburgh City Mobility Plan 

before the end of March 2023 for consideration by Committee.  

Workplace Parking Levy in Edinburgh  

4.13 The WPL in Edinburgh is one of a suite of measures that could form an important 

transport intervention, supporting the delivery of key policy objectives in the city.  

4.14 An Edinburgh WPL would support the implementation of projects which deliver 

improvements to sustainable travel, as set out in Edinburgh’s City Mobility Plan and 

the associated Implementation Plan.  

4.15 An outline project plan is provided in the Appendix 2. This outlines the stages of 

work that officers would need to undertake to support the Council to take a decision 

on and potentially implement a WPL in Edinburgh. The outline plan suggests that 

the earliest that a WPL could be implemented is 2025. 

Encouraging employers and workers to shift to sustainable means of travel 

4.16 The Council already has an established programme of activity to invest in and 

improve active travel and public transport across the city to encourage all transport 

users to shift to sustainable means of travel.  

4.17 An Edinburgh WPL could be utilised to further encourage modal shift away from the 

car by, for example: 

4.17.1 Building on investment already made by the Council in the Business for Good 

programme, which delivers practical support and training for city businesses 

to transition to net zero; 

4.17.2 Getting more businesses to sign up to the Edinburgh Climate Compact and 

the support and advice around employee travel provided;  

4.17.3 Giving workers inside and outside of the city better access to direct public 

transport links to work and for park and ride sites; and 

Page 328



4.17.4 Giving workers, who can use alternative means of travelling to work, the 

encouragement to do so by better investment in active travel and public 

transport systems as laid out in the City Mobility Plan.  

5. Next Steps 

5.1 Further work is required to continue the consideration of a WPL in Edinburgh.  The 

next meaningful activity would be for officers to develop the strategic business case 

and undertake initial stakeholder engagement to establish views, issues and 

opportunities relating to a WPL in Edinburgh. 

6. Financial impact 

6.1 All recommendations included in this report can be carried out within existing 

agreed workplans and budgets. 

6.2 Should members now or in the future agree to undertake work to progress a WPL in 

Edinburgh, the phases of activity and associated costs have been estimated below:   

6.2.1 Phase 1: Policy Development and research consisting of a strategic business 

case and WPL options appraisal with initial stakeholder engagement. This 

could be delivered within current service resources. If independent external 

support was utilised, then a budget of £50,000 would be required.  

6.2.2 Phase 2: Formal Assessment or pre-consultation consisting of the statutory 

impact assessment work and development of the WPL revenue plan. This 

could be delivered externally with a budget of £120,000. 

6.2.3 Phase 3: Public Consultation on the WPL Edinburgh proposal, consisting of a 

necessary three month engagement and consultation with all those impacted 

by a WPL proposal would then need to be undertaken. This could be 

delivered with external support for £20,000. 

6.2.4 Phase 4: Implementation phase of the WPL would include the necessary 

commissioning and development of an online licensing system for WPL with 

the registration, collection of revenue, enforcement and general 

administration of the scheme. This would also include the appointment of an 

WPL operations team staff to help run the scheme and offer ongoing support 

and advice to businesses and residents at a cost of up to £300,000 per year.  

6.3 Funding for Phases 1-3 would need to be secured as part of discussions on the 

Council budget or from approval of a potential ‘spend to save’ proposal. 

6.4 Commissioning an online licensing system for WPL could cost up to £150,000, with 

an ongoing cost of £350,000 per year for the IT maintenance and appointment of 

additional staff.  

6.5 Phase 4 (including commissioning) would be funded from the net proceeds of the 

WPL revenue, as stated in the Transport (Scotland) Act 2019 and associated 

regulations and guidance.  

Page 329



7. Stakeholder/Community Impact 

7.1 If needed, future work would be developed on the expected stakeholder and 

community impacts; stakeholder mapping and pre and ongoing engagement plans.   

 

8. Background reading/external references 

8.1 Summary Briefing on Edinburgh Workplace Parking Survey 2020 – in Business 

Bulletin of Transport and Environment Committee Meeting, 21 November 2020. 

 

9. Appendices 

9.1 Appendix 1 – WPL revenue estimates for Edinburgh  

9.2 Appendix 2 – Project Plan for Edinburgh WPL 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 330

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s28757/6.1%20-%20Business%20Bulletin%2012%20November_Final.pdf


 

Appendix 1 – Workplace Parking Levy revenue estimates for Edinburgh  

Figures are based on Edinburgh Workplace Parking survey concluded in 2020, an assumption reduction in liable parking places has 

been applied to the taking into consideration changes in behaviour to parking post-covid and up to implementation. This ranges between 

a low reduction of 12.5% in workplace parking spaces and a high reduction of 25% in workplace parking spaces.  

Design Option (illustration only) 
No. liable parking 

places (rounded to 
nearest 100) 

Levy Charge 
(illustration only) 

Estimated Annual 
Revenue 

Area City Centre  
(City centre ward only) 

2,500 – 3,000 £450 
£550 
£650 

£1.14M - £1.33M 
£1.39M - £1.62M 
£1.65M - £1.92M 

Area: Extended City Centre  
(City Centre, Leith Walk, Inverleith) 

4,200 – 4,900 £450 
£550 
£650 

£1.87M - £2.19M 
£2.29M - £2.67M 
£2.71M - £3.16M 

Area: Edinburgh local authority boundary 25,000 - 29,110 £450 
£550 
£650 

£11.2M - £13.1M 
£13.7M – £16.0M 
£16.2M – £18.9M 

Edinburgh local authority boundary plus local 
exemption to small businesses (less than 10 
spaces in workplace) 

23,800 – 27,700 £450 
£550 
£650 

£10.7M – £12.5M 
£13.1M – £15.3M 
£15.5M - £18.0M 

Edinburgh local authority boundary plus local 
exemption to all schools and blue light service 
premises 

22,000 – 25,700 £450 
£550 
£650 

£9.92M - £11.6M 
£12.1M - £14.1M 
£14.3M - £16.7M 

LA boundary local exemption to medium 
businesses (less than 50 spaces in workplace)  

18,200 – 21,200 £450 
£550 

 £650  

£8.2M - £9.5M 
£10.0M - £11.7M 
£11.8M - £13.8M 

Note: the number of liable places have already excluded spaces included in the national exemption: places reserved for Blue Badge holders; places 

for NHS workers at qualified NHS premises; and places at hospices. 

P
age 331



Appendix 2 – Workplace Parking Levy Development and Draft Implementation Plan 

Timescales are all indicative   

 

 

 

 

   2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 

  
Q1 

2022 

Q2 

2022 

Q3 

2022 

Q4 

2022 

Q1 

2023 

Q2 

2023 

Q3 

2023 

Q4 

2023 

Q1 

2024 

Q2 

2024 

Q3 

2024 

Q4 

2024 

Q1 

2025 

Q2 

2025 

Regulations and Guidance finalised by Government               

Political Consideration of WPL update               

Strategic Business Case and Options Appraisal                           

Complete initial stakeholder engagement                            

Political Consideration and agree next phase – WPL formal assessment                

Complete and Report WPL revenue plan                            

Complete and Report WPL Impact Studies                           

Political Consideration and agree next phase - public consultation of WPL                           

”Formal Consultation” on WPL design scheme and revenue plan                           

Report consultation results                           

Political Consideration and agree to formally approve WPL scheme                           

Statutory Examination period 8 weeks               

WPL Operations team and back office system in place                           

Earliest timescale for WPL scheme to start                           

P
age 332



 

 
Transport and Environment Committee 
 

10.00am, Thursday, 3 November 2022 

Response to motion by Councillor McVey – North 

Bridge 

Executive/routine Routine 
Wards 11 
Council Commitments  

 

1. Recommendations 

1.1 Transport and Environment Committee is asked to note the contents of this report 

which, together with the report on 6 October 2022, concludes the update requested 

by the Council on 25 August 2022 on North Bridge. 

 

 

 

 

Paul Lawrence 

Executive Director of Place 

Contact: Cliff Hutt, Head of Roads and Infrastructure 

E-mail: cliff.hutt@edinburgh.gov.uk  | Tel: 0131 529 3751 

 

 

Page 333

Agenda Item 8.3

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49882/7.3%20-%20Response%20to%20Motion%20by%20Councillor%20McVey%20-%20North%20Bridge.pdf
mailto:cliff.hutt@edinburgh.gov.uk


2 

 
Report 
 

Response to motion by Councillor McVey – North 

Bridge 

2. Executive Summary 

2.1 This report provides an update to Committee in response to the motion by 

Councillor McVey on North Bridge, which was approved by the Council on 25 

August 2022. 

3. Background 

3.1 The Category A designated North Bridge carries the A7 over Waverley Station, 

providing a vital transport link connecting the Old and New Towns of Edinburgh. 

The bridge comprises three spans, each of approximately 53m, and is of open 

spandrel construction. Each span has six steel main arch girders with a concrete 

deck, masonry piers and abutments, and a decorative cast iron façade. 

3.2 From 2014 through 2015 there were incidences of cast iron, concrete and masonry 

materials falling from the North Bridge onto Market Street and Platforms 8 and 9 of 

Waverley Station, as well as onto the station’s roof. Starting in 2014 up until 2018, 

emergency intervention works were undertaken to address serious Health and 

Safety concerns, which consisted of the installation of a temporary protective 

netting wrapped around large sections of the bridge. 

3.3 Balfour Beatty Civil Engineering Limited were initially appointed using an Early 

Contractor Involvement (ECI) arrangement, prior to undertaking the assessment 

and design, and then later the construction works; all via the Scape Group 

Framework Agreement. At this stage, the budget estimate consisted of a scope 

derived from limited pre-construction investigations, totalling £22.290m. 

3.4 The original works commenced in June 2018 and comprised structural steelwork 

repairs, preparation and painting of the structure and facades, repairs to cast iron 

façades, minor concrete repairs, restoration of the King’s Own Scottish Borderers 

(KOSB) war memorial, and installation of permanent platforms to improve access 

for future inspections and maintenance. 

3.5 The current approved budget is £62.182m and is contained within the 10-year 

Sustainable Capital Budget Strategy 2022-32.  

Page 334

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49107/Item%204.1%20-%20Minute%20of%2025%20August%202022.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s49107/Item%204.1%20-%20Minute%20of%2025%20August%202022.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s42788/Item%204.1d%20-%20Sustainable%20Capital%20Budget%20Strategy%202022-2032%20referral%20from%20FR.pdf


3 

3.6 A report on 6 October 2022 provided an update to Committee on North Bridge, and 

covered the overall project budget, expected completion date, communications, 

measures on the bridge and looked forward to travel on the bridge once the works 

are completed. 

3.7 This report provides a further update on the project, as requested by the Council on 

25 August 2022.  

 

4. Main report 

Projected budget position of the project  

4.1 The project budget, approved as part of the Sustainable Capital Budget Strategy 
2022-32, remains at £62.182m. 

4.2 A detailed breakdown of the current approved budget and an update on the project 
forecast are attached at Appendix 1 (B-Agenda). 

Revised projected completion date 

4.3 As reported in October, the current planned completion date is June 2025 (the term 

‘planned completion date’ is a contractual one which reflects the Contractor’s latest 

programme.  This is kept constantly under review in line with the contract and 

project governance).  

4.4 Since reporting to the Transport and Environment Committee on 11 November 

2021, the emerging scope has affected the critical path.  The key tasks which 

materially impacted this, resulting in the current planned completion date, are as 

follows:  

4.4.1 Following removal of the surfacing and waterproofing, it became apparent 

that the central bay “C” (one fifth of the width of the bridge) was in much 

poorer condition than trial pits undertaken in advance of the project 

suggested. The options to continue with the current methodology of repairs 

were considered, including partial replacement of Bay C, however this 

concluded that the most effective solution was full replacement of the bay. 

There are specific design constraints governing the sequencing of 

replacement due to continued traffic loading, i.e. it is not possible to remove 

and replace the entire length of Bay C at once as only 10 bays per span can 

be undertaken at one time due to vibration/loading constraints. This change 

accounted for approximately seven months of the increased programme. 

4.4.2 Grit blasting and painting had to be re-sequenced due to the concrete 

repair/replacement works. This work is planned to recommence to the south 

span following completion of the Bay C structural works in that location. 

This change accounted for approximately three months of the increased 

programme.   

4.4.3 The out-turn scope for removal, repair/replacement and re-installation of the 

cast-iron facades requires to follow on after the various deck 

repairs/strengthening works (as the bridge deck will be heavily loaded with 

Page 335

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=6156&Ver=4
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=6156&Ver=4


4 

plant and access equipment to facilitate this work) and the sequential 

completion of the grit blasting and painting works. Given the traffic 

management arrangements, access to only one elevation at a time is 

possible, with works commencing to the western elevation and then 

switching over to the eastern elevation. This change accounted for 

approximately six months of the increased programme. 

4.5 The programme continues to be reviewed diligently to identify ways to improve this 

date, including reviewing options to optimise programme durations wherever 

practicable.  These are considered in conjunction with, for example, limitations on 

sequence of working, loading safety limits, maintaining efficient working and traffic 

management restrictions. 

4.5 The Project Board, which includes senior officers from the Council and Network 

Rail, regularly scrutinise and review the status of the project with a focus on 

programme; cost; health, safety and welfare; resolution of strategic matters; risks 

and issues escalated to the Board; management of dependencies with other areas 

of the Council; and ensuring that appropriate governance, skills and resources are 

deployed on the project. The project forms part of the Council’s major change 

portfolio, which is reported to the Council’s Corporate Leadership Team (CLT) and 

to Governance, Risk and Best Value Committee.   

Communication with affected stakeholders 

4.6 There has been a continued focus on proactive communication with affected 

businesses and other stakeholders. Additional regular meetings are in place, and 

these have been positive to date with further actions having been agreed.   

4.7 During a meeting held with the representatives of businesses to the southwest of 

the bridge (on North Bridge Street) on 26 September 2022, the following key 

outcomes were agreed: 

4.7.1 Restoration of pedestrian crossing and associated measures (see item 4.99 

below). 

4.7.2 Site welfare cabins adjacent to the business premises are planned to largely 

remain until the end of 2023, however a review of options to remove or scale 

down earlier than planned is underway.  However, it is important to note that 

implementing any changes to the current arrangement will have time and 

cost implications and will require additional funding – these are currently 

being discussed with the Contractor. Alternative locations on the deck 

surface have been considered but it has been concluded that this is not 

feasible during two-way running. Additional detail is provided in Appendix 1. 

4.7.3 Engagement with the Council’s network management team on the potential 

to extend the period of one-way running.  This team have advised that two-

way running must be reinstated in Spring to facilitate other works within the 

city centre which rely on North Bridge as a key artery for vehicle movements 

(including public transport). 

Page 336



5 

4.7.4 Offer to provide a letter of support from Councillors in relation to an 

application for temporary business rates relief. 

4.7.5 A deep clean of the Scotsman Steps has been undertaken, as requested, 

and a regular maintenance regime is now in place. 

4.7.6 The Parking Enforcement team has been reminded that the area to the south 

of the bridge is designated for business deliveries and should be enforced 

along with adjacent road space, to avoid extended use by members of the 

public. 

4.8 Updates will continue to be issued widely as the works progress, particularly when 

there is certainty on the specific date of the planned return to two-way traffic running 

on the bridge, in Spring 2023. These updates will include a clear timeline and layout 

of upcoming traffic management arrangements. 

Restoration of pedestrian crossing 

4.9 This has been reviewed with the Contractor and a quotation has been accepted via 

the contract mechanisms for the restoration of a temporary pedestrian crossing by 

19 November 2022. This will remain in place until such time as the permanent 

crossing can be re-established and will include supplementary signage and lighting, 

and the removal of two low-level cabins to increase visibility in the area. CCTV is 

also being considered. 

Measures to improve road safety for people walking, wheeling, and cycling 

4.10 Currently a barrier remains in place on the edge of eastern footpath.  This is being 

monitored and is still working well, with no issues in respect of pedestrian flows. 

4.11 The western footpath remains closed, and it is expected that this will continue until 

Summer 2024. In Summer 2023, the Contractor will be installing repaired and new 

cast iron facades to the west elevation and will require access to facilitate this work. 

The Contractor has been asked to review this and to provide 

options/timings/impacts on the feasibility of introducing a temporary “western” 

footpath.  The Contractor will provide an update as soon as possible. 

4.12 The Contractor has also been asked to provide options for improvement of walking, 

wheeling and cycling arrangements across the bridge.  Any improvements will not 

be implemented until after the completion of the central bay replacement works and 

the planned reintroduction of two-way traffic running on the bridge in Spring 2023.  

4.13 An update on the options for improvement will be provided in Spring 2023, however 

it is important to note that it is likely that any such measures are likely to have 

programme and financial implications for the project. 

Medium to long term modes of travel on the bridge once works are completed 

4.14 In 2018, four possible bridge layouts were discussed with the Edinburgh City Centre 

Transformation team.  However, at that time, the strategic layout for the city was not 

yet far enough progressed to decide on a confirmed revised layout for North Bridge. 

The plans therefore proceeded with reinstating the existing layout as determined to 

be the best value for the Council at the time. 

Page 337



6 

4.15 More recently, discussions have been progressing to link into the development of 

the Circulation Plan, particularly in relation to timing and production of any draft 

road layout plans for North Bridge, and to ensure that none of the upcoming deck 

works would be abortive in the near future. As the Circulation Plan is still identifying 

the key principles of traffic movements, detailed road layouts are not yet available 

and are not expected to be ready within the next two to three months.  

4.16 Any future road layouts on the North Bridge must be in line with the emerging city 

Circulation Plan, to ensure the layout compliments the overall strategy for the city.  

4.17 Continuing to reinstate the existing road layout on North Bridge does not preclude 

any future layouts which may emerge, and there would be minimal abortive works 

should a preferred, different layout emerge from the Circulation Plan. Importantly, 

the bridge structure has been designed to accommodate a range of future layouts, 

including Tram. 

4.18 To pre-empt the outcome by amending the layouts at this stage, particularly in 

advance of consultation, would be at great financial and time risk, and would likely 

result in abortive works. Regardless of the final layout agreed, it would be more 

cost-effective to deliver these works out with the existing North Bridge 

Refurbishment contract.  

4.19 Due to the commercial arrangements with the contractor, any changes at this stage 

would come at a premium cost and would lengthen the current extended 

programme. Future reporting on layout, design, costs and implications will form part 

of the development of the Circulation Plan.  

4.20 An application has been submitted to Sustrans for funding for the initial design 

stages of trial Active Travel measures on North Bridge. However, any trial works will 

not be implemented until after the North Bridge Refurbishment deck works are 

completed. 

5. Next Steps 

5.1 The project will continue to progress towards completion.  The actions noted above 

will be implemented and progressed, including ongoing meetings with the various 

relevant stakeholders to provide updates on progress. 

5.2 An update on the options for improvement (as set out in paragraphs 4.10 – 4.12) 

will be provided in Spring 2023. 

6. Financial impact 

6.1 Like all ongoing and forthcoming Capital works projects within the Council, this 

project is experiencing emerging cost pressures related to the unprecedented 

market conditions, which led to sudden rises in prices from the first quarter of 2022. 

6.2 Key factors contributing to the increases include contractors no longer being able to 

absorb strong upward pressure from input costs, rising demand, logistics problems 

and shortages of materials and labour. As an example specifically relevant to this 

Page 338



7 

project, steel reinforcement increased from £860/t to £1,500/t between March and 

June 2022, and concrete has increased from £94/m3 to £169/m3 in the same period. 

6.3 The department for business, energy and industrial strategy’s (BEIS) Index of 

Construction Materials Prices for ‘all work’ increased by 27.2% in May 2022 

compared to the same month in 2021. According to data published by the Building 

Cost Information Service (BCIS), the price of European Brent crude oil rose to $100 

in Q1 2022 from $80 in Q4 2021 – a 26% increase. Considering the removal of the 

red diesel rebate, BCIS has also allowed an uplift in April 2022 of 40% in their fuel 

price index for construction. This is also having a noticeable effect on cost 

pressures on this project. 

6.4 The Office for National Statistics Consumer Prices Index (CPI) rose by 9.4% in the 

12 months to June 2022. The Bank of England base rate has been increased to 

1.75% and may rise further in the short term.  

6.5 Whilst the project forecast remains within the range reported to the Transport and 

Environment Committee on 11 November 2021, Appendix 1 provides additional 

commentary on this subject. 

7. Stakeholder/Community Impact 

7.1 In addition to the activities identified in 4.6, monthly meetings have been 

established with the businesses located to the south-west of the bridge along with 

ad-hoc meetings as required. Other businesses and stakeholders will continue to be 

informed as required.   

 

8. Background reading/external references 

8.1 None. 

 

9. Appendices 

9.1 Appendix 1 – Budget breakdown and update (B–Agenda)  

Page 339



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 341

by virtue of paragraph(s) 8, 9 of Part 1 of Schedule 7A
 of the Local Government(Scotland) Act 1973.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	Notice of meeting and agenda
	Transport and Environment Committee
	10.00 am Thursday, 3rd November, 2022
	Contacts
	1. Order of Business
	2. Declaration of Interests
	3. Deputations
	4. Minutes
	5. Forward Planning
	6. Business Bulletin
	7. Executive Decisions
	8. Routine Decisions
	9. Motions
	Committee Members
	Information about the Transport and Environment Committee
	Further information
	Webcasting of Council meetings





	5.1 Work Programme
	5.2 Rolling Actions Log
	6.1 Business Bulletin
	7.1 George Street and First New Town - RIBA Stage 3 Design and Operational Plan update
	GNT RIBA S3 Design and OP Update v8
	Appendix 1 GNT T E Committee Nov 2022
	GNT Stage 3 Operational Plan Update T E Committee 3 Nov 2022
	Untitled
	Untitled

	Appendix 3 - GNT WSRA
	Appendix 4 - GNT EIA
	1  report OUTLINE
	1.1. STUDY METHOD

	2 gnt proposals
	2.1 Concept design
	2.2 Operational plan

	3 project rationale
	3.1 Justification for public sector intervention
	3.2 Gnt - Addressing Market Failure
	3.3 beneficiary groups and key priorities
	3.4 Fit with other plans and strategies

	4 the gnt area
	4.1 Business baseline
	4.2 residents
	4.3 Property values
	4.4 Visitors
	4.4.1 Essential Edinburgh research
	4.4.2 Research on ETRO on George Street
	4.4.3 Estimates of visitor spending


	5  Review of literature
	5.1 Survey of local residents and businesses

	6 economic impact assessment
	6.1 remit for EIA
	6.2 Summary of the Options
	6.2.1 Option 1 – Do Minimum Option
	6.2.2 Option 2 - Full Phased Investment Case (Intervention Case)

	6.3 Costs
	6.4 Economic Impact assumptions
	6.4.1 Construction impact assumptions
	6.4.2 Operating impact assumptions
	6.4.3 Property value uplift
	6.4.4 Willingness to Pay
	6.4.5 Loss of parking revenue

	6.5 Economic impact results
	6.5.1 Cost-benefit analysis
	6.5.2 Accounting for deadweight
	6.5.3 Sensitivity testing


	7 qualitative assessment
	7.1 Healthy Street Approach
	7.2 Ladder of qualities approach

	8 Conclusions
	Appendix A – Case studies


	7.2 Picardy Place Island, Public Realm Improvement Project
	Picardy Island Public Realm Improvement Project v4
	Appendix 1 - Picardy Place_Engagement Presentation
	Appendix 2 - Picardy Place Central Island Engagement Report
	Appendix 3 - Concept design

	7.3 Bus Partnership Fund - Quick Wins Programme
	7.4 Cammo Road - Trial Road Closure Update
	8.1 Motion by Councillor Burgess - Sciennes Primary playground on Sciennes Road
	8.2 Response to motion by Councillor Macinnes - Workplace Parking Levy
	8.3 Response to motion by Councillor McVey – North Bridge
	8.3 Response to motion by Councillor McVey – North Bridge
	8.3b - B AGENDA - Appendix 1 North Bridge


